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     Block argued that the survey that had been done for him was correct, 
because it had adopted all of the existing monuments of various kinds that 
had been found in the subject area, upon the principle that monuments 
always control boundaries, so he owned all of the land northwest of the rear 
subdivision boundary shown on his survey. Howell and his fellow lot 
owners argued that the survey that had been done for Block was incorrect, 
because it did not represent the best evidence of the original location of the 
rear boundary of their subdivision, whereas their survey had been based 
upon the platted location of the boundary in question, and it therefore 
represented the best evidence of the original location of that boundary, as 
intended by the original owner of the land from which the subdivision had 
been created. Howell and his co-defendants further argued that adverse 
possession, estoppel and laches were also all applicable to this situation and 
operated in their favor, so Block owned only the land lying northwest of the 
subdivision boundary shown on their survey, and he was therefore guilty of 
trespassing, requesting punitive damages based on Block's actions. 
Disregarding the possession and trespassing issues, the trial court held that 
the survey presented by Howell represented the superior evidence of the 
location of the boundary at issue, and therefore decreed that it controlled 
over the survey that had been presented by Block, so all of the land within 
the subdivision boundary shown on Howell's survey belonged to the 
respective lot owners, and Block had no legitimate claim to any of it, 
declining however to award the damages sought by the lot owners.     

     This case very obviously presents a direct confrontation between 
competing surveys, so unlike many of the other case we have reviewed, 
involving surveys only in marginal ways, survey rules, methods and 
procedures were specifically in focus on this occasion, and as usual, the 
most diligent surveyor would prevail in the end. As many of our previous 
cases, including the Taylor case just previously reviewed, have 
demonstrated, it can often be a wise decision to argue a boundary dispute on 
the basis of possession alone, and that approach has a high success rate, this 
case illustrates however, that it can be equally wise to confront a survey with 
a survey, and the lot owners in this case very wisely chose the latter path, to 
overcome Block's efforts to encroach upon them, based upon the ambiguity 



in the plat of their subdivision. The plat in question in this case was 
presumably typical of it's day, but it was evidently not a model of 
completeness, sadly leaving the lot owners vulnerable, and requiring them to 
expend resources defending their land, as a consequences of the lack of 
clarity manifested in the plat, particularly an absence of original 
monumentation and poor access design in this case, yet it was nonetheless 
still the controlling document legally defining their land rights, including 
their boundaries, and therefore it demanded respect as such. There was of 
course no question that in principle an original survey controls, the Court 
understood, but it was highly questionable whether or not any original 
survey had actually been done in creating this subdivision, since according 
to the testimony of the lot owners, many of them had no knowledge of the 
existence of any original survey monuments, nor had either of the recent 
surveyors been able to locate any. The central question thus became what 
constitutes a monument, with the corollary question being which monument 
controls when multiple objects that can be identified as potentially legitimate 
monuments exist. In answer to that question, the Court stated in a footnote 
that "objects indicating the lines and boundaries of a survey are monuments 
... Any natural or artificial physical object on the ground which helps 
establish the location of a line is a monument.", indicating that the Court is 
always open to all viable and reasonable potential solutions to boundary 
issues, and does not view only those monuments that were set by surveyors 
as potentially controlling monuments. Block's surveyor had evidently treated 
all of the pipes that had been pointed out to him by Block as monuments, 
apparently without investigating any alternative solutions, on the assumption 
that the original subdivision boundary had never been physically marked on 
the ground in any way, since the plat showed nothing marking the rear 
subdivision boundary, thereby potentially giving Block control over the 
road, as well as the right to make use of it himself, to facilitate the 
subdivision of his own land. Howell's surveyor very wisely took a different 
approach however, focused on encompassing and fully utilizing all of the 
available evidence, and this approach eventually brought him to another 
answer, which clinched the victory for the lot owners. Block was in a 
difficult position, having acquired a grantor's remainder, the Court was quite 
aware, so no legal presumptions could operate in has favor, or support his 
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effort to take advantage of the poor quality of the plat that had been 
produced and utilized by his own predecessor, to minimize the size of the 
platted lots, so the Court proceeded to very sternly scrutinize the survey 
work that had been done in support of Block's position:  

“Block claims that the boundary is delineated by ... some iron 
pipe markers. This line falls partially to the southeast of a 
private road ... Gebhart (Block's surveyor) ... concluded that the 
line of fences, trees, shrubs and metal pipe markers ... indicated 
the platted boundary ... he claimed that the iron pipe markers 
and the topographical features listed above lined up ... Gebhart 
assumed that the iron pipe markers were intended as lot corners 
... despite testimony at trial indicating that the markers had been 
put in by the lot owners ... Gebhart assumed the original 
surveyor made errors, either in measuring or in recording his 
information ... He changed measurements that were clearly 
indicated on the original plat ... Monuments control over 
courses and distances and over survey notes ... but 43-18-7 
provides ... the surveyor ... shall not give undue weight to 
partial and doubtful evidence or appearances of monuments, the 
recognition of which shall require the presumption of marked 
errors in the original survey ... Gebhart places too much weight 
on partial and doubtful evidence ... Anderson (Howell's 
surveyor) made several attempts to locate the boundaries ... He 
was not satisfied that any of his attempts or surveys based on 
the original plat correctly located the northwestern boundary ... 
The trial court found as a fact that the plat as filed does not 
show any permanent monuments set and the boundaries ... 
cannot be determined from the information given on the plat ... 
Anderson exhausted all available information ... When his field 
attempts failed, he prepared a mylar overlay ... to reestablish the 
original survey as closely as possible ... the lakeshore ... had 
subsequently been altered ... Anderson reasoned ... in 
establishing the back boundary, that boundary itself was 
unaltered ... He drew the back boundary as it was indicated on 
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the original plat on his overlay, placed it over his scaled 
drawing of the woven wire fence, and the distances and angles 
fit ... the overlay matched the angle in the fence ... Anderson's 
argument asserting the woven wire fence as the original 
boundary appears to be based upon sound reasoning and to be 
... professional." 

     In the absence of sufficient numerical data to calculate the boundary 
location in controversy, Howell's surveyor had traced the rear boundary, just 
as it was shown on the 1921 plat, compared it to the fence line, and found 
that it matched amazingly well, leading him to conclude that the fence had in 
fact existed in 1921, and had been intended to represent the subdivision 
boundary, making the fence the controlling boundary evidence, by showing 
that it had the character and controlling value of an original monument. He 
had successfully convinced the Court that the fence was the true basis for the 
rear subdivision boundary shown on the plat, and effectively proven that the 
original surveyor had simply neglected to show the fence on that plat, so the 
fence itself was the physical embodiment of the original intent of the 
subdivider, which fully coincided with the way in which all of the lot owners 
had always treated the fence. Howell's surveyor had done this by isolating 
the original rear subdivision boundary from everything else, in order to 
eliminate the distortions that were introduced by attempting to define that 
particular boundary location using measurements, which had proven to be 
unreliable by yielding conflicting results, and in so doing he had shown 
himself to be a true master of his craft, because nothing a surveyor can ever 
do is of greater importance than discovering and recognizing genuine 
boundary evidence. The key to his triumph, which allowed him to arrive at 
this successful solution, was the fact that he was open to accepting all 
possible forms of evidence, rather than being unduly focused on deriving a 
numerical solution to a fundamentally evidentiary problem, and it was this 
attitude of high diligence on his part that enabled him to adopt the fence, not 
as mere possession evidence, but as valid survey evidence, sufficient to 
overcome the survey work that had been done for Block. The statutory 
language cited by the Court with regard to "marked errors" creates a broad 
window of opportunity for the Court, allowing it to use discretion in dealing 
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with boundary evidence, rejecting monuments whenever doing so proves to 
be appropriate or necessary, in order to produce an equitable result, while 
yet preserving and maintaining the principle of monument control fully 
intact, for use in more typical circumstances, when the monuments that are 
found appear to be worthy of being given controlling value. In this instance, 
the Court quite logically employed the statutory limitation on monument 
control to negate the value of the monuments that had very obviously been 
set well short of the subdivision boundary, for the sole purpose of defining 
the side lot lines. Clearly impressed with the superior diligence displayed by 
Howell's surveyor, and holding steadfastly to the position that non-original 
monuments are not necessarily controlling, which was what Block and his 
surveyor had failed to realize, the Court fully upheld the lower court ruling 
in favor of the lot owners. Block had allowed decades to pass without openly 
raising his concerns, before deciding that he wanted to have control over the 
use of the roadway, and possibly the right to use it to support the creation of 
a subdivision of his own, but the Court undoubtedly recognized the 
opportunistic nature of the legal assault that he had launched upon the lot 
owners, and it was determined to protect the platted lots from any such 
baseless invasion. The essential evidentiary lesson provided here for land 
surveyors is that any visible physical object, such as a fence, can be entirely 
legitimate and controlling boundary evidence, particularly when shown to be 
associated with an original survey or an original plat, leading to victory for 
the surveyor who is wise enough to give such evidence due consideration. 

 

 

AAMOT  v  ENEBOE  (1984) 

     Here we turn our attention to a unique case that provides great insight 
into the operation of the little known and often misunderstood process 
known as mediation and arbitration, which serves as a legitimate alternative 
to the typical process of litigation and adjudication to resolve land rights 
issues. The court absolutely embraces the validity of mediation and 
arbitration, inviting and encouraging prospective litigants to give serious 
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consideration to that alternative pathway, since it is clearly beneficial and 
preferable to all parties, including the judicial system itself, when those 
engaged in any controversy can amicably resolve their own issues through 
cooperative personal interaction, under the guidance of a mediator. While 
the specific result seen here is unfortunate in one respect, in that this 
particular mediation effort proves to be unsuccessful, this case emphasizes 
the importance of properly understanding one's true role and duties, by 
demonstrating the consequences that can ensue when people take on a legal 
responsibility that they do not fully comprehend. One valuable lesson 
presented here is the fact that beyond the opportunity provided by mediation, 
there is no legal option to "split the baby", once the issue or issues forming 
any dispute or conflict come under the jurisdiction of the judicial system one 
side must prevail, and the other must be vanquished, the opportunity to forge 
a genuine and mutually productive compromise having been foreclosed at 
the conclusion of the mediation efforts. The statute of frauds also forms a 
key element of the case that we are about to review, just as it did in the 1985 
case of Wiggins v Shewmake, which is among the most frequently 
referenced South Dakota statute of frauds cases. In that case, the parties 
entered an oral agreement under which Shewmake agreed to buy a 
presumably typical house and lot that was owned by Wiggins. A month later 
the parties signed an "Agreement to Occupy Prior to Close" and Shewmake 
took possession of the Wiggins property, but Shewmake was unable to 
obtain funding and soon thereafter pulled out of the deal, leaving the 
Wiggins property vacant. Wiggins filed an action seeking to have Shewmake 
compelled to complete their intended transaction, but Shewmake argued that 
he could not be compelled to do so, because their original conveyance 
agreement, being unwritten, was void under the statute of frauds. The Court 
fully upheld a lower court ruling that Shewmake was guilty of breach of 
contract, holding that the fact that the original conveyance agreement was 
unwritten had been fully cured by the fact that reference had been made to it 
in the subsequent document, thereby confirming the existence of the oral 
agreement, which result demonstrates that a negligent grantee cannot escape 
an agreement by invoking the statute of frauds with any greater success than 
a negligent grantor. Then in 1986 in Ahl v Arnio, yet another dispute 
focused upon a document of conveyance, the Court held that any 
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handwritten alteration of a deed must be presumed to have been legitimately 
made "prior to or contemporaneously with the execution of the instrument". 
In that case, it was discovered in 1983 that a description appearing in a 1964 
deed had been altered by hand, at an unknown time by an unknown party, 
changing a distance of 400 feet to 40 feet, setting the stage for a dispute over 
the originally intended location of one particular boundary described therein. 
The outcome of the Ahl case is inconclusive, since the Court remanded the 
matter to the lower court without any final decision on the fate of the altered 
document, but in so doing the Court indicated that the contested document 
could not be presumed to have been illicitly altered, such an assertion would 
need to be proven by the party alleging that the change did not represent a 
deliberate and intentional revision of the document, which had been made 
by, or with the full approval of, the grantor in 1964.      

1972 - Eneboe and his wife acquired an unspecified quarter section in 
Lincoln County. How the land acquired by the Eneboes was used 
either before or after this acquisition is unknown, the land may well 
have been vacant and remained vacant after this acquisition.  

1973 - The Eneboes decided to sell the property they had acquired the 
previous year, and they entered an oral conveyance agreement with 
Aamot and his wife to that effect. 

1974 - A typical purchase and sale agreement pertaining to the subject 
property was drawn up and signed by Eneboe and the Aamots, but it 
was not signed by Eneboe's wife.  

1975 to 1979 - During this period, the Aamots made all of their 
appointed payments on the property that they were acquiring, and they 
obtained receipts for their payments, which were signed by the 
Eneboes. Whether or not the Aamots made any actual use of the 
quarter during this period is unknown, there is no indication that any 
improvements were constructed anywhere on the land during this 
period of time.  

1980 - Aamot informed Eneboe that he wanted to pay off the full 
balance due on the quarter and obtain his deed at this time, but Eneboe 
declined Aamot's offer, indicating that he believed he was not legally 
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bound to accept the offer, presumably because he believed that their 
contract was legally incomplete, due to the fact that his wife had not 
signed the agreement document, and it was therefore not legally 
binding. Aamot then filed an action against the Eneboes, to have them 
compelled to convey the subject property per their written agreement, 
but shortly thereafter the parties agreed to submit their case to a legal 
mediation and arbitration process, which had been presented to them 
as a potential alternative to litigation, if they should both find such an 
alternative acceptable, so they began to engage in the mediation 
portion of the process, which apparently lasted for several months. A 
Pastor served as their mediator and 6 other church members served as 
their arbitration panel. 

1981 - The parties were unable to settle their differences during the 
mediation phase of the process, so the specific issues outlined by the 
parties were sent to the arbitration panel for resolution. The arbitration 
panel produced a result that allowed the Eneboes to keep half the 
quarter, while compelling them to convey the other half to the 
Aamots, and the Eneboes were granted the right to choose which half 
they would retain. The Eneboes were evidently satisfied with this 
solution, but the Aamots were not, so they filed a new legal action 
against the Eneboes, seeking to have the ruling handed down by the 
arbitration panel legally nullified.  

     The Aamots argued that the result produced by the arbitration panel 
was unjustified, because the powers of an arbitration panel are narrowly 
limited to addressing the matters that are expressly placed before the panel, 
and the litigants had not agreed to any type of division of the subject 
property, so the panel had no authority upon which to divide the land at issue 
in any manner, and the panel had therefore violated and lost it's mandate to 
resolve the dispute, by exceeding the limits of it's powers. The Aamots 
further argued that their original agreement with the Eneboes was absolutely 
legitimate and fully binding upon all parties, including Eneboe's wife, 
despite the fact that she had never signed the contract, so the Eneboes should 
be judicially compelled to convey the entire quarter to the Aamots, in accord 
with the terms of their documented conveyance agreement. The Eneboes 
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argued that the decision of the arbitration panel was entirely fair, and it was 
legally binding upon all of the litigants, because they had all agreed to abide 
by the panel's decision, upon entering the mediation and arbitration process, 
and they had all agreed to forfeit any other legal options that they might 
otherwise have had, including the current separate legal action, which had 
been subsequently initiated by the Aamots. The Eneboes further argued that 
the original agreement was void under the statute of frauds, due to the 
absence of the signature of Eneboe's wife from the contract, so if the 
decision of the arbitration panel was invalid for any reason, then the Eneboes 
were under no legal obligation to convey any land whatsoever to the 
Aamots. The trial court ruled that the arbitration panel had in fact improperly 
performed it's role in the mediation and arbitration process, nullifying the 
proposed division of the subject property, and finding that the original 
conveyance agreement was entirely valid and binding, requiring the Eneboes 
to convey the entire quarter to the Aamots.       

     Two separate and distinct issues were in play in this case, the original 
issue being the conflict over whether or not a valid and binding contract for 
the sale of real property existed between the Aamots and the Eneboes, and 
the second issue, which had ironically arisen directly from the efforts of the 
parties to resolve the first issue, involved the clarification of the true role and 
proper execution of the mediation and arbitration process. The Court chose 
to deal with the second issue first, quite logically, because the first issue 
might prove to be irrelevant, if the second issue were to be decided in favor 
of the Eneboes, by upholding the resolution of the original controversy that 
had been produced by the arbitration panel. The mediation and arbitration 
process serves a dual purpose, it represents a potential benefit to all litigants, 
by offering them an opportunity to forge a compromise on their own terms, 
and thereby avoid the serious expense and the acrimonious disruption of 
their lives that typically accompanies the litigation process, while at the 
same time, it also benefits all of the taxpayers of the state, by reducing the 
caseload that heavily burdens the judicial system, which can prevent 
important matters from being promptly adjudicated. People who participate 
in the mediation and arbitration process are often inexperienced and not 
properly trained or instructed however, which can lead to problems, such as 
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unintentional abuse of the process, leading to a miscarriage of justice, and 
that, the Court observed, was just what had happened here. The Pastor and 
church members involved here were unquestionably well intentioned, the 
Court realized, but they had failed to understand and execute their tasks 
properly, because once the Pastor failed in his efforts to encourage the 
parties to strike a compromise, the mediation phase of the process had 
ended, eliminating any possibility for a successful compromise solution, and 
the only task of the arbitration panel was to decide who was right and who 
was wrong. The panel however, rather than simply deciding who would 
prevail, effectively attempted to extend the mediation phase of the process, 
by putting themselves in the shoes of the parties and forging a compromise 
on their behalf, and this approach taken by the panel, the Court indicated, 
although well intentioned, represented an abuse of their role as arbitrators. 
During the mediation phase of the process, the Court noted, the parties had 
been free to agree to any solution whatsoever, without any legal scrutiny of 
the fairness or the details of any choices or decisions they might make, but 
once the matter went to arbitration, it was once again under the jurisdiction 
of the judicial system, so the members of the panel, unlike the litigants 
themselves, were not free to independently create a solution of their own 
preference and impose that solution upon the parties. If the panel had simply 
declared that the Eneboes prevailed, the matter would have been concluded, 
and the Aamots would have lost at that point, because they had agreed to 
honor the panel's decision on the specific issue of who was right and who 
was wrong about the validity of the conveyance agreement, but since the 
panel had never answered that key question, the Court explained, the 
Aamots had the right to reject the result that had been produced by the panel:          

“a court may vacate an arbitration award ... when the arbitrators 
have exceeded their powers ... arbitrators powers are derived 
from ... and must comply with, the arbitration agreement ... the 
arbitrators failed to answer the specific issues submitted to them 
and decided other matters instead, thereby exceeding their 
powers ... the arbitrators went beyond the questions presented. 
They did not decide whether the contract was binding, but 
rather, they tried to equitably divide the property between the 
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parties, awarding 80 acres to each couple ... such an equitable 
division was not within the scope of the agreed upon issues ... 
The award simply did not conform or comply with the 
arbitration agreement ... the award was properly vacated ... even 
though Evelyn Eneboe ... failed to sign the contract, she ratified 
it ... based upon her acceptance of payments under the contract 
and her acknowledgement of the payments ... Eneboes contend 
... the documents signed by Evelyn are insufficient to meet the 
requirements of the statute of frauds ... writing ... need not be in 
one document; the writings may be disjointed memoranda or 
protracted correspondence, so long as the substance of a 
contract for the purchase of real property may be inferred ... 
although Evelyn never signed the original contract, she did sign 
subsequent writings which evidence the contract ... these 
memoranda state the legal description of the property ... Evelyn 
ratified the contract." 

     Courts have the authority to review, and either approve or disapprove, 
the results of arbitration, it was only when they were in the mediation phase 
of the process that the Aamots and Eneboes had the opportunity to resolve 
their dispute creatively or innovatively, without any judicial involvement, 
and they had voluntarily bypassed that option by agreeing to send the matter 
to arbitration. The arbitration panel had no right or authority to require the 
land to be split, as it had done, because a dispute over a conveyance 
agreement requires the agreement itself to be found to be either valid or 
invalid in its entirety, and it was that issue which the Court next turned to 
consider, having set the panel's decision aside. Since the land at issue was a 
full quarter section, requiring only a very simplistic legal description, the 
description of the subject property was never an issue between the litigants, 
but of course the requirements of the statute of frauds are not limited to legal 
descriptions alone. In addition to adequately stipulating the subject matter of 
a conveyance, a valid agreement must specify the parties involved in the 
transaction and the consideration to be paid for the land rights or real 
property being conveyed, only once all 3 of these items are satisfactorily 
clarified can the agreement be deemed to be complete and legally binding. 
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The amount to be paid was, like the property description, not an issue in this 
case, and in fact the Aamots had made many payments, which had all been 
accepted without any objection by the Eneboes, verifying the total amount 
and the payment schedule, the only point of contention was the absence of 
the signature of Eneboe's wife from their contractual document. While the 
statute of frauds expressly requires the signature of the grantor or grantors, it 
does not require that all of the essential elements, including any required 
signatures, appear on any single document. Any combination of written 
material, the Court pointed out, even various items created over an extended 
time period, can provide the requisite contractual elements, fulfilling the 
spirit of the law, which it must be recognized is directed only at supplying 
evidence, and not at dictating the form that such evidence must take. 
Ratification of an agreement, the Court concluded, is equivalent to 
participation in the formation of the agreement itself, and accepting 
payments made as part of a specific conveyance of land or land rights serves 
as ratification, by the party accepting the payment, showing that the 
accepting party has no objections to the transaction, so Eneboe's wife, by 
signing the receipts that were given to the Aamots for their payments, had in 
effect signed the original contract itself, in the view taken by the Court. It 
should ne noted that the Court fully upheld the result produced by the lower 
court, requiring Eneboe to deed the entire quarter to Aamot, based upon the 
fact that their agreement was within the statute of frauds and satisfied the 
statute, consistent with it's holding in the Habeck case 10 years before, and 
not on the basis that this scenario constituted an equitable exception falling 
outside that statute, as it did in the 1907 Stewart case and other cases that we 
have reviewed. Since the agreement that had been made and documented 
here was legally binding in itself, estoppel was not a factor, the Court stated, 
but if the land in dispute had been improved by Aamot, and the agreement 
had subsequently been deemed to be invalid, an estoppel against Eneboe's 
wife would have come into play, creating an equitable exception to the 
statute of frauds, which could well have resulted in a ruling in Aamot's favor 
on that alternate basis, as seen in the 1953 Crawford case, also featured 
herein. This outcome once again shows that the actual existence of an 
agreement always comprises the controlling evidence in the eyes of the 
Court, which always honors the basic rule that substance controls over form, 
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making the statute of frauds unavailable to destroy an existing agreement, 
based solely upon failures to comply with details of form or other such 
technicalities, when executing a land rights transaction. 

 

 

TOWNSEND  v  YANKTON SUPER 8 MOTEL  (1985) 

     Returning to the subject of easements, here we examine another case 
focused upon the essential relationship between a grantor and grantee, and 
specifically in this instance a successor of the grantee, which again 
illustrates that the principle of inquiry notice applies in the context of 
easements, just as well as it does to boundaries, while also highlighting the 
fact that an easement can be created without ever being expressly identified 
as an easement. We have previously reviewed cases in which a grantee 
mistakenly believed that an easement existed, such as the 1942 First Church 
case and the 1968 Dolan case, and also cases in which a grantee mistakenly 
believed that no easement existed, such as the 1955 Homes case and the 
1981 Steele case, noting that the fundamental error of all such grantees is 
their failure to exercise genuine diligence in ascertaining the significance of 
the various land uses they observed, and the status of any land rights 
associated with those uses of land. The case we are about to review joins the 
latter group, as here a grantee again fails to recognize the potential 
importance of a clearly visible land use of yet a different variety, thereby 
exhibiting the same kind of negligent conduct with respect to land rights that 
the Court has so often pointed out as a vital factor, relevant to all 
conveyances of land or land rights. While this controversy is centered upon 
the existence of an easement, rather than it's location, the Court on this 
occasion expressly indicates that a failure to take proper notice of the 
existence of a plat of the subject property, at the appropriate time, represents 
a key element acting against the party who neglected to view the plat and to 
acknowledge it's value as a form of notice. In addition, the outcome of this 
dispute clearly demonstrates that the presence of physical notice of an 
existing land use is always a potentially important factor in resolving land 
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rights issues, having been codified into statute law, with the power to 
validate land rights that were not documented well enough to provide 
constructive notice of their existence to subsequent parties. The Court was 
confronted with a comparable conflict involving easement and title issues in 
Hammerquist v Warburton in 1990. In that case, Hammerquist was the 
owner of an unspecified but substantial amount of rural residential land, and 
he deeded a tract comprising an unspecified portion of that land to Porter in 
1971, retaining most of the adjoining land. Hammerquist and Porter had 
entered a contract for deed in 1970, which contained certain covenants, and 
although no reference was made to the 1970 contract in the 1971 deed, 
Porter understood that the property conveyed to him was subject to the 
covenants. The subject property was soon sold by Porter however, and it was 
then conveyed on numerous additional occasions, before eventually being 
deeded to Warburton, and none of the deeds conveying the subject property 
made any reference to the 1970 document containing the covenants. 
Warburton was aware that certain covenants existed and were applicable to 
his property, nevertheless he proceeded to violate some of them, leading 
Hammerquist to file an action against him in 1988, seeking enforcement of 
the covenants, some of which related to access rights while others placed 
various typical residential use restrictions on Warburton's property. 
Warburton did not argue that the covenants had not created any easements, 
he simply argued that none of the covenants were legally binding upon him, 
because they were not referenced in any manner in his deed, nor anywhere 
else in his chain of title, so he had no form of notice that any specific 
covenants or easements relating to his property existed. Noting that 
Warburton's actions had revealed that he was aware that certain covenants 
existed, and confirming that such covenants can create legally binding 
easements, the Court fully upheld a lower court decision in favor of 
Hammerquist, which required Warburton to honor all of the covenants 
created in 1970, despite the fact that they appeared in no subsequent 
documents, on the basis that every typical grantee bears a burden of diligent 
inquiry, which includes the responsibility to properly determine the true 
nature and extent of all easements associated with any land he acquires.       

1975 - Townsend owned an undeveloped rectangular tract containing 
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about 5 acres, which was bounded on the north by Highway 50 and on 
the west by a Yankton County road, and this tract had several hundred 
feet of frontage on each of these roadways, making it prime 
commercial property. Townsend had specific plans for the 
development of this property, so he subdivided it into 3 parcels at this 
time, and a plat was recorded, showing the manner in which he had 
divided his tract, which was intended to suit his plans for the use of 
the land. The plat showed the boundaries of Lots A, B & C, with Lot 
A being a small square parcel fronting only upon the county road 
about 100 feet south of the highway, while Lot B covered the rest of 
the northwestern portion of the tract, surrounding Lot A on the north, 
east and south, and Lot C was simply the remainder, which included 
the southern and eastern portions of Townsend's tract. Townsend then 
conveyed Lot B to Brown and Rivett, who were evidently franchisees 
with plans to build and operate a Super 8 Motel on that lot, and 
Townsend apparently reserved no right to make any use of Lot B 
when he made this conveyance. Shortly thereafter however, 
Townsend realized that he would need to have the right to make use 
of the motel parking lot, once it was built, to serve as a parking area 
for the restaurant that he intended to build on Lot A, since Lot A had 
only enough room for the restaurant building and little or no room for 
any parking spaces. Super 8 and Townsend then entered a written but 
unrecorded agreement outlining the anticipated construction of 
utilities for the mutual benefit and use of these adjoining properties, 
and also concerning the paving of the planned parking area, and in 
this document Super 8 agreed to share the use of the parking lot that 
was to be built on Lot B with Townsend and the patrons of his 
restaurant, once the two projects were both completed.     

1976 to 1984 - The motel and restaurant projects were both 
constructed as planned, presumably during the early portion of this 
period, both businesses were put into operation, and no issues arose 
over the mutual use of the parking lot, which evidently contained 78 
parking spaces, adjacent to the restaurant on the west and the motel on 
the east. At an unspecified date, Unverzagt acquired Lot B, and the 
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harmonious relations between the owners of Lots A & B continued, 
but Unverzagt apparently owned that lot for only a few years or less, 
before conveying it to Stratman, presumably toward the end of this 
period. Stratman visited this site before he acquired the motel 
property, so he had an ample opportunity to observe that the people 
patronizing the restaurant and the motel were all using the same 
parking lot, and in fact he ate at the restaurant himself, while he was 
parked in one of the spaces located on the motel property. Only after 
acquiring the motel property however, did Stratman realize that the 
entire parking lot was on Lot B, at which point he decided to 
challenge the right of Townsend's customers to park on the motel 
property. Townsend presumably informed Stratman about the parking 
clause in the contractual agreement that he had made with Super 8, to 
facilitate the construction of the two adjoining projects, but Stratman 
evidently insisted that Townsend had never properly acquired any 
legal right to use the motel property for the benefit of Townsend's 
property, and he demanded that Townsend's customers stop parking in 
the motel parking lot. Townsend was therefore compelled to file an 
action against Super 8 and Stratman, seeking a judicial declaration 
that a parking easement existed in favor of his lot, covering the entire 
parking area situated on Stratman's property.       

     Townsend argued that he had acquired an easement by implication, 
enabling the employees and customers of his restaurant to legally park in the 
motel parking lot, when he conveyed Lot B while retaining Lot A, even 
though he had neglected to state his intention to create such an easement in 
the document conveying Lot B. Townsend further argued, alternatively, that 
an easement had been created by the language that had been included in his 
construction agreement with Super 8, even though that document made no 
explicit reference to any easement, and it was not identified as a document 
of conveyance, and it was created after Townsend had already sold Lot B, 
which was the allegedly servient property. Stratman argued that no easement 
had ever been legally created upon Lot B in favor of Lot A, because 
Townsend had failed to properly reserve any easement when he conveyed 
Lot B, and no easement could legally be created by the subsequent 
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construction agreement that Super 8 had made with Townsend, because that 
document was not in the chain of title pertaining to the subject property, and 
it had never been recorded, so that document failed to provide any legal 
notice of any such land rights allegedly created therein. The trial court held 
that the easement being claimed by Townsend had been legally created by 
virtue of the construction agreement, despite the fact that the easement was 
not identified as such in that document, since that document clearly 
indicated an intention to create such a right, and Stratman was legally bound 
to honor the parking easement, because he had direct physical notice of it's 
existence, through his personal observation of the actual use that was being 
made of the easement at the time he acquired Lot B. Super 8 initially 
participated in this litigation, but dropped out of the case and did participate 
on appeal, choosing instead to accept defeat and concede that the easement 
asserted by Townsend was legitimate, leaving Stratman alone to continue to 
fight the existence of the alleged parking easement before the Court.          

     A parking easement may seem to be a relatively insignificant thing to 
some, but without it Townsend would be essentially out of business, so 
Stratman supposed that he had discovered an opportunity to profit greatly 
from Townsend's failure to reserve a parking easement when Townsend had 
sold Lot B, and Stratman would have been right about that, if Townsend had 
not realized his omission and addressed it in his utility and paving agreement 
with Super 8. Townsend was carrying a heavy burden of proof, since he was 
in the position of a grantor who had neglected to properly reserve all the 
land rights that he needed when conveying part of his land, and not enough 
time had passed to enable him to successfully claim a prescriptive parking 
easement. The Court first negated Townsend's claim that he had acquired the 
easement in question by implication, on the basis that no parking was taking 
place yet, at the time when Townsend had conveyed Lot B. An implied 
easement, the Court pointed out, represents the product of an existing 
activity involving some portion of the subject property, and the implication 
doctrine simply serves to mandate that any established and legitimately 
valuable existing land use must be presumed to have been intended to 
continue following a conveyance dividing that property. Therefore no 
implied easement can come into existence, the Court indicated, if no such 
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established use was being made of the land at issue when it was divided by 
conveyance, marking the initial separation of title between two formerly 
unified tracts. The fact that Townsend intended to use Lot B for parking in 
the future, the Court stated, was of no consequence, no easement had been 
created by implication, because no parking had yet taken place when 
Townsend legally parted with Lot B. Moreover, the doctrine of implication 
exists primarily to prevent grantees from being cheated by grantors, who 
could otherwise prey upon innocent grantees, by deliberately excluding 
important easement rights, such as access to the land being conveyed, from 
their deeds, so a grantor such as Townsend seeking to benefit from the 
equitable concept favoring implied conveyances, by claiming an implied 
reservation, has an elevated burden of proof, which Townsend had clearly 
failed to meet. Therefore, Townsend was forced to rely on the 1975 
agreement language to support his easement claim, which simply read "it is 
hereby agreed ... that said restaurant shall have the use of 78 parking spaces 
... for it's customer and employee parking", raising the question of whether 
or not that language was legally sufficient to create an easement. Any right 
to make use of the land of others for a certain purpose or purposes can 
represent an easement, and in fact easements can and do very often come 
into existence without being enumerated in writing at all, so the fact that the 
parking clause specified both the purpose and the location of the intended 
land use, the Court recognized, made it legally sufficient to create an 
easement. Stratman had neglected to obtain a copy of the recorded plat 
before making his acquisition, presumably because like many buyers of 
buildings he was so focused on the building itself that he apparently never 
gave any serious thought to the rest of the property that he was acquiring, 
including exactly where it's boundaries were located or how the land was 
being used. When the plat eventually came to Stratman's attention, he 
realized that the entire parking lot was on his property, and only then did he 
begin to think about the possible legal implications of that situation, so 
focusing exclusively on the conduct of Stratman, who it viewed as a 
negligent grantee, and quoting in part from it's decision in the Wiege case of 
1980 that we have recently reviewed, the Court found that Stratman's failure 
to uphold his duty as a grantee outweighed any omissions made by 
Townsend: 
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“Stratman made no inquiry concerning the lot lines of the lot; 
he did not request or inspect any plat of the premises; he did not 
request or inspect an abstract of title ... he did not determine the 
area of the property ... He was aware that the motel and the 
restaurant were in close proximity, having been in the restaurant 
... He was aware that the parking lot ... was one continuous lot 
that had no outward physical markings or characteristics that 
might indicate the line between Lot A and Lot B ... had he 
looked at the plat ... he would have known that there must have 
been some parking arrangement ... Stratman made no inquiry 
about the size of Lot A or the parking facilities or arrangements 
... Stratman did not act as a reasonably prudent purchaser and 
therefore was not a good faith purchaser without notice of the 
existing easement ... 17-1-4 provides: Every person ... who 
omits to make such inquiry ... is deemed to have constructive 
notice ... want of diligence in making such inquiry is equivalent 
to a want of good faith ... where the easement is open and 
visible, the purchaser will be charged with notice ... The grantee 
is bound, where a reasonably careful inspection of the premises 
would disclose the existence of the easement ... Stratman ... 
knew from personal observation that customers of the 
restaurant were parking in the common area that lay between 
the restaurant and the motel ... a parking easement on Lot B 
existed for the benefit of Lot A." 

     The position taken here by the Court, approving an easement that had 
been created in such an unconventional way, without ever even being 
expressly identified as an easement, illustrates that easements can be created 
in a practically infinite variety of ways, for virtually any purpose involving 
land use, and it also demonstrates that any land use can represent a 
permanent right, by whatever name it may be identified. Neither the fact that 
the agreement document was unrecorded, nor the fact it was not originally or 
primarily intended to serve as a document of conveyance, were of any 
significance in the eyes of the Court, because the controlling factor was the 
powerful principle of notice, which stipulates that all visible uses of the land 
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of others represent potential easements. No easement can ever be created of 
course, by the mere words of any party who has no ownership interest in the 
land to be thus burdened, since only a land owner has the authority to 
intentionally burden his own property, and Townsend had sold Lot B before 
entering the agreement containing the disputed parking clause, so Townsend 
was at that time legally incapable of creating any easement on Lot B through 
his own words alone. In this instance however, even this presented no 
obstacle to the creation of the easement in controversy, because sufficient 
privity existed between Super 8, as a franchisor, and Brown and Rivett, as 
it's franchisees, to require the franchisees to be legally bound by any 
agreement that had been entered by their franchisor, so Super 8 was the 
grantor of the easement held by Townsend, acting in effect on behalf of the 
actual lot owners. Nevertheless, the agreement entered by Super 8 would not 
have been binding upon Stratman, if no actual use of the parking area had 
been made by the restaurant patrons and employees, since Stratman was 
correct, the Court acknowledged, that the agreement document alone did not 
constitute adequate notice to him, not being entitled as a document of 
conveyance, not being in his chain of title, and not being recorded. 
Stratman's error was his belief that he was entitled to rely solely upon 
documentary evidence to provide notice of land rights, what he did not 
initially understand, but learned from the Court, was that no one is ever 
entitled to ignore the elements of the physical world, that can be seen with 
one's own eyes, and anyone having notice arising from physical objects or 
events is obligated to pursue inquiry, with reasonable diligence, or become 
subject to the consequences of failing to do so. Stratman's mistake was 
typical of grantees who either act in haste, or simply do not understand the 
possible consequences of failing to rigorously discern and examine all 
possible land rights associated with the property they are buying, and the 
long honored equitable concept of inquiry notice was codified into statute 
law, as observed by the Court, to make that fundamental duty clear to all 
grantees. When the lower court decision in his favor was fully upheld by the 
Court, Townsend became one of the relatively few grantors fortunate enough 
to prevail in a dispute of this nature, and in reality he had prevailed only due 
to a lack of diligence on the part of Stratman, yet Townsend was not fully 
satisfied, because the Court had also ruled that his easement would cease, if 
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his building should ever cease to be used as a restaurant. Townsend had no 
one but himself to blame for this however, since he could easily have chosen 
language that would have made the parking easement appurtenant to Lot A, 
instead of carelessly limiting it as he had done, by making reference to Lot A 
only as "the restaurant", thus both litigants had learned stern lessons from 
the Court, which had again shown that it is always inclined to uphold 
easement agreements that have been put into productive use, making the 
existence of such an agreement apparent to all the world. 

 

 

SMITH  v  SPONHEIM  (1987) 

     Public use of private property is once again the focal point of our next 
case on the topic of dedication, which demonstrates the great importance of 
understanding how readily public rights can accrue through even very 
modest or limited use of private land, which is a matter that escapes the 
attention of many private property owners until long after the proverbial 
horse has left the barn, and their land has been legally encumbered. The long 
and acrimonious dispute that plays out here is quite typical of the sort of 
conflict that frequently results from carelessness and negligence in the 
documentation of land rights, which is particularly common in the context of 
access rights, because the value of access is often overlooked and under 
appreciated, due to the fact that it presents a highly transient use of land, 
until a minor access route develops into a regular thoroughfare, in use at 
essentially all times. One vital point driven home by this case, worthy of 
note by all professionals dealing with land rights, is the fact that subdivision 
approval under modern platting standards and statutes regarding dedication 
represents valid evidence of public acceptance of any previously unaccepted 
dedications, emphasizing the significance of actions taken by local officials 
on behalf of the public, and the potential impact that such acts can have on 
private land rights. As a corollary to the case we are about to review 
however, the 1986 case of Holida v Chicago & Northwestern Transportation 
(CNT) is also worthy of note in the context of dedication, since it provides 
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valuable insight into the true role and meaning of dedication, and important 
illumination regarding the interaction between dedication and boundaries. In 
that case, CNT was the owner of a 4.5 acre tract in Canistota, which was 
situated directly across Warehouse Street from a tract of unspecified size 
that was owned by Holida. Warehouse Street was evidently a typical public 
right-of-way, which had been platted and dedicated as such, and never 
vacated or abandoned, although it was apparently unused, having never been 
opened as a street, and Holida's property was described by metes and 
bounds, which followed the right-of-way of Warehouse Street and did not 
reach the centerline thereof. Holida wanted to buy the CNT tract, but CNT 
sold it to another party, without offering Holida any chance to bid on it, so 
Holida filed an action seeking to have the conveyance made by CNT struck 
down, as a violation of the statutory requirement that any railroad property 
must be offered to abutting land owners before being sold to any other party. 
In response, CNT maintained that Holida had no basis upon which to make 
any such charge, because Holida's property was separated from the CNT 
tract by a dedicated public right-of-way, that was owned in fee by Canistota, 
so Holida was not an abutting owner and CNT was not legally required to 
deal with Holida at all. Citing the 1903 Sweatman case, in which the Court 
had approved the statutory concept that ownership of platted lots is 
presumed to extend to the center of all platted streets, the Court fully upheld 
a lower court ruling in favor of Holida, confirming that CNT and Holida 
were indeed abutting land owners, because their respective properties both 
extended in fee to the center of the public street, regardless of how their 
boundaries were described. In so holding, the Court explained that the basis 
for the extention of private boundaries into a platted public right-of-way lies 
in the fact that a subdivider is not presumed to intend to retain ownership of 
any platted land, so all platted land is conveyed to the grantees of the various 
platted lots, including any dedicated right-of-way adjoining each lot 
conveyed, and the dedicated right-of-way is presumed to represent only an 
easement passing through the platted lots, unless it can be definitively shown 
to have been dedicated in fee. Thus it can clearly be seen that while the 
Court strongly upholds dedication as a valuable public asset, it upholds the 
fee ownership of the underlying land by the adjoining land owners with 
equal intensity. 
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1940 - A certain dirt road first came into vehicular use, running about 
1800 feet in a westerly direction off Highway 79 in an unspecified 
location in Meade County. Nothing is known about the use of the road 
prior to this time, it may have been in use as a footpath or horse trail 
for many years, or it may never have had any previous existence at all, 
and been created at this time simply by people driving over the same 
ground repeatedly. Nothing is known about either the configuration of 
the road or the terrain through which it ran, it may have been straight 
or curving, steep or flat, and how or why the location of the road was 
chosen is also unknown, but no portion of it was located within any 
section line right-of-way. Who it was that first used this route to 
access their property is unknown as well, but the roadway crossed the 
properties of at least 4 unspecified private land owners, who evidently 
either silently allowed it to be used, or were unaware of it's use. 
Whether the tracts that were crossed by the road were occupied or 
vacant at this time is also unknown.   

1946 - The road location had evidently become physically well 
defined and established by this time, since there was apparently no 
variation in the route that was being driven, although how many 
people were using it to access their properties is unknown. Smith and 
her husband owned an unspecified amount of land situated at or near 
the west end of the road, and they were among the earliest of the road 
users. At this time, Smith's husband became the first party ever to do 
any repair work on the road, presumably grading work of some kind, 
and no one objected to the work done by Smith, although he may not 
have been observed by anyone while doing it.  

1957 - Steady though minimal use of the road having continued for 
many years, at this time Meade County began maintaining the road, 
by grading, gravelling and widening it, and the county also dug a ditch 
along the south side of the road and installed an unspecified number 
of culverts along the road. The 4 property owners whose land the road 
crossed raised no objection to this work, in fact they all moved their 
existing fences an unspecified distance to the south, in order to 
provide room for the ditch to be dug. Whether or not any or all of 
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these 4 land owners were using the road themselves is unknown.  

1972 - Moderate use of the road continued until a flood seriously 
damaged it at this time, but it was promptly rebuilt in the same 
location by the county, and restored to it's previous condition, so the 
former use of the road resumed and continued, after only a brief 
period of disuse.  

1977 - Meade County approved a subdivision of unspecified size, 
which was located at the west end of the road, and the plat of this 
subdivision evidently indicated that this road represented the sole 
public access to the subdivision, although exactly how the road was 
shown or labeled on this plat is unknown. 

1978 - An overhead power line was installed along the north side of 
the road, and a buried telephone cable was installed along the south 
side of the road, presumably to serve the new subdivision, and the 
owners of the land crossed by the road made no objection, although 
no easements for either roadway or utility purposes had ever been 
acquired from any of them or their predecessors. For unknown 
reasons, Meade county ceased to maintain the road at this time, and 
that work was taken over by the road users. 

1979 - By this point in time, Albrecht, Sponheim and others had 
become the owners of the 4 tracts crossed by this road, and when 
construction of homes in the subdivision began, the use of the road 
ramped up dramatically, causing great consternation among the 
owners of the properties bearing the road. A community meeting 
concerning the use of the road was attended by most if not all of these 
land owners, and many of the road users as well, at which they argued 
over whether the road was public or private, without reaching any 
conclusions or any agreement.    

1980 - Meade County apparently took no definite or official position 
on the matter of whether the road was public or private, presumably 
some of the county personnel thought it was public and some did not. 
The county proposed however, that a new road should be built within 
a nearby section line right-of-way, to provide access to the 
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subdivision, but whether or not this road was being proposed as a 
replacement for the existing road was unclear, and who would bear 
the cost of building the proposed section line roadway was also 
unclear. Nevertheless, the county declined to grant any more permits 
to build homes in the subdivision unless or until the proposed 
roadway was built.    

1981 to 1983 - The proposed road was built in the section line right-
of-way, and upon it's completion, all of the users of the old road, 
including Smith and others residing outside the subdivision, as well as 
the subdivision lot owners, had viable legal access to their properties 
by means of the new road, so the former necessity for the old road to 
remain in use had ceased to exist. Most if not all of the subdivision lot 
owners apparently abandoned their use of the old road and used only 
the new section line road, but Smith, whose husband had evidently 
died at an unspecified time, and some of her neighbors, evidently 
went on using the old road, presumably because it represented a 
shorter route to their properties, and the land owners whose properties 
were crossed by the old road evidently never blocked it, presumably 
because they were using it themselves. Albrecht eventually became 
aggravated with the ongoing use of the road by Smith and her 
neighbors however, and apparently threatened to close the old road, so 
the Smith group filed an action against Albrecht, Sponheim and the 
others whose land was traversed by the road, seeking a judicial 
declaration that the old road was public and must be kept open. Near 
the end of this period, the Smith group prevailed in this action, as the 
trial court declared that the old road was public, but the Albrecht 
group chose to appeal that result.   

1985 - The controversy over the legal status of the old road came to 
the Court for the first time, and the Court reversed the lower court 
ruling, on the grounds that Meade County had not taken any part in 
the litigation, therefore it was impossible to conclusively determine 
the legal status of the old road, since no opportunity had been 
provided for input from the county, making it necessary for Smith and 
her group to try again. In accord with this directive announced by the 
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Court in Smith v Albrecht, the Smith group proceeded to file their 
action once again, this time against Meade County, as well as the 
same group of servient land owners. 

     Smith and her fellow users of the old road did not claim that it had 
ever been formally dedicated or officially accepted in any express terms, 
they argued instead that the historical evidence constituted sufficient proof 
of a valid implied dedication of the old road, by the predecessors of all of the 
parties whose land it traversed, and also proof of acceptance of that 
dedication by both Meade County and the public in general, so the old road 
had become public decades earlier, and remained public, despite the 
construction of the section line road. Sponheim, serving this time as the 
leader of the same group of land owners who had previously opposed the 
Smith group, argued that the evidence was insufficient to support either an 
implied dedication of the old road or any kind of public acceptance of that 
road, and he maintained that even if the road had become public at some 
point in the past, it was no longer necessary, since the section line road had 
effectively replaced it, thus it had been abandoned by the county and was 
now subject to closure, at the discretion of the owners of the land that it 
burdened. Meade County did not make any arguments and did not actively 
contest any of the assertions made by either of the opposing groups, 
apparently being content to simply accept the outcome of the litigation, 
whatever the result might be. The trial court once again declared the road to 
be public, just as it had in 1983, based on the same evidence that had been 
originally presented, triggering a second appeal by the now twice defeated 
group of defendants.  

     Smith was either unusually wise, or very well advised, or both, 
because her evidentiary material was rock solid, right on target, and 
completely in line with the many previous holdings of the Court on implied 
dedication, which left Sponheim and the other defendants in an exceedingly 
difficult position. Before moving on to the results of the Court's second 
review of this conflict, some aspects of it's decision upon first reviewing this 
scenario are worthy of note. As noted above, the Court declined to address 
the merits of Smith's argument in 1985, not because any evidence was 
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lacking, but because the participation of the county was mandatory, making 
the county an indispensible party to the action, so Smith's only mistake in 
filing her first action was failing to recognize that the county had to be given 
an opportunity to present an argument, either favoring or contesting the 
argument presented by her own group. This was true, the Court explained, 
because the road would be under county jurisdiction, if deemed to be public, 
so the presence of the county as a trial participant was equivalent to 
participation by the public itself, and since the public could view any road 
such as the one at issue as either a benefit or a burden, the public had to have 
an opportunity to take a stand, one way or the other. So Smith and the other 
road users could not prevail, the Court indicated, by merely bypassing the 
county, as they had originally done, they were legally required to essentially 
invite the county to participate, by implicating the county as a defendant, 
regardless of whether the county had any desire to participate or not. As it 
turned out however, quite unfortunately for Sponheim and his group of land 
owners, Meade County evidently had no desire to play any meaningful part 
in this legal battle, and made no real effort to either support or attack any of 
the positions taken by either group. The testimony given by the county 
personnel who appeared as witnesses tended to strengthen the case being 
made by Smith's group, by confirming that the county had performed work 
on the road in question on numerous occasions, so the presence of the 
county was in no way helpful to Sponheim's group, and in fact it 
handicapped Sponheim's efforts to minimize the value of the evidence set 
forth by the Smith group. There was naturally no specific evidence of 
exactly how the use of the road in question had begun, well over 4 decades 
earlier, since few if any of the parties involved in this litigation had been 
present at the time of the road's origin, and such an absence of evidence of 
either permission or objection to the original use of such a road supports the 
concept of implied dedication, in the view of the Court, by allowing 
subsequent acts to illustrate the intent of the original parties. Unlike 
prescription, dedication requires no passage of any certain amount of time to 
become binding, being based on intent, rather than upon any statutory time 
limits, but like prescription, no words at all, either written or spoken, are 
necessary to signify or validate a dedication, so the acts of the predecessors 
of the defendants, who had owned their properties during the 1940s and 
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1950s, were directly in focus, and the Court found their voluntary relocation 
of their fences, 30 years before, to be crucial evidence. Citing several of the 
many previous dedication cases that we have reviewed, the Court observed 
that the evidence presented by Smith was highly persuasive, making the 
outcome undeniable:  

“In an implied common law dedication, the use of land by the 
public as a street, with the knowledge of, and without objection 
by, the owner of the fee for a number of years, is evidence of 
such dedication ... public use must exist, but ... for a period 
much shorter than that required to show title by prescription ... 
intention to dedicate ... may be shown by deed, words, or acts ... 
Since 1940 the road has been used by residents ... also by 
hunters, woodcutters, U. S. Forest Service employees, S. D. 
Department of Game, Fish & Parks employees, as well as 
business people ... and other members of the general public ... 
predecessors ... moved their respective roadside fences to allow 
... widening and improving the road ... The landowners did not 
merely acquiesce to this road work, they actively participated 
by removing their fences ... these findings are sufficient to 
support ... implied dedication ... appellants predecessors ... 
demonstrated conduct which clearly expressed the intention to 
dedicate ... appellants ... manifested their intent to impliedly 
dedicate their property as a public road ... the Meade County 
Commission approved and accepted a plat for a new 
subdivision ... the only public access to the subdivision was via 
the road ... The conduct of Meade County ... accepted the road 
on behalf of the public ... the evidence positively and 
unequivocally manifested the appellants intention ... an implied 
dedication existed and was accepted." 

     Although the Court had originally been reluctant to place the burden 
of accepting an unwanted or unintended public road upon Meade County, 
once the county had been given the opportunity to directly address the 
matter as a trial participant, the Court recognized that the county was unable 
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to overcome the overwhelming evidence of both dedication and acceptance 
of the road at issue as a public thoroughfare, and in fact the acts of the 
county had provided the critical element of acceptance. The substantial work 
done on the road in controversy by the county in 1957 had been fully 
sufficient to mark the county's acceptance of it on behalf of the public, the 
Court concluded, and the even more comprehensive restoration work done in 
1972 reinforced the notion that the county had considered the road to be 
public throughout the intervening 15 years. Though no further repetition of 
it's prior acceptance of the road was legally necessary, the county had yet 
again treated the road as being implicitly public in 1977, by approving the 
subdivision plat, which provided no other means of public access to the 
subdivision being proposed at that time, and would presumptively have been 
rejected by the county for that reason, if the road that was being relied upon 
to access the new lots had not been acknowledged by the county as being 
public in character. Plat approval constitutes public acceptance of 
dedications just as effectively as actual public use, because the public 
officers and employees charged with performing the plat review are 
presumed to have done their duty properly, and that duty includes fully 
upholding the public interest in all respects, by verifying that any relevant 
public rights are correctly depicted on the plat. The plat review process 
provides such officials with the opportunity to question and reject anything 
that runs contrary to the interests of the public, which may appear on any 
given plat, such as an absence of public access, so their approval can 
represent an expression or validation of existing public land rights. Even if 
the county's failure to reject the plat had been a mere oversight, based upon a 
hasty or careless review of the potential weaknesses and problems embodied 
in the plat, the owners of the newly created lots were entitled to rely on the 
promise of public access to their property that had been provided by the plat, 
so once the county approved it and allowed the development to go forward, 
the county was in no position to reverse itself by declaring that the road had 
never been public. There can be little doubt that the wiser personnel 
employed by Meade County understood this, and they knew the possible 
legal ramifications of such a denial for the county, which explains the 
county's reluctance to support the position taken by Sponheim and the other 
defendants who were maintaining that the road had always been private. The 
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evidence presented by Smith was quite convincing, easily meeting even the 
high "unequivocal" standard of proof that had been established as a 
requirement for implied dedication by the Court in the First Church case of 
1942, which we have previously reviewed, leading the Court to fully uphold 
the lower court ruling that a public road existed in the disputed location, and 
in fact it had already been in existence for a full 3 decades by the time of the 
Court's resolution of this prolonged controversy. The lack of necessity for 
the old road, which had been created by the presence of the new road, was 
irrelevant, since a typical existing access easement is not terminated by the 
mere absence of absolute necessity, regardless of whether the route is public 
or private, making it unnecessary to determine whether the new road had 
been intended to replace the old road or not, and failing to understand this 
may have been the greatest error made by the Sponheim group. The major 
lesson taught by this case is simply that conduct itself can and does create 
land rights, including easements that are both affirmative and burdensome in 
nature, with respect to multiple properties, so an absence of documentation 
relating to any given roadway does not mean that it is not a valid public 
right-of-way. 

 

 

BROWN  v  BOARD OF PENNINGTON COUNTY  (1988) 

     Although the topic of eminent domain, which features the use of 
condemnation as a means of acquiring land rights, is outside the scope of 
this book, certain condemnation cases are worthy of note, because they also 
involve the application of many of the basic concepts and principles that 
control land rights, and this inverse condemnation action forms a fine 
example of that, as it further clarifies the role and nature of dedication, while 
also highlighting the significance of things that were done by predecessors in 
the distant past. The main lesson communicated here is the importance of 
differentiating easements from fee ownership of land, and having drawn that 
distinction, which frames the controversy in the context of easement law, 
further realizing that dedication in any form represents a grant and not a 
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taking, since these are the principal factors that lead the Court to typically 
rely upon the concept of dedication as the primary means of protecting 
public interests in private land. This case also provides an excellent 
demonstration of the basic operation of acquiescence and estoppel, showing 
how those equitable elements of common law can decisively support the 
creation of easements or validate the existence of any given easement, and in 
addition the outcome of this controversy also illustrates that although the 
payment of property taxes can often be a factor in adverse possession cases, 
it typically has no impact on the existence of easements. While notice plays 
a key role in the case we are about to review, in the context of a rural road, it 
played an equally prominent role in an urban setting in the 1996 case of Tan 
Corporation v Johnson, a dispute over the use of a driveway located in a 
parking area that served multiple commercial properties. In that case, during 
the late 1970s and early 1980s Hegg, who was a developer, acquired several 
adjoining platted commercial lots in Sioux Falls, and various commercial 
buildings were erected on these lots during that time period, including a gas 
station, which occupied the corner lot, and was thus situated at a major 
intersection. All of the businesses residing within this group of platted lots 
were served by a typical large commercial parking lot with numerous 
parking islands, described by the Court as a "campus style commercial 
development with free flowing traffic between the lots". As the various lots 
were sold by Hegg and put into use during the 1980s, a number of access 
easements were created to insure mutual use of the drive lanes that ran 
through the shared parking area, in purchase agreements and in deeds, but 
while some of these easements were recorded, others were not. There were 
evidently two routes of access leading from the parking area into the corner 
lot containing the gas station, which was owned by Tan, and when Johnson 
acquired one of the lots adjoining the gas station lot in 1990, he was unaware 
of the existence of any easement allowing gas station customers to cross his 
lot. In 1993, the intersection was closed for road construction, forcing all of 
the gas station customers to drive across Johnson's lot, which he found to be 
an annoyance, so he barricaded the driveway that connected his lot and the 
gas station lot. Tan filed an action to compel Johnson to unblock the 
driveway, but Johnson argued that no unrecorded easement upon his lot 
providing access to the gas station could be legally binding upon him, 
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because he had no way of knowing of it's existence when he bought his lot. 
Citing the Wiege, Steele and Townsend cases, all previously reviewed 
herein, the Court fully upheld a lower court ruling ordering Johnson to 
remove the barricade and honor Tan's access easement, declaring that 
Johnson had very clearly failed to carry his burden of inquiry notice as a 
grantee, by failing to ask about the possibility that such an easement existed 
at the time he acquired his lot, which under statute 17-1-4 had the legal 
effect of barring him from subsequently denying that the easement existed, 
or ever impeding the use of it in any way, even temporarily. 

Prior to 1892 - Reynolds staked out and filed a large mineral location 
claim in an unspecified part of Pennington County. He evidently made 
actual use of the land for mining purposes, and he presumably lived 
on the land as well, because his ranch eventually became a regular 
stop on a certain stagecoach route. A road thus developed, a two mile 
segment of which crossed his property, and Reynolds charged a toll 
for the use of the road, although whether or not he had actually built 
the portion of the roadway that was within his boundaries is unknown, 
and he did this even though he had apparently not yet acquired legal 
ownership of the land that he had settled.   

1892 - A mineral location survey was done for Reynolds, presumably 
for the purpose of obtaining his mineral patent, and the surveyed tract 
was later patented to him at an unspecified date. The survey showed 
the location of the road running through the Reynolds property, 
indicating that it was clearly a well established route that was already 
in regular use by this time.  

1893 to 1981 - The use of the road across the Reynolds property 
continued, and once the stagecoach era ended, it gradually 
transitioned into a typical modern county road, although whether or 
not it was ever paved is unknown. Use of the road by the public 
became common, although the extent and frequency of such use is 
unknown, and the public use of the road was never objected to by 
Reynolds, so at an unspecified date the road was informally adopted 
into the Pennington County road system and given a county road 
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number. Reynolds apparently went on charging a toll for the use of his 
portion of the road until he died, at an unspecified date, but his 
descendants evidently did not continue this practice, so by the time the 
era of modern vehicular travel arrived, the road was being freely used 
by the public without any objection from the Reynolds family. This 
entire property apparently remained in the Reynolds family 
throughout this period, and the family always paid their property taxes 
on the entire tract, with no reduction in the amount that they paid on 
account of the existence of the road running through their land.    

1982 - Brown acquired the Reynolds tract, despite the fact that the 
title package that he was given indicated that no public access to the 
property he was acquiring existed. Brown then had the tract platted, 
and the plat indicated that the road was private and had never been 
dedicated, presumably based on the dedication status indicated by the 
title report. Pennington County objected to the plat however, insisting 
that the road must be identified as public on the plat, so this was done, 
and the plat was apparently recorded showing the road as being 
public.    

1984 - Brown was unsatisfied with the poor condition of the road, 
which was evidently not being well maintained by the county, and he 
was also upset because the county continued to insist that he must pay 
taxes on his entire tract, despite the presence of the road. At this time 
therefore, Brown decided to make a physical demonstration of his 
ownership and complete control over the entirety of his property, by 
completely blocking the road at the points where it entered and exited 
his property, preventing all use of it for one 24 hour period. Whether 
or not anyone actually tried to use the road during this 24 hour period 
is unknown, and whether or not the county was aware that Brown had 
done this is also unknown, but the county took no action whatsoever 
and made no response of any kind to this action taken by Brown.  

1985 - Apparently frustrated by the unresponsiveness of the county, 
Brown filed an action against the Board of County Commissioners as 
a whole, and against each of the 5 board members as individuals as 
well, seeking financial compensation for the taking by the county of a 
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public road across his property.   

     Brown did not argue that the road running through his property was 
not public, he effectively conceded that it was public, by arguing that 
Pennington County had unjustifiably taken that strip of his property from 
him, or from his predecessors, for roadway purposes, without ever providing 
either him or his predecessors with any compensation whatsoever, 
amounting to a violation of their constitutional property rights as private 
land owners, so he maintained that he was entitled to a cash award from the 
county on that basis. Pennington County argued that the road in question had 
never been taken from either Brown or any of his predecessors, yet it had 
become a public right-of-way, by means of a common law dedication of that 
roadway by Brown's predecessors, which had been duly accepted by the 
public long before Brown acquired his land, so the segment of the road 
passing through Brown's property was burdened with an easement, in the 
form of a public right-of-way, under the jurisdiction of the county, for which 
no compensation was due to Brown. The trial court decided that the road at 
issue was public, and had been public for several decades, having been 
dedicated by Brown's predecessors and accepted by the public, but agreed 
with Brown that since no payment for the road had ever been made to 
anyone by the county, the award requested by Brown for the loss of a 
portion of his property was merited, granting him a cash award of several 
thousand dollars.      

     In land rights disputes, as we have seen from some of our previous 
cases, the real issue can often be money, rather than the actual land or land 
rights, and here that was once again the case, since Brown was upset because 
he felt that he had been cheated in some way, yet he was content to sacrifice 
the right-of-way in question, if he could obtain compensation for it, so it was 
clear that his real objective was obtaining payment, rather than eliminating 
the legal burden that the road placed upon his property. The powerful 
element of notice was certainly a major factor operating against Brown, 
since the roadway in controversy had long been quite plainly apparent for all 
to see, and Brown had proceeded to acquire the former Reynolds Ranch with 
full knowledge that the land being conveyed to him bore a roadway, but he 
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apparently hoped to overcome this crucial factor by invoking his 
constitutional rights relating to the condemnation of real property. Inverse 
condemnation is a fully legitimate and well recognized concept founded 
upon constitutional law, which Brown set out to employ as a means to 
extract compensation from the county, and he would have had a perfectly 
valid right to a cash award, on the basis that part of his land had been 
devoted to a public purpose without the consent of anyone who had owned 
that land, if he could prove that had truly happened. As the plaintiff, Brown 
bore the initial burden of proof however, so it made no difference what 
Pennington County might claim or argue, unless Brown was able to present 
a reasonably convincing argument showing why he was entitled to a 
financial award, and the passage of time made that a very difficult 
proposition for him, because he could show no specific evidence relating 
directly to the origin of the public use of the road. Brown endeavored to use 
the passage of time in his favor, by emphasizing the long historic use of the 
road to support his claim that the right-of-way in question had clearly been 
taken from his predecessor for the benefit of the public, and the trial judge 
had accepted his premise as valid, but the trial judge was in reality, the Court 
pointed out, wrong in one key respect, even while being right in another 
respect. The trial judge had correctly determined that the roadway in dispute 
had been dedicated and publicly accepted, the Court indicated, but he had 
failed to understand the legal implications of a successful dedication, 
demonstrating how poorly understood the concept of dedication really is. A 
legal presumption that payment was made at some time in the past arises 
after 20 years of public use of real property, due to the difficulty in proving 
such facts with the passage of time, similar to the evidentiary considerations 
underlying adverse possession, which essentially places a blanket of repose 
over all such matters, so Brown had the virtually impossible burden of 
affirmatively proving that no payment had ever been made to Reynolds or 
any of his descendants. Even setting that particular presumption at law aside 
however, the Court observed, and accepting the notion that no member of 
the Reynolds family had ever been paid as a fact, Brown could not prevail, 
because the passage of time was not the essence of the matter at all, so 
following comparable decisions from California, Idaho, Indiana and New 
York, while noting that dedication, by definition, creates public rights, the 

666



Court spelled out the fundamental reason why the monetary award to Brown 
could not be allowed to stand: 

"Browns brought a claim in inverse condemnation pursuant to 
... the State Constitution ... no compensation had been made ... 
As for the defense of adverse possession, the court ... concluded 
as a matter of law that the county had not acquired title by 
adverse possession ... The final question was whether or not the 
right to compensation was barred ... The key to answering this 
question lies in the nature of an implied dedication ... In a 
dedication, the private landowner intentionally appropriates 
land for public use ... dedication may arise by express grant or 
by legal implication, whereafter the landowner is estopped from 
precluding public use of the land ... The public ... acquires an 
easement on the servient estate of the landowner ... 
compensation depends upon the manner in which the public 
acquired the property interest ... The statute ... does not require 
payment of damages where the public has already acquired an 
easement because the landowner has made no affirmative 
attempt to prevent ... use of the road for a period of more than 
twenty years ... The very essence of a dedication is that there is 
no (monetary) compensation to the dedicator ... Brown's 
predecessors acquiesced ... for more than twenty years ... 
Browns can neither receive compensation for the dedication nor 
prevent the public use of the roadway." 

     As is true of virtually every other grantee, Brown stood in the shoes of 
Reynolds, so the mere fact that Brown himself had not been paid for the 
right-of-way at issue entitled him to nothing, he was bound to honor the road 
as public, as a result of the commitment to dedicate it that had been 
manifested in the acts of Reynolds, and the physical presence of the road 
itself provided Brown with notice of that situation, in the eyes of the Court. 
The passage of time was irrelevant, whether or not Brown was entitled to 
payment was not dependent upon how much time had passed, it was 
dependent instead upon the manner in which the rights in controversy had 
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been created, the Court declared, emphasizing the distinction between rights 
taken and rights voluntarily granted. The principle of dedication itself makes 
compensation irrelevant, the Court informed Brown, so nothing had ever 
been taken, because the right-of-way that had developed during the 
stagecoach days had been freely given to the public by the descendants of 
Reynolds, who had acknowledged it as public by allowing it to be publicly 
used for decades, while making no demand for any financial compensation. 
Moreover, when any dedication takes place, the dedicating party or parties 
are always presumed to be making the dedication for a reason, and that 
reason is typically to obtain some form of benefit from it themselves, and in 
this instance, the benefit obtained by the dedicator was simply the use of a 
public road, the presence of which is obviously a highly valuable asset to 
real property in itself, as every developer of land knows. While the creation 
of a prescriptive right-of-way for public purposes can be construed as a 
compensable public taking of private land rights in some situations, 
dedication never carries any such obligation to compensate, because 
dedication is in the manner of gift, arising from the mind of the dedicator, 
leading the Court to wisely be inclined to typically uphold public land rights 
on the basis of implied dedication, as opposed to prescription. Holding that 
the ranch was still owned entirely in fee by Brown, since dedication creates 
only an easement in the location that has been put to public use, which 
justified the county in taxing him for all of the land within his boundaries, 
the Court reversed the lower court decision, striking down Brown's 
monetary award in it's entirety. Pennington County had never made any 
direct assertion of an estoppel against Brown, since the county's legal 
counsel was evidently cognizant that there was no need to do so, because 
dedication and acceptance was all that was necessary to create an estoppel 
effectively preventing Brown from ever legally interfering with the use of 
the road, the Court stated, confirming that implied dedication is based upon 
estoppel, which in this instance had arisen from acquiescence. Its important 
to understand that Brown did not lose his award because the dedication had 
taken place too far in the past to justify payment to him, time was not a 
factor in that regard, he lost because any dedication for access purposes, 
made at any point in time, amounts to an intentional and deliberate 
relinquishment of a right-of-way required for public use, creating an 
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easement in favor of the public. The 24 hour blockage of the road that had 
been erected by Brown was likewise completely inconsequential, in the view 
taken by the Court, because it was unauthorized, thus it could have no 
impact upon any existing rights held by the public, so the county had no 
obligation to deal with it at all, and had wisely ignored it, since no one had 
complained about it. Although a public roadway was formally decreed to 
exist, it's width was never specified, nor even addressed at all by the Court, 
since none of the parties had ever made the width of the right-of-way an 
issue, so that was left as a potential source of future debate, should the 
litigants ever care to engage in another dispute. The perpetual struggle of 
private rights versus public rights will very likely never end, but the real 
importance of this ruling lies in the fact that a dangerous precedent, that 
would have been financially devastating to poor counties, was hereby struck 
down by the Court. 

 

 

BRYANT  v  BUTTE COUNTY  (1990) 

     At this point, in our ongoing review of the Court's perspective on the 
legal use, nature and significance of the section line right-of-way, we come 
to one of the most unique cases presented herein, which is likely to be of 
particular interest to those surveyors who are employed by government 
agencies or entities, as it presents a direct contest over rights held in specific 
locations, in which both county and federal government interests collide, 
effectively displacing the interests of the adjoining land owners. While this 
case involves no land ownership, and no conveyances of either land or land 
rights, it does nevertheless seriously involve land rights, and even an 
especially bizarre claim of adverse possession, which is truly incredible and 
completely unique in the history of South Dakota law. Aside from it's 
unusual aspects however, this case also presents a very good example of the 
fact that misunderstanding the true nature of land rights, particularly those 
associated with easements, is definitely not limited to land owners or other 
private parties, as government agencies and their employees can and often 
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do misunderstand their own rights and responsibilities, just as private parties 
so often do. Although Pennington County happened to prevail in our last 
previous case, we have repeatedly seen from several earlier cases, such as 
the Umberger case of 1976 and the Belle Fourche case of 1982, that state, 
county and local government officials can in fact be mistaken about some 
aspect of the rights they hold, and the case we are about to review augments 
that list, since it provides a classic example of a scenario in which both of 
the litigants are partially right, but both are also partially wrong, about the 
extent of their respective rights and duties. While adverse possession is not 
the focal point of this controversy, and does not control the outcome, the odd 
perspective on adverse possession presented here, as it is conjured up in an 
effort to deny ownership, rather than an effort to gain ownership, brings up 
the question of whether or not one party can essentially force adverse 
ownership upon another party. Though the Court provides no direct answer 
to that question, the Court's treatment and summary dismissal of the charge 
made here to that effect would appear to point to a resoundingly negative 
answer to such a proposition, based on the fundamental principle that 
adverse possession ultimately requires the intent to obtain and exert 
dominion over that which is the object of controversy. A more relevant and 
realistic question, with serious legal implications, which is squarely 
addressed here by the Court, is whether or not the doctrine of acquiescence 
can have any valid application to government property or interests in land, 
and the basic concept that no one, including government officers or 
employees, has any authority to damage, reduce or diminish public rights, 
through any acts or omissions of their own, controls the answer provided by 
the Court to that proposition. The great irony of controversies such as this 
one is that objects residing upon the land on a permanent basis, which form 
the subject matter of such disputes, just as in this instance, are representative 
of land rights that in truth are necessary to all parties, making it clear that 
their mutual efforts to disclaim ownership and shed their respective 
responsibilities are really driven entirely by financial considerations, yet the 
Court wisely apportions the respective duties of the parties based upon the 
appurtenance of those objects to their respective easement rights.  

Prior to 1905 - During this period, many section line roads in Butte 
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County were opened and put into regular use as active routes of public 
travel. At least part of the county required additional irrigation 
however, to enhance the productivity of the land, so surveys were 
done and plans were made to facilitate the design of an irrigation 
system, which would cross many of those existing section line roads.  

1905 - The United States Bureau of Reclamation commenced work on 
the Belle Fourche Irrigation Project. Numerous irrigation channels 
were constructed as part of the project, many of which crossed section 
lines that were already being actively used for public travel, and in 8 
locations bridges were built on section line roads to facilitate ongoing 
travel over those irrigation channels. No details regarding the size or 
type of these bridges are known, but the labor and materials needed 
for the construction of the bridges were all procured with federal 
funds. These bridges were all built on privately owned land, within 
the section line right-of-way, but no land rights expressly relating to 
the bridges were ever acquired from anyone. The roads bearing these 
bridges subsequently went on being used just as they always had, and 
the county assumed responsibility for maintaining the bridges that had 
been built at this time, since the bridges were an integral part of the 
county road system, and they were all situated within the section line 
right-of-way, which of course was under county jurisdiction. 

1949 - The Bureau turned over full control and responsibility for all of 
the irrigation channels and structures that had been built by the 
Bureau to the Belle Fourche Irrigation District, which had been 
created at an unspecified date. A contract between the Bureau and the 
District reserved ownership of the physical components of the 
irrigation system to the federal government, but it made no specific 
reference to any of the bridges, in effect treating them as if they were 
really part of the various roadways upon which they sat and not part 
of the irrigation system at all. The District began maintaining the 
irrigation channels, but apparently never took responsibility for any of 
the bridges and never did any kind of repair work on them. Butte 
County evidently went on maintaining the bridges, treating them as 
being part of the section line right-of-way which they occupied.  
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1983 - Seeking to cut back on expenses, the county decided to stop 
maintaining the 8 bridges, all of which were apparently situated in 
rural areas, none of them being located within any city or town, or 
even within any organized township.  

1984 - The Bureau and the District entered another contract, which 
was evidently identical to their 1949 contract and presumably 
amounted only to a renewal of their original agreement. The District 
continued to maintain all of the components of the irrigation system 
that were appurtenant to it, as stipulated by the contract, but took no 
responsibility for any of the 8 bridges. 

1985 to 1989 - During this period, the bridges apparently began to 
suffer from lack of repair, and presumably complaints were made 
about their deteriorating condition, creating a potential safety hazard. 
The District, joined by the owners of the properties upon which 2 of 
the bridges were situated, filed an action against Butte County, 
seeking to have the county compelled to accept full legal 
responsibility for the bridges and keep them in safe operating 
condition at county expense.   

     The District and the private land owners argued that the 8 bridges 
were not part of the irrigation system, because they had been built for the 
benefit of the county road system, and for the benefit of the citizens of Butte 
County and the general public, therefore they had become public, either 
upon construction or with the passage of time, so they were all owned by the 
county, as part of each of the county roads upon which the bridges sat, and 
maintaining them was therefore the responsibility of Butte County. The 
District and the land owners further argued that Butte County had allowed 
the bridges to be built within the section line right-of-way, which had been 
controlled by the county at all times, and the county had subsequently 
acknowledged and accepted the bridges as being a part of the county road 
system, by maintaining them for several decades, so the county could not 
deny that it owned the bridges, and therefore could not legally deny that it 
had a duty to keep them in safe operation at all times. Butte County argued 
that the bridges had all been built by the federal government, for irrigation 
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purposes, and not by the county for road purposes, so they were still the 
property of the federal government, and they had never been acquired or 
adopted by the county, therefore the county had no responsibility to continue 
maintaining them. The county further argued that the bridges had all been 
built on private land, and they were appurtenant to the irrigation channels 
upon which they sat, so repairing them was the responsibility of either the 
land owners or the Bureau or the District, and the county was free to 
disregard the bridges, despite the fact that they were located inside the 
section line right-of-way. The trial court held that the bridges were owned by 
the Bureau, but had to be maintained by the District under it's contract with 
the Bureau, so the county could not be legally compelled to continue 
maintaining them, regardless of where they were located, and regardless of 
who had repaired them in the past.     

     Much like the 1988 Brown case, just previously reviewed, this 
controversy was very obviously focused on money more than on land rights, 
the specific conflict here being over who must bear the financial burden of 
maintaining the bridges in question, but the status of the relevant land rights 
would prove to be a key element in reaching the judicial answer to that 
question. The involvement of the 2 land owners in this litigation was 
negligible, the real battle took place between the Irrigation District and Butte 
County, because both of them knew that they were likely to be saddled with 
the unwanted nuisance and significant expense of repairing the 8 bridges, 
both at the present time and henceforward. In a typical land rights dispute of 
course, both sides attempt to present convincing arguments that their rights 
to the area in question are superior to those of the opposing party, and should 
be upheld as controlling either the use or the ownership of the location at 
issue, but in this unique case precisely the opposite was true. Since it was the 
common objective of all of the litigants to shed the economic burden 
represented by these 8 bridges, both sides diligently argued that the rights of 
their opponents were superior to their own, with respect to each bridge 
location. The existence of the section line right-of-way, constituting an 
acknowledged responsibility of the county, was undisputed, but no right-of-
way had ever been acquired by deed for the routes of any of the irrigation 
channels, by either the Bureau or the District, yet the Court recognized that 
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the irrigation system represented a de facto right-of-way, so each of the 8 
bridges sat precisely at the intersection or junction of one right-of-way with 
another, and within the physical limits of each right-of-way. Two 
fundamental questions were therefore in play, the Court observed, one being 
who actually owned the bridges, and the other being who bore the primary 
responsibility for maintaining the land upon which each of them rested. It 
was clear, the Court noted, that prior to the construction of the irrigation 
system, the county already had jurisdiction over the roadways in question, 
since they were all within the section line right-of-way, and the Court was 
distinctly disinclined to allow the county to shed or neglect it's duty to exert 
full control over the entire section line right-of-way upon the grounds that 
the construction of the irrigation system had effectively removed the portion 
of the section line right-of-way occupied by each bridge from the control of 
the county. The Court therefore declined to allow the county to discount the 
fact that the bridges were all inside the section line right-of-way, because 
even though the section line right-of-way is only an easement, and the land 
inside it remains in the fee ownership of the patentees and their successors, 
counties are expressly and statutorily charged with jurisdiction over, and 
thus responsibility for, that one chain strip. Therefore, regardless of who 
actually owned the bridges, and regardless of whether they were part of the 
county road system or part of the federal irrigation system, the Court 
decided, Butte County had no right and no option to ignore the condition of 
the bridges in dispute, so the county bore the primary responsibility for 
getting the bridge repair work done, to protect the safety of the users of the 
county roads. Quoting in part from statute 46-8-16 however, the Court then 
proceeded to assess the ownership of the bridges in question, since that 
would determine the outcome of the critical financial aspect of the 
controversy: 

"The county's duty to repair the road is ministerial ... the 
commissioners are not allowed to pick and choose which roads 
to repair ... maintaining secondary roads has been twice 
ascribed to them by the legislature ... requiring that Butte 
County commissioners carry out their duty ... no financial 
responsibility will fall on either Butte County or the 
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commissioners ... It is the county that possesses the equipment 
to repair bridges ... However ... requiring that the county fulfill 
it's ministerial duties of maintaining the county secondary 
highways does not end our discussion ... This brings us to ... the 
ownership of the bridges ... District contests ... that the bridges 
are public highways by virtue of twenty years of continuous 
use, work and maintenance as a public highway ... the United 
States may not lose property by adverse possession ... officers 
who have no authority at all to dispose of government property 
cannot by their conduct cause the government to lose it's 
valuable rights by their acquiescence, laches or failure to act ... 
neither the Bureau nor the District could sit back and permit the 
county to obtain ownership of the bridges by adverse 
possession ... An owner of works for the carriage, storage or 
application of water to beneficial use has the right to cross any 
public or railroad right-of-way ... the statute ... gives the county 
the right to prescribe that the owner repair it's bridges ... The 
1984 contract specifically provided ... All Belle Fourche unit 
project works, including ... appurtenant structures ... were 
transferred to the District for care, operation and maintenance ... 
therefore ... while the county has the statutory duty of 
maintaining the bridges ... the Bureau was required to pay for 
the repair." 

     Although Butte County bore the primary duty to physically maintain 
the geographic location occupied by each of the 8 bridges, the Court 
concluded, by virtue of it's statutory duty to insure the safety of the 
travelling public within every portion of the section line right-of-way, that 
did not mean that the county had ever taken or accepted outright ownership 
of any of the irrigation facilities that were located within the section line 
right-of-way, including even the bridges. The bridges had clearly been the 
property of the United States at the outset, having been constructed entirely 
with federal labor, material and funds, and the Court was unwilling to adopt 
the position that anything that had happened since 1905 had ever transferred 
ownership of any of the bridges to Butte County, despite the assertions of 
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the District that it had actually lost ownership of the bridges to adverse 
possession executed by the county. Though the Court had expressly and 
repeatedly held that it is the acts, and not the intentions, of an adverse 
possessor that determine the validity of any adverse claim, as we have seen 
in numerous cases reviewed herein, the ownership of unwanted property has 
never been forced upon a party who made unintentional use of it, and who 
never had any desire to exert the essential element of dominion over it. 
Moreover, as the Court pointed out, all federal property resides outside the 
realm of items which are subject to adverse claims, coming instead under the 
protective doctrine known as "Nullum tempus occurrit regi" which translated 
from Latin means simply "Time runneth not against the King". Statute 46-8-
16 was critical to the Court's decision regarding the ownership of the bridges 
as well, because it served to justify the presence of the irrigation facilities, 
including the bridges, within the section line right-of-way, by specifying that 
a supplier of water, such as the Bureau or the District, is authorized to build 
structures within any existing right-of-way, such as the section line right of 
way in this particular instance, subject to the typical standard of reasonable 
use. So the fact that the bridges had long occupied a portion of the section 
line right-of-way was of no consequence, resulting in no accrual of any 
adverse rights, the Court indicated, because such structures can occupy a 
right-of-way owned by one party, and yet remain perpetually in the 
ownership of another party, ownership being independent of location, even 
after the passage of several decades. While 46-8-16 makes no direct 
reference to the creation of an easement, it expressly created a right relating 
to the land at issue, that was equivalent in force and effect to an easement, so 
in the view of this scenario taken by the Court, each bridge sat inside 2 
overlapping easements, one for purposes of travel held by the county, and 
one for purposes of irrigation held by the District, and each bridge was 
equally appurtenant to each right-of-way. The District, the Court therefore 
ruled, could not escape it's responsibility to maintain it's facility any more 
than the county could escape the legal duties imposed upon it by the section 
line right-of-way, reversing the portion of the lower court ruling that had 
released the county from all responsibility, while upholding the portion of 
that ruling compelling the Bureau and the District to participate financially 
in the repair effort. In closing, the significance of the contractual language 
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quoted by the Court is particularly worthy of note, since the presence of the 
word "appurtenant" in the 1984 contract was crucial to the Court's 
determination that the bridges, which it will be recalled were otherwise 
never mentioned, were in fact part of the irrigation system, as well as being 
part of the roadways in each location. Lastly, it should be recognized that 
this case stands as a classic application of the principle that acquiescence 
alone has no impact upon any rights held by any government entity in trust 
for the public, which is a principle that applies to land rights just as well as it 
does to physical objects, such as the bridges that were at issue here.   

 

 

LEWIS  v  MOORHEAD  (1994) 

     Here we reach yet another frequently cited adverse possession case, 
which again clearly indicates the Court's strong inclination to rely heavily 
upon adverse possession to support boundary determinations, on this 
occasion for the purpose of giving conclusive legal effect to the original 
intent of a grantor, who like many unwise land owners foolishly divided his 
land in a careless and inaccurate manner, creating completely unnecessary 
problems that would later bedevil his own grantees, a practice never viewed 
favorably by the Court. As will be noted, the boundary controversy 
presented here could have been resolved through the use of other equally 
legitimate methods, relating expressly to boundary issues, on the basis that it 
represented an agreed boundary, which could have been judicially confirmed 
through description reformation, but the outcome here illustrates that the 
Court typically prefers to utilize adverse possession to accomplish such 
results, in a manner which the Court deems to be most conclusive, 
effectively bypassing the technical aspects of boundary resolution. This case 
therefore clearly demonstrates that surveys do not always control 
boundaries, regardless of how well executed or technically correct they may 
be, emphasizing the importance of understanding that surveys represent only 
one element of boundary evidence, and can be overcome by equitable 
factors which function to insure that justice is ultimately done, between 
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grantors and grantees, and this particular instance between two grantees of 
the same grantor. Some surveyors may have difficulty accepting this 
premise, on the basis that it tends to minimize the value of surveys, 
maintaining instead that surveys should simply always control, being 
inclined to sweep all other forms of evidence aside to reach that goal, but as 
we have seen, the Court has repeatedly observed that resurveys are not 
universally reliable, and thus in it's wisdom has long ago come to realize that 
surveys cannot always be regarded as the ultimate form of boundary 
evidence. Two other cases from this time period involving surveys may also 
be worthy of being briefly noted at this point. The 1991 case of Jensen v 
Weyrens originated as a boundary dispute involving multiple parties and 
multiple properties, but the boundary concerns were all successfully 
resolved at the trial court level, when all of the parties accepted the results of 
a survey that had been ordered by the trial court, thereby making that survey 
legally binding. No details regarding either the boundary issues or the 
various surveys that had been done were therefore discussed or considered 
by the Court, since the matter came to the Court only because some of the 
parties protested the trial court's division of the cost of the court ordered 
survey among the parties. The Court fully upheld the apportioning of the 
cost of the court ordered survey that had been put in place by the lower 
court, confirming that courts have the authority to apportion any such costs 
among all of the litigants in any manner that the trial judge deems to be 
equitable. Also in 1991, the Court again addressed acquiescence in the 
context of adverse possession, in the case of Lien v Beard. In that case, the 
litigants owned adjoining properties of unspecified size and shape in an 
unspecified mountainous area in Lawrence County, and their boundary ran 
for an unspecified distance along an especially steep and rugged slope 
composed of rimrock. A fence had existed, at or near the base of the slope, 
on Lein's side of the boundary, for over 40 years, and a survey done for Lien 
confirmed this, but Beard claimed that the fence had become their boundary 
by means of adverse possession, forcing Lien to file and action against 
Beard before removing or relocating the fence, as Lien evidently wanted to 
do. The Court fully upheld a lower court decision in Lien's favor, agreeing 
that neither acquiescence nor adverse possession was applicable to the 
situation, because the evidence made it clear that there had never been any 
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intent to place the fence on the boundary line of record, and the fact that it 
was not on that line had always been known to all of the parties. 
Importantly, in so holding, the Court reiterated that in South Dakota, 
acquiescence serves merely as "an evidentiary presumption as to the element 
of hostility", permanently limiting acquiescence to a role in support of 
adverse possession.      

1971 - Dreyer owned a tract of unspecified size and shape in Winner. 
How or when he had acquired his tract, and whether or not his land 
had ever been platted for residential use, are unknown, but his land 
was evidently located in a residential area, and there was a house 
situated on the westerly portion of this tract. There was also a short 
fence located an unspecified distance east of the house, which marked 
the edge of the lawn or yard area that was associated with the house 
and was typically used as such by the occupants of the house. When 
this house and fence were built, who had built them, and whether or 
not there were any other structures located anywhere on the Dreyer 
tract, are all unknown. Moorhead and his wife had been living in this 
house, apparently as tenants of Dreyer, for an unspecified length of 
time, and Dreyer agreed to sell the house to them at this time, along 
with the portion of his tract upon which it sat. Dreyer and Moorhead 
orally agreed that the line of the short fence, extended to the front and 
to the rear of the Dreyer tract, formed the easterly boundary of the 
parcel that was to be conveyed to Moorhead. Moorhead was evidently 
either an employee or a friend of Dreyer, and the two men trusted 
each other, so this conveyance agreement was entirely verbal and 
went completely undocumented. In addition, the point in time when 
Dreyer was to deed the property to Moorhead was also left 
undetermined, but it was apparently understood that this conveyance 
would take place in the distant future, only after Moorhead had 
completed some unspecified tasks that had been designated by Dreyer.   

1972 to 1974 - The Moorheads continued to reside in the house and 
use the portion of the Dreyer tract extending eastward to the fence as 
their yard. There was evidently enough room between the house and 
the fence to place a trailer in that area, and the Moorheads did so, 
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although what this trailer was ever used for is unknown. There is no 
indication that anyone ever lived on the portion of the Dreyer tract 
lying east of the fence, presumably it was unimproved land. 

1975 to 1980 - At an unspecified time, presumably during this period, 
Dreyer divided his tract into an unspecified number of lots, but 
whether or not any of the corners or lines of the lots created by Dreyer 
were ever surveyed, monumented or marked in any way upon the 
ground is unknown, and whether or not these lots were ever platted is 
unknown as well. The Moorheads continued to occupy and use all of 
the Dreyer tract lying west of the fence.  

1981 - Dreyer quitclaimed the westerly portion of his tract to 
Moorhead, in fulfillment of their agreement made 10 years before, 
Moorhead having apparently satisfactorily performed the tasks that he 
had agreed to complete for Dreyer, but Dreyer did not make any 
reference to the fence in this deed, instead the deed described the 
property being conveyed to Moorhead only as "Lot E and the west 20 
feet of Lot A". The west 20 feet of Lot A was included by Dreyer 
because he had discovered that the lot line he had created actually ran 
through the house, and he apparently believed, presumably based on 
some kind of measurement that he had made, that an additional 20 
feet would be sufficient to make the easterly boundary of the 
Moorhead parcel coincide with the fence, which had always been the 
intended boundary location, per his 1971 agreement with Moorhead. 
Whether or not Moorhead knew anything about the location of the 
boundaries of these lots that had been created by Dreyer is unknown, 
but Moorhead believed that the fence represented the eastern 
boundary of the property that he was acquiring, based on what Dreyer 
told him, so he never questioned the description in his deed. Dreyer 
evidently either prepared the deed that was given to Moorhead 
himself, or he failed to communicate his intent regarding the fence to 
whoever prepared that deed, so no one was aware that any description 
error had been made.    

1982 - Dreyer conveyed the portion of Lot A that had not been 
conveyed to Moorhead, which evidently represented the portion of the 
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Dreyer tract lying directly east of the fence, to Risseeuw. Whether or 
not Dreyer told Risseeuw anything about the fence or the location of 
any of the boundaries of the land that was being conveyed to him is 
unknown, but Risseeuw apparently never had any concerns about the 
fence or the location of any of his property lines, so no one realized at 
this time that any boundary issue existed.  

1983 to 1986 - Whether or not Risseeuw ever made any use of his 
property is unknown, presumably it remained vacant, but the 
Moorheads continued using all of the land on their side of the fence, 
without objection from anyone. 

1987 - Risseeuw conveyed the property that he had acquired to Lewis, 
presumably describing it just as Dreyer had described it when 
conveying it to Risseeuw. Whether or not Lewis ever occupied this 
property, or ever erected any buildings on it, is unknown. 

1990 - Lewis had his property surveyed, and the survey indicated that 
his west property line was located an unspecified distance west of the 
fence, and it ran right through the trailer that belonged to the 
Moorheads, which had evidently remained in the same location since 
first being placed upon the land by the Moorheads several years 
earlier. Lewis apparently never informed Moorhead about this survey 
and never asked Moorhead to move the trailer or the fence, so 
Moorhead remained unaware that any such problem existed, and he 
continued to utilize all of the land up to the fence, just as he always 
had.  

1991 - Lewis built a new fence, running along an unspecified portion 
of the surveyed property line, but it was immediately torn down by 
Moorhead. Whether or not Lewis had taken down the original fence or 
moved Moorhead's trailer, when building his new fence, is unknown, 
but Lewis filed an action against Moorhead seeking damages for the 
destruction of his new fence.   

     Lewis argued that the survey which had been done for him was 
correct, and it controlled the location of the boundary of the property that 
had been conveyed to him, and nothing that Moorhead had ever done 
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entitled Moorhead to any of the land described in the deed held by Lewis, so 
the property line should be judicially established in the location indicated by 
the 1990 survey. Lewis further argued that even though Moorhead had used 
all of the Dreyer tract lying to the west of the original fence, Moorhead had 
not been the owner of that land for a full 20 years, so Moorhead's use of the 
land before he obtained a deed was merely a permissive use, that could not 
be properly characterized as adverse, and the original conveyance agreement 
between Dreyer and Moorhead was irrelevant, because it was void under the 
statute of frauds, being entirely unwritten. Moorhead argued that he had 
exercised complete dominion and control over the entire area on his side of 
the original fence for a full 20 years, occupying that portion of the Dreyer 
tract as the owner thereof throughout that period, so he had acquired that 
entire area, up to the line formed by the original fence, extended to his front 
and rear boundaries, by virtue of adverse possession, making the location of 
the lot line described in his deed irrelevant. The trial court found that the 
possession by Moorhead, of that portion of the Dreyer tract lying west of the 
line formed by the original fence, had been adverse for a full 20 year period, 
and decreed that the original fence line therefore represented the actual 
boundary between the Lewis and Moorhead properties, regardless of the 
location of the deeded or surveyed line.        

     This controversy presented one of the most common scenarios 
precipitating adverse possession, carelessness and ineptitude on the part of a 
grantor, combined with trust on the part of an innocent grantee, resulting in 
the use of a legal description which appeared to be legitimate, but which in 
fact failed to capture or express the mutual intentions of the parties 
concerning the boundaries of the land being conveyed. This situation, clear 
and well evidenced as it was, could have been equally well resolved by 
means of description reformation, but since the Court had embraced adverse 
possession as a universal tool for the rectification of boundary discrepancies 
of every kind decades before, as we have observed in our review of 
numerous previous cases, there was no need for Moorhead to resort to any 
remedy other than adverse possession in order to prevail. This defense 
presented by Moorhead forced Lewis to come up with some reason why 
adverse possession should be deemed to be inapplicable or inappropriate in 
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this situation, and Lewis evidently believed that the key to doing so resided 
in the origin of Moorhead's possession, but this course pursued by Lewis 
merely compelled the Court to expound upon the equitable rights of an 
innocent grantee such as Moorhead. No information pertaining to the survey 
done for Lewis was presented or discussed, because the survey was never 
challenged, so there was no reason for the Court to inquire into any survey 
details, but the acceptance of the survey as valid did not mean that it was 
destined to control the location of the contested boundary. Just as in the 
Taylor case of 1983, which we have previously reviewed, while there was 
no basis upon which to confirm the validity or correctness of the survey, 
there was likewise no basis upon which to suspect that anything about it was 
incorrect, so the Court naturally proceeded as it typically does, on the logical 
presumption that the survey faithfully represented the location on the ground 
of the line that was described in the deeds of both litigants. The problem 
confronting Lewis however, was that no subsequent survey, such as the one 
that had been done for him, could control the disputed boundary location, if 
it was not in accord with the intentions of the parties who had created that 
boundary, and all of the evidence indicated that the description in 
Moorhead's deed, through no fault of his own, failed to reach the intended 
boundary location, at the fence which had been pointed out to Moorhead as 
his boundary by Dreyer, making the Court quite disinclined to hold 
Moorhead responsible for Dreyer's mistakes. The surveyor obviously could 
not be expected to know that the fence had been intended to represent the 
boundary of the original conveyance, since Dreyer and Moorhead had never 
documented that intent on their part, so the surveyor was in no danger of 
incurring any liability, unless he were to tell Lewis that Lewis owned all of 
the land up to the surveyed line, or tell Lewis that he could safely build a 
fence on that line or tear down the existing fence, since any such statements 
would have been false and misleading. The fact that Dreyer and Moorhead 
had neglected to document their original boundary agreement did not 
operate to invalidate that agreement, since it represented the true basis for 
Dreyer's senior conveyance to Moorhead, and it was therefore fully worthy 
of protection in the eyes of the Court, effectively negating any impact that 
the statute of frauds might have had on this scenario. The initial error, the 
Court recognized, had been made by Dreyer, who failed to realize that he 
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had established a definite and binding boundary by physically putting 
Moorhead in possession of a certain portion of his land, and agreeing to 
convey that area to him, making Moorhead the equitable owner of that entire 
area, as of that moment in 1971, which meant that Dreyer no longer had any 
right to convey any part of that area to anyone else, regardless of how he 
might choose to describe it. Quoting in part from the 1936 Walker case, 
previously reviewed herein, among others, the Court thus enlightened Lewis 
as to the futility of his position: 

“Moorhead's occupation ... from October 1971 to October 1991 
... was protected by a substantial enclosure ... Even though the 
fence did not run the entire distance between the lots, it did 
provide a physical and visual basis for determining the property 
line ... Where the possession of real estate is actual, it may 
commence in parol without deed or writing ... once a contract 
for deed is entered, the vendor holds legal title in trust for the 
purchaser, under an obligation to convey ... an agreement to sell 
real property binds the seller to execute a conveyance ... The 
vendee under a contract for deed acquires equitable title and the 
right to use and possess the property ... even under an oral 
contract for deed, the purchaser has a claim of equitable title ... 
The test is whether the person honestly enters into possession of 
land in the belief that the land is his own ... We have long 
recognized that a claim for adverse possession ... can be 
founded upon ignorance, inadvertence or mistake as to the 
actual boundary ... Dreyer and the Moorheads mistakenly 
assumed that ... the 1981 quitclaim deed ... would conform the 
grant to a boundary consistent with the fence line ... It is the 
intent with which possession is held ... that is controlling in a 
claim for adverse possession ... Although unintentional and the 
product of a mutual mistake, the Moorheads occupation ... is 
presumed hostile under the doctrine of acquiescence ... the 
Moorheads have gained title to the disputed strip through 
adverse possession." 
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determination of an easement right connected with the property, 
it did not preclude a determination of easement rights ... The 
trial court had the authority to make a determination of 
easement rights ... even where it found that adverse possession 
had not been established ... VBC argues ... the chain of title 
includes warranty deeds ... Essentially, VBC contends that 
implied easements should never be recognized and that all 
disputes concerning interests in land must be determined only 
by resort to written instruments ... The paramount rule of 
construction is that the intention of the parties, and the grantor 
in particular, is to be ascertained ... a grant is to be construed in 
favor of the grantee ... If, however, construction of the 
instrument as a whole leaves the intention of the parties in 
doubt, consideration must be given to the situation and 
circumstances ... VBC contends that ... a warranty deed which 
does not contain an express easement precludes recognition of 
an implied easement ... South Dakota law has long recognized 
... that the extent of a servitude is determined by the terms of 
the grant, or the nature of the enjoyment by which it was 
acquired ... An easement may be created by implication even 
where there is no express conveyance or the conveyance is not 
recorded, because constructive notice is deemed to exist, when 
an apparent servitude of one parcel in favor of another is 
obvious to anyone viewing the land ... a grant of the right to 
continue such use arises by implication of law ... use of the 
parking lot was open and visible ... VBC ... acquired the 
property subject to the easement." 

     A quiet title action, the Court stated, applies to and embraces 
easement issues as well as fee ownership issues, since the nature and intent 
of a quiet title action is typically to resolve all land rights claims related to 
the subject property, in keeping with the Court's consistently broad view of 
the potential scope of land rights litigation, reflecting the Court's intense 
focus upon thoroughly resolving such matters, rather than leaving ancillary 
issues to later erupt in the same location between the same parties or their 
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some way, if some visible use of that property is taking place at the time of 
conveyance, which continues after the conveyance, and upon that basis, the 
Court fully upheld the lower court ruling in Peterson's favor. The argument 
presented here by VBC essentially mirrors the position maintained by some 
surveyors, who were trained to believe that all land rights are to be 
determined strictly in accord with documentation of record, making the 
Court's complete rejection of that notion especially relevant to the 
edification of land surveyors regarding land rights issues. The primary 
lesson here is that while all documented land rights must he respected, it is 
always possible that undocumented land rights also exist in any given 
location, and the wise surveyor will always take care to make note of any 
existing physical conditions or testimony that could indicate the presence of 
such rights. Only in so doing can the professional surveyor truly fulfill his 
responsibility to honor all existing land rights, whether public or private, and 
thereby avoid incurring potential liability for damaging such rights, either by 
failing to indicate their possible existence, or by erroneously indicating that 
they do not exist. 

 

 

STATE  v  TRACY  (1995) 

     At this juncture, we encounter yet another rather unique case which 
falls within the realm of easement law, but features subject matter that is 
distinctly untypical, due to the unique circumstances presented by the 
existence of the section line right-of-way, which represents thousands of 
miles of vacant public right-of-way, much of which is situated in remote 
locations, replete with wild game. As most surveyors already know, road 
hunting has been historically deemed to be fully acceptable in South Dakota, 
despite the safety hazards that are inevitably associated with it, but many 
surveyors may not realize that the limits of that long standing road hunting 
policy have been repeatedly legislated, challenged, litigated and adjudicated. 
On the legal side of the ledger, this case stands as a classic demonstration of 
the fact that observing and following the spirit of the law, also known as the 
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legislative intent, which motivated the formulation of any given statute, is 
essential to proper interpretation of the law, since no statute will be given 
any unintended legal effect by the Court, or be allowed to support or justify 
any unintended activity, engaged in either by the public at large or by private 
parties. From a practical perspective, the case we are about to review is one 
of a series of controversies that shaped the current limitations on road 
hunting, providing an excellent example of the real world consequences of 
the Court's decisions, but for that reason, in order to appreciate the value of 
this case, its necessary to be cognizant of two other cases that involved the 
same subject matter. The Court first dealt with modern concerns about road 
hunting, somewhat unsuccessfully, as we shall see, in the 1983 case of State 
v Peters. In that case, Garrett was the owner of a rural tract of unspecified 
size, which was bounded by a section line, and he ran a goose hunting 
business on a portion of his property. The hunting that was permitted by 
Garrett took place in a limited and isolated area, situated at one end of that 
section line, a long distance from the point where the nearest public road 
crossed that section line. Peters was not content to hunt with the others in the 
designated area however, so he decided to walk down the full length of the 
section line, between the hunting area and the public road, hunting as he 
walked. This section line itself bore a fence, but there were tire tracks 
running alongside the fence, made by the vehicles that had carried the other 
hunters from the public road to the hunting ground, so Peters deemed the 
section line to be a public roadway, every bit of which was open to hunting, 
but he was caught and convicted of unauthorized hunting on private land. 
The Court overturned his conviction however, stating that Peters had been 
correct in his conclusion that the entire section line in question was open to 
public hunting, because the vehicular use of the right-of-way confirmed that 
it had been opened to the public, so Garrett had no right to prevent any 
licensed hunters, such as Peters, from walking the full length of that section 
line and hunting there at any time. The backlash and abuses that resulted 
from the outcome of the Peters case eventually resulted in the case that we 
are about to review, but less than a year after the Tracy case, the Court again 
upheld the validity of hunting, fishing and trapping alongside appropriate 
portions of rural roads, in the 1996 case of Reis v Miller. In that case, Reis 
and other rural land owners, presumably viewing the Court's decision in the 
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Tracy case as a sign that the Court might be prepared to eliminate road 
hunting completely, expressly challenged the constitutionality of road 
hunting, charging that it represents an illegal expansion of the intended use 
of the section line right-of-way and that it overburdens the public right-of-
way. However, the Court fully upheld a lower court ruling that categorically 
rejected and silenced all of the assertions that had been made by Reis and his 
fellow plaintiffs.        

1993 - Sheehan owned a large amount of farmland in Sully County, 
which contained some good goose hunting habitat, and he allowed 
hunters to use his property for that purpose. Sheehan provided pits 
that were ready for the hunters to use and he provided a shuttle service 
to take the hunters out to the hunting area from his farmhouse. This 
was a profitable business arrangement for Sheehan, who desired to 
keep the hunting activity on his land limited and well organized, so he 
charged the hunters a fee to use his land in this manner, and a large 
number of hunters regularly took advantage of this offer, paying him 
to hunt on his land. Tracy was the manager of this farm, and he also 
served as the escort for the hunters, driving them back and forth 
between the farmhouse and the hunting ground. At least one section 
line ran east and west through the farmland owned by Sheehan, but 
this section line was situated far from the area where the goose pits 
were located, which was apparently the only part of his property that 
had been designated and approved for hunting by Sheehan. At the 
point where this section line crossed a public road that ran north and 
south through the Sheehan property, there was a field gate on the west 
side of the public road, providing access to Sheehan's cropland, which 
stretched out for an unspecified distance to the west. A field service 
trail meandered westward from the public road, generally following 
the section line through the Sheehan property for at least one mile, but 
also diverging from the section line to bend around some low areas 
that were too wet to drive through. One group of licensed hunters, 
who evidently wished to hunt on Sheehan's land without having to pay 
him for doing so, saw this gate while driving down the public road, 
realized that it was situated on a section line, and noticed that it was 
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not locked. This group then drove westward along the section line 
until they reached a slough, where they parked their truck, then they 
waded westward through the slough with their hunting equipment, and 
proceeded to hunt along the section line west of the slough on the 
Sheehan property. Whether or not any geese were actually bagged by 
this group is unknown, but while shooting they were apparently either 
seen or heard by Tracy, who drove directly to their location and 
confronted them, accusing them of trespassing and ordering them off 
the property. The members of this group then informed Tracy that 
they were legally exercising their statutory right to hunt within an 
existing section line right-of-way and they declined to leave the 
property. Tracy did not physically assault any of the members of this 
group or confiscate any of their equipment, but he did remain with 
them, continually circling them in his truck to prevent them from 
hunting successfully and taking numerous pictures of them, so they 
soon gave up, hiked back along the section line to their truck, and 
drove out along the section line just as they had entered. This group 
then filed a complaint with South Dakota against Tracy, accusing him 
of unlawful harassment of a legal hunting party, and South Dakota 
found this complaint to be legitimate, so the Attorney General elected 
to prosecute Tracy for violation of statute 41-1-8, which bans 
interference with those who are in the process of legally taking game, 
and represents a Class 2 misdemeanor.       

     South Dakota argued on behalf of the hunters that Tracy had willfully 
and deliberately violated the statutory right of the hunting party to hunt 
within an existing section line right-of-way, by harassing them and scaring 
off game, making it impossible for them to enjoy their hunting excursion or 
successfully bag any game. South Dakota further argued that the hunting 
party had remained within an existing section line right-of-way at all times, 
while they were within the boundaries of the Sheehan property, and they 
were therefore justified in entering the Sheehan property without any notice 
to Sheehan, or any permission from him, and Tracy had no right to interfere 
with their activities as long they remained within that existing public right-
of-way, so Tracy was guilty of unlawfully interfering with their legitimate 
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hunting activity. Tracy understood and acknowledged the existence of the 
public section line right-of-way, but he pleaded that he was not guilty, 
arguing that even if the hunters did limit their activities to the section line 
right-of-way, they were nevertheless trespassing on private property, 
because the land comprising the section line right-of-way upon which they 
were hunting was owned by Sheehan, and Tracy was authorized to evict 
them from that portion of the Sheehan property, which was closed to 
hunters. Tracy did not argue that the hunters had no right to pass through the 
gate that they had used, and travel along the section line as they had done, 
but he argued that they had no right to utilize the section line right-of-way 
for any purpose other than travel, such as hunting, because under the 
existing statutes, hunting can only be legally conducted in an active section 
line right-of-way that has been opened to public use. The trial court found 
Tracy guilty as accused and convicted him of violating the statutory rights of 
the hunting party.         

     This case presents an unusual perspective on the constant tension and 
conflict between public and private land rights, because it involves a very 
specific public activity, which is relevant as a public benefit only to the 
relatively small number of people who actually engage in hunting, in 
comparison to the multitude of people, amounting to virtually everyone, who 
need to regularly make use of public roads for purposes of travel. The 
Court's protection of the sanctity of the public section line right-of-way has 
historically been relentless, as we have often observed in our review of many 
cases on that topic, since the Court has naturally always sought to maximize 
the usefulness of the section line right-of-way for it's most vital intended 
purpose, which of course is public travel. When dealing with public rights of 
other kinds however, such as the right to hunt in this instance, which is 
limited to only a certain segment of the public as participants, courts 
generally tend to apply greater scrutiny, when looking to the applicable 
statutory language outlining that particular use, in order to define it's legal 
limitations. The trial court, in convicting Tracy, had logically and 
appropriately followed the guidance provided by the Court itself in the 1983 
Peters case referenced above, since the circumstances presented by this case 
were in fact directly comparable to those of the Peters case, but that decision 
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of the Court had represented only an initial or preliminary effort to deal with 
the developing controversy that had resulted from the increasing number of 
challenges to the ongoing validity of the ancient practice of road hunting. 
The discord within the Court over this particular issue at that time was 
evidenced by the very narrow majority of 3 supporters who had prevailed 
over 2 dissenters, allowing Peters to escape his conviction for trespassing, 
but leaving the true position of the Court on this subject uncertain going 
forward, and thus highly vulnerable to being evaluated from a different 
perspective in the future, as old Justices left the Court and another 
generation of Justices arrived to replace them. The outcome of the Peters 
case had quite understandably reflected and perpetuated the Court's 
acknowledged bias toward the protection of public rights over private rights, 
by stretching the definition of an existing public road to the utmost extreme, 
as the 3 prevailing Justices in 1983 had accepted the premise that even a 
mere set of tire tracks over plowed ground can represent an existing or active 
public road, when the tracks are located within a section line right-of-way. 
By 1995 however, all of the members of the 1983 Court had departed, and 
the group of Justices that followed them was less inclined to treat such 
minimal evidence as controlling, and more inclined to follow the spirit of the 
law with respect to road hunting, which manifested the intention that 
shooting should be allowed only along existing or genuinely active public 
roads, rather than being allowed to justify serious and deep intrusions into 
private land, which had never been utilized by anyone on behalf of the 
public. So its not surprising that when the members of the Court in 1995 
took a fresh look at the consequences of the 1983 Peters ruling, they were 
uncomfortable with the legal implications which that very marginal decision 
by their predecessors carried, and they therefore chose to take the steps 
necessary to swing the pendulum of justice back toward the center, by 
utilizing this situation as an opportunity to protect Sheehan's rights as a 
private land owner:   

“Tracy was convicted of ... interfering with ... persons lawfully 
engaged in the process of taking or attempting to take any game 
or fish ... Tracy argues the party was not lawfully hunting ... 
there is along every section line a public highway located by 
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operation of law, unless that public highway has been vacated 
or relocated by lawful action ... a section line highway is 
present wherever the section line has not been vacated, and 
abandonment ... cannot be established solely by evidence that 
the highway has never been opened ... the hunting party ... 
drove on the section line ... until they stopped to hunt geese ... 
the shell scatter ... shows that they were on the section line ... 
the party could lawfully travel along the section line ... whether 
or not they could lawfully hunt along the section line is another 
matter ... hunting on section lines is permitted without the 
consent of an adjoining owner if either the section line is 
improved ... or commonly used by the public ... this particular 
section line ... was not commonly used by the public ... it was 
characterized by a well worn vehicle track ... mere travel along 
a road does not constitute an improvement ... In Peters, the 
majority ... found that tire tracks ... constituted improvements ... 
Peters erred ... the majority in Peters defined an improved road 
in an overly broad manner ... we find the rationale by the 
dissent in Peters to be more persuasive ... The legislative intent 
is that if one can travel down a section line because it is 
improved to facilitate travel, it can be hunted upon ... The tracks 
made by Sheehan and his employees with machinery ... do not 
constitute an improvement ... this was not an improved section 
line ... the hunting party was not lawfully hunting." 

     Terms such as "open", "improved", "active" and "existing", when used 
with reference to a roadway, have long been a source of great confusion, 
since they have been poorly and loosely defined, by many parties who have 
failed to make the requisite distinction between a physical roadway itself and 
the land rights that are associated with a locus or route that is intended to be 
used for access or travel. A roadway of any form, the Court realized, is a 
physical object, the location of which is defined either by construction of a 
roadbed having a surface clearly intended to support travel, or by a trail or 
pathway that is put to regular use in support of access in the absence of any 
constructed surface, while a right-of-way is not a physical object at all, 
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instead it represents a corridor or zone that was created to facilitate passage, 
which can be associated with any given location, regardless of whether or 
not any physical roadway exists in that location. A right-of-way location can 
be defined strictly by the location of an existing physical route of travel, as 
in the case of a prescriptive or implied access easement, but a right-of-way 
can also exist independently of any physical object related to travel, and that 
of course is the nature of the section line right-of-way, the location of which 
is defined solely by the location of each section line, regardless of the 
presence or absence of any human use of that location. The section line 
right-of-way in every location has therefore always existed, and has always 
been open to public use, in the legal sense of those words, the Court 
indicated, since the time of it's legislative adoption, yet untold miles of it, 
such as the mile crossing through Sheehan's land that the hunters used, have 
never been utilized in any public manner, and are therefore neither open, 
improved, active nor existing in the physical sense of those words. Just as in 
the Peters case, the only travel that had ever taken place on the section line 
in question here had been private use, enough to leave tracks, but certainly 
insufficient to be identified as an existing road, the Court determined, wisely 
recognizing the need to retract and pull back from the extreme position that 
it had unwisely taken just 12 years before. Following the superior wisdom 
expressed by the dissenting Justices in the Peters case, the Court decided that 
although a section line right-of-way, which was open to public travel, 
existed in the location at issue, the utter absence of any prior public use of 
that strip running through Sheehan's property rendered it unavailable to the 
public for hunting purposes. Since the section line right-of-way in 
controversy was not a valid public hunting ground, Tracy and Sheehan had 
the right to control the use of that section line right-of-way by hunters, 
vindicating Tracy's actions in defense of Sheehan's property, so Tracy's 
conviction was overturned, and it was the hunters, the Court unanimously 
found, who were guilty of trespassing. Its noteworthy that the outcome here 
is consistent with the result of the 1948 Pederson case, both cases showing 
that while the Court will strongly defend the existence of the section line 
right-of-way, that does not mean that every potential use of it will be 
deemed to be acceptable. Just like Pederson, the hunters had no right to 
expect the support of public authorities for their intrusive activities, just 
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because they were within a public right-of-way, since in the eyes of the 
Court the activity in both of those instances represented an unauthorized 
misadventure. In addition, this case provides a classic example of the 
importance of recognizing that only the Court is authorized to conclusively 
interpret statutory language, so meaningful conclusions as to what statutes 
actually mean cannot be safely drawn until the Court has fully addressed the 
subject matter and taken a definitive position on a specific issue, such as 
what does, or does not, constitute an opened or improved roadway sufficient 
to support hunting.  

 

 

PLUIMER  v  CITY OF BELLE FOURCHE  (1996) 

     Plats prove to represent vital evidence in our next case, which is 
centered upon the topic of dedication, but also brings the fact that the 
location of boundaries often cannot be properly understood, recognized or 
defined in the absence of a correct evaluation of all relevant title and 
ownership issues into focus. As has been noted previously herein, the Court 
consistently takes a broad view of the range of issues that are potentially in 
play whenever a title conflict is presented or alleged to exist, in the 
realization that such issues do not exist in a vacuum, or in isolation, they are 
frequently intertwined, and the Court always endeavors to follow the most 
logical and pragmatic path in bringing all such issues to resolution. In this 
instance, a fairly typical subdivision plat and a plat prepared expressly for 
purposes of dedication both encompass a certain portion of a dedicated right-
of-way, eventually leading to confusion over the ownership of the land 
beneath that right-of-way, at a point in time when the party who owned the 
land at issue when the plats were created is presumably no longer available 
to share his knowledge of what transpired, and what was really intended, 
making the interpretation of the meaning of the plats pivotal to the outcome 
of the controversy. Although the party who created the subdivision and 
served as the grantor of the platted lots is no longer present, his intent 
remains a key legal factor, and this case provides a fine example of a 
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situation in which a grantor's intent is ultimately controlled by a powerful 
presumption at law, which leads the Court to a conclusion that would not be 
apparent to an uninformed individual, upon merely looking at the 
information that appears on the face of the subdivision plat. Likewise, the 
importance of understanding the significance, content and meaning of the 
dedication plat featured here is also on display, as a single word found 
among the various notations upon the face of that plat proves to be the 
decisive element that operates to silence this dispute. Its not at all 
uncommon for a given area to appear upon multiple plats, making it 
necessary to appreciate the potential value of each plat as evidence, and to 
understand how to determine which plat controls the ownership status of any 
such area. In addition, this case clearly demonstrates that the real basis for 
the ownership of land by private grantees extending to the centerline of any 
typical public right-of-way lies in the judicial perception that there is an 
equitable need to fully eradicate the ownership of the subdivider or grantor 
of any land lying along any public right-of-way, in order to insure that such 
a prior owner of land which has been conveyed cannot later successfully 
claim that some portion of his land was never conveyed, so he still owns it. 
Widespread agreement on the value of this judicial position has resulted in 
virtually nationwide adherence to this judicial policy, uniformly rejecting 
any silent or ambiguous retention in fee of strips of land that are practically 
useless unto themselves, except to cause future problems for innocent 
grantees, by either original or subsequent grantors. This policy is necessary 
in order to discourage grantors from quitclaiming strips of land that they no 
longer have any practical interest in years later to foreign parties, who 
typically then proceed to use such acquisitions as leverage, to disrupt 
otherwise peaceful communities, by intervening in the reversion process, 
when a vacation or abandonment of a public right-of-way takes place. Of 
course, grantors are always free to keep any land that they own and truly 
wish to keep, in strip form or in any other form, simply by clearly describing 
it, in a manner that gives proper and complete notice to any grantees that 
something definite is being retained and not conveyed, but the judicial 
policy mandating explicit reservation represents the strong emphasis placed 
by all courts upon the need for grantors to very clearly define and outline 
any land or land rights that they truly do not intend to convey.  
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1957 - Gay owned an unspecified amount of land in Belle Fourche. 
South Dakota planned to relocate a portion of Highway 85, and those 
plans called for the new route of the highway to run through Gay's 
land. Gay apparently had no objection to this plan and was willing to 
convey the required right-of-way to the state, so the proposed route of 
the highway running through Gay's land was surveyed and a plat was 
prepared by a licensed land surveyor, who was presumably working 
under the direction of the state, showing the portion of the Gay 
property that was to be thus dedicated. This plat showed that this new 
highway right-of-way was 200 feet in width, consisting of 100 feet on 
each side of the centerline of the highway, and it showed that the route 
ran north and south, which left Gay with a substantial amount of 
unburdened land lying on both the east and west sides of the new 
right-of-way. The tract comprising the portion of Gay's land lying 
within the new right-of-way was identified on this plat as Lot H-3, 
and it was shown as a controlled access right-of-way. This plat 
contained a dedication statement, which was signed by all of the 
relevant members of the Gay family who held an interest in the Gay 
property, and by the appropriate parties who were authorized to 
represent the state, expressly indicating that this right-of-way was 
being dedicated to South Dakota for highway purposes, but it was not 
being dedicated in fee, so Gay remained the fee owner of all of the 
land shown on this plat, which was then recorded. About 3 months 
later, Gay subdivided his land lying to the west of the new highway, 
creating 3 blocks lying along the west side of the new right-of-way, 
containing several typical rectangular lots that were all designed with 
frontage along the new highway. A plat of this new subdivision, 
presumably prepared by a licensed land surveyor, was duly signed and 
approved by the appropriate parties, and it was then recorded, 
identifying Gay's subdivision as the Northgate Addition. This plat 
showed the centerline of the proposed highway lying 100 feet to the 
east of all of the platted lots, making it clear that all of the new lots 
abutted and fronted upon the new highway right-of-way, but this plat 
made no direct reference to Lot H-3, even though the easterly 100 feet 
of the land that was owned by Gay and shown on the Northgate plat 
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was within Lot H-3, comprising the west half of the highway right-of-
way that had been the subject of the dedication described above.    

1958 to 1973 - At an unspecified time during this period, Highway 85 
was relocated as planned, and it was presumably constructed in the 
intended location across Gay's property. Once it was built the new 
roadway was 64 feet in width, with 32 feet of the paved surface on 
each side of the centerline, so on the west side of the roadway, the 
right-of-way that had been acquired in 1957 extended 68 feet west 
from the west edge of the roadway. Also at an unspecified date during 
this period, Pluimer acquired a group of 4 adjoining lots in the 
Northgate Addition. By the end of this time period, all of the 
Northgate lots had presumably been sold and were occupied or in use, 
but no details are known about how Pluimer or any of his neighbors 
were using their lots. Whether or not Gay ever platted or conveyed 
any of the land that he owned lying to the east of the highway is 
unknown, that area may or may not have remained in the ownership 
of the Gay family, but only the land on the west side of the highway 
was destined to become a scene of controversy.  

1974 - Pluimer acquired 2 additional Northgate lots, adjoining the 4 
lots that he already owned, extending his property southward to 
Custer Street. Pluimer evidently had no difficulty accessing his lots by 
means of the public streets that had been created by the Northgate 
plat, so the fact that the highway represented a controlled access right-
of-way, apparently did not represent any problem for him. 

1975 to 1992 - Pluimer continued to own his 6 contiguous lots 
fronting upon the highway throughout this period, but how his lots or 
those of his neighbors were being used is unknown. There is no 
indication of whether or not Pluimer, or any of his neighbors, ever 
made any use of the 68 foot strip lying between the west right-of-way 
line of the highway and the west edge of the paved roadway, that strip 
may have remained vacant during this period. 

1993 - Belle Fourche proposed to construct a concrete sidewalk of 
unspecified size and location within the 68 foot strip lying directly 
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west of the roadway, so the city contacted the appropriate property 
owners, including Pluimer, informing them of this plan and notifying 
them that the cost of this sidewalk would be assessed to those parties 
upon whose properties it was to be built. Pluimer objected to the plan, 
and he informed the city officials that he could not be required to pay 
for any portion of the sidewalk construction, because he was not the 
owner of any of the land lying within the highway right-of-way, 
where the sidewalk was to be built. Belle Fourche ignored Pluimer's 
protest, proceeded to build the sidewalk as planned, and assessed the 
cost of building the portion of it that the city believed to be located on 
his 6 lots to Pluimer, who responded by filing and action against Belle 
Fourche, seeking to have the sidewalk assessment declared to be null 
and void. 

     Pluimer argued that all he had acquired, by virtue of his deeds, was 6 
lots that were outlined on the Northgate plat, which were situated entirely to 
the west of the state highway right-of-way, and the west right-of-way line 
represented the east boundary of his lots, so he had not acquired any land 
lying to the east of the west right-of-way line of the highway, and the 
highway right-of-way was owned in fee by South Dakota. Pluimer further 
argued that if South Dakota had not acquired the highway right-of-way in 
fee, then it was still owned by Gay, because Gay had never conveyed any 
portion of it to anyone, so Gay or his heirs should be required to pay for the 
sidewalk in question, and Pluimer could not legally be compelled to pay for 
the construction of any portion of the sidewalk. Belle Fourche argued that all 
of the lots in the Northgate Addition extended all the way to the centerline of 
the state highway, despite the fact that the sidelines of the lots all stopped at 
the west line of the highway right-of-way, as they were drawn on the plat, 
because Gay had platted all of his land west of the highway, and he had not 
retained ownership of any land west of the highway centerline, so a portion 
of the sidewalk was located on Pluimer's property. Belle Fourche further 
argued that the plat of Lot H-3, representing the entire state highway right-
of-way, was merely a plat of dedication, which had created only an easement 
for highway purposes, leaving Gay as the fee owner of the entire highway 
right-of-way, so Gay was free to convey his ownership interest in the 
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highway right-of-way to the lot owners, and he had done so, when he 
conveyed each of the Northgate lots, so Pluimer was legally obligated to pay 
for his share of the sidewalk. The trial court agreed with Belle Fourche, that 
Gay had not conveyed the right-of-way in fee to South Dakota, but he had 
conveyed a portion of it to each of the purchasers of the lots that he had 
platted, so Gay owned no land west of the highway centerline, and Pluimer 
owned a portion of the land crossed by the sidewalk, therefore Pluimer was 
required to pay his share of the assessment, granting summary judgment to 
Belle Fourche and dismissing Pluimer's position as illegitimate, without any 
further consideration.      

     This case is a particularly fascinating and highly relevant one for land 
surveyors, since it involves both boundary and dedication issues in the 
context of two overlapping plats that were prepared for distinctly different 
purposes, and the contrast between the purposes for which these plats were 
created would prove to be key to the outcome. Most cases involving plats 
unfortunately present examples of poor platting, because it is typically 
inadequate plats that result in problems and controversies over land rights, 
but in this instance there is no indication that either of the two plats that were 
squarely in focus here were deficient in any respect. The highway dedication 
plat, which evidently predated the subdivision plat by just a few months, 
very clearly stated that it's purpose was the creation of a highway right-of-
way only, so Pluimer's assertion that South Dakota owned the highway 
right-of-way in fee was readily swept aside by the Court, as it recognized 
that the key issue was whether or not Gay had retained ownership of the 
right-of-way, even after conveying all of the lots that he had platted along 
the western side of the right-of-way. The subdivision plat had very clearly 
been designed with reference to the new highway right-of-way, all of the 
platted lots were drawn extending up to the west edge of the right-of-way 
from the west, and the westerly 100 feet of the new highway right-of-way 
was shown simply as a vacant area, while the centerline of the relocated 
highway formed the eastern boundary of the platted area, which would prove 
to be critical to the Court's interpretation of the plat, and it's overall analysis 
of the situation. The fact that the west half of the dedicated highway right-
of-way was included within the plat was indicative, in the eyes of the Court, 
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of an intention upon the part of Gay, as the subdivider, for that portion of his 
property to be treated as part of the platted area, in keeping with the 
principle that a subdivider presumably intends to subdivide and convey all of 
the land that he shows on a subdivision plat, which is not expressly 
identified on the plat as being excluded from the platted area. The trial judge 
had seen no controversy whatsoever in the evidence, and had deemed the 
position taken by Pluimer to be utterly without merit, refusing to grant him 
the trial that he had sought, by exercising the judicial procedure known as 
summary judgment, which is applicable when no factual issues or questions 
of law exist to be adjudicated, making a trial unnecessary. Pluimer's position 
was in fact precisely the contrary of the position which would be taken by a 
typical grantee, engaged in a dispute with his grantor, wherein the grantor 
typically attempts to claim that fee ownership of a certain area, such as an 
abandoned right-of-way, was reserved and not conveyed, while the grantee 
maintains that it was not reserved and was conveyed. Pluimer however did 
not want to be charged with ownership of any portion of the highway right-
of-way, he wanted to minimize the extent of his ownership, in order to 
escape assessment, so he took the position typically occupied by a grantor, 
suggesting that fee ownership of the right-of-way at issue was never 
conveyed to anyone by Gay, yet regardless of this tactic on Pluimer's part, 
the Court realized, the operative legal principles were nonetheless the very 
same ones that control any typical conveyance dispute. Many statutes, such 
as those cited here by the Court, represent codifications of logical and time 
honored common law principles of conveyancing, and quoting in part from 
two very powerful statutes of that variety, which control boundaries of 
conveyances, 43-16-3 & 43-25-29, the Court indicated it's support for the 
dismissal of Pluimer's complaint: 

“An owner of land bounded by a road or street is presumed to 
own to the center of the way ... subject and subordinate to an 
easement or servitude in favor of the public ... Pluimer's 
predecessors in interest were statutorily presumed to have 
owned the land ... Their transfer to Pluimer is statutorily 
presumed to include the land to the center of the highway ... A 
transfer of land bounded by a highway passes the title ... to the 
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center thereof, unless a different intent appears ... No different 
intent appears from the deeds to Pluimer ... In fact no different 
intent appears from the plat map of Northgate Addition either ... 
The owner of lots ... owns to the center line of Highway 85, just 
as he owns to the center line of Custer Street to the south ... 
Pluimer's property extends to the middle of Highway 85 ... The 
conveyance of property fronting on a street or highway is 
presumed to carry title to the center ... unless the fee in the 
street is expressly reserved ... The plat of Northgate Addition 
does not show Lot H-3 as a separate lot ... Pluimer argues ... the 
property was conveyed by Warranty Deed to the state ... fee 
simple is presumed to be intended to pass ... The South Dakota 
Constitution provides that fee title to land taken for highways 
remains in the landowners ... Pluimer is the owner to the center 
line of the highway ... he owns the land on which (part of) the 
easement platted as Lot H-3 is located ... Pluimer's ... lots were 
subject to assessment for the construction of the sidewalk." 

     Pluimer's suggestion that a warranty deed always indicates a fee 
conveyance was of no avail to him, as the Court was fully cognizant that a 
warranty deed can also be used to convey an easement, and does not always 
convey land in fee, because a warranty is simply a safeguard that can be 
applicable to any conveyance, regardless of what level of interest in land is 
being thereby conveyed. In addition, Pluimer's attempt to point to the often 
noted general rule that every conveyance must be presumed to be a fee 
conveyance was completely futile, since the dedication plat expressly stated 
that the highway right-of-way had not been dedicated in fee, so the potential 
effect of the presumption pointed out by Pluimer was overcome by that 
definitive statement to the contrary found upon the plat itself, making any 
such presumption unnecessary and inapplicable. If those factors were not 
enough, state employees representing the DOT testified that South Dakota 
had never intended to acquire or hold the highway right-of-way in fee, and 
indeed as the Court observed, any claim of fee ownership of that right-of-
way on the part of the DOT would have been nothing short of 
unconstitutional, so Pluimer's only hope was to convince the Court that Gay 
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still owned the highway right-of-way. The Court had adopted the concept of 
presumptive ownership in fee to the centerline of all roadways however, to 
eliminate and prevent claims just like the one made here by Pluimer 
however, at the dawn of the twentieth century, in the seminal Sweatman case 
of 1903, reviewed earlier herein. The notion that grantors should be 
presumed to retain lands such as those inside an isolated right-of-way, even 
after having conveyed all of their land around it, was rightly rejected as 
being contrary to common sense, and fruitful of useless litigation, at that 
time by the Court, and that rejection has been consistently adhered to by the 
Court thereafter. Moreover, the concept approved and implemented by the 
Court, that strip retention by a grantor should always be a matter of high 
notice to any grantee, applies equally to all subsequent grantors, so it makes 
no difference how many times any land is conveyed, each grantee becomes a 
grantor in turn, and the same rules that apply to all grantors then take effect, 
preventing any unspecified retention of any such land by any of them. Many 
surveyors, intensely focused on the technical content of a metes and bounds 
description, or on the linework shown on a plat, are unaware that basic 
conveyancing principles, such as those exercised here by the Court, have the 
power to control boundaries over technical description content, effectively 
negating specific calls, dimensions or other numbers that appear in a 
description, or linework that appears on a plat, allowing the intent to convey 
all of the subject property to control over any such technical aspects of a 
legal description. Holding that the side lot lines shown on Gay's subdivision 
plat actually all legally projected an additional 100 feet eastward, to the 
highway centerline, a 3 to 2 majority of the Court upheld the lower court 
ruling that Pluimer, and all of his fellow lot owners as well, owned a portion 
of the highway right-of-way as part of their lots, whether any of them 
wanted to own that area or not. One of the dissenting Justices disagreed with 
the use of summary judgment, while the other declined to accept the concept 
that the subdivision plat should be allowed to overlap the area previously 
platted as Lot H-3, but neither of them denied the controlling force or 
validity of the underlying principles that were applicable to the outcome. 
Because the plat of dedication created no new boundaries, and no fee tracts, 
parcels or lots of any kind, it represented no restriction whatsoever on Gay's 
ability to convey the land within the right-of-way, which he had still owned 
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in fee following the dedication of that 200 foot strip, in the view taken by the 
majority, wisely acknowledging that there was in reality no conflict at all 
between the dedication plat and the subdivision plat. Ultimately, this 
decision illustrates once again that the burden of full and complete 
description, including explicit description of any reservation, always rests 
upon the subdivider in such a scenario, as the motivating party, making it 
incumbent upon any developer to clearly reserve any area that is truly not 
intended to be conveyed. 

 

 

SCHULTZ  v  DEW  (1997) 

     As has become evident from our review of many cases involving 
claims of land ownership or rights based upon possession or long established 
land use patterns and related physical conditions, adverse possession or use 
of land can originate in a wide variety of ways, but the most essential 
distinction, in the eyes of the Court, is always the presence or absence of any 
elements that operate as evidence of good faith on the part of the party who 
is accused of wrongly or mistakenly occupying or utilizing the land at issue. 
Actions taken in good faith are truly pivotal, not only because they can 
potentially qualify the possessor for the 10 year statutory period, as opposed 
to the 20 year bar of absolute repose, but just as importantly because they 
place the party who has acted in good faith on the affirmative side of the 
balance of equity, which is always a matter of the utmost significance to the 
Court. This case presents a scenario in which survey evidence is sorely 
lacking, if not utterly absent, as the parties on both sides of a nebulous 
boundary, that may never even have been surveyed originally, demonstrate 
an amazing lack of concern about the location of their property line for 
decades, and a shocking disregard for the value of surveys, requiring the 
Court to determine which party most deserves to bear the consequences of 
those past failures, which is invariably a question of equity. Here as well, 
both parties fail to present any satisfactory or convincing evidence relating 
to the original location of the disputed boundary, which has the effect of 
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compelling the Court to seek a means by which to justify the boundary that 
has been established through historic use of the relevant properties, with 
little or no regard for the origin or legitimacy of that land use, and the 
doctrine to which the Court turns in the absence of definitive boundary 
evidence, as we have repeatedly seen, is none other than adverse possession. 
If any surveys were done of these properties, they were not considered to be 
worthy of note by the Court, though this may well signify a deliberate 
omission by the Court, made on the basis that there was no need to reference 
any surveys, since adverse possession had made any boundary location of 
record irrelevant anyway. Nevertheless, this case provides an excellent 
demonstration of the power of adverse possession, as it has come to be 
applied in modern times, to effectively eradicate boundaries of record and 
transfer ownership of a fragment of any given property to an adjoining land 
owner, as the Court rejects all of the suggestions posed by the defendant in 
his long overdue effort to overcome the impact of adverse possession upon 
his property. One vital lesson to be learned from this case is simply that a 
fence is not required to give an adjoining land owner notice of a claim of 
ownership extending into land that may belong to him, any form of land use 
that equates to a permanent presence and divides land in a linear manner can 
potentially serve the purpose of providing physical notice, every bit as well 
as the definitive barrier formed by a fence. Another hard lesson taught here 
is that although the defendant was evidently a good hearted person, the 
Court will typically find little reason to be sympathetic to any subsequent 
grantee who neglected to take any steps to investigate or clarify the record 
location of his boundaries at the appropriate time, as the defendant falls 
victim to the same catastrophic mistake made by all those who neglect to 
obtain a survey at the outset of their involvement with any given lot, parcel 
or tract. Lastly, here we note again that subsequent verbal denials of 
ownership are meaningless, because one cannot lose land that has already 
been acquired through a successfully completed adverse possession by 
means of any mere oral statements concerning the unadjudicated ownership 
status of the land, the transfer of the land into the ownership of the adverse 
occupant by operation of law is decisive and final, even without any judicial 
confirmation, which serves only to document the fact that such a transfer has 
already transpired.   
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Prior to 1934 - Several tracts known only as outlots were created in 
Big Stone City, but who owned the land from which these outlots 
were created is unknown. How these tracts came into existence is also 
unknown, there is no indication of whether or not their boundaries 
were ever surveyed, or defined on the ground by any other means, and 
their size, shape and location are all unknown as well.  

1934 - Dew's mother acquired a partial interest in a portion of one 
outlot, described only as the western two-thirds of that particular tract, 
along with Armstrong and Gertje. Whether or not there were any 
improvements situated anywhere on this property or any of the 
surrounding properties at this time is unknown. Whether or not any of 
the boundaries of the Dew property were marked on the ground at this 
time is unknown as well, and there is no indication that Dew's mother 
or either of her co-owners ever made any effort to determine where 
their boundaries were located.   

1946 - Pepka and her husband acquired an unspecified portion of the 
same outlot that was already owned in part by Dew's mother, 
presumably the eastern one-third of that outlot, but how Pepka's 
property was described is unknown. The Pepka's evidently began 
living on their tract at this time, but whether their property was vacant 
or improved in some way prior to their arrival, and what 
improvements they may have made to the property themselves at this 
time, are both unknown.  

1949 - Armstrong and Gertje quitclaimed their interests in the Dew 
property to Dew's mother, making her the sole owner of that tract. 
Dew's mother had apparently become married and had children by this 
time, but where the Dew family was living is unknown, there is no 
indication that she ever lived on her property in Big Stone City, and 
she may have never even visited this area.   

1954 - Dew's mother died and her land in Big Stone City passed into 
the ownership of her husband. Where Dew's father was living at this 
time is unknown, so Dew may have already been living on this 
property with his father, or they may have been residing elsewhere 
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and this tract may have remained vacant. The Pepkas were evidently 
already occupying a house on their property by this time, although 
whether or not they had already begun making use of any portion of 
the Dew property at this time is unknown. 

1960 to 1969 - At an unspecified date during this period, Pepka's 
husband and her son planted a row of 7 evergreen trees along what 
they apparently believed or claimed to be the boundary line between 
the Pepka tract and the Dew tract, and this row of trees apparently 
extended for a length of about 230 feet, although whether or not this 
distance represented the full length of the boundary between these 
tracts is unknown. How the Pepkas determined the location of this line 
is also unknown, since there is no evidence that it had ever been 
previously marked on the ground in any way, or that they had ever 
been informed of it's location by anyone. A portion of a driveway 
leading to Pepka's garage was located an unspecified distance on 
Pepka's side of this tree line, although whether this driveway was 
straight or curving is unknown, and when or why the driveway and 
the garage had been built where they were is also unknown. The 
Pepkas evidently used all of the land on their side of this tree line 
henceforward, treating it as part of their property, without any 
question or objection from anyone.   

1970 to 1990 - At an unspecified time, presumably during this period, 
Dew's father conveyed the property that had formerly been owned by 
Dew's mother to Dew and his wife, and they evidently took up 
residence on the Dew tract. The Dews apparently took no interest in 
the location of their property boundaries during this period however, 
and if they made any improvements to their property those 
improvements were evidently not located in the area near their 
boundary with the Pepka property, so no controversy arose over the 
location of that boundary during this period. The Pepkas had grown 
elderly by the end of this period, while Dew was apparently still a 
fairly young man, and he frequently came to the assistance of the 
Pepkas after becoming their neighbor, mowing their lawn and 
shoveling snow for them, so he was frequently on their property, yet 
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he apparently never gave any thought to the location of the boundary 
between the two properties or expressed any opinion about where that 
boundary was located. At an unspecified date during this period, the 
Pepkas had the driveway leading to their garage graveled and paved. 
Whether or not Dew was already living on his property when this 
driveway was improved is unknown, but by the end of this period he 
evidently knew that it had been improved, and yet he never suggested 
that the driveway might actually be located on his property, nor was 
there any evidence that Dew or any members of his family ever made 
any use of this driveway. 

1991 - The Pepkas conveyed their tract to their son and daughter, 
presumably using the same description that was used when they 
acquired it in 1946, but they reserved a life estate unto themselves, 
allowing them to continue occupying the property just as they had 
been doing for the past 45 years. Whether or not either of the Pepka 
children were still living with their parents at this time is unknown, 
presumably they were adults and were living elsewhere.  

1993 - Pepka's husband died, but Pepka went on living on her tract 
just as she had previously, and Dew continued to help her by mowing 
her lawn in the summer and shoveling the driveway for her in the 
winter. Carter, who was Pepka's daughter, quitclaimed her interest in 
the Pepka tract to Schultz. Presumably Carter was familiar with the 
Pepka tract, having grown up on the property, but whether or not 
Schultz ever visited the Pepka property is unknown. There is no 
indication that either Carter or Schultz ever questioned the location of 
the boundary between their tract and the Dew tract, they apparently 
either believed or just assumed that the tree line represented the 
boundary, presumably having been told by Carter's parents that the 
trees had been planted on or near their property line. Carter's brother 
then quitclaimed his interest in the Pepka tract to Carter, making 
Carter and Schultz the co-owners of the Pepka tract. For unknown 
reasons, Dew came to believe that the boundary line between the Dew 
and Pepka tracts was actually located about 45 feet on the Pepka's side 
of the tree line, and this line location resulted in most, if not all, of the 
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driveway that Pepka had been using for well over 20 years being on 
the Dew property. Why Dew believed that his property line was in 
this location is unknown, his opinion may have been based only upon 
his own measurements or estimations, since there is no indication that 
any surveys of either the Dew tract or the Pepka tract were ever 
performed. 

1994 to 1996 - Upon learning that a boundary controversy existed, 
and that her driveway might actually be located on the Dew tract, 
Pepka asked Dew if he would be willing to either sell the 45 foot strip 
to her, or deed an access easement covering that strip to her, but Dew 
rejected Pepka's suggestions, so Pepka, Carter and Schultz joined 
together and filed an action against Dew, seeking a judicial 
declaration that they had acquired the 45 foot strip that was being 
claimed by Dew through adverse possession. 

     Schultz, Carter and Pepka argued that the Pepkas had adequately 
enclosed, improved, occupied and used all of the land lying on Pepka's side 
of the tree line for a length of time well in excess of the period required to 
complete adverse possession, so the tree line had become the true boundary 
between the Pepka and Dew tracts, and they owned the entire driveway and 
any other portion of the Dew tract that might lie on their side of the tree line. 
Dew argued that the Pepkas had not successfully completed adverse 
possession of any portion of his tract, because they had never enclosed their 
tract, nor had they ever adequately improved the disputed strip, nor had they 
ever used that strip in any manner that could be properly characterized as 
occupation, so he owned the entire 45 foot strip, which bore the trees and 
part of the driveway, but apparently did not contain any portion of Pepka's 
garage. Dew further argued that even if the use of the contested strip by the 
Pepkas had been adverse in nature, Pepka had destroyed and forfeited any 
claim of ownership of that strip that she might once have been able to 
successfully make, because she had admitted that the strip in question was 
not part of her property, by offering to buy it from Dew, and in addition, he 
asserted that her possession of that strip was not exclusive, because she had 
allowed him to enter that area to help her maintain it. The trial court found 
that the Pepkas had met all of the legal requirements and successfully 
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completed adverse possession of the strip at issue several years before Dew 
had ever challenged Pepka's ownership of it, so Pepka had acquired 
ownership of any portion of the Dew tract lying on her side of the tree line, 
and nothing she had said or done thereafter had deprived her of the area that 
she had thereby acquired, granting summary judgment to the 3 plaintiffs and 
dismissing Dew's claim without any further consideration.      

     This case very obviously presents a classic example of the serious 
consequences of extreme carelessness and negligence regarding boundaries, 
which in this particular location evidently endured for over half a century, 
making this story one that can be highly useful to land surveyors in 
marketing their services, since it clearly demonstrates the kind of problems 
that can easily develop in the absence of properly marked boundaries. The 
Court's description of the events leading up to the eruption of this 
controversy also serves as an excellent illustration of the fact that the Court 
does not intend it's decisions to serve as a blueprint for any technical 
analysis of situations of this kind, either by land surveyors or by anyone else, 
leaving a great deal of information that was potentially relevant to the 
outcome here unstated, thus making it clear that the objective of the Court is 
simply to determine the rights of the parties through the use of legal and 
equitable principles, rather than becoming fixated upon details. The evidence 
presented by Schultz, Carter and Pepka was strong in one respect, yet weak 
in another respect, because although the Pepkas had certainly been using the 
area at issue for a great length of time, their actual use of that area had been 
very marginal, and it definitely did not constitute true occupation of the 
disputed strip in the fullest sense, even though they had long treated that area 
as being part of their yard. The evidence presented by Dew was even weaker 
however, in the eyes of the Court, and he may even have failed to present a 
survey, in support of his claim to be the record owner of the strip in 
question, casting doubt upon the validity of the boundary location being 
claimed by him, thereby making the Court inclined to be especially open to 
recognizing the value of Pepka's minimal possession, possibly even seeing it 
as being evidence of an original boundary location that was somehow known 
to Pepka's late husband. As indicated above, in his defense argument Dew 
directly attacked each aspect of the adverse possession claim that had been 
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set forth by the 3 plaintiffs, charging that the possession of Pepka was 
lacking in every respect, because all of the statutorily required elements 
were missing, there being in his view no enclosure, no cultivation, no 
improvement, and not even any use of the ground in controversy by the 
Pepka family that was of any real substance. The trees planted by the Pepkas 
represented questionable evidence of adverse possession in one regard, 
being only natural objects, which therefore did not provide definitive notice 
of action taken by any specific party asserting ownership of land, but Dew 
was either unable to show that he and his parents never had any knowledge 
of the origin of the trees, or he simply failed to realize the importance of 
doing so, leaving the tree line with the appearance of validity as an adversely 
held boundary. The trees were evidently widely spaced and did not form 
anything resembling a wall or an effective physical barrier of any kind, but 
in the view of this scenario taken by the Court, they were still legally 
sufficient to give notice of an assertion of ownership of the ground upon 
which they were planted, since they formed a distinct line, and any 
reasonable observer would have to concede that such an alignment would 
not occur in such a location by accident, without the intervention of the hand 
of man. Concluding by citing the Taylor case of 1983, which we have 
previously reviewed, with regard to the impact of words spoken by an 
adverse possessor concerning her own land rights, the Court rejected each of 
the several lines of defense that had been set up by Dew: 

“Pepkas ... never sought consent to use the Dew property. 
Pepka put gravel on the driveway and later paved it with asphalt 
... watered the trees, mowed the grass, and maintained the 
driveway ... Dews claim ... the facts do not constitute a 
substantial enclosure or cultivation of the property ... a claim of 
adverse possession may succeed if the claimant establishes 
either a substantial enclosure or cultivation or improvement ... 
there was no fence. However, natural barriers may also satisfy 
the requirement of a substantial enclosure ... trees which are 
deliberately placed by the person claiming adverse possession  
may also serve as a boundary ... the enclosure need not be 
absolutely secure ... the tree line is decidedly a deliberate 
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enclosure because Pepkas intentionally planted and maintained 
the trees ... Pepkas not only planted the trees ... they had 
cleaned debris out of the strip ... and mowed the strip ... since 
the 1940s or 1950s ... As a matter of law, mowing the strip of 
land in a residential area ... constitutes cultivation ... Pepkas 
improved the land ... putting gravel over the surface ... the strip 
of land is not unimproved ... Dews assert that Pepkas have 
disclaimed title ... This contention lacks merit ... a disclaimer 
exists only if it is a knowing relinquishment of an asserted 
property right ... Pepka's attempts to settle the matter short of 
litigation can hardly be said to be ... disclaimers." 

     In the end, every one of the challenges to Pepka's possession that had 
been set out by Dew was toppled by the Court, the trees represented a valid 
enclosure, the mowing of the lawn and watering of the trees represented 
cultivation, the driveway represented a legitimate improvement of the strip, 
and the use of the driveway by the Pepkas to access their garage represented 
a significant actual use of the strip, made in a manner that was possessory in 
character. The Court also pointed out that any one of these findings alone 
would have been enough to justify the adverse possession claim being made 
by the plaintiffs, but since every defensive point of contention that was 
potentially available to Dew had been foreclosed, the summary judgment 
that had been issued against him by the lower court met with the complete 
approval of the Court, which therefore fully upheld the result in favor of 
Pepka and her co-plaintiffs. The major mistake made by Dew was his failure 
to realize that the statutory adverse possession requirements contain a high 
degree of flexibility and are not rigid, so "enclosure" does not require the 
construction of a fence or wall, "cultivation" does not necessarily mean 
growing crops, and "improvement" does not necessarily mean erecting a 
building. All that is required to meet the spirit of the law, as it is embodied 
in the statutes outlining the parameters of a successful adverse possession, is 
some form of use of the disputed land that stands in the manner of an 
occupation, which is sufficient to provide notice to the owner of record that 
a persistent and invasive use of his or her land is taking place, and that is 
why activities even as minimal as mowing grass or spreading gravel were 
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satisfactory to the Court in this instance. The Court was quite unimpressed 
with Dew's suggestion that Pepka's possession lacked exclusivity as well, 
holding that Dew's frequent and repeated presence on the strip in 
controversy did not negate the exclusivity of Pepka's possession in any way, 
since he had been active within the strip only in the role of a volunteer, 
helping the elderly couple as any friendly neighbor would, so in fact he had 
never openly set foot upon the strip in question as a hostile party claiming to 
own that portion of the Pepka's yard. In addition, the paving of the driveway 
also provided decisive support for the ownership claim made by the 3 
plaintiffs, since there was no evidence that Dew, or anyone else, had ever 
given the Pepkas permission to pave a portion of the Dew tract, and even if 
Dew had claimed to have consented to the existence of the driveway, that 
notion would have availed him nothing. Consent is meaningless unless it is 
sought by the adverse party, offering unrequested or unwanted consent to an 
adverse possessor accomplishes nothing in support of the claim being made 
by the owner of record, because no one in the position of an owner in 
possession can be legally required to pay any heed to someone who is 
merely giving them permission to use their own property. For that reason, 
the Court here reiterated the stance that it had previously enumerated in the 
1983 Taylor case, stipulating that nothing an adverse possessor says after 
successfully completing the statutory period can destroy or undo a 
completed adverse acquisition, even if the successful possessor subsequently 
concedes or otherwise agrees that the area in question might belong to 
another party. The Court, it should always be remembered, appreciates all 
efforts to resolve conflicts involving land rights without litigation, so not 
only did the overtures of Pepka toward Dew, offering to purchase either an 
easement or the strip itself in fee from him, not work against her, there can 
be little doubt that her offer to Dew actually endeared her to the Court, 
placing her in the shoes of an innocent party who had acted in good faith, 
while Dew's refusal to cooperate with her had cast the fatal shadow of bad 
faith upon him.    
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MILLARD  v  CITY OF SIOUX FALLS  (1999) 

     Inconsistent treatment of the section line right-of-way in platting 
forms the basis for our next case, which turns upon the Court's view of the 
applicability of the formal vacation process to the section line right-of-way, 
and ultimately demonstrates the Court's great reluctance to approve any form 
of implied vacation, in accord with it's rigorous protection of all such public 
rights. This case provides a great example of how the results of one case can 
be readily misconstrued, leading to an entirely futile argument being set 
forth in a subsequent similar case, thereby demonstrating the danger in 
making false assumptions concerning the judicial treatment of land rights 
issues. Here we also have a fine illustration of the problems that can result 
from a failure to depict an existing easement on a plat, even though the plat 
was not created for easement purposes, because uninformed parties 
frequently have excessive confidence in plats, and mistakenly assume that 
everything potentially relevant to the subject property must appear on every 
plat, leading them to rely upon what they do not see, as well as what they do 
see, on such a legal document. The outcome of the case we are about to 
review emphasizes the fact that the process of vacating any public right-of-
way requires full compliance with all applicable law, and deviation from that 
stern standard will not be tolerated by the Court, since the extinction of 
valuable public land rights is always a matter viewed with the utmost 
seriousness by the Court. City of Sioux Falls v Hone Family Trust, a case 
decided by the Court less than 3 years earlier, in 1996, proved to be highly 
instrumental to the forthcoming controversy involving Millard, and is 
therefore worthy of our attention at this point. In the Hone case, a typical 
subdivision had been platted, approved and annexed into Sioux Falls in 
1952, although that plat omitted to reflect the presence of any section line 
right-of-way along a certain section line that was shown on the plat. Whether 
the omission of that public right-of-way, which had legally existed prior to 
1952, from this plat was intentional or not is unknown, but no roadway was 
evidently built along that particular section line over many subsequent years. 
Hone acquired an unspecified amount of the land situated within the 1952 
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subdivision at an unspecified time, after which Sioux Falls sought to 
construct a roadway on the section line in question, apparently impacting the 
Hone property to some extent. Hone maintained that the relevant portion of 
the section line right-of-way no longer existed, because the approval of the 
1952 plat, in spite of the absence of the public right-of-way therefrom, by 
Sioux Falls, had the legal effect of a binding vacation, terminating the 
existence of that public easement prior to the acquisition made by Hone. The 
Court fully upheld a lower court ruling in Hone's favor, agreeing that the act 
of approving that plat, having been performed by city officials who had 
appropriate jurisdiction over the land in 1952, had indeed been equivalent to 
a formal vacation of that particular section line right-of-way. In 2002 
however, in Douville v Christensen, a case that was fought over a small 
earthen dam which evidently supported a farm pond, that constituted an 
obstruction within an unimproved section line right-of-way, the Court 
reiterated that every unvacated portion of the section line right-of-way is 
worthy of full protection. A lower court had rejected Douville's assertion 
that the dam must be removed, to enable him to utilize that public right-of-
way for travel, but the Court reversed that decision, stating that the township 
did indeed have a duty to clear the section line right-of-way for public use 
pursuant to Douville's request, despite the fact that it had never previously 
been developed as a roadway, since it had never been formally vacated.            

Prior to 1987 - Munkvold owned a tract of unspecified size, shape and 
location, situated outside Sioux Falls, but lying within 3 miles of the 
city limits, as they stood at the time. No details relating to Munkvold's 
acquisition of his property, or what use had historically been made of 
that land, are known, but this tract was bounded on the north by a 
section line, which had apparently never been utilized by anyone for 
purposes of travel. 

1987 - Munkvold decided to sell his tract, and he apparently knew, or 
he was informed, of the legal requirement that property such as his 
must be platted prior to conveyance, since it fell within the 
extraterritorial region that was subject to potential annexation by 
Sioux Falls, so he proceeded to have his tract surveyed, the requisite 
plat creating the Munkvold Addition was completed, it was signed 
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and approved by all of the appropriate government officials, and duly 
recorded. This plat showed and properly identified the section line 
forming the northerly boundary of the Munkvold tract, but it did not 
indicate the existence of any section line right-of-way on the portion 
of the Munkvold property adjoining that section line. 

1989 - Millard acquired the tract that had been platted for Munkvold, 
and Millard evidently took notice of the fact that no section line right-
of-way was shown on the Munkvold plat, leading Millard to believe 
that no section line right-of-way existed on his property. How Millard 
used his land, and whether or not he lived on the property that he had 
just acquired, are both unknown. 

1991 - Sioux Falls prepared an annexation plat, which showed the 
annexation of the Munkvold Addition into the city. Under the street 
plan that had been developed and was being implemented by the city, 
the section line bounding the Millard property on the north was 
destined to become part of 57th Street, and this was indicated on the 
annexation plat. Millard evidently already had satisfactory access to 
his property from some other direction or in some other location, and 
he was apparently unaware of any plans to build or extend any city 
streets across any portion of his tract, so he was presumably either 
already making some unspecified actual use of the northerly portion 
of his property, or he was planning to make some use of that area in 
the future.  

1996 - Sioux Falls filed a condemnation action against Millard, 
seeking to acquire an unspecified portion of the tract that he had 
acquired from Munkvold, or to acquire the right to make use of some 
portion of it, presumably for road or street purposes. This 
condemnation action made no reference to the section line right-of-
way running along the north boundary of the subject property 
however, it evidently involved some other portion of Millard's tract.  

1997 - Millard was apparently informed that 57th Street was about to 
be built or extended along the north boundary of his tract, and he then 
noticed that the condemnation action did not include the north 33 feet 
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of his property, so he protested that the condemnation action was 
incomplete and insufficient, indicating that he believed it should 
include the northerly 33 feet of his land in order to provide fair and 
complete compensation to him for the coming public use of that part 
of his land. Sioux Falls ignored Millard's protest however, and 
proceeded to complete the condemnation of the required portion of his 
property, and also constructed 57the Street within the section line 
right-of-way, taking control over the north 33 feet of Millard's tract 
without ever providing any compensation to him for the public use of 
that part of his property. Millard did not maintain that 57th Street 
could not be built in the planned location, nor did he try to physically 
block the construction of it, but he insisted that he was entitled to 
payment for that use of his land, so he filed an action amounting to an 
inverse condemnation against Sioux Falls, seeking compensation for 
the public use of his property that was taking place along the north 
line of his tract. 

     Millard did not argue that no section line right-of-way had ever 
existed within the boundaries of his tract, he argued that no section line 
right-of-way had existed since 1987 however, because the plat of the 
Munkvold Addition clearly indicated the intention of Munkvold to eliminate 
the section line right-of-way, by omitting it from his plat, so no public access 
easement existed along the northerly portion of his property, and 
compensation was therefore due to Millard under the law, for the 
construction of 57th Street upon the north 33 feet of his tract. Millard further 
argued that the Munkvold plat had been duly reviewed, signed and approved 
by all of the relevant county and city officers responsible for plat review and 
approval, so the recordation of that plat, without any indication of the 
presence of any section line right-of-way, amounted to a formal and official 
vacation of any portion of the section line right-of-way that may have once 
existed within the boundaries of the Munkvold Addition, and that vacation 
was legally binding upon both Sioux Falls and Lincoln County. Sioux Falls 
argued that the section line right-of-way along the north side of the Millard 
tract had always existed, but in 1987 it was still outside the city limits and it 
had never been utilized in any way, so it was not legally necessary for the 

725



right-of-way to be shown at that time on the plat of the Munkvold Addition, 
in order to perpetuate it's existence, therefore it had not ceased to exist 
merely by virtue of being omitted from that plat. Sioux Falls further argued 
that the annexation plat of the area that included the Munkvold Addition had 
been properly created, and correctly showed the existence of the section line 
right-of-way, and that plat was the controlling plat of the subject area for 
such public purposes, so the entire section line right-of-way still existed, 
having never been either abandoned or vacated, and 57th Street had been 
legally constructed within that public right-of-way, so no compensation was 
due to Millard for the presence of that street upon his property. The trial 
court held that Millard's position was legally untenable and he had no valid 
argument to make, dismissing his action without consideration and awarding 
summary judgment to Sioux Falls.      

     Outstanding laws mandating proper platting have long made South 
Dakota a national leader in the locative aspect of conveyancing standards, 
and the wisdom embodied in those extensive platting requirements has 
undoubtedly prevented countless controversies over boundary locations and 
related land rights issues for well over a century, but even with strong 
platting standards some conflicts will inevitably arise. Millard correctly 
understood that the intent of a subdivider as expressed on his plat typically 
controls, but of course that principle can only apply to matters that are 
within the control of the subdivider, and no one can eliminate land rights 
that are not under his control, so the intent of Munkvold, as the grantor in 
this situation, was completely irrelevant, with respect to the existence of the 
public easement represented by the section line right-of-way, because it's 
existence did not depend upon anyone's intent. Millard's position was not 
completely baseless, because it was true that the plat of the property that he 
had acquired from Munkvold had in fact failed to explicitly provide him 
with any form of notice that the property he was acquiring bore a 33 foot 
wide public access easement along it's northerly boundary, yet what Millard 
failed to realize was that every citizen can be charged with knowledge of the 
law. The Court was entirely unsympathetic to Millard, declining to view him 
as an innocent grantee without notice, because in addition to holding all 
grantees to their burden of inquiry notice, the Court also expects every 
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grantee to learn and to properly understand the aspects of the law that are 
relevant to those who elect to engage in the acquisition of land. 
Unfortunately for Millard, his complete reliance on the plat, even though 
that plat was deficient, to the extent that it failed to show an existing public 
right-of-way crossing the Munkvold Addition, was unjustified in the eyes of 
the Court, because it was Millard's responsibility to know or to learn the law 
pertaining to the section line right-of-way before making his acquisition, 
rather than drawing false conclusions regarding the legal effect of the 
omission of the section line right-of-way from the plat, as he had done. In 
addition to overestimating his right to rely on the Munkvold plat, Millard 
also underestimated the significance of the annexation plat, failing to realize 
that although it was not intended to operate as a conveyance, it did serve to 
authoritatively illustrate the utilization of existing public land rights, such as 
the section line right-of-way, that had never been extinguished. Yet another 
serious error made by Millard or his legal team was the mistaken supposition 
that they knew what the outcome of Millard's scenario would be, based on 
the superficial similarity between Millard's predicament and the 
circumstances of the Hone case, which had been fought between the very 
same attorneys on both sides, with those who were now representing Millard 
emerging victorious on that occasion, less than 3 years before. Key 
differences, the Court recognized, existed between the facts of the situation 
that was presented by the Hone case and those that confronted Millard, 
putting Millard at a great disadvantage, since the plat that he had relied upon 
had received less attention and scrutiny that the plat that was in play in the 
Hone case, and understandably so, because not all plats, the Court realized, 
serve equivalent purposes. Emphasizing the importance of public action that 
is decisive and affirmative in nature, or that which can be legally presumed 
to have been intended to stand as affirmative, as the sole basis for the 
termination of any public land rights, such as the section line right-of-way, 
the Court explained why Millard's assertions were entirely unavailing: 

“Millards claim that County's and City's approval of the 
Munkvold Addition plat affirmatively vacated the section line 
right-of-way ... there is along every section line in this state a 
public highway located by operation of law ... To vacate or 
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abandon a section line the appropriate governing board must act 
affirmatively ... County and City approved the plat, but that 
approval cannot be construed as a vacation ... At the time of 
approval, 57th Street was not yet designated, therefore 
approving the plat, which only designated the section line, was 
proper. Nothing more was required ... In Hone, City approved a 
plat of the annexed Country Club Heights subdivision ... the 
acceptance of the plat constituted a vacation of the easement ... 
City had not annexed the Munkvold Addition ... the property 
was not approved as an annexed subdivision ... but rather as a 
private plat for the transfer of property ... 11-6-40 required 
Munkvold's to plat the property ... which is located within the 
extraterritorial limits of the municipality ... when the Munkvold 
Addition property was annexed, 57th Street was designated as 
such on the annexation plat ... annexation ... constitutes 
affirmative lawful action sufficient for vacating a section line ... 
mere approval of a plat prepared for the transfer of property is 
insufficient ... no vacation occurred ... Millards claim that the 
annexation plat ... could not transfer ownership of property ... 
The annexation plat is also a representation ... of the designated 
streets ... The annexation plat did not transfer ownership ... The 
section line easement was created by operation of law ... the 
section line easement was still in effect and no transfer of 
property ownership occurred." 

     As had been stated by the Court in numerous earlier cases, the section 
line right-of-way represents a right held by all of the people of South 
Dakota, but jurisdiction over particular portions of it, for particular purposes, 
has been delegated to the counties, and then on to townships and cities 
where appropriate, so land rights associated with the section line right-of-
way, in any specific location, at any specific time, must be viewed in the 
context of the appropriate jurisdiction. In this instance, the Court observed, 
Sioux Falls had jurisdiction over the land at issue that was sufficient to 
require the platting of the Munkvold Addition in 1987, pursuant to statute 
11-6-40, based on the city's size and proximity to the subject property, but 
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the section line right-of-way remained under county jurisdiction until the 
Munkvold Addition was annexed into the city, and only upon annexing the 
platted area did the section line right-of-way become a matter of any concern 
at all to Sioux Falls. Annexation typically shifts jurisdiction over the 
annexed area from a county to a city, so once land is annexed, the city has 
the authority to vacate portions of the section line right-of-way if 
appropriate, since the city has the authority to plan, design and construct a 
reasonable and workable system of public thoroughfares, such as may be 
required to suit the needs and preferences of the people of each particular 
city. In addition, the act of approving a subdivision plat embracing land that 
is already situated within an annexed area, where the authority held by the 
city is sufficient to enact a vacation, can eliminate public rights that are not 
shown on the plat as it is approved, the Court indicated, and that was the 
contrasting situation that had dictated the outcome of the Hone case. When 
approving a plat of land situated in an unannexed area however, the city has 
no such authority, nor does it even have any responsibility to give the same 
level of detailed consideration to such plats, for two reasons, the first being 
that the needs of the city street system do not yet extend to such land, and 
the second being that such plats are intended to serve an entirely different 
purpose, which is completely unrelated to the creation of city streets. The 
overall reason, and the spirit of the law, behind the creation of plats such as 
the one that was prepared for Munkvold, the Court noted, is to provide for 
the secure and well organized conveyance of such privately held land, the 
primary purpose of such plats being the clarification of boundaries, while the 
treatment of public streets, at the strategic overview level, is a function more 
properly carried out through the use of an annexation plat, which conveys an 
intention or vision for the creation and use of vital public land rights. When 
viewing plats from this perspective, as the Court does, it can readily be seen 
that allowing the absence of a public right-of-way from a plat of rural or 
outlying land to prevent that right-of-way from ever being used in the future, 
when it becomes necessary to make legitimate use of it, which could not 
have been known or anticipated at an earlier time, would be both nonsensical 
and unjust. On that basis, the Court fully upheld the lower court's dismissal 
of Millard's compensation claim, allowing the construction and public use of 
57th Street to proceed, while reiterating the same position that had first been 
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taken by the Court in the seminal Wells case of 1891, that no land owner is 
ever due any payment for public use of the original section line right-of-way 
crossing their property, unless that land owner can prove that their portion of 
it ceased to exist as a public land right. In conclusion, although no liability 
resulting from the omitted right-of-way was suggested here, it should be 
recognized by all surveyors who engage in platting for any purpose, that 
completeness in platting is always highly important, and only a plat that is 
prepared with genuine care, and serious attention to land rights of all forms, 
can stand as a truly complete, reliable and superior professional product.  

 

 

JUTTING  v  HENDRIX  (2000) 

     We conclude our examination of adverse possession in South Dakota 
with a case that presents a superb example of the Court's use of that doctrine 
as a tool with which to place all boundary issues in repose, while also 
demonstrating how deeply disinclined the Court is to allow any technical 
factors, such as measurements, to alter physically established boundaries that 
have been relied upon in complete innocence and good faith. Here once 
again the support of the Court for adverse possession reflects the Court's 
desire to negate the disruptive impact of corrective resurveys, which seek to 
shift or relocate lot lines to locations that more precisely match platted 
dimensions than does an existing land use pattern, instead of employing all 
evidence, in the manner of a proper retracement survey, in full accord with 
many early rulings of the Court, such as those handed down in the 1911 
Mills case and the 1916 Ingalls case, both previously reviewed herein. The 
case we are about to review also demonstrates that it has in some instances 
been land surveyors themselves who have made it necessary for the Court to 
utilize adverse possession as a means of protecting and upholding the 
validity of established boundaries, by performing independent resurveys that 
treat measurements as controlling boundary evidence, rather than 
recognizing historically accepted land use patterns as potentially legitimate 
evidence of original boundary locations, as the Court does. Two other 
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notable adverse possession cases from this same period are worthy of being 
referenced at this juncture, the first being City of Deadwood v Summit, 
which was decided by the Court along with our present case in February of 
2000. In that case, Deadwood owned a group of platted lots situated in the 
east half of a certain city block, while Summit owned several lots occupying 
part of the west half of that block, which had evidently been platted over a 
century before. A rock retaining wall that had been built in 1903 had always 
served as the de facto boundary between these properties, the easterly 
property being residential in character while the westerly property was 
commercial in character, and a 1993 survey indicated that the wall was 
actually located well into the Summit property, so Deadwood filed an action 
to quiet title up to the wall, based upon adverse possession and 
acquiescence. The Court reversed a lower court ruling in Deadwood's favor, 
on the basis that the two properties had not been in separate ownership for a 
full 20 years, rendering adverse possession impossible, but in so deciding the 
Court also emphasized two highly relevant points, one being that a city can 
acquire land from a private party through adverse possession, and the other 
being that acquiescence is not independent of adverse possession in South 
Dakota. In 2001, in Lewis v Aslesen, the litigants were residential neighbors 
in Canton, who had each acquired their adjoining properties in 1972, from 
different grantors. Consistent with the circumstances seen in the Schultz case 
of 1997, which we have previously reviewed, Lewis had planted and 
maintained a row of trees several feet inside the Aslesen property, both 
parties apparently being genuinely ignorant of the boundary location of 
record. The Court upheld a lower court decision that since the tree line had 
stood for over 20 years, Lewis had acquired the ground upon which the trees 
stood by means of adverse possession, establishing a new boundary line, not 
centered upon or through any of the trees, but on Aslesen's side of all of the 
trees, agreeing not only that the trees formed an enclosure, but also that 
Lewis was entitled to full ownership of the trees themselves, as the party 
who had planted them. In addition, the Court approved the subsequent 
execution of a survey that had been mandated by the lower court, to identify 
the judicially created boundary both on the ground and for the record, while 
indicating that the cost of that survey was to be borne jointly by the litigants.         
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Prior to 1969 - A residential subdivision, containing an unknown 
number of lots of unknown size, was platted in an unspecified location 
in Sturgis. Nothing is known of the origin of this subdivision, so 
whether or not it was properly surveyed and fully monumented is also 
unknown. Who owned the land and created the subdivision is 
unknown as well, but homes were apparently built on at least some of 
these platted lots during the late 1960s by an unspecified developer, 
prior to selling the lots to individual owners. 

1970 - The father of Jutting acquired one of these platted lots, 
containing an existing new home, which was situated between 2 other 
lots that were either similar or identical to the Jutting lot, these 2 
adjoining lots lying to the east and to the west of the Jutting lot. There 
were evidently existing new homes situated on each of the adjoining 
lots at this time, but whether those lots had already been conveyed to 
individual lot owners or were still owned by the developer is 
unknown, presumably the neighboring homes were still vacant. What 
Jutting's father was told about the location of his lot lines, if anything, 
is unknown, and there is no indication of whether or not any of the lot 
lines in this area had ever been marked on the ground by anyone. 
Jutting's father apparently believed that he knew where his lot lines 
were located however, and he immediately began making 
improvements to his lot. The yard surrounding the Jutting house 
consisted of bare ground at the time Jutting's father acquired it, so he 
began by planting a lawn, extending 10 feet west from the west side of 
his house, up to the east edge of an existing driveway that served the 
lot lying directly to the west of the Jutting lot. Toward the rear of his 
lot, Jutting's father planted 2 trees near the east edge of this driveway. 
A short distance behind his house, he then installed a clothesline pole 
within a few feet of the driveway, which also served as a brace pole 
holding up one end of a swing, and in addition he planted lilac bushes 
bordering the rear portion of the driveway. Whether or not Jutting 
himself was alive at this time is unknown, presumably he was alive 
but was only a child. No objection to any of these improvements made 
by Jutting's father was raised by anyone.  
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1971 to 1996 - Throughout this period, the Jutting family occupied 
and used the area west of their house, up to the edge of the driveway 
that was located on the adjoining lot, as part of their yard, in the 
manner outlined above. During this time period Jutting grew up, got 
married, moved away and had children of his own, who he sometimes 
brought to the Jutting home to visit their grandparents, and on those 
occasions the full extent of the Juttings yard, as it had been developed 
by Jutting's father, was actively utilized by the entire family without 
objection from anyone. The lot lying directly to the west of the Jutting 
lot was owned by a succession of numerous parties during this period, 
and it was conveyed an unspecified number of times, but there is no 
indication of whether or not it was ever surveyed, either in connection 
with any of these conveyances or for any other reason. The Juttings 
apparently had good relations with their neighbors throughout this 
period, no one questioned their use of their yard, and no boundary 
issues arose. Toward the end of this period Jutting's father died, 
apparently without ever having told anyone anything that he may have 
known about the original location of the lot lines around the Jutting 
home.   

1997 - Jutting's mother sold the Jutting lot to him. The Jutting lot was 
surveyed at this time, in connection with this transaction, and this 
survey indicated that the west lot line ran along the east edge of the 
neighboring driveway, apparently confirming the location of that line 
as it had been understood by Jutting's father, thus supporting the 
validity of the land use made by the Jutting family.  

1998 - Hendrix acquired the lot adjoining the Jutting lot on the west 
and he asked Jutting about the location of their mutual lot line. Jutting 
informed Hendrix that he did not know exactly where their lot line 
was located, so Hendrix decided to order a survey. This survey 
indicated that all of the lot lines in the block were located 10 feet east 
of where the lot owners had believed them to be, due to an unspecified 
error in the platting of the subdivision, according to the surveyor who 
had been employed by Hendrix. Hendrix then proceeded to erect a 
fence of unspecified length, running within a few inches of the west 
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side of the Jutting house. Jutting responded to this by filing an action 
against Hendrix, seeking to quiet title to the Jutting lot, up to the 
historically established lot line location, at the east edge of the 
driveway.   

     Jutting argued that the occupation and use of the disputed 10 foot strip 
by his family had fully satisfied all of the legal requirements of adverse 
possession, even though neither the Jutting house nor any other permanent 
structures were ever built on that strip, because their use of the area in 
contention was fully in accord with the use of a typical residential yard, and 
that use had therefore always manifested an open assertion of land 
ownership on the part of Jutting's parents. Jutting further argued that the 
adverse possession completed by his parents had taken effect in 1990, once 
his family's first 20 years on their lot had elapsed, so nothing that he may 
have said or done himself after that point in time was relevant, because he 
had never intended to relinquish any land, and once acquired, land cannot be 
lost as a result of mere statements subsequently made about the land by it's 
owner, so he owned the contested strip, regardless of which lot it was really 
part of. Hendrix argued that the possession of the 10 foot strip by the 
Juttings was never sufficient to support any claim of ownership, and their 
mistaken reliance upon any erroneous surveys that had been done prior to 
the superior quality survey, which had been completed in 1998 at his 
request, represented no justification for any claim of ownership of any 
portion of the Hendrix lot by any members of the Jutting family. Hendrix 
further argued that Jutting had openly admitted that the land at issue was part 
of the Hendrix lot, and not part of the Jutting lot, by allowing Hendrix to 
take possession of the strip and make use of it after seeing the Hendrix 
survey, so any adverse possession that may have been completed by the 
Juttings prior to 1998 was irrelevant, and the lot line indicated on the 1998 
survey controlled the true lot line location, making that 10 foot strip part of 
his property. The trial court decided that the occupation and use of the strip 
in contention by the Juttings constituted a successful adverse possession on 
their part, making it unnecessary to decide which lot the strip had originally 
been part of, or to consider the merits or the details of either of the two 
surveys that had been done for the litigants.    

734



     This case certainly had the potential to develop into a controversy 
focused on survey evidence, had the litigants both insisted that their 
opposing surveys were correct, but Jutting or his legal team apparently 
lacked confidence in the 1997 survey of Jutting's lot, and it may in fact have 
been only a cursory mortgage inspection, so they wisely opted to rely solely 
upon adverse possession, which effectively took all of the issues connected 
to survey evidence out of play. Nevertheless, the presence of the conflicting 
surveys made the Court cognizant that there was good reason to suspect that 
the lot line at issue had never actually been marked on the ground in the 
location specified by the Hendrix survey, and just as importantly, the 
disparity between the surveys made the Court aware that Jutting's father may 
well have had actual knowledge of the original lot line location, which could 
very well have been the basis for the numerous improvements that he had 
made to his lot. This evidence introducing varying interpretations of the true 
lot line location raised key doubts, which proved to be quite fruitful for 
Jutting, inclining the Court to protect the very real possibility that Jutting's 
father had innocently relied upon the true original lot line location, and the 
Court could readily provide such protection through the use of adverse 
possession as a surrogate for missing boundary evidence, such as the 
testimony regarding the original lot line location that Jutting's father could 
have delivered, had he still been alive. The Court had long been comfortable 
using adverse possession as a boundary resolution tool, as we have observed 
in our review of many historic cases, rather than limiting it to the resolution 
of title conflicts, having come to realize that adverse possession provides a 
useful means of verifying acknowledged boundaries as being legitimate, in 
the absence of original survey evidence, which would otherwise be required 
to conclusively protect established boundaries, thereby maintaining the 
stability of communities, such as the platted block at issue here. Although 
the survey done for Hendrix purported to have discovered a mistake that had 
been made during the original survey of the subdivision, which if true had 
apparently been repeated by any and all surveys done in that block 
subsequently, the Court recognized that the Hendrix survey was in 
disagreement with the location of all of the houses in the block containing 
the lots of the litigants, revealing that the lot line location espoused by 
Hendrix was definitely not the one that had been known to the builders of 
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those homes. Even if there had in fact been such an error, the Court 
understood, it may very well have been an error in the original survey, which 
had occurred even before the homes had been built, in which case it would 
have to be treated as no error at all, since original surveys are without error, 
and this realization undoubtedly further inclined the Court to discard the 
Hendrix survey and validate the long mutually accepted boundary adjoining 
the driveway located on the Hendrix lot, through adverse possession. 
Hendrix and his legal team evidently neglected to take notice of the position 
that had been taken by the Court in ruling upon the Schultz case just 3 years 
before, because Hendrix followed precisely the same rationale that had 
failed to dissuade the Court from declaring that adverse possession had taken 
place in that instance. As will be recalled by those who have read the 
discussion of the Schultz case herein, the Court had there found minimal use 
of the area in question to be sufficient to satisfy the requirements of adverse 
possession, and the use of the strip in controversy here was distinctly more 
complete, enabling the Court to once again approve the long standing 
physical evidence as the controlling boundary evidence: 

“The Hendrix residence has had a number of different owners 
... Hendrix learned there was uncertainty over the exact location 
of the line between their two properties ... The surveyor 
discovered a ten foot error ... that slid the boundaries ... the 
planting and maintenance of trees ... along with ... regular 
mowing ... constituted cultivation ... landscaping constituted 
improvements to the land ... the trial court did not err in 
determining Jutting's parents adversely possessed the disputed 
property ... The Hendrixes contend that Jutting disclaimed title 
to the disputed strip ... moving the clothesline to let Hendrix 
park a camper on the property and by failing to stop Hendrix 
from mowing the property ... In Schultz, similar contentions 
were raised ... This Court observed attempts to settle the matter 
short of litigation can hardly be said to be the equivalent of ... 
disclaimers ... There is no ... express disclaimer ... Even if there 
were, Jutting obtained his property seven years after his parents 
had already occupied the disputed strip of property for the 
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statutory period. Thus, any disclaimers that he might have made 
could not defeat his acquisition of title by adverse possession ... 
We have considered the Hendrixes remaining arguments and 
find them to be without merit." 

     The Court quite readily rejected the assertion made by Hendrix that 
the character of the possession exhibited by the Juttings had been 
insufficient to support adverse possession, instead adopting the same 
perspective, while citing the same very basic statutory possession standards, 
that it had applied in deciding the outcome of the Schultz case. The use of 
the strip in dispute by the Juttings had always clearly demonstrated to all the 
world that they were occupying their entire yard as owners, since their use of 
it was absolutely typical of the use that any other land owner would make of 
such land, and quite naturally so, since the Juttings had a legitimate and 
objective basis for believing that the strip was part of their lot, making it 
evident that a claim of ownership by Jutting's parents had been in place at all 
times since their initial occupancy of their lot. The suggestion made by 
Hendrix that Jutting had voluntarily given up the controverted strip met with 
flat rejection by the Court as well, being plainly disingenuous on the part of 
Hendrix, whose opportunism in hunting down a possible error, for the 
purpose of disrupting the long standing harmony of the neighborhood, was 
predictably both unwelcomed and unrewarded by the Court. As we have 
repeatedly seen, the Court rarely appreciates precipitous and provocative 
actions taken unilaterally by land owners, such as the erection of the spite 
fence by Hendrix, which prevented Jutting from being able to access the 
west side of his house at all, so Hendrix had actually painted himself into a 
corner, in the eyes of the Court, by exhibiting such aggressive behavior 
toward his neighbor, which was tantamount to taking the law into his own 
hands. Having thus positioned himself decidedly at the wrong end of the 
spectrum of good faith and bad faith, Hendrix was left with no basis upon 
which to be surprised that the Court was entirely unreceptive toward his 
charge that Jutting had forsaken or abandoned the boundary that had been so 
long maintained by Jutting's father. Clarifying to Hendrix that adverse 
possession is conclusive, and takes effect immediately, upon completion of 
the statutory period, long prior to it's judicial approval through adjudication, 

737



which amounts to a mere formality required to make the transfer of 
ownership a matter of record, the Court fully upheld the lower court ruling 
quieting title up to the originally established boundary location in Jutting. 
Any words spoken by Jutting, tending to contradict the idea that he claimed 
ownership of the strip, the Court stated, could have no relevance, as the 
Juttings had owned the strip at issue at least since 1990, if not since 1970, 
depending only upon which side of the problematic lot line that strip was 
really on, which the Court quite logically saw as a matter of no consequence, 
once the dispute had been thus properly silenced. One principal lesson to be 
taken by land surveyors from the Court's use of adverse possession is that to 
the Court, all that matters when boundary issues are presented is that they 
are to be conclusively resolved in accord with justice and equity, and in the 
view of the Court, the statutes of limitation decree in effect that boundaries 
of record can become irrelevant with the passage of time, leaving the Court 
with no need and no reason to probe any detailed or technical survey issues, 
of the kind that would obviously be of particular interest to a land surveyor. 
The Court's position on adverse possession indicates that any survey which 
stands in contradiction to long established land use is likely to be subjected 
to some degree of skepticism by the Court, particularly when it amounts to a 
corrective survey, which elevates measurements to controlling status and 
neglects to honor the principle of original survey control, as was plainly 
evident to the Court in this instance. 

 

 

JACOBSON  v  GULBRANSEN  (2001) 

     Among the most frequently cited South Dakota land rights decisions 
of recent decades, this case provides excellent insight into how the Court 
deals with ambiguous legal descriptions, showing that the Court is always 
open to extrinsic evidence, particularly when such evidence assists in 
achieving the objective of validating a poorly documented agreement 
concerning land rights, by providing certainty, which is very often lacking, 
even when such agreements are set down in written form. While relatively 
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few statute of frauds cases turn upon the specific contents of descriptive 
language, this one does, emphasizing how open the Court is to all evidence 
that supports an otherwise inadequate description, making this an especially 
valuable learning experience for land surveyors, who tend to view legal 
descriptions with rigidity or in isolation, potentially leading to erroneous 
conclusions about the land rights of the parties to any given dispute, 
including the location of their mutual boundary in this scenario. In addition, 
the case we are about to review presents a classic example of the 
significance of estoppel in conflicts involving boundaries, as the Court 
voices it's approval of the concept that detrimental reliance by one party 
upon statements made by another party can operate to invoke an estoppel, 
resulting in a boundary that is ultimately located in accord with equitable 
factors, rather than by any precise descriptive language. Two subsequent 
statute of frauds cases that are to the same effect as this one, with relevance 
to land surveyors, may be worthy of note at this point. In 2002, in Durkee v 
Van Well, a quarter section line formed the boundary between the properties 
of the litigants, Durkee's land being south of that line. In 1975, a survey had 
indicated that a certain long standing fence of unknown origin stood 35 feet 
north of the record location of the quarter line, and upon learning this, 
Durkee and Van Well had entered an oral boundary agreement, under which 
the fence could be relocated 35 feet southward at any subsequent time. In 
2000, Van Well finally decided to move the fence, as agreed 25 years 
earlier, but Durkee objected, and filed an action claiming that the fence had 
become her northerly boundary by adverse possession, while also asserting 
that the 1975 verbal boundary agreement was void under the statute of 
frauds. A trial court agreed with Durkee that she had acquired the 35 feet in 
dispute through adverse possession prior to 1975, having occupied her land 
since 1953, making the fence her northerly boundary in 1973, but also held 
that estoppel prevented Durkee from invoking the statute of frauds as a 
means of denying the validity of her 1975 boundary agreement with Van 
Well. The Court fully upheld the lower court decision in favor of Van Well, 
confirming that the statute of frauds has no legal effect upon oral boundary 
agreements, so by virtue of her own legally binding boundary agreement 
Durkee had voluntarily sacrificed the strip at issue, even though she had 
already successfully adversely possessed it and had therefore owned it from 
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1973 to 1975. In Northstream Investments v 1804 Country Store, a battle 
over the validity of a mortgage which came before the Court twice, in 2005 
and 2007, the Court reiterated the importance of extrinsic evidence 
pertaining to contractual agreements, and again rejected the applicability of 
the statute of frauds to such documents or transactions. In that case, the only 
written evidence of the alleged agreement relating to the mortgaged property 
appeared in some notes that had been taken by a secretary at a meeting of the 
board of directors of a defunct bank, and those notes contained no specific 
description whatsoever of the property in question. After initially rejecting a 
summary judgment and remanding the matter, the Court ruled that this 
written evidence did indeed satisfy the statute of frauds, thereby upholding 
the legality of the assignment of the mortgaged property, despite the absence 
of any written property description, on the basis that an otherwise 
insufficient description of any real property that can be made certain by 
extrinsic evidence can become legally binding upon all parties to an 
agreement.          

1993 - Jacobson, McNulty, Kinkead and Gulbransen each owned 
tracts of rural land near Keystone. No details relating to the size, 
shape or location of these 4 tracts are known, but each of these men 
had apparently been living on their respective tracts for an unspecified 
length of time, and there were evidently never any boundary issues or 
other land rights conflicts between them. Lying in between the tracts 
owned by these parties was another tract that was owned by the 
United States Forest Service, which contained about 20 acres and was 
presumably vacant. The Forest Service offered this tract for sale, 
under the Small Tracts Act, which provides that the Forest Service can 
convey certain tracts that are deemed to be excess lands by the Forest 
Service to private parties, with the approval of all of the adjoining 
land owners. Gulbransen became interested in this particular Forest 
Service tract bordering his land, and he wanted to acquire the entire 
tract, although what use he intended to make of it is unknown. The 
Forest Service informed Gulbransen that he would need to obtain the 
consent of the 3 other adjoining land owners before the Forest Service 
could convey this tract to him. When notified of the proposed sale of 
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the Forest Service tract to Gulbransen, McNulty and Kinkead 
evidently had no concerns or objections, but Jacobson was concerned 
that certain Forest Service roads that ran through the tract being 
acquired by Gulbransen, which Jacobson had been using for access to 
his property, could be closed by Gulbransen once he became the 
owner of that tract, so Jacobson formally objected, preventing the 
proposed sale from taking place as planned.  

1994 to 1996 - At an unspecified date during this period, Gulbransen 
decided that he still wanted to acquire at least some portion of the 
Forest Service tract, even if he could not obtain all of it, so he 
proposed a division of the desired tract between the 4 property owners 
as a compromise, in order to obtain their consent. Gulbransen called a 
meeting of the property owners who were involved in this matter at 
his home, to determine how the Forest Service tract would be divided 
between them, and Kinkead and Jacobson attended, although McNulty 
was apparently unavailable, Kinkead was evidently authorized to 
agree on behalf of McNulty. At this meeting, Gulbransen showed the 
others a map of the area that had been given to him by the Forest 
Service, and the 3 men agreed in a general way to a division of the 
land that was satisfactory to all of them. They evidently did not draw 
any lines on the map however, nor did they walk the land, or 
physically mark their intended boundaries in any way on the ground, 
they each simply described the area that they wanted by means of 
reference to various objects or particular areas or spots that they had 
seen or remembered, so even after this meeting their proposed 
boundaries remained very loosely defined at best. They did reach a 
definite agreement that 4 parcels would be created however, 
stipulating that Gulbransen would convey a portion of the desired tract 
to each of the 3 others, after he acquired the tract from the Forest 
Service, and Gulbransen personally documented their agreement on 
this point in writing. Gulbransen then sent a signed copy of the 
agreement to each of the 3 others, and each of them signed it and 
forwarded it on to the Forest Service, thereby indicating their consent, 
enabling the proposed sale of the entire tract to Gulbransen to 
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proceed.       

1997 - The Forest Service conveyed the entire tract to Gulbransen, 
and he then met with each of the 3 other property owners at the site to 
establish the exact boundaries of the parcels to be conveyed to each of 
them. No problems were encountered by Gulbransen in defining the 
McNulty and Kinkead parcels, and they were apparently both fully 
satisfied with the parcels that were conveyed to them by Gulbransen, 
although neither how their parcels were described, nor any other 
details relating to their parcels, are known. Gulbransen and Jacobson 
could not agree on any specific boundaries however, and Gulbransen 
refused to convey the parcel outlined by Jacobson at this time, so 
Jacobson filed an action against Gulbransen, seeking to have 
Gulbransen judicially compelled to complete the conveyance that they 
had agreed upon.   

     Jacobson argued that a definite and complete conveyance agreement 
had been forged and entered at the meeting that had taken place at 
Gulbransen's home, resulting in a conclusive contract that Gulbransen was 
legally bound to perform, by conveying the agreed parcel to Jacobson as 
Gulbransen had pledged to do. Jacobson further argued that all of the 
essential elements of a contract for the conveyance of real property were 
adequately described in the agreement that had been composed by 
Gulbransen and signed by all of the relevant parties, so the agreement as 
written comprised a valid contract that was legally binding upon all of the 
parties, and it fully satisfied all of the requirements of the statute of frauds. 
Gulbransen argued that only a general agreement regarding one possible 
division of the Forest Service tract among the relevant property owners had 
been reached during the meeting at his home, which was not complete in any 
respect, and it therefore could not be deemed to be legally binding upon any 
of the parties. Gulbransen further argued that the specific legal requirement 
for a complete written description of any land to be conveyed had not been 
met by the agreement, as it had been documented, and no other form of 
evidence regarding the intended boundaries of the proposed Jacobson parcel 
existed or could be legally presented, so the agreement was void under the 
statute of frauds, leaving Gulbransen free to decline to convey any of his 
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land to Jacobson. The trial court ruled that the existing agreement fully 
satisfied the statute of frauds, finding that under that agreement Gulbransen 
was entitled to retain only 5 acres of his preference, requiring him to convey 
the remainder of his remaining portion of the tract in controversy to 
Jacobson, pursuant to the existing conveyance agreement, and further 
holding that even if the agreement had represented a violation of the statute 
of frauds, Gulbransen was nonetheless legally obligated to execute the 
intended conveyance, on the basis of estoppel.    

     As is often true in boundary conflicts, the first item that any boundary 
surveyor is likely to correctly note is that these litigants foolishly brought 
this controversy upon themselves, simply by failing to obtain a survey to 
properly document their intended boundaries at the appropriate time. 
Although we have seen that surveys can sometimes be irrelevant and 
useless, in disputes such as the one between Jutting and Hendrix, just 
previously reviewed, because land rights that cannot be altered or overcome 
by any survey have developed, no such obstacle to the effectiveness of a 
survey existed here, and there can be no doubt that both of the litigants were 
sadly remiss in failing to order a survey to form the basis for their 
conveyance agreement, which would have prevented this conflict from 
developing. This situation points to the importance of appreciating the 
difference between an original survey and any subsequent survey, since the 
former is necessarily controlling by definition, while the latter carries no 
such authority or power, but the survey that Jacobson and Gulbransen 
neglected to obtain here would have represented an original division of land, 
and therefore would have been fully controlling, making their decision to 
skip having their intentions documented by means of a survey most 
regrettable. However, in the absence of any survey, or any other adequate 
description of the intended parcels, the Court bore the burden of deciding 
which party would have to suffer the consequences of the meager existing 
documentation of the conveyance at issue. As we have learned, it is the 
grantor who bears the initial description burden, provided that the grantor is 
the motivating party, which is typically the case, and the grantor continues to 
bear that responsibility, unless the grantee relieves him of it, so Gulbransen 
was in a very difficult position, and the Court was not going to allow him to 
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escape the fundamental duty that falls on all grantors, to correctly and 
completely describe the true content of his conveyance to Jacobson. The 
descriptive portion of the agreement in question stated only that "exact 
surveys are not known or located, however I will convey areas sought by the 
McNultys, Kinkeads and Jacobson. McNultys seeking areas between their 
property and Kinkeads, Kinkeads below their home to gate to mine, and 
Jacobson property located on the south end of the tract." and then went on to 
state that surveys of these parcels might be done later. This description was 
obviously woefully lacking in specificity, but Gulbransen, as the grantor, 
was himself the cause of the deficiency of the description, it had been his 
responsibility to shoulder the burden of creating an acceptable description of 
each parcel, or suffer the loss in the event of any ambiguity, because as the 
grantor and the party proposing the agreement, he had the opportunity to use 
any description of his choice, so the consequences of his failure to provide 
any useful description could only descend upon himself. Testimony was 
crucial to the outcome here, since it was required to supplement the vague 
description of the area to be conveyed to Jacobson, and the most critical 
evidence was testimony indicating that Gulbransen had stated that it was his 
intention to retain only 5 acres, and that he had stated his intention to convey 
the remaining area to the south of that 5 acres to Jacobson. Citing 
comparable decisions from Nevada and Wyoming, on the issue of what 
represents a legally sufficient description of land, the Court pointed out the 
fallacy of Gulbransen's claim that the absence of a complete description 
legally negated the agreement in controversy: 

“under South Dakota's statute of frauds, a contract for the sale 
of land ... must be in writing ... the writing ... must describe the 
land, the price, and the parties ... it is not necessary that it 
provide a precise description ... the description must merely be 
clear enough for extrinsic evidence to precisely identify the 
land ... A general description ... is sufficient, and parol evidence 
may be admitted to provide the more particular description ... 
the memorandum ... signed by Gulbransen ... meets the 
requirement of the statute of frauds ... Gulbransen argues that 
the description ... was indefinite or uncertain ... The trial court 

744



allowed parol evidence ... to more precisely identify the parcel 
to be conveyed ... a property description giving the grantor or 
grantee the right to pick a certain acreage is not indefinite ... the 
agreement of the parties was to allow Gulbransens to select five 
acres around their house and ... to convey the remaining acreage 
... The contract allowed Gulbransens to select and retain five 
acres ... an enforceable agreement existed ... Jacobson had it in 
his power to continue to object to, and thus block, the sale. 
Instead, he agreed to withdraw his objections ... promissory 
estoppel or detrimental reliance removed the parties agreement 
from the statute of frauds ... The role of the statute of frauds is 
an evidentiary one. The purpose of the statute is to remove 
uncertainty ... The statute of frauds will not, however, be used 
to work an injustice ... detrimental reliance takes the agreement 
out of the statute of frauds ... estoppel arises where conduct or 
acts induce a party to alter his position or to do what he 
otherwise would not have done ... Gulbransen's ... promise to 
convey was made to induce Jacobson to withdraw his 
objections ... the promisee is entitled to specific performance." 

     In effect the parties had partitioned the Forest Service tract, but they 
had made the very same mistake so often made by parties charged with 
partitioning land, neglecting to invest any time, effort or money into 
properly documenting the boundaries that they intended to create, because 
they all trusted each other, so they foolishly imagined that their thoughts 
were all in unison. The statute of frauds serves to discourage such 
carelessness in conveyancing, and to minimize the use of poor descriptions 
that create opportunities for future controversy, yet the Court is always very 
cognizant that the statute itself can be used as a tool of fraud, by those 
seeking to escape legitimate commitments that they have made, and the 
Court therefore very diligently examines every scenario of this kind that 
comes to it's attention, to prevent such abuse. To accomplish that in this 
instance, even though the written agreement made no reference whatsoever 
to acreage, the Court accepted the 5 acre figure as the controlling element of 
the written description, which effectively resolved the boundary location, 

745



pending the selection of the specific 5 acres, based on the testimonial 
evidence that Gulbransen had made a verbal reference to 5 acres, thereby 
clarifying the intent of the written contract. In addition, the Court also 
agreed that even if the description in question had been utterly worthless, 
and no extrinsic evidence at all had been available to support it, thus 
nullifying the agreement under the statute of frauds, estoppel would 
nevertheless have prevented Gulbransen from declining to complete the 
conveyance to Jacobson, since the presence of evidence sufficient to raise an 
estoppel creates a valid exception to the statute of frauds. Estoppel was 
applicable to this situation, the Court concluded, because Jacobson had 
voluntarily agreed to sacrifice a valuable property right, which was the right 
of access that he formerly had over the tract at issue, by dropping his 
objection to the proposed Forest Service conveyance, and Jacobson had done 
so only on the basis that Gulbransen had legally obligated himself to convey 
a portion of the acquired tract to Jacobson, so Gulbransen had no valid basis 
upon which to maintain that he was not obligated to convey any land to 
Jacobson. The Court's linkage of estoppel to reliance here very appropriately 
emphasizes what the concept of estoppel truly stands for, and illustrates that 
innocent reliance is always a major factor, that is never to be overlooked or 
ignored in resolving boundary disputes, because once reliance upon any 
given boundary occurs, equitable rights are created, which the Court 
naturally always endeavors to protect, as many of the adverse possession 
cases that we have reviewed also clearly demonstrate. Gulbransen had 
erroneously relied upon the notion that intent must be drawn solely from the 
printed words of a description, because extrinsic evidence can always be 
introduced, not to change the language of the description, but to clarify what 
the words that appear in the description meant to the parties, and the Court 
held that here "the south end" meant the entire remainder of the tract, after 
the McNulty parcel, the Kinkead parcel and the 5 acre Gulbransen parcel 
were all defined, thus fully upholding the ruling of the lower court in 
Jacobson's favor. The major lesson of this case is that to the Court the 
prevention of injustice, by any means, whether legal or equitable, is of 
paramount importance, and when the applicable statutes either fail to 
accomplish that goal, or run counter to it, they will be set aside, in an 
exercise of the equitable power of the Court, which in fact ultimately 
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controls the outcome of most land rights disputes. An additional lesson, 
which is especially relevant to land surveyors, is that boundary location 
represents a specific detail, that amounts to only one small component of the 
totality of a conveyance, and is therefore necessarily secondary in nature, 
since the primary concern of the Court is simply that justice must always be 
done, so boundary location details of any kind are powerless to prevent the 
equitable resolution of any land rights controversies. 

 

 

BERGIN  v  BISTODEAU  (2002) 

     Returning to the topic of dedication, here we reach a case showing 
that even a platted lot, which was created for residential purposes, or some 
part of such a lot, can become a public street under certain circumstances, 
involving dedication, acceptance by express approval, replatting, vacation 
and relocation, resulting in the existence of a city street that is entirely 
unmarked and invisible on the ground, and not shown on the original plat, in 
a highly unusual location. The point of primary significance here for land 
surveyors, who may either create new dedication language or have occasion 
to analyze existing dedication statements, is the importance of understanding 
the true meaning and the full legal implication of words such as "public" and 
"dedication", which are so often employed in recorded documents that were 
prepared for the purpose of creating land rights of various types. The Court's 
discussion of the scenario presented by this case illustrates that dedication 
can represent either a fee interest or an easement interest, distinguishing the 
differing forms of dedication and their results, thereby highlighting the 
importance of choosing dedication language very carefully and wisely, in 
order to properly clarify the true intentions of the owner of the property that 
is being platted. It will also be noted that it can be equally important to 
insure that any such area of proposed land use is limited to the truly intended 
purpose or scope of use, as well as clearly defining it's physical extent, since 
any failures to properly limit land rights, when they are created, can 
seriously plague either the current land owner or his unfortunate successor, 
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which proves to be the case in this instance. Another essential idea expressed 
here is the fact that dedication is not equivalent to condemnation, the former 
being an outright grant of land or land rights, in the form of a donation, 
while the latter is just the contrary, a taking of land or land rights, of an 
entirely involuntary nature, the major difference being the corresponding 
absence or presence of a need for compensation to the owner of the subject 
property. In addition, here the Court also reiterates the concept that all public 
access easements presumptively provide for utility use, while again 
emphasizing a grantee's burden of inquiry notice regarding all land rights 
that exist within or upon any property he is acquiring, which constitutes a 
very serious legal burden, as we have repeatedly observed, that applies 
regardless of whether or not the grantee is an absentee owner, who elects 
never to even visit or view his land. Ironically, the very same day that the 
Court decided the case we are about to review, upholding one dedication, the 
Court also addressed another dedication case, and found it necessary to 
reverse a lower court dedication ruling, due to the absence of one key 
element, in Thieman v Bohman. In that case, a portion of a certain city block 
in Winner, which had been originally platted in 1932, had been replatted in 
1969, creating a certain alley, and the issue was whether that alley was 
public or private in character. The alley had been used by the public for 
decades, but in 1994 Winner had expressly declined to acknowledge that the 
alley was public, and Bohman subsequently blocked the portion of the alley 
crossing his land, preventing Thieman and others from using it. Thieman 
asserted that the alley had been dedicated and accepted and was therefore 
public, while Bohman maintained that it was private, and a lower court held 
that it was indeed public. The Court was compelled to strike down the lower 
court's decision on the dedication status of the alley however, because 
Winner had not participated in the trial, leading the Court to point out that 
the dedication issue could not be conclusively resolved without input from 
the city, which was an indispensible party to the legal action, leaving the 
matter open to further litigation.        

Prior to 1972 - An addition to Hill City was platted, consisting of 9 
residential lots of unspecified size, which were presumably all of the 
typical rectangular shape, and all 9 lots evidently formed one 
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continuous row, lying side by side along the north side of an 
unspecified public road. Lying directly to the north of these 9 platted 
lots was another tract of unspecified size, identified only as an outlot, 
so the north boundary of the addition formed the south boundary of 
the outlot, and since no other public access to it existed, and none was 
created by the plat of this addition, the outlot was landlocked. The 9 
platted lots and the outlot were all sold to various parties at 
unspecified dates, but whether or not any actual use had ever been 
made of any of this land prior to 1972 is unknown, most of the land, if 
not all of it, evidently remained unimproved.  

1972 to 1981 - During this period, Rada acquired all 9 of the platted 
lots from their various owners, with the apparent intention of 
developing all of the land comprising those lots for commercial 
purposes. Madison was the owner who conveyed Lot 5 to Rada, and 
she was also the owner of the outlot at this time, so when she deeded 
Lot 5 to Rada she expressly reserved an access and utility easement 
covering all of Lot 5, to serve the outlot. Rada apparently had no 
objection to this easement reservation, which was very clearly 
described by Madison, even though it potentially prevented Rada from 
constructing anything on Lot 5, since Rada was apparently planning 
on using Lot 5 as an entrance or driveway to serve the other platted 
lots anyway, so this easement evidently represented no obstacle to his 
plans for his land. Whether or not Madison was making any actual use 
of the outlot at this time is unknown, presumably it was still vacant 
land and no entrance or driveway yet existed on Lot 5, but a drawing 
of some unspecified kind showing the intended use of Lot 5 had 
evidently been recorded in a Pennington County plat book.   

1986 - Rada had a plat prepared, which was entitled "Plat of Revised 
Easement", and this plat apparently showed at least part of the platted 
addition. This plat indicated that the existing easement covering Lot 5 
was being relocated to cover an unspecified amount of Lots 6 & 7 
instead, making Lot 5 available for development, while thus 
encumbering whatever portion of Lots 6 & 7 was shown on the plat as 
bearing the easement. Whether or not the dimensions of this easement 

749



were shown on this plat is unknown, presumably it ran along the lot 
line between Lot 6 and Lot 7, and it may have been either wider or 
narrower than the easement on Lot 5 that it was replacing, but no 
controversy ever arose over either it's width or it's location. Why this 
easement relocation was necessary is unknown, presumably either 
Madison or Rada had made some kind of change to their development 
plans, and they both agreed that Lots 6 & 7 provided a better point of 
access. This plat also contained a note, indicating that in addition to 
relocating the existing easement from Lot 5, the portion of Lots 6 & 7 
that was graphically described on the plat was intended to represent a 
"dedicated access easement", but the easement was not explicitly 
labeled as being public, and it was not given any street name. Rada 
then submitted this plat to Hill City for review and approval, and it 
was formally approved and signed by a city finance officer on behalf 
of Hill City, and it was then recorded in a county plat book. There is 
no indication however, that any construction took place, or that this 
dedicated access easement was used by anyone, for unknown reasons 
the development plans of these parties were apparently cancelled or 
postponed and the land remained undeveloped.   

1990 - Bergin acquired all 9 of the platted lots from Rada, and the 
description used by Rada when making this conveyance simply 
described the lots by reference to the original plat of the addition, 
concluding with the phrase "less Dedicated Access Easement", 
without giving any indication of where the easement was located, and 
without making any reference to the 1986 plat.   

1991 to 1999 - Bergin apparently never made any actual use of any of 
the 9 platted lots that he had acquired during this period, and where he 
lived is unknown, so he may have been an absentee owner who had 
never even visited his property in Hill City. At an unspecified date, 
presumably toward the end of this period, Bistodeau acquired the 
outlot, which evidently also still remained undeveloped.  

2000 - The property acquired by Bistodeau was situated in a 
residential zone, but he wanted to develop it for commercial purposes, 
so he applied to both Hill City and Pennington County, asking for his 
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tract to be reclassified as being commercial property. Pennington 
County approved this request, but it was denied by Hill City, on the 
grounds that the outlot was still landlocked, stating that commercial 
property must have direct access to a public roadway per city 
ordinance. Whether or not Bergin had any knowledge that Bistodeau 
was attempting to have the outlot rezoned is unknown, Bergin 
apparently had no interest in making any commercial use of his 
property so he had never attempted to have the residential lots that he 
had acquired rezoned. 

2001 - Bistodeau informed Hill City that in fact his outlot property 
was not landlocked, because a public street extending through Lots 6 
& 7 had been created by the 1986 plat, he then submitted his rezoning 
application once again, and this time it was approved by Hill City, on 
the grounds that a public street crossing Lots 6 & 7 had been officially 
created in 1986. Upon obtaining this approval from Hill City, 
Bistodeau immediately began developing the outlot into a commercial 
site, and his construction crews began installing utility lines running 
from the public road, lying south of the platted addition, into his 
property. These utility lines were evidently placed within the 
easement on Lots 6 & 7, but Bergin was apparently unaware that any 
such easement over his property existed, so when he learned about 
what was being done he protested the construction. Bistodeau 
declined to halt his project however, maintaining that he had the right 
to utilize Lots 6 & 7 just as he was doing, based upon the recorded 
dedication pertaining to those lots and the approval for his project that 
he had obtained from Hill City. Bergin then filed an action against 
both Bistodeau and Hill City, seeking to have Bistodeau's construction 
project shut down, and seeking damages, alleging that Lots 6 & 7 had 
been condemned by Hill City.  

     Bergin did not raise any issue with the location of the contested 
easement, instead he attacked it's existence, arguing that he was an innocent 
purchaser who had no knowledge, at the time he acquired his land, that any 
part of that property bore any such easement, so he could not be required to 
honor the existence of any such easement upon his property, and Bistodeau 
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should be compelled to acquire an easement from Bergin before constructing 
any utilities or any other improvements on Bergin's land. Bergin further 
argued that if the alleged easement on Lots 6 & 7 did exist, and it was public 
in character, as claimed by Hill City, it represented a condemnation of part 
of his property for public purposes, so he was entitled to damages from Hill 
City for the proposed use of those lots by the public. Bistodeau and Hill City 
argued that the 1986 plat represented a valid offer of dedication of a public 
street by Rada, and that the 1986 plat also indicated that Rada's offer of 
dedication had been officially accepted by Hill City, so the dedicated street 
was public in character, even though it had not been labeled as public on the 
1986 plat, and even though it had never been named or used, and Bergin had 
adequate notice of it's existence when he acquired his land, since the plat had 
been properly recorded and indexed in 1986. Bistodeau and Hill City further 
argued that the 1986 dedication was a voluntarily act, made by Rada as the 
owner of the platted lots at that time, and a dedication is not equivalent to a 
condemnation, so no compensation was due to Bergin as Rada's successor, 
for either the use that was being made of Lots 6 & 7 by Bistodeau or any 
future use of the dedicated area by the public. The trial court awarded 
summary judgment to Bergin, dismissing the arguments set forth by 
Bistodeau and Hill City as being without merit, on the basis that the 
easement over Lots 6 & 7 that had been created by the 1986 plat was not 
public, even though a note on the plat stated that the easement was being 
dedicated, because the word "public" did not appear anywhere on that plat, 
which proved that the dedication was intended to be private, negating the 
approval of Bistodeau's project by Hill City and shutting that project down.            

     This case presents an unusually comprehensive and detailed depiction 
of the relevant circumstances, well illustrating the complexity of the 
consequences that can develop when landlocked properties are created, as 
we have already observed in reviewing the 1969 Salmon case, since the 
proper creation of legal access to real property becomes highly problematic, 
when left up to individuals lacking professional knowledge of land rights. 
The Court recognized that an attempt to create an access and utility 
easement had taken place between Madison and Rada, and it had been 
characterized as a dedication by Rada, who was the owner of the servient 
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estate and the party responsible for the documentation, making the intent of 
those original parties the primary focus of the Court. Unless some aspect of 
either the dedication or it's acceptance could be shown to have been 
illegitimate, the easement in question represented a valid statutory 
dedication, also known as an express dedication, being governed by the 
express language that was used to create it, as well as any applicable 
statutes. Such a dedication stands in contrast to a common law dedication, 
also known as an implied dedication, the existence and extent of which is 
controlled by logical implications drawn from physical acts and personal 
conduct, so here the rules and principles applicable to easements created by 
implication were not in play, thus all of the words that appeared on the 1986 
plat were especially critical, and were subject to scrutiny by the Court. As 
will be recalled from our review of prior dedication cases, while an implied 
dedication typically creates only an easement, whether a statutory dedication 
represents an easement or a fee conveyance is determined either by the 
specific language employed in making the dedication, or by the controlling 
language found in the applicable dedication statutes. In this instance, the 
dedication at issue was undisputedly an easement, rather than a fee 
conveyance, since the plat clearly identified it as such, and express language 
renders any statutory language that would otherwise determine the character 
of a dedication irrelevant, since the dedicating party or parties always have 
the right to stipulate the status of any dedication, in accord with their true 
intent, and statutory defaults or presumptions at law apply only when the 
parties neglect to specify their intent. Bergin had therefore acquired all of the 
lots in fee, the Court agreed, but that property had been encumbered with an 
easement, either public or private, unless Bergin could prove that he had no 
way of learning of it's existence, or show that his ignorance was not simply 
the result of his own failure to discover it's existence. This turned out to be a 
task that Bergin was unable to accomplish however, since Rada had openly 
stated that the property being conveyed to Bergin in 1990 was subject to a 
dedication in his deed to Bergin, and furthermore, the fact that Rada had 
submitted his 1986 plat to Hill City for acceptance, and had thereby obtained 
a vacation of any public interest in Lot 5, amounted to a stipulation that the 
easement was intended to be public, since the creation of a private easement 
does not require any public approval. Rada had naturally wanted to insure 
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that Hill City understood that the existing easement on Lot 5 was being 
relocated to Lots 6 & 7, and for that reason he had clearly specified on the 
plat that the new location was replacing the old one, rather than expanding it, 
so he could be assured that he would have the right to use Lot 5 
unencumbered, the Court realized, which also indicated that Rada had 
acknowledged that the public held the right to use the easement at issue. 
These factors amounted only to supporting evidence however, in the view of 
this scenario taken by the Court, the dispositive element proved to be the 
meaning and the presence of the single word "dedication", which the Court 
proceeded to clarify, citing the Tinaglia case of 1977, reviewed herein, and 
the widely renowned 1915 North Dakota case of Ramstad v Carr: 

“The Plat of Revised Easement ... specifies that: "Acceptance of 
this plat by the Common Council of Hill City ... grants a 
dedicated access easement on portions of Lots 6 & 7" ... The 
trial court determined that the 1986 dedication was not 
sufficient to make a public dedication ... because the language 
of the 1986 dedication did not include the word "public" ... 11-
3-12 provides in part that ... a plat or map shall be deemed a 
sufficient conveyance ... for streets, alleys, ways, commons or 
other public uses ... recording of a plat has been held to 
manifest an indisputable intention on the part of the owner to 
dedicate to public use that which is designated as public on the 
plat ... This Court has defined the term dedication ... as the 
devotion of property to a public use ... Black's Law Dictionary 
defines "dedicate" as to appropriate and set apart one's private 
property to some public use ... The access easement on Lot 6 
and 7 was established through express statutory dedication ... 
the word "public" need not precede "dedication" in order to 
evince an intent to dedicate property for public use. Such a 
requirement would be redundant ... Bergin argues that ... City 
did not include it on it's street map or maintain it ... Bergin's 
argument lacks merit ... City accepted Rada's offer of a 
dedicated easement ... there was an intent to dedicate and an 
acceptance by City ... The trial court stated that the dedicated 
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access easement does not contemplate ... utility lines ... The 
trial court erred ... there were no restrictions placed on the use 
of the easement ... the trial court erred in enjoining Bistodeau 
from bringing water and sewer to his property." 

     The Court readily negated Bergin's assertion that he had not known 
about the access route in dispute, finding that he had express notice of it's 
existence, created by the general reference to it that had been made by Rada 
in his deed to Bergin, despite the absence from that deed of any specific 
indication of where the easement was located, or how to learn where it was 
located, because the warning contained in that deed had put Bergin on notice 
that inquiry was required, which he had failed to carry out. Although the 
language of Rada's deed to Bergin had given him only one small clue to the 
existence of the easement, the Court concluded that Bergin could easily have 
discovered both it's existence and it's public nature, had he carried his 
burden as a grantee to properly inquiry about what he was really acquiring. 
The Court was unconcerned with the fact that the easement in question had 
never been explicitly identified or labeled as being public in any document, 
because in the eyes of the Court, the easement was clearly intended to be 
public, regardless of whether it had ever been named or mapped as a street, 
and regardless of whether or not it had ever been opened or maintained at all 
by the public, or used by anyone, all such factors having been rendered 
irrelevant by the fact that it had been formally accepted on behalf of the 
public. Whether Rada fully understood all of the legal implications of his 
description of the easement as "dedicated" was unclear, but he had in fact 
used that word, and he had used it repeatedly, and he unquestionably had the 
authority to dedicate his land, so it could not be presumed that he had done 
so in ignorance or unintentionally, making the absence of the word "public" 
less significant to the Court than the presence of the word "dedication". 
Having declared that an access easement in favor of the public, which had 
never been abandoned or vacated, had existed on Lots 6 & 7 since 1986, the 
Court held that the dedication had enabled the area in controversy to be used 
for utilities as well, for two reasons, because Madison had expressly stated, 
when originally creating the easement, that it was for both access and utility 
purposes, and because all public streets are presumed to be available for 
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utility use, as well as roadway use, unless utilities are explicitly excluded. 
On that basis, the Court reversed the lower court ruling, indicating that 
dedication is necessarily public by definition, and proving that lots which 
were platted as residential can be used as a public street, if they are expressly 
dedicated and accepted as such through the use of a subsequent plat, 
provided of course that no rights of adjacent land owners are damaged in so 
doing. The Court also thus verified that a dedication is in no sense a 
condemnation, so Bistodeau was free to use the public street exactly as he 
had done, based upon the approval of his project by Hill City, as the holder 
of the easement, and no payment was due to Bergin for any such use of the 
dedicated portion of his land for public purposes, either previously, currently 
or in the future. The Court's decision here emphasizes the fact that street or 
highway maps should never be relied upon in evaluating land rights, since a 
nameless road or street that is not shown on any published map can 
nevertheless be public, even if never previously used, if it was dedicated by 
plat, even if no direct reference to that plat appears in any documents in any 
given chain of title, making it necessary to perform a plat location index 
search to discover the existence of such a plat. In closing, its certainly worth 
noting that there is always significant danger in acquiring any land that has 
been the subject of failed or abandoned development plans in the past, since 
land rights that were created to benefit deceased projects and were never 
used can still exist, to haunt an unsuspecting buyer of such property, 
requiring any subsequent grantees to take their obligation to make diligent 
inquiry very seriously, to avoid sharing the fate of Bergin. 

 

 

KOKESH  v  RUNNING  (2002) 

     Continuing our review of easement issues, here we take note of a case 
that demonstrates several aspects of the creation of private easements by 
unwritten means, through land use alone, which are highly relevant to land 
surveyors, since they illustrate the potential significance of all observable 
uses of land, the proper depiction of which is among the most valuable 
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features of any truly complete land survey, particularly one such as an 
ALTA survey that could very well eventually play a vital role in subsequent 
land rights litigation. This case emphasizes the importance of understanding 
the value and operation of presumptions at law, such as the legal 
presumption concerning land uses of undocumented origin, which is 
decisive here, while also providing a clear example of the fact that 
prescription, just like adverse possession, takes effect immediately upon 
completion of the applicable statutory period, without any need for 
adjudication, thereby bringing valuable but often unrecognized land rights 
into existence. To that end, it should be well understood that the process of 
litigation and adjudication is not intended to create land rights, such rights 
are created by the acts or omissions of the parties, both present and historic, 
which form the existing evidence that is presented in any given case. Our 
judicial process serves only to examine the legitimacy of any rights in 
controversy and conclusively state whether they do or do not exist, the 
disputed rights typically do not come into existence at the point in time when 
they are judicially decreed, such a decree merely verifies that the contested 
rights have already come into existence, very often decades before any 
conflict over them ever arose. Also of particular significance to surveyors is 
the concept of appurtenance, which stipulates that all existing land rights 
associated with any given property are conveyed along with it, without ever 
being mentioned in any document, or even being mentioned verbally, which 
highlights the fact that any land use can potentially represent a legitimate 
and permanent land right, regardless of whether it has ever been described or 
referenced at all, again indicating the great value of full and objective 
documentation of all physical items in a clear and useful manner on land 
surveys. While the case we are about to review involves lands owned by 
individuals, the same principles can apply to commercial property as well, as 
shown by the 2004 case of Vivian Scott Trust v Parker. In that case, Parker 
was the owner of a typical shopping center in Sioux Falls, consisting of 
various businesses and commercial offices, while the Scott Trust owned an 
adjoining residential property, which had a parking area in the rear that 
could evidently be accessed only by driving through the parking area located 
on the Parker property. The occupants of the residential property typically 
drove though Parker's parking lot and passed through an area consisting of 
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two seldom used parking spaces, to reach their place of residence, and this 
practice had continued for a length of time well in excess of the relevant 
statutory period. The Trust sought a written access easement from Parker, 
but Parker declined that request, so the Trust filed an action seeking to 
confirm the existence of an easement in favor of the Trust property, created 
by prescription, per this historic use. The Court fully upheld a lower court 
ruling that verified the existence of a prescriptive access easement through 
Parker's property, for the benefit of the Trust property, stating the width of 
that easement as 22 feet, which was the width of the area that had been 
historically used for access, applying the rule that the width of any easement 
acquired by prescriptive means is controlled by the extent of the area 
actually used, while indicating that any future use of any additional width 
would represent an unauthorized and unjustified expansion of that existing 
right.       

1944 - The Homestake Mining Company owned a tract of unspecified 
size and shape in Lawrence County north of Spearfish. Johnson 
acquired a tract of unspecified size and shape that was bounded on the 
north by the Homestake tract and the Johnson Family took up 
residence on their property. How these properties were intended to be 
accessed, and where the nearest public road was situated in relation to 
them, are both unknown, but there is no indication that either tract was 
ever landlocked. A private dirt road of unknown origin and length ran 
through the southerly portion of the Homestake tract, an unspecified 
distance north of the south boundary of that tract, apparently 
connecting with a public road along either the east or the west edge of 
the Homestake tract. For unknown reasons the Johnson family began 
using this private road, and they evidently found it to be the most 
convenient route by which to access their property, so they used it on 
a regular basis, possibly everyday. The Homestake tract was evidently 
either vacant or very infrequently used, so no protest was ever made 
concerning the use of this private road by the Johnsons, and its quite 
possible that their use of it went completely unknown to Homestake 
for many years.    

1962 to 1965 - During this period, the use of the northerly portion of 
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the Johnson property intensified significantly, they placed a garage a 
short distance south of their northerly boundary, facing northward 
toward the Homestake property, along with various outbuildings, and 
they also installed an asphalt parking area near the garage for the 
purpose of storing additional large vehicles, along with a fuel storage 
tank. The Johnsons also took down a section of a fence of unknown 
origin that ran on or near their north boundary, to facilitate their 
increased use of the road passing through the Homestake tract, which 
continued without any objection or comment from anyone over the 
next several years, although the route crossing the Homestake tract 
was presumably not the only route by which the Johnsons accessed 
their property.    

1987 - Johnson sold his tract to Schmidt, who was a doctor. Unlike 
the Johnsons, Schmidt evidently used the northerly portion of his land 
only rarely, he apparently accessed the house that was situated on his 
property by means of an unspecified route that did not involve the 
Homestake tract, but when Schmidt did use the northerly portion of 
his property, he also used the road crossing the Homestake property 
for access. 

1989 - Running acquired the Homestake tract and converted it into a 
farm. Running did not alter the location of the existing road across his 
land, he simply began using it as a driveway to reach his house and 
his other farm buildings, although how often he used it is unknown, 
since it may not have been the only road on his property. Whether or 
not Running was aware that Schmidt was sometimes driving across 
his property is unknown, there is no evidence that Schmidt and 
Running ever met or ever had any contact at all.   

1991 - Schmidt sold his tract to Beck, who owned it for only about 2 
months, before selling it to Kokesh. After Kokesh acquired his 
property the use of the road crossing the Running tract intensified 
once again. Kokesh maintained a greenhouse near the northerly 
boundary of his tract, which he frequently accessed by means of the 
Running driveway, and he also went snowmobiling along the Running 
driveway numerous times. In addition, many other parties routinely 
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used the Running driveway to reach the Kokesh property, either to 
visit Kokesh or to make various deliveries to him. The Running 
driveway apparently became the principal route of access to the 
Kokesh tract over the next several years, but Running's elderly wife 
was living in a rest home that was owned by Kokesh, so Running 
never made an issue out of the ongoing use of the Running property 
by Kokesh and his friends and business associates, although Running 
was fully aware of this use of his property.     

1998 - Kokesh and Running had an argument involving the payments 
that were being made by Running to Kokesh for the ongoing care of 
Running's wife. Shortly after this encounter, Running rebuilt the fence 
along his south boundary, cutting off the use of the Running driveway 
by Kokesh. Kokesh responded by filing an action against Running, 
seeking a judicial declaration that a prescriptive access easement 
existed on the Running property, covering the portion of the Running 
driveway that Kokesh had been using, for the benefit of the Kokesh 
tract.   

     Kokesh argued simply that the use of the disputed road by his 
predecessors, specifically the Johnsons, for well over 40 years, had created 
an access easement upon the road in question long before Running had 
acquired his property, so an access easement existed, encumbering the 
Running tract, and that easement had been acquired by Kokesh when he 
acquired his tract, therefore Running had no right to alter or obstruct the 
access route that was being used by Kokesh in any way. Running did not 
deny that the road crossing his property had been used by others for over 50 
years, he simply argued that all of the historic use of the road had been 
implicitly permissive in nature, so as the fee owner of the land bearing that 
road, he had the right to terminate all use of that route for access purposes by 
any others such as Kokesh at any time. The trial court found that a 
prescriptive access easement, created by 20 years of steady use of the road at 
issue, beginning in 1944, existed on the Running tract, defined by the 
location of the existing roadway, and that easement was appurtenant to the 
Kokesh tract, requiring Running to unblock the roadway and honor the 
access easement henceforward.    
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     Prescriptive easement claims such as this one have reached the Court 
only rarely, in part due to the access provided to all parties in need of access 
by the section line right-of-way in the Dakotas, but the Court appears to be 
more open to the creation of prescriptive easements for private purposes than 
for public purposes, the public being better served by the doctrine of implied 
dedication, since dedication cannot be characterized as a public taking of 
any private land rights, for which the public would be constitutionally 
required to pay. In controversies over access such as this one however, not 
involving the public at all, payment is not a factor, because no taking of any 
rights for any public purpose occurs, and the loss of the land rights of one 
private party to another private party through prescription is never 
compensable, being attributable to negligence on the part of the losing 
parties or their predecessors. This case serves as an absolutely classic 
example of a prescriptive access easement, since it begins with a road of 
unknown origin, being neglected and ignored for an ordinate length of time 
by the owner or owners of the private land that it crosses, during which time 
it comes into innocent use by others, without either permission or objection, 
leading ultimately to the creation of a permanent right to continue that use in 
perpetuity, known as an easement or servitude. An assertion that the road in 
question was used by all parties by virtue of permission was the only option 
available as a defense to Running, and indeed that is typically the only 
defense that any land owner can raise under such circumstances, where the 
prescriptive use has long endured without any effective interruption or any 
meaningful deviation, so the Court sets the burden of proof quite high for 
one such as Running, who alleges that some form of revocable permission 
resulted in the inception of the contested use in the distant past. Were the bar 
not set very high by the Court, fictitious permission claims would negate 
every prescriptive easement, so the Court requires the owner of the servient 
land to show explicit evidence that permission was sought by the user or a 
predecessor of the user, and that it was granted by a predecessor of the 
servient owner, and that it was accepted by the user or his predecessor, in 
order to overcome the legal presumption that a long continued use represents 
an adverse condition. Its also important to realize that an easement created 
by means of prescription is typically not a mere personal right, such land 
rights usually develop from some use of a given portion of one tract for the 
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benefit of another tract or tracts, so such land use is legally presumed to 
represent a right that is fundamentally connected to the lands that are 
involved, and not just to the people that are involved, who are impacted by 
such land rights only as a consequence of their ownership of either the 
dominant or the servient estate. The creation of an easement by prescription 
amounts to nothing more than a judicial recognition of the fact that a given 
area has been productively or beneficially utilized in a manner that enhances 
the value of other lands, thereby implicitly connecting that area to such other 
lands, and this is the very essence of an easement, which is simply a right to 
make use of land, in the absence of ownership of that land. The Court 
understands that land rights are a part of the land, and this appreciation is 
embodied in the concept of appurtenance, which binds such land rights to 
the land, stipulating that such rights always pass with every conveyance, 
whether they are ever referenced in any deed or not, which reveals that 
enabling land use is a prime focus of the Court, as illustrated by it's view of 
this scenario:  

“Johnson ... used the road in question on a daily basis beginning 
in 1944 ... Johnson ... never received permission from 
Homestake to use the road, nor ... did his father ask permission 
to use the road ... Schmidt testified that he believed there was 
never any question of using the driveway for access ... the local 
fire department, ambulance, morticians, UPS, Federal Express 
and the City of Spearfish have used the road ... the use of the 
road was .... unmolested for over twenty years ... beginning as 
early as 1944 ... an easement by prescription ... requires a fact 
intensive review of past use ... unmolested use of the property 
for twenty years ... will be presumed to be under a claim of 
right ... The owner of the servient estate ... has the burden of 
rebutting this presumption by showing that the use was 
permissive ... use of Running's property was open, visible, 
continuous and unmolested ... this use was under claim of right 
and was adverse ... owners (of the Kokesh property) used the 
road whenever they wanted, as a matter of right ... no 
permission was ever sought or given ... Running did not meet 
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his burden of showing the use was permissive ... Furthermore, 
Schmidt's minimal use of the road is irrelevant, because 
Johnson's use of the road ... fulfilled the statutory time period ... 
once an easement by prescription is established, it runs with the 
land, passing with successive land owners." 

     Running's nebulous claim that some form of permission must have 
been given to Johnson was to no avail, because the burden of proof had been 
placed upon him by the passage of time, and of course Running had no way 
of proving that any permission had ever been given, much less that Johnson 
or his father had ever sought permission, which was equally vital for 
Running to show, because any permission that was never requested by the 
user holds no meaning or value. Once again, as we have often previously 
noted, it was the principle of notice that doomed Running, as in the eyes of 
the Court, he should have recognized the possibility that the road had been 
used by others, rather than assuming that he could close it to others at his 
own discretion, just because it was situated on his property, leaving Running 
to bear the consequences of the negligence of his grantor toward the use of 
the land that he had acquired. The easement in question, the Court observed, 
had actually come into legal existence in the 1960s, long before the arrival 
of either of the litigants upon the scene, and it had then passed unknowingly 
through the hands of both Schmidt and Beck before being transferred to 
Kokesh, although not a word denoting it's existence had ever been written, 
making this easement a classic example of unwritten land rights, created by 
operation of law, specifically by the limitation outlined in statute 15-3-1. 
Schmidt was actually correct in his assumption that he had a perfect right to 
use the Running driveway, although not for the reason he believed, which 
was presumably that the easement had been documented somewhere, in 
some way that was unknown to him, because by the time Schmidt arrived 
the easement already existed, in fact it had already existed for over 20 years, 
having ripened into a genuine land right by 1964. The Court thus confirmed 
the lower court's decision in favor of Kokesh, despite the fact that Running 
presented a highly sympathetic figure, since Running's wife had died at the 
rest home that was operated by Kokesh during the proceedings. Many 
surveyors wonder why illegal use of land, that amounts to trespassing, 
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should ever be allowed to result in the formation of any permanent land 
rights, and it may well be further suggested that it was plainly unfair to 
Running to force him to accept the burden of an easement upon his land, 
which he never had any opportunity to prevent from coming into existence. 
The answer, in a word, is reliance, and one of the largest lessons that can be 
learned from studying the outcomes of cases such as this one is that in the 
arena of land rights, the Court invariably strives to protect all forms of 
reliance that can be characterized as innocent. The Court places great value 
on the right of reliance, so once innocent reliance has taken place, equitable 
rights are created, which can and often do overcome legal rights, and in fact 
both the concept of estoppel and the statutes of limitation exist primarily to 
protect all rights created through innocent reliance. Whenever productive 
use of land has been made, and negligence on the part of a property owner 
has allowed it to endure for a substantial length of time, during which time 
an opportunity to legally terminate that use was available but was ignored, 
the relevant land rights of the negligent property owner can be, and often 
are, effectively nullified. In this instance, Johnson knew that the road was 
not on his property, but he used it nonetheless, because no one ever stopped 
him from doing so, therefore when he conveyed his property, Schmidt 
innocently relied upon the right to continue the use of the road that had been 
made by Johnson, as did all of the subsequent grantees of the Johnson 
property quite naturally, which is why the Court prefers to protect such 
reliance whenever possible, rather than allowing it to be unilaterally and 
arbitrarily eliminated. Thus the concept of prescription, which originated as 
a presumption of a lost grant of permanent land rights, has evolved into a 
versatile judicial device, functioning to protect those genuinely productive or 
beneficial land uses that are deemed by the Court to be worthy of equitable 
protection, quite comparable to adverse possession, which as we have 
observed, has undergone it's own distinct judicial metamorphosis, from a 
means of settling title conflicts into a means of resolving boundary disputes. 

 

 

 

764



 

SELWAY HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION  v  CUMMINGS  (2003) 

     Our final case on the topic of dedication is a particularly relevant one 
to professional land surveyors, since it focuses upon the potential magnitude 
of the consequences of inadequate platting, presenting a scenario in which 
insufficient language of dedication used when creating one subdivision 
eventually has the effect of preventing the creation of a second subdivision 
on adjoining land, by leaving that adjoining land legally inaccessible. From 
this case we learn that just as extrinsic evidence can supply critical 
information that is necessary to augment unclear or incomplete deed 
language, it can also provide clarity to ambiguous items shown on plats, and 
the Court tends to embrace all such evidence, in preference to drawing rigid 
conclusions based upon a strict or literal interpretation of language that can 
be shown to have been misleading. Its important to keep in mind that the 
principal goal of the Court is always to ascertain the real intent of any 
document, so extrinsic evidence is virtually always acceptable as a means of 
clarification, where any degree of uncertainty exists in the language that was 
used to express that intent, as long as such supplemental evidence does not 
change, add or delete any words, and simply serves to verify the true 
meaning of the words that were employed in creating that document. Here 
we have a classic demonstration of the concept that the party who was 
responsible for the creation of any unclear, incomplete or uncertain language 
always bears the consequences of that failure, since the Court realizes that 
consistently placing such blame at the feet of such parties is the most 
effective way of emphasizing that proper care must be taken to express all 
intentions clearly and fully, when preparing any kind of descriptive language 
that is meant to be legally controlling. This case also serves as an ideal 
illustration of the fact that when any party plats and sells their land, that 
party thereby grants full control over that land to the buyers of the platted 
lots, so any permanent burdens that the original owner of the land intends to 
put in place, particularly anything beneficial to the subdivider, or any land 
rights that the subdivider intends to retain, must be communicated to the lot 
buyers with the utmost clarity, and any failures in that regard can become a 
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source of serious regret, for either the subdivider or his successor. While the 
case we are about to review represents a distinct triumph of private land 
rights over alleged public rights, in Wildwood Association v Taylor, another 
2003 case involving platted access issues, this time in the context of the 
section line right-of-way, the Court upheld the validity of a public right-of-
way, when faced with an allegation that it had been vacated. In that case, a 
plat of the Wildwood residential subdivision was approved by Rapid City in 
1979, since the site was then within the extra-territorial jurisdiction of Rapid 
City, although that plat showed no section line right-of-way along a certain 
section line, which formed the southerly boundary of several of the platted 
lots, and when Wildwood was annexed by Rapid City in 1984, the 
annexation plat also showed no section line right-of-way in that location. 
When another subdivision was proposed nearby in 1999, which required the 
use of that same section line right-of-way for access, the Wildwood lot 
owners filed an action asserting that it had been legally vacated, by Rapid 
City's approval of the 1979 and 1984 plats indicating that no such right-of-
way existed, and a lower court agreed, declaring that no public right-of-way 
existed upon the Wildwood lots. The Court reversed that ruling however, 
pointing out that as long as any given portion of the section line right-of-way 
remains within county jurisdiction, prior to being annexed by a city, strong 
statutory protection of that right-of-way remains in place, as provided by 
statutes such as 31-3-19 and 31-12-2, which mandate appropriate approval 
and documentation of section line right-of-way vacation, at both the county 
level and the state level. The Court therefore held that the lot owners had 
mistakenly relied upon Rapid City's plat approval as being conclusive, with 
respect to the legal status of the section line right-of-way.     

1986 - The Pearco Partnership, which was a land development group, 
consisting of Pearson, Cleveland and Cummings, owned a tract of 
unspecified size and shape, lying along the south side of Highway 14 
in Lawrence County, which Pearco planned to subdivide in phases. 
Pearco decided to subdivide the western portion of this tract first, and 
they named this subdivision Selway Estates. Pearco had Selway 
Estates platted, presumably by a licensed professional surveyor, the 
plat was submitted to Lawrence County, and it was fully approved. 
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Selway Estates consisted of 12 typical residential lots of unspecified 
dimensions, all fronting upon a single street, which ran south from the 
highway for an unspecified distance, ending in a cul-de-sac. This 
street was clearly identified on the plat as being dedicated, and it 
therefore provided adequate public access to all of the lots, and the 
plat was approved on that basis. However, this plat also showed a 
short right-of-way projecting to the east, from an unspecified point, 
presumably near the middle of this street, and extending to the east 
boundary of the subdivision. This short right-of-way formed a strip 
lying between Lot 8 and Lot 9, connecting the dedicated street to the 
vacant land owned by Pearco lying to the east of the subdivision, and 
it was labeled on the plat only as "66' R.O.W. (FUTURE USE)". The 
dedication statement on this plat made no direct or specific reference 
to this short right-of-way, but the Pearco partners apparently believed 
that it provided them with a potential point of public access to their 
additional land bounding Selway Estates on the east, and they 
evidently planned to use it for that purpose when they platted that area 
in the future. This plat was recorded and the Pearco partners began 
selling the lots that they had created.     

1987 - All of the lots in Selway Estates were sold to various 
unspecified private parties, who built homes on their lots and began 
living on their respective properties. Pearson was apparently in charge 
of conducting the sales of the lots, and several of the lot buyers asked 
Pearson what the purpose of the short right-of-way between Lots 8 & 
9 was, and how it was going to be used. Pearson informed the lot 
buyers that it was just a fire lane, which had been placed on the plat to 
meet Forest Service requirements, and he told them that Pearco had no 
intention of ever using it as a public street. The purchasers of Lots 8 & 
9 then proceeded to develop their lots in reliance on these statements 
by Pearson, expecting the short right-of-way to remain perpetually 
vacant. Whether or not any of the lot buyers knew that Pearco owned 
all of the adjoining land lying directly to the east of their subdivision, 
and that Pearco intended to develop that area as well, is unknown. The 
lot owners held a meeting, which was attended by Pearson, at which 
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they discussed the idea of having the short right-of-way vacated, and 
Pearson expressed no objection to the idea of vacating it, but no action 
resulted from this meeting.  

1988 to 1992 - At an unspecified time during this period, Pearco 
began planning the development of the land lying directly east of 
Selway Estates. Cleveland intended to create a subdivision occupying 
the northeastern portion of the Pearco property, fronting on Highway 
14, while Cummings intended to subdivide the southeastern portion of 
the Pearco land, which had no frontage on any existing public road. 
Since the subdivision proposed by Cummings lacked direct contact 
with any public road, she needed to provide public access to the lots 
that she intended to create, either through Cleveland's subdivision or 
through Selway Estates. Cleveland apparently wanted to create a cul-
de-sac, which would not serve the subdivision being created by 
Cummings, so Cummings elected to employ the right-of-way running 
between Lots 8 & 9 of Selway Estates as the principal point of public 
access to her subdivision, since the east end of that right-of-way 
terminated at the west boundary of her proposed subdivision. Near the 
end of this period, Cleveland and Cummings evidently completed 
their plans and submitted their proposed subdivisions to Lawrence 
County, and their plats were approved, but whether or not these plats 
were ever recorded or used for any purpose is unknown. 

1993 to 2000 - For unknown reasons, no development of the Pearco 
property that had been platted by Cleveland and Cummings 
apparently took place during this time period, and the fire lane 
remained vacant and entirely unused.   

2001 - The Selway Estates lot owners filed a petition with Lawrence 
County, requesting the vacation of the fire lane, but their request was 
denied. The lot owners then filed an action against Cummings, 
seeking to have the fire lane vacated, so that it could not be utilized by 
Cummings to provide public access to her proposed subdivision, by 
way of the existing public road that already served Selway Estates. 

     The lot owners argued that the fire lane had never been properly 
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dedicated or accepted as a public street, and it was not clearly defined on the 
plat of Selway Estates as a public right-of-way, so Cummings had no right to 
put it into use as a public right-of-way to serve her new subdivision, and 
they had the right to demand that it be officially vacated. The lot owners 
further argued that they had been expressly informed by Pearson, prior to 
acquiring their lots, on behalf of all of the Pearco partners, including 
Cummings, that the short right-of-way would never be used for any purpose 
other than a fire lane, so they could not be legally required to accept the use 
of it as a public thoroughfare, as proposed by Cummings. Cummings argued 
that the plat clearly showed that the short right-of-way was intended to be 
part of the street system, and that it was not intended to be part of any of the 
platted lots, so it had been properly dedicated by the plat, and accepted by 
the county, along with the Selway Estates entrance road, therefore she had 
the right to rely upon it as a public right-of-way for the benefit of her 
proposed adjoining subdivision. Cummings further argued that any 
additional evidence, beyond the information that was revealed upon the face 
of the plat itself, such as any statements that had been made to the lot buyers 
by Pearson, was irrelevant and could not be presented as valid evidence, 
because the plat itself was complete, and it was therefore the only relevant or 
controlling evidence of the intent of Pearco. The trial court ruled that the 
short right-of-way was not part of the Selway Estates entrance road, and it 
was not legally connected to that public road by the plat for purposes of 
dedication, so it was nothing more than a private easement, which was 
limited to use for fire protection purposes, relating solely to Selway Estates, 
making it subject to vacation by the lot owners, and declaring it to be legally 
vacated, as they had requested.      

     It should be clarified at the outset that although this case presents 
highly valuable lessons for surveyors concerning platting, there is no 
indication that the surveyor who prepared the Selway Estates plat made any 
mistakes in preparing it or did anything wrong at all. In fact, the surveyor 
who prepared the plat at issue for Pearco is never even referenced by the 
Court, much less implicated in any way, which serves to illustrate the 
important fact that the Court never independently seeks to place any blame 
or liability on a land surveyor, to the contrary, the Court places all of the 
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responsibility and all of the consequences upon the litigants themselves, 
leaving it up to them to subsequently shed or pass that liability onto others, 
such as a land surveyor, if they have some legal basis upon which to do so. 
In controversies involving plats, just like those involving deeds, the Court 
always interprets the documents as actions taken by the litigants themselves, 
and the Court always holds the motivating parties fully responsible for 
whatever is either included in, or omitted from, any such documents, just as 
if they had prepared the documents personally, with their own hands. So it 
should be understood that the Court's criticism of this plat does not 
necessarily represent any failure on the part of the surveyor who created it, 
provided that the surveyor was expressly instructed by Pearco to use the 
language that was used on the plat, which the Court presumed to be the case, 
making Pearco solely responsible for any shortcomings of the plat. Only if 
the surveyor used language on the plat that was independently chosen by the 
surveyor, and that language failed to accomplish the true intentions of the 
subdivider, or if the surveyor omitted some essential words, could the 
surveyor bear any liability for the inadequacy of the language appearing on 
the plat, because the Court typically views the surveyor merely as the hand 
of the subdivider, the party who owns the land that is being platted remains 
the motivating force, driving the creation of the plat and dictating it's 
content. The first issue to be addressed, the Court stated, was simply whether 
or not the assertion made by Cummings, that the short right-of-way had been 
properly dedicated and accepted, and had thereby become public in 
character, contained any validity. Whether or not the descriptive text on the 
plat relating to that strip was wisely or carefully chosen by Pearco was of no 
significance to the Court, the Pearco partners, as the subdividers, were 
required to bear the full legal burden of any such ambiguous language, and 
they could not shift that burden onto the lot owners, who were all innocent 
grantees, with the right to rely fully upon the plat that had been shown to 
them. If the Pearco partners believed that they could keep future options for 
the use of the strip in question open, by deliberately labeling it in an unclear 
way on the plat, as they had done, they were about to be informed that this 
amounted to a serious miscalculation. From the testimony of the lot owners, 
it was clear that Pearson had set out to have things both ways, since he had 
placed the disputed right-of-way in a location that was most advantageous to 
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his own future plans, in case he later decided to treat it as public, yet he had 
told the lot buyers that it was not intended to become public, to induce them 
to purchase his lots. The lot owners were wise enough however, to realize 
that they could successfully challenge Pearson's duplicity, and they were 
correct in their belief that the Court would support them in that regard, by 
rejecting the suggestion that the labeling of the area at issue on the plat 
constituted a legitimate dedication:   

“the Selway Estates future use right-of-way was not expressly 
dedicated ... The main road was clearly dedicated by using the 
terms "dedicated" and "public". However, the future use right-
of-way included neither of these terms ... the only dedication 
language ... refers to the main road ... Furthermore ... there is no 
factual evidence that Lawrence County ever attempted to accept 
it ... Because the future use right-of-way was not dedicated ... it 
is deemed a private easement ... the circuit court ... allowed 
parol evidence to determine the extent of the easement ... the 
plat was silent as to the terms of the private easement, making 
the plat incomplete ... the trial court properly allowed parol 
evidence ... Cummings was estopped from asserting that the 
future use right-of-way could be opened up to access her land to 
the east ... Pearco ... concealed material facts concerning their 
intentions with regards to the future use right-of-way ... The 
adjoining landowners purchased their property with the 
understanding that no public access road would be placed 
between their properties ... estoppel extinguishes any right that 
Pearco may have had relative to the future use right-of-way ... 
Cummings ... argues that she is a proprietor in the Selway 
subdivision plat, and vacating the right-of-way would prejudice 
her by extinguishing property rights ... Cummings ... no longer 
owned any of the Selway property. It had all been previously 
sold ... Cummings was not a proprietor ... the circuit court did 
not err in vacating the disputed property." 

     The only thing pertaining to the strip in controversy that was made 
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clear by the plat was that it was intended to be a right-of-way, it could not be 
deemed to be public, the Court realized, because doing so would be 
inequitable to the lot owners, who as innocent grantees, could not be 
required to bear the burden of increased traffic that would come with 
recognition of the strip as a public thoroughfare, so it could only be 
categorized as a private easement. In addition, as a private easement, the 
Court agreed, that strip could only be interpreted as having been intended to 
operate to the benefit of the platted lots, since everything on a plat that is not 
expressly identified as a burden or encumbrance must be presumed to have 
been intended to be beneficial to the purchasers of the platted land. As the 
dominant parties, intended to derive whatever benefit that easement might 
have offered, the Court acknowledged, the lot owners were free to terminate 
it, and since it was private in nature, no public rights existed to prevent the 
lot owners from deciding among themselves that the easement should be 
dissolved, it's centerline having always been the true boundary between Lots 
8 & 9. Pearco had reserved no rights to the strip in dispute unto themselves, 
either as a group or as individuals, the Court noted, nor did they hold any 
other land rights within Selway Estates, so regardless of whether the platted 
entrance road had been dedicated in fee or as an easement, none of the 
partners who had participated in that development had any valid basis upon 
which to protest or prevent the extinction of the useless right-of-way, at the 
discretion of the lot owners, who were unanimous in their desire to eliminate 
it. Cummings, as one of the Pearco partners herself, was saddled with the 
consequences of all of the statements that had been made by Pearson, with 
reference to the ambiguous right-of-way as a fire lane only, which he had 
made for the specific purpose of clarifying the intent expressed on the plat, 
when confronted about it by lot buyers, because his words were as legally 
binding upon his business partners as they were upon himself personally. 
The factor that proved to be fatal to the interests of Cummings was her 
connection to Pearson, who was the grantor responsible for creating all of 
the land rights held by the lot owners, and as we have repeatedly observed, 
the Court will not allow a grantor or his successors to benefit from 
ambiguous language that was created by, or at the direction of, the grantor. 
The lot owners, as the grantees however, in the view taken by the Court, 
were free to introduce extrinsic evidence to eliminate the ambiguity of the 
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descriptive language pertaining to the easement on the plat, and they had 
done exactly that, with their testimony revealing what they had been told by 
Pearson, when they had inquired about the mysterious strip, since Pearson 
had the authority to clarify the meaning of anything that was unclear on the 
plat, thus the Court fully upheld the vacation decree issued by the lower 
court. The Court's decision to silence the voices of all of the development 
partners, negating all of their testimony, represents a classic demonstration 
of the efficacy and power of estoppel, which is specifically targeted at 
barring the very brand of self contradiction that was clearly manifested in 
the position maintained here by Cummings. Cummings was indeed a land 
owner, but she did not hold any interest in any of the land within the 
boundaries of Selway Estates, and she could not successfully maintain that 
any items shown on the plat, such as the ambiguous easement, had been 
created for the benefit of her adjoining land, so in fact she had no more right 
to use the poorly described right-of-way than a land owner whose property 
was situated 100 miles away. In closing, its worthy of note that the result 
seen here, denying the existence of a public right-of-way over platted 
residential lots, is not at all in conflict with the result of the 2002 Bergin 
case, in which a public right-of-way over platted residential lots was upheld, 
because as will be recalled, no rights of any lot owners were disturbed or 
damaged in that instance, emphasizing that the protection of innocent lot 
buyers is always a prime focus of the Court.   

 

 

HOFMEISTER  v  SPARKS  (2003) 

     Platting is once again central to our next case on the topic of private 
access easements, but in this instance no platting errors are implicated, the 
controversy stems entirely from a misunderstanding of the legal status of a 
platted easement, following a series of land transfers that proves to be 
complex enough to confuse at least one land owner who is evidently 
unfamiliar with land rights issues, making this a case which those who know 
the value of paying careful attention to detail will most appreciate. Countless 
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disputes over land rights have resulted from genuine errors made on surveys 
or in documents of conveyance, but probably just as many conflicts have 
occurred even where no such mistakes were ever made, simply because the 
parties misunderstood either the status or the extent of their own land rights, 
or some other appurtenant land rights held by adjoining land owners, which 
can involve multiple properties. This case illustrates how fundamental 
misconceptions about even the most basic aspects of easements, which are 
quite common, can lead to a serious disruption of relations between land 
owners, and points out the unfortunate consequences of false assumptions 
about land rights that can result from such misconceptions, emphasizing the 
importance of exercising care and discretion when communicating with land 
owners about any aspect of their land rights or those of others. The case we 
are about to review also provides insight into the Court's view of the concept 
of abandonment, in the context of a platted easement, showing the great 
reluctance of the Court to approve the destruction of any such land rights 
and highlighting the heavy burden of proof borne by one who claims to have 
allowed any given land use to take place or to continue only through his own 
permission, while revealing that the Court is even open to the idea that an 
extinct easement can be "revived" by reconveyance. The 1995 case of 
Matters v Custer County presents a comparable example of the Court's 
intense focus upon the preservation of all legitimate access rights, in the 
context of an especially obscure public road. In that case, Matters was the 
owner of an unspecified amount of land situated in a rural township, and his 
property evidently bore a certain dirt road of unknown origin, which had 
existed in the same location for well over a century. Whether anyone aside 
from Matters had ever used that road is unknown, but he asked Custer 
County to perform some repair work on the road, and the county declined, 
indicating that the road was private, based on the fact that it had never been 
shown on any county road maps. The road's location was shown consistently 
in the same location on various other maps of the area dating from 1880 to 
the present however, which Matters or his legal team very wisely gathered 
up for use as evidence. They also discovered that a road had been officially 
adopted by the county in 1886, having been described at that time only as 
being located somewhere in the same canyon in which the Matters property 
was located, but there was no evidence that it's location had ever been 
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defined by means of a survey, since the county road book covering the 
relevant area was missing. Armed with that information, Matters filed an 
action seeking to have the public status of the road judicially confirmed, and 
a lower court ruled in his favor. On appeal, Custer County argued that the 
road in question could not be conclusively proven to be the same road 
adopted in 1886, also pointing out that the county had never done any work 
on that road whatsoever. The Court was entirely unreceptive to the county's 
position however, agreeing that the maps presented by Matters were 
sufficient to support the presumption that it was indeed the very same road, 
while placing the blame squarely upon the county for the absence of the 
book containing the historic road surveys, which could have resolved the 
location issue had the county not lost it, and holding that the road had never 
been either vacated or abandoned, even though the county had never 
performed any work upon it.        

1976 - Raskob owned an unspecified amount of rural land in an 
unspecified location in Lawrence County. The relevant land owned by 
Raskob consisted of 3 separate tracts, all of which were situated to the 
south of a public highway. The most northerly tract, which was 
bounded by the highway on the north, was a Homestead Entry Survey, 
known as HES 537, and this tract was bounded on the south by 
another Homestead Entry Survey, known as HES 417. Lying further 
to the south was another tract of unknown size and shape that was 
owned by Raskob, known as the Hailstorm property, but a strip of 
land 400 feet in width, owned by the United States Forest Service, 
intervened between the Hailstorm tract and HES 417, so to reach the 
Hailstorm tract directly from the highway it was necessary to drive 
south for an unspecified distance, first crossing HES 537, and then 
across HES 417, and then across the Forest Service land. How these 
tracts had been used or accessed prior to this time, and whether or not 
they bore any improvements, are both unknown, presumably all of 
these tracts were unimproved at this time. Raskob conveyed the 
Hailstorm tract to Sparks, apparently describing it with reference to a 
plat of unknown origin that showed an access route crossing the 
aforementioned tracts lying between the Hailstorm tract and the 
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highway, but whether or not Sparks ever made any actual use of either 
the Hailstorm property or this access route is unknown. Raskob also 
platted HES 537 at this time, and this plat evidently showed the same 
platted access route running through HES 537, identifying it as an 
access easement, 66 feet in width, providing legal access from the 
public road to HES 417. Whether or not any actual roadway crossing 
HES 537 already existed at this time is unknown, either in the platted 
access location or anywhere else, but the location and width of this 
access easement never became an issue, so a path or trail of some kind 
was presumably either built or improved in the platted access route 
location around this time.     

1977 - Raskob replatted HES 537, creating several additional lots 
inside that tract, but this new plat also showed the same access 
easement that had been platted in 1976, so the access easement 
passing through that tract remained unchanged. Some of the lots 
platted by Raskob within HES 537 were apparently sold to Sparks and 
his brother, but no issues relating to these lots or the portion of the 
access route lying within HES 537 ever developed. 

1978 - Sparks conveyed the Hailstorm tract to an unspecified party, 
apparently without ever having made any actual use of it himself, and 
whether or not it was ever used or accessed by its new owners is 
unknown as well, but Sparks also expressly conveyed the right to use 
the same access route that he had acquired from Raskob, along with 
the Hailstorm tract.  

1979 to 1982 - At an unspecified time during this period, Raskob 
platted HES 417, creating an unspecified number of lots within that 
tract, and this plat also showed the same access route crossing all the 
way through HES 417 as an easement, terminating at the northerly 
boundary of the Forest Service tract. However, Raskob apparently 
never sold any of the individual platted lots that he had created in 
HES 417 at this time.  

1983 - Raskob conveyed all of HES 417 to Sparks, but whether or not 
the description that he used in making this conveyance made reference 
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to any plats, or to any access easement, is unknown. Sparks then 
replatted a portion of HES 417, which evidently included the access 
easement platted by Raskob, and the Sparks plat apparently made no 
reference to any access easement over HES 417. Sparks then 
conveyed the portion of HES 417 that he had replatted to Jacobson, 
who evidently began using the roadway lying within the access 
easement on a regular basis, to reach his property from the highway. 
Whether or not Sparks ever sold the rest of HES 417 to anyone, or 
ever made any use of that area himself, is unknown, presumably 
Jacobson was the only party using the access route passing through 
HES 537 to reach HES 417 at this time.      

1984 to 1989 - The road occupying the access easement was used by 
Sparks to access the property in HES 537 on which he resided, and by 
Jacobson to access the property in HES 417 on which he resided, and 
possibly by unspecified others as well, but no issues regarding the use 
of the road arose during this period. 

1990 to 1994 - At an unspecified date during this period, a group that 
included Hofmeister acquired the Hailstorm tract, and this conveyance 
included the same right of access that had been conveyed to 
Hofmeister's predecessor by Sparks. Hofmeister apparently either 
improved an existing building or built a new one on his portion of the 
Hailstorm property and took up residence there, and his fellow owners 
may have done so as well, resulting in a significant increase in the use 
of the platted access route. No one objected to the use of the access 
road crossing HES 537, HES 417 and the Forest Service land, by 
Hofmeister or anyone else, to reach the Hailstorm tract during this 
period, but the roadway evidently began to deteriorate as the result of 
this increased use, since no one was maintaining it. At an unspecified 
time, after Hofmeister began using the access road, the Forest Service 
built or improved some nearby roads traversing the Forest Service 
land that adjoined Hofmeister's property, which provided an alternate 
route, that Hofmeister could potentially use to access his property 
from another public road. To what extent Hofmeister or any of the 
other private land owners in this area used this alternate route over the 
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Forest Service land is unknown, but apparently they did use it on 
some occasions. 

1995 - Hofmeister had a culvert installed at an unspecified location, 
somewhere along the route of the access easement, at his own 
expense, in an attempt to keep that route usable, but there is no 
evidence that anyone else participated in maintaining that road in any 
way. 

1997 - Sparks sent a letter to both Hofmeister and Jacobson, stating 
that the access road leading to their properties needed repair, and 
suggesting that all 3 of them should contribute to the cost of repairing 
it. Hofmeister agreed to share some of the cost of maintaining the 
road, but he stated that he believed Sparks and Jacobson should pay 
the majority of the cost of the proposed repairs. Sparks was evidently 
unsatisfied with this response however, and he reacted by informing 
Hofmeister that no access easement existed on HES 417, warning 
Hofmeister that he had better cease his use of the principal access road 
and use only the Forest Service roads instead. Jacobson apparently 
ignored the controversy over the access road repairs and just went on 
using the platted route as he always had. Whether or not any of the 
road repairs that were proposed at this time were ever made is 
unknown. 

1998 to 2002 - Hofmeister apparently ignored the warning from 
Sparks to quit driving over the private properties situated north of the 
Forest Service tract, and went on using the access road passing 
through HES 537 and HES 417, although how frequently he did so is 
unknown. At an unspecified time during this period, Sparks evidently 
discovered that Hofmeister was still using that road, in spite of his 
warning to Hofmeister, so Sparks installed a gate across that road, 
located at the boundary between HES 417 and the Forest Service land, 
which he apparently locked, preventing Hofmeister from making any 
further use of that road. Hofmeister and his co-owners of the 
Hailstorm tract then filed an action against Sparks, seeking a judicial 
declaration that they had the right to use the platted access easement 
crossing through HES 537 and HES 417. 
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     The Hofmeister group argued that the roadway in dispute had been 
properly platted and legally created, so it represented either a public road, or 
a valid private access easement, and in either case they were fully entitled to 
the free and complete use of it, so neither Sparks nor anyone else was 
entitled to obstruct that route in any way, or prevent them from using it by 
any means. The Hofmeister group further argued that the access easement 
covering the entire route in question, over all of the private land lying 
between the Forest Service property and the public highway, had never been 
abandoned, vacated or extinguished in any other manner, so the private 
properties in that area, that were crossed by that road, were all subject to 
their right to freely travel that road. Sparks argued that the use of the 
roadway at issue had been abandoned by the members of the Hofmeister 
group, because they had failed to ever extend the easement across the Forest 
Service tract to reach their Hailstorm property, and because they had used 
alternative routes to access their property, both of which indicated that they 
had forsaken any rights or interest that they may once have had to use the 
original access route. As an alternative argument, Sparks maintained that he 
had completely controlled all use of the platted access route, since acquiring 
his properties from Raskob, and all use of that route by the members of the 
Hofmeister group and their predecessors had been through permission from 
Sparks, so they had no right to use that route, because the original platted 
easement had been extinguished by prescription, since he had personally 
controlled all use of it for over 20 years. The trial court agreed with 
Hofmeister and his fellow owners of the Hailstorm property, completely 
rejecting all of the assertions that had been set forth by Sparks, holding 
simply that Sparks must remove the gate and allow free use of the disputed 
roadway by all parties, without ever determining whether that roadway 
represented a public right-of-way or a private right-of-way.       

     As has been frequently noted herein, conflicts over access, much like 
disputes over ambiguous boundary locations, very often result from poorly 
described conveyances or poor platting procedures, leaving unfortunate 
subsequent land owners to fight over mistakes that were actually made by 
some distant predecessor, whose ignorance or carelessness planted the seeds 
of future discord, but there is no evidence of that here. There was no 
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suggestion by the Court that any of the deeds or plats executed by or for 
Raskob, the original property owner, were problematic in any respect, they 
were all apparently well prepared and fully adequate to convey the intended 
land, and the associated land rights, so no blame can be placed at the feet of 
Raskob. Quite to the contrary however, Sparks was evidently laboring under 
a serious misunderstanding of the situation that had resulted from his own 
series of acquisitions and conveyances. Since Sparks apparently never made 
any use of the disputed access easement himself during the period of only 
about 2 years when he owned the Hailstorm property, he may have failed to 
realize that a permanent and legally binding access easement had been 
created, in favor of the entire Hailstorm tract, covering the full access route 
that was shown on the Raskob plats, at the moment when he acquired that 
tract from Raskob, but in fact Sparks himself had been the original holder of 
the contested easement. If Sparks did recognize that the platted easement 
had come into legal existence, he evidently believed that he had the authority 
to terminate it, simply by replatting part of HES 417 and showing no such 
easement on his plat. The Court made it clear to Sparks that he was mistaken 
in holding any such notions however, because definitive access rights 
appurtenant to the Hailstorm tract had come into existence when that tract 
was deeded to him, since Raskob, as the owner of all of the private land 
involved, had the authority required to create such an easement, and the 
easement was not invalid just because a substantial gap existed between the 
south end of the easement and the north side of the Hailstorm property 
acquired by Sparks in 1976. The easement in controversy came into 
existence at that time, for the benefit of the Hailstorm tract, when Sparks 
acquired that land, whether Sparks ever realized that or not, and it had 
passed on to his grantee, also regardless of whether Sparks understood that 
or not, as an appurtenance to the Hailstorm property, so Sparks had no legal 
control at all over the proper use of the easement after that point in time, and 
no authority to eliminate it simply by deleting it from any plats that were 
produced by or for him. The failure of Raskob to ever sell any of the lots that 
he had platted in HES 417 was of no consequence, the Court indicated, that 
fact alone could not invalidate the existing access route, which had been 
shown on that plat, because rights to that route had already been formally 
created by means of conveyance, making it impossible for the easement to 
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be terminated unilaterally by Sparks, after he acquired HES 417, merely by 
replatting that tract or any part of it without the easement. If Sparks believed 
that he could make the platted easement disappear and unburden HES 417 
just by essentially erasing it on paper, he was certainly mistaken, because 
replatting can never reduce or diminish any existing land rights without the 
consent of the holders of any such rights. The platted roadway could not 
possibly be public, because no dedication of it had ever been made, either 
statutorily or by means of implication, the Court observed, before moving on 
to deal with the abandonment and extinguishment claims made by Sparks, 
citing the Selway case that we have just reviewed in so doing, and quoting 
43-13-12, governing the abandonment of easements: 

“The access easement was not a dedicated public road ... the 
plats here do not contain the necessary words of dedication ... 
Sparks argues that ... an area logging road (on the Forest 
Service land) provided Hailstorm an additional route of access 
to public roads ... The mere use of a new right-of-way will not 
extinguish the old. There must also be an abandonment ... A 
servitude is extinguished by the performance of any act upon 
either tenement, by the owner of the servitude, or with his 
assent, which is incompatible with it's nature or exercise ... 
there must be an affirmative act of abandonment on the part of 
the owner of the easement. Mere non-use ... is insufficient ... 
while we have held that substituted access may be evidence of 
abandonment, that factor alone is not dispositive ... The Forest 
Service builds ... roads for it's own purposes ... Hofmeister did 
not intentionally abandon the easement. Hofmeister not only 
used the easement for construction ... Hofmeister also took 
affirmative steps to improve the easement ... If Hofmeister had 
unequivocally abandoned the access easement, Hofmeister 
would not have installed the culvert ... Sparks, however, also 
argues that Hofmeister abandoned the easement because 
Hofmeister did not obtain an easement from the Forest Service 
... Hofmeister's legal right to use the Forest Service land is 
irrelevant ... lack of a formal Forest Service easement does not 
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reflect that Hofmeister had unequivocally abandoned the access 
easement on HES 417 ... Sparks argues that the easement was 
extinguished by prescription ... like a party asserting the 
defense of permissive use to prevent the creation of a 
prescriptive right, the party asserting extinguishment by 
prescription also bears the burden of proof to show that the use 
was only permissive ... Sparks has not established that the 
access easement was used only by permission for more than 
twenty years ... even if this access easement was extinguished, 
it was subsequently revived ... all the transfers of the Hailstorm 
property ... included the 66 foot access easement." 

     The Court's position clearly demonstrates that it strongly emphasizes 
the protection of easements of all kinds, and shows that it has set a high bar 
for the destruction of an easement. Even though Hofmeister may very well 
have used the Forest Service route much more than the original route, for a 
protracted period of time, to avoid incurring the wrath of Sparks, no 
abandonment ever took place, because abandonment is strictly a matter of 
the intent of the holder of the right in question, and the fact that Hofmeister 
paid for repair work that was done on the road was conclusive proof, in the 
eyes of the Court, that he still intended to use it to some extent, thus he had 
never fully abandoned it. 43-13-12 merely stipulates that the controlling 
factor is always the presence or absence of an intent to abandon on the part 
of the easement holder, moreover, an easement need not directly contact the 
property owned by the easement holder to be appurtenant to that land, and 
the easement need not even exist in one continuous location, it can be any 
size or shape, in any location, however remote, so the fact that no easement 
ever existed on the Forest Service tract had no legal effect at all, the Court 
pointed out. Hofmeister did not need any easement to use the Forest Service 
land, because no one had ever challenged his right to use it, and Sparks had 
no right to challenge Hofmeister's use of that 400 foot strip, or question his 
relationship with the Forest Service, the Court stated, since the Forest 
Service was not a participant in the litigation, and the sole objective of the 
litigation was to adjudicate the rights of Hofmeister and Sparks, not those of 
any other parties. The prescriptive extinction claim made by Sparks was 
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rather absurd, since there was no evidence that he had ever controlled the 
use of the roadway at issue in any way, except perhaps temporarily through 
intimidation, but in no sense had he ever established physical control over it, 
leading the Court to readily dismiss this assertion on his part. Since there 
was no evidence that Sparks had built the road in contention, he had no basis 
upon which to maintain that he ever controlled the use of it, in fact it formed 
a legal burden upon his properties just as it did upon the properties of any 
other parties whose land it crossed, and even if Sparks really had given 
anyone "permission" to use it, any such words on his part would have been 
meaningless and without effect, not coming from a party who was in a 
position to grant any such permission to any legitimate road user. Had 
Sparks physically blocked the road, and maintained the blockage for the full 
statutory period, during which time no use was ever made of it, the outcome 
could have been different, as he would then have had a valid claim that he 
had extinguished the easement, by truly controlling it adversely to all users, 
but that was far from the case, the Court realized, since his blockage of the 
road had last only a short time before Hofmeister stopped the ticking of the 
prescriptive clock by filing his action to eliminate that blockage. The charge 
by Sparks that the easement had been destroyed by a merger of the relevant 
properties into common ownership, under himself, was equally futile, since 
although he had owned both the Hailstorm tract, which was a dominant tract 
with respect to the disputed easement, and HES 417, which was a servient 
tract bearing the easement, he had never owned them at the same time, so no 
legal merger of any land rights had ever taken place. In addition, the Court 
concluded, even the destruction of the platted easement by means of such a 
merger would not have enabled Sparks to prevail, since the easement, if it 
had ever been destroyed, had also been recreated, or revived as the Court put 
it, by subsequent conveyances that effectively reinstated and renewed it, just 
as it had been originally envisioned. Holding that Hofmeister's refusal to 
take full responsibility for road repairs did not amount to an abandonment of 
any rights on his part, the Court fully upheld the lower court ruling in his 
favor, yet ironically, the matter of who was responsible for the costs 
associated with maintaining the original route, which had precipitated the 
whole controversy, was left unaddressed. 
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BURKHART  v  LILLEHAUG  (2003) 

     While most litigation concerning easements is centered upon the 
question of whether or not a given easement exists, this case represents that 
small percentage of all easement controversies that are focused solely upon 
the location of an easement, but it's particular significance lies in the fact 
that it marks the formal adoption by the Court of the relocation doctrine, 
allowing easement locations to be treated as flexible under certain 
circumstances. Nationwide, cases in which the relocation of an easement has 
been judicially approved, in the absence of any express agreement to 
relocate that easement, are rare, but those states that have adopted the 
relocation doctrine have consistently done so under conditions very similar 
to those presented by this case, when confronted with situations in which 
equitable considerations factor heavily. In that regard, it must be kept in 
mind that easements exist to enable and maximize the usefulness of land, 
and the Court quite naturally always strives to balance the rights of dominant 
and servient parties, in a manner that allows both estates to be most 
effectively utilized, making the relocation doctrine a valuable judicial tool, 
with the potential to serve the interests of equity. For that reason, here the 
Court declines to take a rigid view of the intended location of an access 
easement, even though it was both platted and constructed in it's intended 
location, yet the Court upholds the validity of the right of passage signified 
by the easement, clearly illustrating that the Court sees location issues as a 
secondary concern, distinct from the primary matter, which is always the 
existence of the beneficial rights derived through the creation of the 
easement. Two subsequent cases from this time period, in which the Court 
took this same approach when adjudicating easement issues, are also worthy 
of being noted briefly at this point. In 2004, in Graves v Dennis, two 
separate access easements, both serving the Graves property and burdening 
the adjoining Dennis property had been legally created, one in 1978 and one 
in 1981, by the predecessors of the litigants, but only the 1981 location had 
ever been put into actual use, and a garage had been built, blocking the 1978 
easement location, by the predecessor of Dennis. After a series of arguments 
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with Dennis, apparently motivated primarily by spite, Graves filed an action 
demanding that Dennis move his garage to allow Graves to use the 1978 
easement location, as well as the 1981 location. The Court fully upheld a 
lower court ruling denying this request made by Graves, holding that his 
predecessor had legally abandoned the 1978 easement by acquiescing in the 
erection of a permanent blockage upon it, while also concluding that the 
1981 easement had in fact been intended to represent a relocation of the 
1978 easement. Then in 2005, in Stanga v Husman, Stanga was the owner of 
a cabin overlooking Lake Madison, and he was the holder of an access 
easement which traversed an adjoining property that was owned by Husman, 
who decided to develop the servient property. Husman proceeded to build a 
condominium on his land, and in the process of doing so, he relocated the 
access road that had been used by Stanga, providing Stanga with an alternate 
route through Husman's property that was of equal or superior quality. 
Stanga nonetheless charged that Husman had no right to relocate Stanga's 
access easement and filed an action demanding either compensation or the 
restoration of his original access route, knowing that Husman's development 
would have to be torn down to accomplish that. Pointing out that Stanga had 
failed to promptly object to the construction work which had necessitated the 
relocation of his access route, the Court fully upheld a lower court decision 
in favor of Husman, reiterating that a servient owner has the right to 
unilaterally relocate an undefined easement upon his property, and the 
dominant party has no legitimate basis upon which to protest such a 
relocation of his access rights, unless he can prove that the alternate route, as 
relocated, is distinctly inferior to the original route in some respect.       

1963 - Aye acquired several adjoining lode claims located in 
Spearfish Canyon in Lawrence County, forming one large tract of 
land, and he decided to create a residential subdivision covering a 
substantial portion of his land at this time. The area that Aye wanted 
to subdivide was rugged vacant land, much of which was steeply 
sloping, and no roads providing access to the selected area existed. 
Aye hired a surveyor to assist him in creating this subdivision, and 
together they walked the land, setting monuments that established the 
boundaries of the 9 lots that would comprise the subdivision. The lots 
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were all generally rectangular, with Lot 1 being in the northeast corner 
of the subdivision, Lot 4 being in the northwest corner, Lot 5 in the 
southwest corner, and Lot 9 in the southeast corner, so the subdivision 
consisted of two rows, with Lots 1 through 4 comprising the north 
row and Lots 5 through 9 forming the south row. The south boundary 
of Lots 5 through 9 was several hundred feet north of the nearest 
county road, so Aye and his surveyor realized that an access route 
would be needed to serve these new lots, and they walked the land 
again, for the purpose of laying out a right-of-way, setting stakes 
along the way, marking the intended road location. The roadway 
marked out at this time entered the subdivision from the south by 
crossing the south boundary of Lot 6, but it then ran northwest to a 
point near the center of Lot 5, where it turned very sharply and began 
to run to the east, crossing back into Lot 6, then winding it's way 
through the other lots before finally coming to a dead end on Lot 9. 
This particularly circuitous route was evidently deemed to be 
necessary to suit the steeply sloping terrain within the subdivision 
boundaries, the lots on the west side apparently being lower in 
elevation than the lots at the east end of the platted area. No details are 
known concerning the portion of the access road lying outside the 
subdivision boundaries, crossing Aye's other land, but that portion of 
the route never became a source of controversy. Aye's surveyor began 
work on a subdivision plat, showing all of the platted lots in the 
typical manner, with appropriate boundary dimensions, but showing 
the roadway winding through the lots without any locative 
dimensions, labeled only with the word "road". The width of this 
access easement was also left undefined, but it's width never became a 
point of contention.     

1965 - The surveyor completed his work on the plat and it was 
recorded, enabling Aye to begin his efforts to sell the platted lots, but 
this plat contained no dedication statement, indicating that the platted 
road was apparently intended to represent only a private right-of-way, 
thus no public interest in the road was thereby created, leaving Aye to 
construct the platted roadway himself with a bulldozer. At least some, 
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if not all, of the stakes set 2 years earlier to mark the intended road 
location were apparently still in place, and Aye bulldozed a trail of 
unspecified width, which presumably followed the platted route 
reasonably well. Aye was evidently unable to attract any interest in his 
property however, so no homes were built on any of the platted lots at 
this time, and the trail that had been created by Aye went unused.  

1966 to 1976 - Aye evidently sold an unspecified number of his lots 
during this period, but none of the lot buyers made any actual use of 
the land, so the subdivision remained vacant. At an unspecified time, 
either during or after this period, Aye died, leaving any of the platted 
lots that remained unsold to his widow, who apparently had no 
interest in the land and made no further efforts to sell any lots.  

1977 - Lillehaug acquired Lot 5 from an individual who had 
previously acquired it at an unspecified date, but who had never made 
any use of it.  

1978 - Lillehaug moved a building onto his lot, but he evidently did 
not take up residence there, and he made no further use of his property 
at this time. 

1981 to 1982 - Lillehaug's building burned down, but he decided to 
make another effort to improve his property, so he began building a 
house on his lot. The other lots all remained unoccupied and unused, 
so Lillehaug was still the only party making use of the roadway at this 
time. In order to make fuller use of his lot, Lillehaug hired a 
contractor to obliterate the portion of the platted road that extended 
into the center of his lot, and this contractor bulldozed a new trail, 
located about 50 to 100 feet east of the original road location, running 
along the east side of Lot 5. This change enabled Lillehaug to build 
his house in the center of his lot, on the relatively flat spot where the 
sharp bend in the original road had been, by relocating the roadway to 
the east edge of his lot. This change to the road location had no impact 
on Lillehaug's use of the road, because he never needed to drive the 
portion of the road running east from his lot, across the north part of 
Lots 6 through 9, but the relocated bend in the road made this sharp 
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curve much steeper and more difficult to climb, for anyone attempting 
to reach the upper lots lying to the east of Lot 5.   

1989 - Lillehaug completed his work on his new home and he and his 
family began living on Lot 5, becoming the first actual residents of the 
subdivision, nearly a quarter century after it was platted.  

1992 - Burkhart acquired Lots 8 & 9. He was apparently provided 
with a copy of the subdivision plat, and he was informed, presumably 
by whoever sold his lots to him, that Lillehaug had relocated a portion 
of the platted roadway, but there is no indication that Burkhart ever 
met Lillehaug, or ever had any direct contact or communication with 
him at all. Burkhart may have lived elsewhere and acquired his lots 
without ever even visiting the subdivision, so he may have been 
unaware of how steep the relocated access road that he would need to 
use to reach his property was, and he apparently made no use of his 
lots at this time. Lot 5 was still the only lot in the subdivision that was 
occupied at this time, so no one had ever objected to the relocation of 
the roadway by Lillehaug.  

1995 - Construction of a house on Burkhart's lots commenced, but 
whether or not Burkhart was personally present at this time is 
unknown, the work may have been done entirely by contractors on his 
behalf, and whether or not this construction work was ever completed 
is unknown as well.  

1996 to 1998 - When attempting to deliver materials for the 
construction of Burkhart's home, his contractors apparently had 
difficulty in climbing the road to reach his property, due to the 
presence of the steep curve crossing Lot 5 that had been created when 
Lillehaug had relocated the roadway. Whether or not this condition 
prevented the completion of Burkhart's construction project is 
unknown, but it evidently made access to his lots very difficult. 
Whether or not any of the owners of the other platted lots ever 
attempted to drive the road and experienced similar difficulty in using 
the portion of the road crossing Lot 5 is also unknown. Presumably 
the deeds held by all of the lot owners described their properties only 
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by means of reference to the plat, and therefore made no reference to 
any other access route, aside from the one depicted on the plat.    

1999 - Burkhart evidently sought and obtained the support of some of 
the owners of the other platted lots, including the widow of Aye, and 
together they filed an action against Lillehaug, seeking to have him 
compelled to remove or relocate his house and restore the platted road 
to it's original location. 

     Burkhart and his fellow lot owners argued that the original trail had 
been constructed in the platted location, and that location represented a 
legally defined private right-of-way, which had been purposefully situated 
by Aye as the subdivider, with the intention of providing the most useful 
access to all of the platted lots, so the original trail constituted a legally 
binding location, that they had the right to use as a roadway, which was not 
subject to relocation without their consent. The Burkhart group further 
argued that the relocation of the roadway on Lot 5 by Lillehaug had been 
illegal, unjustified and unreasonable, because he had executed that relocation 
without any consent from anyone, for his own personal benefit, thereby 
creating access problems for the owners of several other platted lots, so he 
should be required to honor the platted easement location, by reconstructing 
the road in it's original location, even though that would require him to move 
his house. Lillehaug did not deny that the original trail had been built in the 
platted road location by Aye, nor did he deny that he had deliberately 
relocated the original access route to suit his own needs, he argued instead 
that the intended road location had never been adequately defined on the 
plat, so he had the right to relocate the portion of the roadway that was 
situated on his lot, and he had not altered any portion of the trail that was 
situated on any other lots, so his relocation of the roadway should be 
allowed to stand. Lillehaug further argued that although the change that he 
had made to the road had indeed made the road steeper, his change was 
actually beneficial to all of the lot owners, because the bend in the original 
trail had been too sharp to be used by long flatbed trucks, so his change to 
the road was not unreasonable, and he had never blocked the roadway, so the 
other lot owners all still had adequate access to their properties, thus they 
had no right to demand that the road must be returned to the platted 
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easement location. The trial court agreed with Lillehaug that the platted 
access route had never been legally delineated, and that his relocation of the 
original trail represented a legitimate improvement to the roadway, so the 
change to the easement location that had been made by Lillehaug was not 
illegal, unjustified or unreasonable, requiring the Burkhart group to accept 
Lillehaug's relocation of their private right-of-way over Lot 5. 

     Most experienced surveyors have encountered a situation in which an 
access route was either described or platted in a physically useless location, 
where no road could realistically be built due to the terrain, or where 
physical obstacles such as trees or buildings existed, typically by someone 
who was unfamiliar with the land, leading to the intended easement location 
going unused, and actual use being made of some other more practical area 
instead. This controversy however, confronted the Court with precisely the 
opposite scenario, because here a usable location was platted, and it was 
constructed as designed, but a portion of the roadway was then shifted to a 
location that was highly problematic for certain purposes, due to being 
exceedingly steep, by a servient property owner who had no need to use the 
upper portion of the road in question himself. An original trail location was 
clearly established on the ground, and it was graphically depicted on the 
plat, but the real question, in the view of this situation taken by the Court, 
was whether or not that location was truly intended to be definite and 
permanent, which would determine whether or not it was legally binding. 
All of the parties agreed that the route shown on the plat was created to 
provide access to all of the platted lots, even though the road was not 
expressly identified as either an easement or a right-of-way anywhere on the 
plat, the only dispute was over it's location, specifically whether or not it's 
location had ever been conclusively established. Since Lillehaug was the 
only party utilizing the subdivided land for several years, and he saw that no 
one else was using the trail, he may well have believed that the upper part of 
it was never going to be used by anyone, and he may not have even been 
cognizant that any other parties held a legal right to use the platted location, 
the Court realized, so to Lillehaug the trail may well have appeared to be just 
a random location representing a temporary path of convenience, viewing 
him therefore as the innocent party. The Court understood of course that the 
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intent of a subdivider and grantor, such as Aye, is always the paramount 
consideration in resolving any issues that develop as a result of their 
conveyances, and an original easement location is always presumed to have 
been intended to be permanent, but when easement parameters are left 
undefined, subsequent events can be of great importance and can operate to 
obfuscate any original intentions that were not specified with clarity and 
certainty. Testimony from Aye, as to his intent in creating the trail, would 
have been highly valuable, but since he was dead the pivotal testimony 
proved to be that given by two experts on road design, regarding the merits 
of the two conflicting routes, one supporting Burkhart had testified that the 
current road was too steep, while one testifying for Lillehaug had testified 
that the original route was too sharply bent on Lot 5, indicating to the Court 
that both routes were equally problematic, if not useless, for different 
reasons. The Court chose to take the position that ambiguity in platting can 
create an opportunity for the relocation or substitution of an easement, and 
where a relocated or substituted route is put into effect on the ground, no 
harm to the rights of the easement holders occurs, unless they can prove that 
the relocated route is distinctly inferior to the original route, making the 
relocation fundamentally unreasonable:  

“The plat contained no specific survey information or 
dimensions (relating to the road) ... Aye bulldozed ... a cat trail 
which provided limited, seasonable access ... none of the lots 
were improved or occupied ... Prior to his purchase, Burkhart 
was aware that the road had been changed by the Lillehaugs ... 
no one had used the trail beyond Lot 5 except occasionally ... 
Lillehaug's ... were entitled to make reasonable changes to the 
servient estate, so long as they did not unreasonably interfere 
with ... use of the easement ... Except where the location and 
dimensions are determined by instrument or by circumstances 
... the owner of the servient estate is entitled to make reasonable 
changes in the location or dimensions of an easement ... if the 
changes do not (a) significantly lessen the utility of the 
easement; (b) increase the burdens on the owner of the 
easement or (c) frustrate the purpose for which the easement 
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was created ... it was not shown ... that the changes to the road 
in 1982 were an unreasonable alteration ... the existing roadway 
provided access substantially similar to what the road did in it's 
original configuration ... the changes ... were beneficial to 
Burkharts ... the current road, though containing an increased 
incline, is wider than the cat trail and lessens the sharp turn in 
the road ... it would be difficult for most vehicles to negotiate 
the old switchback ... this road ... was not surveyed or platted 
with specificity or otherwise clearly established ... the road 
moved from a mere concept to a simple cat trail and then 
eventually required alteration to create a more functional road. 
That progression was reasonable ... Therefore ... the changes 
were not unreasonable." 

     The stance taken here by the Court clearly demonstrates that the 
protection of established structures, such as the Lillehaug home in this 
instance, is a matter of higher priority to the Court than issues relating to 
exact locations of items of lesser significance, such as a roadway. The fact 
that Burkhart, as a subsequent grantee, had notice of the road relocation, was 
critical if not absolutely decisive, since the Court despises procrastination in 
dealing with land rights issues, and sternly frowns upon any failure by such 
a grantee to address such issues promptly. In addition, Aye's widow, who 
chose to side with Burkhart in this battle, had been present for the entire 
period during which Lillehaug had owned his lot, so as an owner of other 
lots served by the easement, she had notice of an even more complete nature 
for a much greater length of time than Burkhart, making the Court especially 
reluctant to accept any protests over Lillehaug's relocation coming from her. 
In effect the Court's decision penalized Burkhart for his failure to verify that 
the relocation, which he knew about prior to acquiring his lots, had left him 
with usable access, since in the eyes of the Court Burkhart had failed to 
carry his basic burden of inquiry as a grantee, by relying solely on the plat, 
without verifying that the actual conditions on the ground suited his needs. 
The length of time that passed following Lillehaug's relocation of the 
roadway, with no objection to it from anyone, was also undoubtedly a factor, 
proving that complete reliance upon information of record alone can be quite 
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dangerous, because conditions on the ground can become legally binding, 
with the passage time, which carries the implication of consent by all those 
who remain silent. It may be asked how Burkhart could have consented to an 
event that had taken place long before he acquired his lots, but in the view of 
the Court this factor actually worked in favor of Lillehaug, because the fact 
that he had altered the route prior to the arrival of most of the other lot 
owners meant that they had never used the original trail location, and they 
knew about the relocation, so each of them effectively consented to it by 
failing to promptly object to it at the time of their respective acquisitions. 
Upholding the lower court ruling in favor of Lillehaug by a majority of 4 to 
1, the Court approved his de facto revision of the platted easement location, 
applying the same controlling principle of notice that supports adverse 
possession against a subsequent land owner, who acquired land while some 
portion of it was being adversely possessed, without questioning the ongoing 
adverse use of it. One dissenting Justice took the position that the road's 
location had been legally defined by it's construction in accord with the plat, 
following the position held by most states, which prevents servient land 
owners, such as Lillehaug, from ever unilaterally relocating the land rights 
of others, maintaining that the original trail, as built by Aye, did in fact 
represent an established easement location, which Lillehaug had no right to 
alter. Of most importance to the Court however, is the fact that a failure to 
specify an easement location in a detailed manner does not eliminate any 
rights, it merely conveys the idea that the easement location is intended to be 
flexible or variable, at the discretion of the servient land owner, it does not 
render the right of passage over the servient estate invalid. We will never 
know if the original route staked and built by Aye and his surveyor was 
really meant to be permanent or not, so it cannot be said that the plat was 
patently deficient, because it did provide every lot with legal access, and it 
may have faithfully portrayed the intentions of the subdivider to create an 
access route that was flexible in terms of location, which the Court adopted 
as the applicable presumption, given the absence from the plat of any data 
defining the road location. If the road location shown on the plat was 
intended to be permanent however, then this case illustrates the 
consequences of taking shortcuts when platting land, since by failing to 
numerically define the access route, any intention for that route to be 
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permanent was left at risk, in which event the plat failed to protect the rights 
of the upper lot buyers to that extent, making it clear why modern platting 
standards pertaining to the depiction of any proposed right-of-way are 
necessary. 

 

 

PICARDI  v  ZIMMIOND  (2004) 

     Although the width of the right-of-way in contention was not a factor 
in our previous case, just the contrary is true here, as from this case we learn 
that the width of an easement can be just as important as it's location or any 
other such factor. Boundaries of easements, which very often take the form 
of a strip, can depend upon how well both the overall location and the width 
of the intended easement area are described, unfortunately the significance 
of properly describing these elements frequently goes unrecognized, only to 
later become a source of serious controversy, making it evident that 
easement boundaries can be just as important to property owners as the 
boundaries of their fee ownership. This case shows how easily confusion can 
result when ambiguous or otherwise insufficient language is inserted for 
purposes of limitation in an easement description, creating a scenario in 
which opposing parties each take the opportunity presented by such an 
absence of clarity to interpret that language in a manner that is most 
advantageous to them, in this instance leading to a situation in which both 
parties are fundamentally mistaken about their own land rights relating to the 
disputed area. This case also demonstrates the complexity that is inherent in 
the creation of exclusive easements, since they require proper definition of 
which party holds the authority to decide who shall be excluded from the 
easement area, while highlighting the fact that the Court is highly reluctant 
to imply exclusivity, or interpret any easement as being exclusive in nature, 
when the land rights involved are not expressly defined as being exclusive 
and do not need to be regarded as exclusive to serve their intended purpose. 
In addition, here again the Court upholds the value of extrinsic evidence, 
approving a verbal agreement which set the width of an easement, thereby 
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establishing the location of the easement boundaries, illustrating once more 
that the statute of frauds does not render all oral agreements relating to either 
fee or easement boundaries invalid, and that such agreements can become 
just as legally binding as written agreements, when their vital elements can 
be adequately proven. Much like the case that we are about to review, the 
2008 case of DeHaven v Hall presents another example of the efforts of the 
Court to strike an appropriate balance between the rights of dominant and 
servient parties, which is quite analogous to the often problematic balance 
between public and private land rights. In that case, DeHaven and Hall 
owned adjoining lands, and DeHaven's predecessor had granted Hall an 
access easement that was 30 feet in width, since Hall evidently needed to 
drive an existing road that crossed the DeHaven property in order to reach 
the Hall property, and there was no dispute over the easement's location, 
which was agreed to be defined by the existing road. A disagreement 
developed however, over who was primarily responsible for maintaining the 
roadway, which eventually resulted in the removal by Hall of two valuable 
trees that were evidently situated very near the roadway. DeHaven argued 
that Hall had no right to remove the trees and Hall's action had represented 
an unjustified expansion of Hall's easement, while Hall argued that his 
easement was not limited to the existing roadway and was a full 30 feet in 
width, allowing him the right to exert primary control over the entirety of the 
30 foot strip that was centered upon the existing road. Consistent with it's 
ruling in the 1969 Salmon case, also featured herein, the Court agreed with 
Hall that he had the right to utilize the entire width of the easement for 
access purposes, and he had never forsaken his rights to use that full 30 feet 
by using only the existing roadway, which was only 14 feet wide. However, 
the Court also held that DeHaven had the right to maintain any items, such 
as trees, within the easement area, as long as Hall did not require the use of 
the full width of that area for access, and Hall could not prove that he had 
cut down the trees with the intention of widening the roadway, or that any 
definite need to widen the roadway existed, to justify his removal of the 
trees, therefore the Court fully upheld a lower court award of treble timber 
damages to DeHaven.       

1998 - Hildebrand owned an unspecified amount of land situated in a 
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rural area in Meade County. Picardi acquired 320 acres of apparently 
vacant wooded land from Hildebrand, which was evidently situated in 
a remote location, an unspecified distance from the nearest public 
road. Whether or not any kind of road or trail leading to any portion of 
the Picardi property already existed at this time is unknown, but 
Picardi's deed made no reference to any existing access route, so he 
asked Hildebrand to grant him an access easement. Hildebrand agreed 
to grant Picardi access, on the condition that only one single family 
home would occupy the Picardi property, and the access easement 
would be used for no purpose other than residential access. 
Concerning the location of the easement being granted to Picardi, the 
language of their access agreement stated only that the easement 
would include "a roadway leading westerly from 132nd Avenue, at 
and along the community well access, to the east boundary of Section 
20". This written agreement concluded by stating that "this easement 
shall allow access to the Picardi property only and to no other 
property". Shortly after this access agreement was recorded, Picardi 
realized that the agreement failed to state the width of the access 
easement, so he asked Hildebrand to allow him to build a 28 foot wide 
road with an 8 foot wide ditch on each side of it, making a total 
easement width of 44 feet. Hildebrand verbally agreed that the 
easement would be 44 feet in width, but this oral agreement was never 
documented. Picardi then hired a contractor to build the road and 
ditches through a wooded portion of the Hildebrand property, and the 
contractor cut down a swath of trees 44 feet in width, and built a 
narrower road, ranging from 12 to 18 feet in width, presumably down 
the center of the cleared area, but he did not have time to complete the 
project before winter set in, so he told Picardi that he would come 
back and finish the work the following year. Hildebrand made no 
objection to the easement location that had been selected by Picardi, 
so Picardi utilized the easement to place a modular home on his 
property, and he and his family began using the roadway that had 
been built for them as their regular access route.      

1999 - The contractor who had built the road for Picardi died, without 
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returning to finish the road widening and the ditches, so Picardi 
postponed his plan to widen the road and construct adjoining ditches, 
instead he and his family just went on using the existing single lane 
roadway. 

2000 - Hildebrand created a subdivision, which included the portion 
of his land that was traversed by the Picardi access easement. The plat 
showed the existence of the easement, in an unspecified manner, but 
did not state it's width. Two of the new lots created by this plat were 
crossed by Picardi's easement, although the size of those lots, the 
length of the easement within those lots, and the position of the 
easement within those lots, are all unknown.  

2001 - Hildebrand sold the two lots that were burdened by Picardi's 
easement to Soppe and Zimmiond. Hildebrand was completely open 
and honest about the existence of the Picardi easement with these lot 
buyers, informing both of them that the entire cleared strip running 
through his property represented an easement that he had granted to 
Picardi for access purposes. The Soppes had no problem with the 
Picardi easement and they did not intrude upon it or interfere with it in 
any way. The Zimmionds were evidently somewhat less respectful of 
that easement however, and they proceeded to build a house in very 
close proximity to it. The Zimmionds then began using the road that 
had been built for Picardi as their own driveway, and they parked their 
vehicles in the easement area, sometimes completely blocking the 
roadway. In addition, Zimmiond built a fence of unspecified length, 
running along the edge of a portion of the existing roadway, so that he 
could use all of the land up to the edge of the road as a horse pasture. 
Picardi believed that he had the right to control all use of the 44 foot 
strip, so he filed an action against both Soppe and Zimmiond, seeking 
a judicial declaration that his easement was 44 feet in width, and that 
neither Soppe nor Zimmiond had any right to make any use of any 
portion of the cleared strip.    

     Picardi argued that his access easement was 44 feet in width because 
Hildebrand, as his grantor, had agreed to that width, and he asserted that the 
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44 foot width was legally binding upon both Soppe and Zimmiond as well, 
despite the fact that the width of the easement was not a matter of record, 
because they had adequate notice of both it's location and it's width, due to 
the tree clearing that had been done for Picardi, physically outlining the 
limits of the easement. Picardi further argued that the express language of 
his easement agreement with Hildebrand clearly stated that the easement 
was intended to serve his property, and his property alone, so no one had the 
right to use any portion of the 44 foot strip in any way without his consent, 
including the owners of the two lots through which the easement passed. 
Soppe and Zimmiond did not deny the existence of Picardi's access 
easement, nor did they take issue with the location in which his access road 
had been built, but Zimmiond argued that the easement was limited to the 
existing roadway, regardless of any verbal agreements that may have been 
made between Hildebrand and Picardi, because the width of the easement 
had ever been legally defined, so it was limited to the area that had been put 
into actual use for access purposes, and anything beyond that amounted to an 
unjustified expansion of the easement. Soppe and Zimmiond further argued 
that Picardi did not have any exclusive right to use the access easement, and 
as the servient land owners they were fully entitled to use the roadway that 
had been built for Picardi as well, since it was located within the boundaries 
of their lots. The trial court decided that Picardi's easement was 44 feet in 
width, but also held that it was not an exclusive easement, so Picardi did not 
have any right to fully control the use of the 44 foot strip, and Soppe and 
Zimmiond had an equal right to use that area, as long as they did not prevent 
Picardi from using it, in the manner agreed upon by Picardi and Hildebrand.    

     The parties on both sides were unsatisfied with the result produced by 
the trial court, so each of the litigants sought rectification by the Court of the 
particular aspect of the lower court judgment that had been decided against 
each of them on appeal. The Court agreed that the location of the disputed 
easement was governed by the path of actual use, since there was nothing in 
the easement agreement specifying any other location, adhering to the 
principle that the parties to any such agreement are free to leave the intended 
easement location undefined, thereby allowing it to become defined when 
the right being conveyed is put into actual use. As we have learned from the 
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several statute of frauds cases that we have reviewed, all agreements 
involving land rights, whether written or unwritten, are typically binding 
upon the parties who actually participated in making the agreement, such 
agreements however, do not become binding upon others unless it can be 
shown that those others had some form of notice, or some way of knowing, 
that the agreement existed. The acts of Picardi, subsequent to the agreement, 
were therefore of great legal importance, because his acts represented the 
actual implementation of the easement agreement in question, making those 
acts valid evidence, the Court emphasized, of the various unspecified details 
of the written agreement, which in this instance were the elements of 
location and width. Just as the easement's location had been defined by the 
clearing and construction work that had been done, so had the easement's 
width, the Court concluded, because the tree clearing represented distinct 
evidence of the extent of the area that was intended to be put into use as the 
subject of the agreement, stating that Zimmiond had therefore been mistaken 
in assuming that the easement did not extend beyond the single lane 
roadway itself. The fact that Hildebrand's subdivision plat showed the 
Picardi easement in an incomplete manner was of no consequence, in the 
eyes of the Court, since the easement had come into existence prior to the 
creation of the plat, therefore it represented a senior right, which could not 
be controlled by that plat, and it could not be legally altered in any way by 
the plat, regardless of how it appeared on the plat, so Zimmiond had erred in 
relying on the plat and ignoring what he had been told by Hildebrand. The 
details of the easement, the Court noted, were governed solely by the 
agreement that had created it, so even if had not been shown at all on the 
plat, it would have legally existed just the same, although failing to show it 
on the plat certainly could have had serious consequences, had there been no 
physically observable form of notice of it's existence on the ground. Picardi, 
as the grantee, had selected an appropriate location for the easement, and 
Hildebrand as the grantor had tacitly placed his blessing upon that location, 
just as he had verbally agreed to the easement's width, and the resulting 
easement boundaries, defined by the tree lines on either side of it, were 
visible to all parties, so the physical extent of the easement had been 
adequately established, the Court determined, and it had always been readily 
apparent to the defendants, as the lot buyers, making it legally binding upon 
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them as well. Quoting from the 1978 Northwest Realty case, discussed 
earlier herein, on the use of extrinsic evidence to supply missing details, 
such as location and width, pertaining to easements, the Court fully upheld 
the decision of the lower court on both of the issues that had been placed in 
contention by the respective litigants on appeal:  

“Zimmionds physically inspected the lot several times ... and 
were told by Hildebrand more than once prior to closing that 
the easement was forty-four feet in width ... Zimmiond herself 
testified the swath cut through the trees appeared to be around 
40 feet in width ... Soppes do not dispute the width of forty-four 
feet ... Zimmionds argued ... the roadway ... is adequate to serve 
the purpose for which it was intended ... that to allow Picardis 
to expand the width of the roadway ... is an impermissible 
enlargement of an easement ... An easement by grant does not 
require a definite statement as to width, dimensions or exact 
location ... failure of the grantee to make use of the full rights of 
the easement area as contained in the grant will not lessen the 
extent of the original grant ... Hildebrand and Picardi orally 
agreed to a forty-four foot wide easement ... The plat located 
the Picardi easement ... but did not describe the width of the 
easement, nor was it drawn to scale as required by Meade 
County Ordinance ... Zimmionds were put on notice that the 
width of the easement was greater than the width of the 
roadway ... they are bound by the terms of the easement as 
agreed to by the Hildebrands and Picardis ... failure of the 
Picardis to expand the roadway to encompass the full width ... 
is not relevant ... Picardis contend the easement was granted 
solely for their use, to the exclusion of the grantors and their 
successors ... The holder of a private perpetual road easement 
does not have the right ... to exclude all others ... The fee owner 
... has the authority to determine who shall be allowed access to 
the road, or to grant additional easements ... so long as 
additional users and uses do not interfere with the dominant 
tenement owner's rights ... The language (of the easement 
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agreement) when read in context, serves as a limitation upon 
Picardi's use of the easement, and not upon the grantor's 
reserved rights ... the Picardi easement was not for the exclusive 
use of Picardis." 

     As can be seen, the Court pointed out to Picardi that his claim that the 
easement agreement had given him the right to exclude others from the 
easement area was baseless, and in fact the language relied upon by Picardi 
meant exactly the opposite of what he thought it meant. Rather than 
preventing anyone else from using the easement area, the relevant language 
of the agreement, quoted in the timeline above, prevented Picardi himself 
from using the easement to serve any other land that he might ever acquire, 
so instead of operating in a manner that was beneficial to him, that language 
actually amounted to a restriction upon his own use of the easement. 
Therefore, both Soppe and Zimmiond had not only the right to use Picardi's 
road as a driveway themselves, they also had the right to continue using the 
rest of the easement area for parking or other temporary purposes, until such 
time as Picardi widened the road to 28 feet and built the adjoining ditches. 
An exclusive easement can give the easement holder rights that are 
tantamount to ownership of the land covered by the easement, leaving the 
grantor with only a bare and minimal ownership right, which is practically 
useless, known as an empty fee, but Picardi's easement was far from 
exclusive, it was actually very narrowly limited in the scope of it's potential 
use, and he was yet destined to learn this the hard way. Its noteworthy that 
despite the Court's conclusion that the plat prepared for Hildebrand was 
legally inadequate, none of the parties ever sought to place any liability upon 
either Hildebrand or his surveyor, although it was their failure to fully 
document the easement on the plat that had precipitated the controversy, by 
leaving the easement details unclear, when they had an ideal opportunity to 
clarify those details. The Court had confirmed that the ruling of the lower 
court was correct, demonstrating that the statute of frauds does not negate 
the existence of an easement whose location and width were never defined 
in writing, but this outcome disappointed all of the parties and left the matter 
not yet fully resolved. Picardi had won the right to use the full 44 feet, so he 
had the right to complete the road construction project that he had originally 
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planned, but he managed to snatch defeat from the jaws of victory. Picardi 
wanted to complete the construction of the intended 28 foot roadway, with 
the two 8 foot ditches, because he wanted to log his property, and he openly 
stated that he needed the full 44 feet for that purpose, demanding that 
Zimmiond remove any items located within the 44 foot strip, and 
particularly the fence enclosing Zimmiond's pasture, for that reason. 
Zimmiond refused to comply however, forcing Picardi to resort to litigation 
again, so the legal battle was rejoined, and the trial court ordered Zimmiond 
to comply by removing his fence. This conflict then came before the Court 
for a second time in 2005, on appeal by Zimmiond, requiring the Court to 
address the same scenario again, and to clarify it's prior ruling. After 
extensively explaining why the defendants, as the servient land owners, had 
the right to make use of both the road itself and the easement area, as long as 
they did not interfere with the basic right of free travel held by the Picardis 
and their invitees, the Court reminded Picardi that he had originally agreed 
that he would use the road for no purpose other than access to his home, so 
logging was among the numerous other possible uses of the road that were 
all expressly banned by the terms of the written agreement, reversing the 
lower court ruling to that extent. In the end Picardi obviously came out the 
loser, although he had in fact gotten everything that he had bargained for, 
because his ignorance concerning easements, along with his failure to think 
ahead to other uses that he might want to make of his property in the future, 
had caused him to settle for a highly limited easement that did not fully suit 
his needs. Whether or not Picardi ever completed his road construction 
project, as it was originally envisioned, which the Court had upheld his right 
to do, just to spite his neighbors, knowing that he could never use the 28 foot 
roadway as anything but a driveway to his own residence, is unknown. 
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ROTENBERGER  v  BURGHDUFF  (2007) 

     Here we conclude our review of the Court's application of the 
principles of law and equity that are associated with adverse or hostile land 
use to controversies over easement rights, with a case that presents a classic 
example of the creation of a private access easement by prescription, which 
operates to clarify the legal meaning of those vital terms, set apart from the 
implications of anger and animosity that those same terms carry when used 
for other purposes. Land uses that are adverse or hostile can and frequently 
do take place between well acquainted parties such as neighbors, even those 
who are lifelong friends or close relatives, because at law hostility is not a 
state of mind, it merely denotes an unauthorized use, which is made in the 
absence of any recognition that the owner of record of the land that is being 
utilized has any authority to stop or prevent that particular land use from 
taking place in a given location. Any activity, which is made in the same 
manner as it would be made by either a fee owner or an easement holder, is 
legally classified as a land use that is being made under a claim of right, 
meaning an assertion of permanent rights by the user, as opposed to a use 
that is made as a mere privilege, which of course leaves the continuation of 
that use perpetually at the discretion or mercy of the record owner. 
Therefore, any use that represents a genuine denial by the user, of the right 
of the record owner to exert full control over the relevant area, constitutes an 
adverse use, because it poses a land rights claim that stands in hostility to the 
title held by the owner of record, regardless of how good or bad any other 
relations between the relevant parties may be. In our final case concerning 
adverse land use and the prescriptive rights that develop from such use, we 
once again see the enormous importance of the evidentiary presumption of 
adverse use, which comes with the passage of time, and we also observe that 
the Court quite logically treats the concept of tacking the rights of successive 
land owners together as being just as applicable to easements as it is to 
adverse possession. When viewed conversely, from the perspective of the 
record owner of the land being used, as the vanquished party, this case also 
illustrates the impact of the refusal of the Court to apply any presumption of 
permissive use, which renders the concept of neighborly accommodation 
inapplicable and useless as a defense against a party who has established a 
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long term land use pattern, the validity of which the Court deems to be 
worthy of protection as a genuinely beneficial and productive use of the land 
of an adjoining owner. Here we also see how deeply entrenched the Court's 
view of the meaning and purpose of acquiescence has become through 
reiteration over the decades, as the Court again indicates that acquiescence 
provides a valid equitable basis upon which to found a claim of adverse or 
prescriptive rights of any type, since the Court sees acquiescence by the 
owner of record as a mark of submission on his part, to the legitimacy of the 
adverse use that is being made upon his land. Also quite worthy of note, the 
serious misunderstanding of a statutory provision relating to adverse rights 
demonstrated here by the defendant, drives home the point that no personal 
interpretation of any statute holds any value, unless confirmed by the Court, 
pointing out the great danger in arriving at independent conclusions 
regarding the statutes, without consulting the historic guidance that has been 
provided by the Court, since the Court holds the sole authority to 
conclusively state the true meaning of any statute. In addition, the outcome 
here again emphasizes that any easement created through prescription, like 
the ownership of land resulting from adverse possession, represents a valid 
existing land right, although entirely undocumented, from the moment of 
completion of the applicable statutory period, not merely from the time 
when the matter is adjudicated, highlighting the fact that unwritten land 
rights are entitled to respect and protection, just as are all documented land 
rights. 

1944 - Ketchum owned a ranch of unspecified size located in Harding 
County. In one particular township, Ketchum owned all of Section 6 
and part of the east half of Section 7, but the north half of the 
northeast quarter of Section 7 was owned by a predecessor of 
Burghduff, presumably Burghduff's father or another member of his 
family, so the portion of the Ketchum ranch located in the east half of 
Section 7 was separated from Ketchum's land in Section 6 by the 
Burghduff property. When these two ranches had been acquired by 
these parties is unknown, but their boundaries were evidently well 
known and undisputed, and neither party ever challenged the 
ownership of their respective lands by the other. No portion of the 
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section line right-of-way in this area had evidently been used for 
purposes of travel, but an old dirt road, that apparently dated back to 
the stagecoach era, passed through both the Ketchum and Burghduff 
properties, in an unspecified location, running generally northward 
and southward for an unspecified distance, presumably intersecting 
with a public road, either somewhere to the north or somewhere to the 
south of this area. Ketchum began using this road to access the 
portions of his ranch located in both Section 6 and Section 7, and in so 
doing he passed through the Burghduff property on a regular basis, 
although how frequently he used this route is unknown. The 
boundaries of both of these ranches were presumably fenced at this 
time, since they both contained livestock, so Ketchum presumably 
passed through gates at the north and south boundaries of the 
Burghduff tract when he used this road, yet he never asked anyone for 
permission to travel across that tract. No one ever challenged the right 
of Ketchum to use the old road, and he presumed that the reason his 
use of the road went unchallenged was because the owners of the 
Burghduff tract were using the road to cross the Ketchum property as 
well.  

1945 to 1984 - Ketchum's use of the old road crossing the Burghduff 
property continued throughout this period without objection from 
anyone, until he sold all of his land in Sections 6 & 7 to Rotenberger 
in 1984. Burghduff apparently acquired his land at an unspecified date 
during this period, but the use of all of the land owned by these parties 
for ranching purposes continued just as it always had, without any 
relevant development, improvement or other changes to the landscape. 
Whether or not any other parties ever used the old road is unknown, 
but no one ever suggested that it represented a public road, and 
Harding County never made any claim that it was public, so it was 
presumably very remote and seldom used.   

1985 to 2001 - After acquiring the Ketchum property, Rotenberger 
continued using the road in the same manner as Ketchum had used it, 
and Burghduff never made any objection to Rotenberger's use of it, 
until Burghduff found 2 of his calves dead in the road and he accused 
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Rotenberger of running them over. Whether or not Rotenberger 
actually killed them, or ever admitted to doing so, is unknown, but 
regardless of that, this incident caused Burghduff to lock his gates, 
preventing free passage across the Burghduff tract for the first time. 
The path of the old road was evidently well established and never 
varied from it's original location to any significant extent.    

2003 - Rotenberger filed an action against Burghduff, seeking a 
judicial declaration that a prescriptive easement existed in favor of his 
property over the portion of the old road located on the Burghduff 
property, to compel Burghduff to unlock his gates and allow 
Rotenberger to resume his previous use of the road. For unknown 
reasons however, the matter was dropped and no trial was held. 

2005 - The circuit court dismissed Rotenberger's action due to the 
apparent lack of interest in pursuing the matter any further, on the part 
of both of the parties and their legal counsel, so the proposed litigation 
was removed from the judicial calendar. Just a few months after this 
dismissal however, Rotenberger filed the same legal action against 
Burghduff once again.   

2006 - Rotenberger asked the circuit court to vacate the dismissal of 
the matter that it had issued in 2005, and the circuit court did so, 
stating that the dismissal had been without prejudice, thereby enabling 
the litigation that had been reinstated by Rotenberger to move 
forward. Burghduff protested this decision, insisting that the 2005 
dismissal had conclusively marked the end of the controversy, and it 
had effectively terminated Rotenberger's right to take any legal action 
against Burghduff concerning the use of the road. Burghduff's protest 
was disregarded by the circuit court however, allowing Rotenberger's 
action to proceed, and this decision on the part of the circuit court was 
upheld by the Court in 2007, just prior to the Court's review of the 
core issue, which of course was the question of whether or not any 
prescriptive access easement existed on the Burghduff tract.  

     Rotenberger argued that all of the use of the old road, by both 
Ketchum and himself had been adverse to Burghduff and his predecessor, 
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and that use had created an access easement by means of prescription upon 
completion of the first 20 years of such use of the road, so an easement over 
the portion of the road located on the Burghduff property, that was 
appurtenant to the Ketchum property, had existed even prior to 
Rotenberger's arrival, therefore Burghduff had no right to obstruct 
Rotenberger's use of the road in any way. Burghduff argued that none of the 
use of the old road had ever been adverse, because both he and his 
predecessor had tacitly consented to any use of the road by their neighbors, 
as a form of neighborly accommodation, and in addition, neither he nor his 
predecessor had ever claimed to have any easement over any of the 
properties through which they had passed when using the road themselves, 
because their use of the road was understood to represent neighborly 
accommodation as well, so no easement had ever been created on the 
Burghduff tract. Burghduff further argued that regardless of any evidence 
pertaining to the road or it's use, Rotenberger's easement claim must be 
summarily dismissed, because Rotenberger was legally required to file his 
prescriptive claim within one year of the date upon which Burghduff had 
blocked Rotenberger's use of the Burghduff property, and Rotenberger had 
failed to do so. The trial court held that all use of the old road had indeed 
been adverse, so the prescriptive easement claimed by Rotenberger existed, 
granting summary judgment in favor of Rotenberger and ignoring the 
arguments set forth by Burghduff, requiring Burghduff to unlock his gates 
and allow Rotenberger to continue using the portion of the road traversing 
the Burghduff property. 

     Before proceeding to discuss the Court's handling of the prescriptive 
rights issue, the outcome of the dismissal appeal referenced in the timeline 
above is worth noting, as an example of the relevance and limitations of the 
concept of res judicata, which dictates that issues which have already been 
litigated should not be revisited. The Court highly honors and often employs 
res judicata, to eliminate issues that waste judicial time, having been 
previously resolved, but in this instance the Court pointed out to Burghduff 
that Rotenberger's first action against him had never been adjudicated, so 
nothing had been resolved, and such a dismissal of an action is presumed to 
envision the possibility that the same action will come up again, for proper 
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resolution, therefore Rotenberger's initial failure to pursue his claim to 
fruition did not prevent him from doing so later, as he had done. Having 
cleared that hurdle, the Court, in this second approach to the conflict 
between these two long time neighbors, turned to the matter of the 
appropriateness of the summary judgment, which had silenced Burghduff's 
assertions and handed outright victory to Rotenberger. The Court 
undoubtedly recognized that the old stagecoach trail in dispute was very 
likely an RS 2477 road, dating from territorial times, as discussed in the very 
first case reviewed herein, but by this time RS 2477 had been repealed for 
decades, and the ancient evidence needed to successfully invoke such a 
claim had long been lost, forcing Rotenberger to turn to prescription to 
protect his right to use a road that would in fact have once been deemed to 
be public, in the days of RS 2477. The actual use of the old road, as outlined 
above, forms a classic case of neighborly accommodation, but that doctrine, 
which has been accepted and applied by several other western states, has 
never been adopted by the Court, and was therefore of no assistance to 
Burghduff, rendering his claim that the road was used under the tacit and 
mutual consent of all parties legally worthless, although that was quite likely 
a truthful assertion from his perspective. The testimony of Ketchum was 
critical, drawing the Court's close attention, being the only evidence 
presented by anyone who was actually on the ground at the earliest date of 
documented road use, nearly 6 decades before the controversy over the road 
had broken out, making it clear to the Court that the use of the road had been 
treated as a mutual right for generations, presumably stemming from the 
apparently public character of it's origin. The fact that the nature of the old 
trail's development, through either construction or plain usage, was entirely 
unknown, was also crucial, leading the Court to unhesitatingly apply the 
legal presumption that long standing use must be viewed as being adverse to 
those properties upon which it takes place. In issuing summary judgment, 
the trial court had indicated that Burghduff's acquiescence to the use of the 
old road was a pivotal factor, acknowledging that in South Dakota 
acquiescence has been conclusively linked to adverse land uses of all kinds, 
unlike North Dakota, where acquiescence has been decisively linked to 
adverse possession, but has been expressly held to be applicable to boundary 
disputes only, and to be inapplicable to easements. Quoting from 15-3-3, the 
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1939 adverse possession statute brought into play by Burghduff's second 
argument, and following New York and Wisconsin on the proper 
interpretation of such a statute, the Court proceeded to rectify Burghduff's 
fundamentally mistaken view of that statute's meaning: 

“a prescriptive easement must meet a two part test, by clear and 
convincing evidence ... open, continued and unmolested use of 
the land in the possession of another for the statutory period ... 
in a manner that is hostile or adverse to the owner ... Ketchum 
used the trail with the neighbor's knowledge ... for more than 
twenty years without interruption ... Burghduff has not put forth 
any specific facts that show that Ketchum received permission 
... a prescriptive easement ... existed when Rotenberger 
purchased the land ... the circuit court noted the doctrine of 
acquiescence, found in adverse possession law, could be used to 
demonstrate the adverse or hostile requirement ... title may be 
acquired through acquiescence alone ... Rotenberger is entitled 
to summary judgment ... Burghduff alleges that Rotenberger 
had one year from the time he prevented Rotenberger from 
using the trail to commence his declaratory action. He bases 
this claim on 15-3-3 ... "No entry upon real estate shall be 
deemed sufficient or valid as a claim unless an action be 
commenced thereupon within one year after the making of such 
entry" ... adverse possession occurs by operation of law ... the 
statute ... would be antithetical to the statutory provisions for 
title by adverse possession ... the statute ... meant an entry 
constituting an interruption of the adverse possession ... the 
statute means the land owner threatened with losing his land to 
adverse possession has one year to commence an action ... the 
land owner burdened by a potential prescriptive easement 
would have to prevent the use of the easement ... within one 
year ... Burghduff's predecessor had one year ... to commence 
an action ... within the twenty year prescriptive period. Once the 
twenty years have run, the claimant has a prescriptive easement 
... the requirements for a prescriptive easement had been 
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fulfilled." 

     Just like Picardi in our previous case, Burghduff simply did not 
adequately understand basic land rights, completely misunderstanding the 
meaning of the one year statute, failing to comprehend that statutes of 
limitation serve to limit the rights of record owners, not those of adverse 
claimants, because the rights of adverse claimants are governed solely by 
operation of law. 15-3-3, the Court explained, stipulates that once an owner 
of record states that he has interrupted any use of the owner's land that is 
being made by another party, adverse to the owner's land rights, the record 
owner must take legal action against the adverse claimant within one year, 
and prove that he truly interrupted the development of the adverse right 
before it matured, or else his interruption charge will be considered stale and 
invalid, allowing the adverse right in question to ripen to completion. 
Burghduff thought the "entry" referenced in the statute meant the entry by 
the adverse claimant, commencing the adverse use, but as the Court 
observed, that would be an absurdity, so the "entry" mentioned in the statute 
is necessarily the effort to recover land or land rights by the owner of record, 
who is the party whose behavior and options are effectively restricted by the 
statute. It should also be noted that the existence or absence of any 
easements over any portions of the old road on any other properties was 
once again irrelevant here, just as we have previously learned from the 2003 
Hofmeister case. With regard to the concept of hostility, the Court was 
cognizant that all of the use made of the road in this scenario was compatible 
use, leading the Court to specify that legal hostility operates only in the 
context of land rights interests, and it is not equivalent to hostility in any 
personal or emotional sense. While tacking of the use of the road made by 
Rotenberger to that of Ketchum would have been applicable here, the Court 
held, tacking was unnecessary, because Ketchum's use of the road alone had 
conclusively created the easement in question. With regard to the continuity 
of the use of the old road, the scarcity of the use was irrelevant, because all 
that a prescriptive easement claimant needs to show is that he used the road 
at will, whenever it was needed or useful, regardless of how frequently or 
infrequently that might have been. Moreover, with respect to the exclusivity 
of the road use, it made no difference how many others, aside from Ketchum 
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and Rotenberger may have used the route, although that would have been 
relevant if a public prescriptive right-of-way were being claimed, all that 
mattered was that Ketchum used the old trail unmolested, in a manner that 
was indicative of a claim of right, that was exclusive unto himself. In 
addition, the Court here once again deemed gates to be insufficient to negate 
the presumption that the road use was adverse, directly contrary to North 
Dakota, where gates are treated as presumptive evidence of permissive use. 
Since the width of a prescriptive easement for any purpose is always the 
product of the width that was actually used, the width of the easement was 
already fully physically defined, making that an issue which did not require 
the Court's attention. Deciding that the easement in controversy had in fact 
existed at least since the completion of the statutory 20 year period in 1964, 
even without any adjudication at that time, the Court fully upheld the lower 
court ruling in favor of Rotenberger, demonstrating that surveyors would be 
wise to recognize and appreciate the fact that failing to show existing 
physical conditions may be equivalent to neglecting to properly document 
evidence of valuable existing land rights. However, an easement obviously 
never gives anyone any right to act destructively, so the calf killing, or any 
other possible abuse of the easement, represented a separate matter, which 
Burghduff could still choose to pursue independently, serving as a reminder 
that all easement holders should be mindful that serious or persistent abuse 
of an easement can potentially result in it's judicial termination. In 
conclusion, if there was any good news for Burghduff, it was that he quite 
likely held an equivalent easement himself, over whatever portion of the old 
trail crossing the Rotenberger property he had been using, if Burghduff 
cared enough to launch an action to obtain definite verification of that, and 
to make his own existing access rights a matter of record, just as 
Rotenberger had done. 
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VANDER HEIDE  v  BOKE RANCH  (2007) 

     Our last case involving the statute of frauds affirms the relevance of 
that statute to easements, even while acknowledging that conditions which 
give rise to estoppel, as we have so frequently observed in our review of 
previous statute of frauds cases, can compel the Court to set that statute 
aside for equitable reasons, which the Court always retains the authority to 
do, as the ultimate enforcer of justice and equity within the boundaries of 
South Dakota. Extrinsic evidence, in the form of testimony concerning the 
actual intentions of the parties who created an easement, and physical notice, 
provided simply by the actual location of a visible trail upon the ground, are 
once again the decisive elements of evidence dictating the outcome of this 
case, which is very much in accord with the many historic rulings of the 
Court to the same effect that we have reviewed herein. As in the 
Rotenberger case, just previously reviewed, the Court here upholds the 
existence of an access easement, but does so through an entirely different set 
of principles, since unlike that case, the disputed access rights in this 
scenario were never adverse, being the product of an agreement, which 
became a source of controversy only after many years of minimal use or an 
absence of use, pursuant to a written agreement which was woefully lacking 
in both specificity of location and certainty of description. The great 
importance of always expressing intent with clarity and completeness when 
describing any land rights is thus on display in this case, which presents a 
classic example of the kind of conflict that arises when a proposed 
subdivision is resisted by adjoining land owners, who then call existing 
access rights into question as a means of blocking the unwanted 
development, requiring judicial scrutiny of the true intentions of their 
predecessors, who had put those rights in place with only a very basic 
written agreement. The pitfalls to be avoided in composing descriptive 
language are legion, as most land surveyors with extensive description 
writing experience can attest, but all such inadequacies can ultimately be 
attributed simply to a failure to clearly and completely express what was 
truly intended, and another case which well illustrates this is the 2004 case 
of Block v Drake. In that case, both Block and Drake owned tracts of 
unspecified size and shape having frontage on Enemy Swim Lake in Day 
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County, but following a series of disputes over the use of various access 
routes leading to the lake and crossing the properties of the litigants, a trial 
court judgment ordered Drake to grant an easement along a certain path, to 
provide public access to the lake over a portion of Drake's land "for hunting 
and fishing purposes". Drake subsequently gated the access route however, 
and locked the gate, at some unspecified distance from the lake, forcing all 
users of the access route to park and walk some significant distance to reach 
the water, leading Block to charge Drake with contempt, and the lower court 
agreed with Block that Drake's locked gate constituted an unjustified 
blockage of the access easement. On appeal however, Drake argued that the 
lower court judgment ordering him to provide public lake access did not 
stipulate that he had to allow vehicular access over his land, so under the 
terms of the existing judgment, he had the right to prevent any vehicular use 
of the access route and allow only foot access, as he had done, and the Court 
agreed with him. Criticizing the descriptive language employed by the lower 
court in creating the access easement as "not without substantial vagueness", 
the Court found it necessary to remand the matter to the lower court for 
clarification of the relative rights of the parties, showing that all those who 
engage in the composition of legal descriptions bear a substantial burden of 
care in the preparation of any such documents, which must properly define 
the relevant land rights of the parties, in a manner that effectively precludes 
such discord.  

Prior to 1957 - A rural county road ran along an unspecified path, 
within a public right-of-way of unspecified width, in a generally 
easterly and westerly direction, for an unspecified distance, through 
an unspecified portion of Lawrence County, presumably connecting 
with other public roads or highways at both it's eastern and western 
ends. Whether or not it was situated within a section line right-of-way 
is unknown, this roadway may have been substantially straight, or it 
may have wandered and meandered through the area, independent of 
any section line. Nothing is known about the origin or the use of this 
road, but it was acknowledged as a public roadway, protected by an 
established public right-of-way, so it was presumably maintained by 
the county and used by the public in the typical manner for decades. 
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How long this road was, and how many properties it crossed, are also 
unknown, but it did cross at least two large properties, and it included 
a bridge over a creek, which was situated somewhere within the 
boundaries of the eastern tract. At an unspecified time, the creek 
flooded and washed out the bridge, after which another bridge was 
built in a different location, by an unknown party or parties, an 
unspecified distance away from the original bridge, somewhere 
outside the existing public right-of-way, and the route naturally 
changed at that time, to utilize the new bridge. The old bridge was 
never rebuilt, and the new bridge continued to serve as part of the 
roadway, but no official change was ever made to the location of the 
public right-of-way. Who owned any of the relevant land at this time, 
and how the land was being used, are both unknown, but apparently 
no one ever objected to this relocation of a portion of the public road, 
so the new route was used by the public for purposes of travel 
henceforward.    

1957 - Dodds acquired a quarter section through which this road 
passed, which was located directly to the west of the property bearing 
the creek and the bridge. Dodds regularly used the road, driving 
across the bridge and the rest of the eastern tract to reach his property 
from the east, and everyone recognized and treated the bridge as being 
part of the public roadway.  

1958 to 1981 - For unknown reasons, public use of this road 
apparently diminished significantly during this period, and by the end 
of this period it was overgrown with grass and was barely visible. By 
the end of this period, the property bearing the bridge had been 
acquired by Mitchell, and just as Dodds used the portion of the road 
on the Mitchell property, Mitchell regularly used the portion of the 
road crossing the Dodds property, when accessing his property from 
the west. Both Dodds and Mitchell apparently operated farms, and 
they both resided on their adjoining properties, becoming friendly 
neighbors. 

1982 - Lawrence County officially vacated the public right-of-way 
that had long guarded the old road. Dodds and Mitchell both still 
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intended to continue using the old trail as a private access route to 
their properties however, so they entered an easement agreement, in 
order to document their rights of access, and to make the ongoing 
mutual use of the old trail appurtenant to their respective properties. 
Regarding the location and width of the private easement that they 
were creating, their written agreement stated only that it pertained to 
"the current established right-of-way and road" and it went on to 
specify that it was their mutual intention to thereby allow "continued 
use of the present roadway" to serve both of their properties, clearly 
making each of their properties both dominant and servient with 
respect to the other. In addition, this written agreement stipulated that 
neither property owner had any responsibility to maintain the road, 
and it also provided that both property owners had the right to erect 
gates along the road as needed, which could be locked by either 
property owner if keys were supplied to the owner of the other 
property. 

1983 to 1998 - At an unspecified date during this period, Mitchell 
conveyed the eastern tract to McLaughlin, and she took up residence 
on that tract. To what extent the old roadway was used after 
McLaughlin arrived, either by her or by Dodds, is unknown, but no 
problems arose concerning the use of the road during this period.  

1999 - Dodds conveyed the western tract to Boke, who was a real 
estate agent, with plans to develop that tract.  

2000 - Boke applied to Lawrence County, seeking to have his 
property rezoned, so he could create a residential subdivision. After 
learning that there was some resistance to this idea among the 
residents of the area, Boke had a conversation about his plans with 
Vander Heide, who was apparently living with McLaughlin on the 
eastern tract by this time. Vander Heide expressed concerns about the 
possible use of the 1982 easement located on the McLaughlin 
property to serve Boke's proposed subdivision, and Boke informed 
Vander Heide that he had no intention of using the easement as the 
primary access route into the proposed subdivision. 
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2001 to 2002 - Apparently as a result of what he had been told by 
Boke, Vander Heide dropped his opposition to Boke's rezoning 
application, and at an unspecified date during this period, the Boke 
property was rezoned, enabling Boke's subdivision to proceed to the 
design phase. 

2003 - McLaughlin conveyed a partial interest in her property to 
Vander Heide, making him a co-owner of the eastern tract along with 
her, and they continued to live together on their property. 

2005 - Vander Heide and McLaughlin put the western portion of their 
tract, bordering the Boke tract, up for sale, and Bender wanted to 
acquire that area from them. Bender went to Boke and told him that 
after buying the land adjoining the proposed Boke subdivision on the 
east, Bender intended to access that property from the west, by 
utilizing the portion of the 1982 easement that passed through the 
Boke tract. Boke then told Bender that if Bender used the easement 
over the Boke tract, Boke would use the easement over the land that 
Bender was planning to buy as the main entrance to his new 
subdivision. Upon hearing this from Boke, Bender told Vander Heide 
that he was no longer interested in buying the tract that Vander Heide 
and McLaughlin were trying to sell. Vander Heide and McLaughlin 
then filed an action against Boke, seeking judicial clarification of the 
rights of the owners of the former Dodds and Mitchell tracts to the 
reciprocal access easements that had been created 23 years earlier. 
After this legal action was filed, Bender apparently changed his mind 
and decided to buy the land that was being offered by Vander Heide 
and McLaughlin after all, and they conveyed it to him. Bender then 
proceeded to gravel the portion of the old trail running across the 
Boke tract and the Benders began using that roadway as their 
principal access route. Boke reacted to this by involving Bender in the 
existing legal action, as a third party defendant, and also by erecting 2 
gates on the portion of the 1982 easement crossing his property, and 
locking both of them, although he did provide gate keys to Bender, 
Vander Heide and McLaughlin.       
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     Vander Heide and McLaughlin argued that the 1982 easement did not 
cover the portion of the roadway that extended outside of the vacated public 
right-of-way, which included the bridge, so Boke had no right to drive on 
that portion of the old trail, and he therefore had no right to use the existing 
route through their property to provide access to his proposed subdivision, 
but they did not argue that the construction of Boke's subdivision would 
result in excessive use or overburdening of the existing easement. Vander 
Heide and McLaughlin further argued that Boke had promised not to use the 
old trail to support his subdivision, in exchange for their agreement not to 
oppose Boke's development plans, so he should not be allowed to use any 
portion of the roadway on their tract for subdivision access purposes. Boke 
argued that the 1982 easement covered the entire length of the existing 
roadway across the eastern tract, including the bridge and the part of the 
road that was situated outside the boundaries of the original public right-of-
way, and he had never promised not to use that route to serve his 
subdivision, so he had the right to make full use of it for that purpose. Boke 
further argued that Bender had no right to place gravel on the old roadway, 
claiming that Bender's action amounted to an unauthorized expansion of the 
easement. Bender argued that he had the right to gravel the access route, just 
as he had done, and that Boke had no right to lock the gates which Boke had 
placed across the old road. The trial court determined that the 1982 easement 
covered the entire length of the existing roadway on both the eastern and 
western tracts, both inside and outside the vacated right-of-way, but only to 
the width of the existing roadway, and Boke was free to use the whole 
eastern portion of the road to serve his subdivision under the terms of the 
1982 agreement, and nothing in that agreement prevented either Bender's 
improvement of the road or Boke's gating of the road, although Boke could 
lock only one of his gates.        

     Undoubtedly, Dodds and Mitchell believed that their mutual access 
agreement was complete, and that it adequately covered the future use of the 
old roadway, as they envisioned it, but they failed to realize that they were 
creating a hornet's nest full of potential problems for their successors, by 
describing the easement using only highly general terms. They made no 
reference to any limitations upon the volume of use to which the old trail 
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was subject in their documented agreement, nor did they anticipate any 
improvement of the route, raising the question of how much use the road 
itself, and the servient lands, could be required to bear, leaving all such 
matters open to adjudication by the Court. Although Vander Heide and 
McLaughlin obviously objected to the increased use of the road, when that 
was first proposed by Boke, they had no way of proving that it would 
overburden the easement crossing their land, so they chose to try to block 
Boke's proposed use of the road by leveraging the altered bridge location 
and Boke's own words, concerning his anticipated use of the road in 
connection with his planned subdivision. The trial court allowed testimony 
to clarify the meaning of the language that had been used to outline the 
terms of the mutual easements, and relied heavily upon the testimony of 
Dodds, as one of the original parties, to provide the true intent of that 
language, which the Court viewed with approval, as legitimate evidence of 
the intent of the lone surviving grantor, Mitchell apparently being deceased. 
Though all of the litigants had good reason to object to various portions of 
this testimony, to the extent that it operated against their own interests or 
preferences, the Court nonetheless held that such testimony was entirely 
acceptable, and acknowledged that it could be controlling, since it served 
merely to validate and clarify, rather than to modify or replace, any of the 
written words that had been employed by Dodds and Mitchell in 1982. 
Vander Heide testified that he made an oral agreement with Boke in 2000, 
which had enabled Boke to gain approval of his rezoning and subdivision 
proposals, under which Boke had abandoned his appurtenant easement over 
the eastern tract. Boke countered this with his own testimony to the contrary, 
insisting that if there had been any oral agreement at all between the two 
men, it was that both parties would use only their own portions of the road, 
and there had been no agreement pertaining to Boke's proposed development 
of his land. The statute of frauds, the Court stated, prevents the modification 
of written contracts or agreements of any kind by oral means, where no 
physical evidence of any such contractual alteration appears, to support the 
performance of such an oral modification and remove the scenario from the 
operation of the statute, in full accord with the rulings of the Court in prior 
statute of frauds cases. A mere expression of intent is not equivalent to a 
promise, the Court pointed out, because the intentions of the parties do not 
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become binding until they are contractualized, although a genuine promise 
once made can result in estoppel, particularly if it is acted upon, introducing 
justifiable or detrimental reliance, which is an extremely powerful factor, as 
we have also repeatedly seen. In addition, the Court noted, Vander Heide did 
not acquire any legal interest in the McLaughlin property until 2003, nearly 
3 years after his alleged agreement with Boke, so he had no authority to 
forge any binding agreement involving any land rights when he spoke with 
Boke in 2000. Viewing Boke's portrayal of the 2000 conversation with 
favor, and confirming that no oral modification of written contracts is 
possible, in the absence of conditions supporting estoppel, the Court agreed 
that Vander Heide's assertions concerning Boke's verbal statements were 
without merit: 

“Vander Heide ... alleged an oral agreement modifying a 
written easement ... not to use that portion of the roadway on 
Vander Heide's property for Boke development ingress and 
egress ... An agreement is the result of a mutual assent ... There 
must be mutual assent or a meeting of the minds on all essential 
elements or terms ... mutual consent is determined by 
considering the parties words and actions ... According to Boke, 
the two merely met so that he could explain his development 
plan and his intent ... no meeting of the minds or consensus as 
to the alleged oral agreement was ever demonstrated ... the 
essential contract element of consent was missing ... there was 
no oral agreement to modify the written easement ... A contract 
subject to the statute of frauds cannot be modified by oral 
agreement ... an agreement otherwise subject to the statute of 
frauds is removed therefrom by promissory estoppel ... 
Promissory estoppel is not applicable ... elements are lacking or 
have not been proven ... Boke merely expressed intent not to 
use the roadway on Vander Heide's property ... Vander Heide's 
alleged reliance was not in any way justified, given the absence 
of a promise ... The route over the creek is by way of a 
deviation from the roadway ... The deviation passes over 
Vander Heide's property near the front yard ... Dodds testified 
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... the route over the creek has always been by way of the 
deviation ... it was their intent that the deviation be included in 
the easement ... the deviation was included as part of the present 
roadway, as provided in the 1982 easement ... Vander Heide 
argues that the 1982 easement is unambiguous ... and that the 
easement extends over the roadway within the original county 
right-of-way, with no deviation ... We disagree ... when the 
language is ambiguous, we may go beyond the four corners, to 
ascertain the intent of the parties ... the terminology that 
reserves an easement following the established right-of-way 
and road is ambiguous ... we must go beyond the agreement to 
determine the intent of the parties ... in the light of the 
testimony of Dodds, an original party to the easement ... the 
easement includes the deviation ... Moreover ... a party is 
charged with inquiry notice of an easement ... when 
McLaughlin acquired the Mitchell property she had knowledge 
that it was the deviation that afforded users of the roadway a 
route across the creek." 

     Having failed to obviate the statute of frauds, Vander Heide and 
McLaughlin were forced to rely upon the altered physical location of part of 
the trail through their tract to support their effort to shut down Boke's 
proposed use of it, but along this line of attack they were destined to meet 
with defeat once again. As we have frequently observed, the Court is always 
quite reluctant to allow fundamentally technical positions to control or 
prevail in the determination of land rights, and from this perspective the 
Court viewed the fact that part of the roadway was situated outside the 
original public right-of-way as a tactical device, based upon a mere 
technicality, which had been opportunistically employed by Vander Heide 
and McLaughlin. The Court is always fully prepared to negate such a claim 
however, with a broad range of legal and equitable tools, such as the rules 
governing description interpretation in this instance. Any difference in 
location between a road itself and a right-of-way that was intended to 
contain the road makes any legal description relating to either the roadway 
or the right-of-way ambiguous, bringing extrinsic evidence to into play, 
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causing the Court to abandon the four corners of the description, as the 
Court put it, in search of the truly intended access route location. Extrinsic 
evidence of physical acts can very often be at least equal in evidentiary value 
to words, and here the long standing actual use of the trail, as altered to 
utilize the rebuilt bridge, along with the testimony of Dodds, faithfully 
identified the road itself as the truly intended easement location, to the 
Court's satisfaction. Further endorsing the validity of the portion of the 
easement projecting outside the vacated right-of-way, was the fact that the 
physical deviation in the location of the road from it's original course, put 
McLaughlin on inquiry notice when she acquired the Mitchell property, 
making her silence about the deviation at that time, and for many years 
thereafter, enough to legally bind her, and Vander Heide as her grantee as 
well, to the roadway location that was in actual use, in the eyes of the Court. 
Since nothing in the 1982 agreement placed any limitations upon road 
improvement, Bender's graveling of the old road was fully acceptable to the 
Court as well, because an easement holder always holds the right to keep his 
easement useful, and a servient owner such as Boke can only prevent such 
improvements to an easement, made by or on behalf of the dominant party, 
if they result in an expansion of the physical area or the original scope of the 
easement, or if damage to the servient estate can be shown. The width of the 
1982 easement, the Court also agreed, was not the full vacated right-of-way 
width, it was the actual roadway width, based once again upon the extrinsic 
evidence provided by both the testimony of Dodds and the historic use of the 
road. The number of gates that could be installed by either party, not being 
limited by the language of the 1982 agreement either, was limited only by 
what could be deemed reasonable, the Court indicated, and all gates shown 
to be reasonable could necessarily be locked, once keys were provided, per 
the written agreement language, upholding the lower court ruling in all other 
respects, while striking down only the decision that no more than one gate 
could be locked. Most ironically however, Boke's success in arguing that 
both of his gates could be locked, during his battle with Bender, gave 
Vander Heide and McLaughlin an ideal opportunity to legally make the 
portion of the road crossing their property virtually useless to Boke for 
subdivision access purposes, simply by installing locked gates on their tract, 
just as Boke had done on his portion of the road, in an effort to discourage 
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Bender from driving across his land. In the end, each of the parties had 
contributed greatly to turning the once peaceful little trail into a major 
source of controversy, bitterness, frustration and expense for all concerned, 
making this case a classic example of one from which no party emerged 
bearing the mantle of victory.   

 

 

BOYER  v  DENNIS  (2007) 

     Yet another highly informative easement case from the year 2007, 
illustrating how relevant evidence of even the most minimal use of land can 
be to the preservation of land rights, will serve as our last case on the topic 
of access easements. Again here the strong inclination of the Court to protect 
all existing easements is well demonstrated, and the acts of several different 
parties, including acts performed by children, form the key elements of 
evidence that are cited by the Court in support of the ongoing existence of an 
easement that was physically blocked for decades. Its especially important to 
realize that the existence of the easement which lies at the center of this 
controversy is not dependent upon whether or not any words or text making 
any reference to it appear in any current deeds, even though it does not 
represent an unwritten right, since it was created in writing in the 
conventional manner, through inclusion in a deed. The circumstances of this 
case emphasize one of the most valuable lessons that we have learned from 
this course of study, that easements which appear in no deeds can and do 
very often exist, and conversely, easements that do appear even in many 
deeds may very well no longer exist, because an easement once created, 
cannot be terminated through a mere omission to identify it, while an 
easement that no longer exists cannot be revived by a party who has no legal 
control over the land upon which the easement once resided. As we have 
repeatedly observed, the Court recognizes that the existence or presence of 
valid land rights can, in many instances, be denoted just as readily through 
existing physical conditions on the ground as through documentation, 
making it essential for surveyors to appreciate the importance of locating 
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and fully illustrating all visible land uses on their graphic products of all 
kinds, in order to properly protect all such potential land rights. The case of 
Brown v Hanson, which came to the Court twice, in 2007 and 2011, 
represents another scenario in which the Court protected an easement of a 
different kind, and also reveals the very serious consequences that can result 
from a failure to acknowledge the existence of an easement. In that case, 
Brown and Hanson owned adjoining properties of unspecified size, and a 
well was situated on Hanson's land, so in 2000, Hanson granted Brown an 
easement, allowing Brown the right "to use the water from the well for 
domestic purposes only". Over the ensuing years, Brown allowed many 
people to camp on his land, and those people made heavy use of the well, 
angering Hanson, so when Brown offered his land for sale in 2006, Hanson 
informed Brown's grantee that no further use of the well would be allowed, 
causing Brown's grantee to refuse to buy Brown's tract, whereupon Brown 
filed an action against Hanson, alleging that Hanson's wrongful denial of the 
existence of the well easement had done financial damage to Brown. Hanson 
responded by alleging that the easement had been extinguished, as a result of 
Brown's abuse of it, but in 2007 the Court fully upheld a lower court 
decision stating that the easement still existed, because Brown's abuse of his 
easement rights did not have the legal effect of destroying the easement, and 
did not justify Hanson's attempt to rescind the easement. Then in 2008 
Brown accused Hanson of having slandered Brown's title, by erroneously 
denying the existence of the well easement, and in 2010 the trial court 
awarded Brown several thousand dollars in punitive damages on that basis. 
Upon a second appeal by Hanson, the Court agreed that Hanson was guilty 
of slander of title, because he had recorded a statement indicating that 
Brown held no easement upon the Hanson property, holding that anyone 
who causes an unjustified cloud to appear upon the title of another party can 
be found guilty of slander.    

Prior to 1972 - A certain city block in Rapid City contained a number 
of typical rectangular residential lots, several of which fronted upon 
the south side of Sunset Drive, a city street which ran along the north 
side of the block. In the center of this block, directly south of the 
aforementioned row of typical lots, was one large lot, which had no 
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frontage upon any public street. This oversized lot occupying the 
central portion of the block was bounded by additional lots of smaller 
size, to the east, west and south of it, so it had no direct contact with 
any public right-of-way. How and when this peculiar lot configuration 
had come into existence is unknown, but apparently by the end of this 
period most of these lots had been in typical residential use by various 
parties for many years, although some of the lots in this block were 
evidently still vacant.    

1972 - Heligas owned one of the lots fronting upon the south side of 
Sunset Drive, which was apparently vacant, and was situated near the 
middle of the block, and he also owned the oversized lot that bounded 
his regular lot on the south. How or when Heligas had acquired these 
lots is unknown, but his ownership of them was never challenged, 
presumably all of the surrounding lots were owned by other parties 
and Heligas owned no other property in this block. Heligas conveyed 
his lot fronting on Sunset Drive to Dennis, and in his deed to her, he 
reserved an access easement of unspecified width for the benefit of 
the oversized lot, which covered the eastern portion of the lot that he 
sold to Dennis, thereby creating a direct path of access from the 
oversized lot to Sunset Drive. How this access easement was 
described by Heligas is unknown, but it must have been adequately 
described, since no dispute over either it's location or it's width ever 
developed. The boundaries of these lots were apparently all clearly 
marked and well known, so the location of the strip selected by 
Heligas to be used as an access easement was evidently well 
understood, but there is no indication that this particular strip had ever 
been used for the purpose of access by Heligas or anyone else.     

1973 - Dennis had a house built on her lot and began residing on her 
property. How far her house was from the west edge of the easement 
strip is unknown, but this house apparently did not encroach upon the 
easement. Whether or not Dennis made any actual use of the easterly 
portion of her lot, which bore the access easement, is also unknown. 
Heligas conveyed the oversized lot to Storm at this time, but whether 
or not Storm's deed made any reference to the access easement over 
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the Dennis lot is unknown, so Storm may or may not have been aware 
of the existence of the easement that had been created by Heligas for 
the benefit of the oversized lot. How Storm used his property is 
unknown, and whether or not a house or any other improvements 
existed on the oversized lot at this time is unknown as well.  

1974 to 1975 - At an unspecified date during this period, either Storm 
or his wife apparently tried to make some kind of use of the easement 
crossing the Dennis lot, at which time Dennis informed Storm's wife 
that she did not want the Storms to use the easement. Why Dennis 
objected to the use of the easement, and why she felt that she had the 
right to control the use of the easement area are both unknown, but the 
Storms acquiesced to this request from Dennis, and they agreed to 
access their property by other means instead, presumably by simply 
driving through some other vacant lot adjoining their property without 
any permission, or possibly by using some other access route that had 
been made available to them through the permission of some other 
adjoining lot owner.  

1976 - Storm conveyed his lot to his wife, but whether or not any 
particular access route was mentioned in this deed is unknown. 
Whether or not the Storms ever resided on their lot, or ever built any 
improvements on it, or made any particular use of it, are all unknown, 
but they continued to honor the request that had been made by Dennis 
to leave the access easement on the Dennis property entirely unused, 
so they never again attempted to make any use of the easement area. 

1982 - Storm's wife conveyed the oversized lot to Boyer, but whether 
or not any particular access route was mentioned in this deed is 
unknown. Boyer and his wife never resided on the property that they 
acquired at this time however, instead the Winchesters, who were the 
parents of Boyer's wife, took up residence on the Boyer lot, although 
whether they lived in an existing house or built a new house on the 
Boyer property is unknown, and where their home was situated on the 
Boyer lot is unknown as well, it was apparently not located in the area 
directly adjoining the Dennis lot. The Winchesters apparently had no 
interest in using the access easement crossing the Dennis lot, if they 
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were even aware that it existed, they evidently just went on accessing 
the Boyer lot by whatever route the Storms had been using. 

1983 to 2005 - At an unspecified time during this period, the 
Winchesters began using the portion of the Boyer lot adjoining the 
Dennis lot as a junkyard, making it impossible to use the access 
easement over the Dennis lot to enter the Boyer lot in any typical 
passenger vehicle. This action may have been taken by the 
Winchesters in response to the use of the portion of their property 
adjoining the easement as part of a shortcut to Sunset Drive by certain 
unspecified neighbors, which the Winchesters viewed as a nuisance. 
The Winchesters also bolted a gate shut, at an unspecified point in 
time during this period, which apparently formed part of a fence 
running along or near the boundary between the Dennis and Boyer 
lots. Local children apparently climbed back and forth over the fence 
or the gate between these lots even after the gate was bolted shut 
however, when passing back and forth on foot through the easement 
strip running between the Boyer property and Sunset Drive, and the 
bolt was eventually removed and replaced with a rope, to allow 
children to utilize the gate. In addition, the Winchester's mailbox was 
apparently located on Sunset Drive, at the north end of the easement, 
leading to occasional use of the easement area by the Winchester 
children to fetch mail. During the early part of this period, some of the 
Winchester children evidently crossed the Dennis lot, within the strip 
comprising the easement, both on foot and on bicycles, while at play 
and sometimes on their way to school and back. During the later part 
of this period the Winchester grandchildren also sometimes passed 
through the Dennis lot within the easement area on foot, to catch a 
school bus that ran down Sunset Drive, and on bicycles, as part of a 
newspaper delivery route. There is no indication that there was ever 
any communication of any kind between Dennis and any of the 
members of the Winchester family concerning the access easement, 
and whether or not Dennis was ever aware of their occasional 
presence on her lot is unknown. Whether or not Dennis ever made any 
use of any portion of the easement strip herself is also unknown, but 
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by the end of this period it had still never been put into regular use for 
it's originally intended purpose, as a pathway for motorized vehicular 
access to the Boyer property. 

2006 - Boyer and his wife were divorced, the Winchesters moved 
away, and Boyer evidently disposed of all their junk and finally took 
up residence himself upon his property adjoining the Dennis lot. 
When Boyer attempted to make use of the easement crossing the 
Dennis lot however, apparently for purposes of typical vehicular 
access to his property, Dennis objected and she evidently informed 
Boyer that she would not allow him to use the easement area at all. 
Whether or not Boyer sought any explanation from Dennis for this 
refusal on her part is unknown, but she evidently proved to be 
intractable in her refusal to allow Boyer to cross her property, so 
Boyer filed an action against Dennis, seeking to have her judicially 
compelled to acknowledge and honor the existence of his access 
easement over her lot.    

     Boyer argued that the access easement in question had been 
legitimately created in all respects, and it had passed to him, as an 
appurtenance to his lot, through his successive predecessors, so he had the 
right to make use of it for it's originally intended purpose, which was clearly 
typical vehicular access, despite the fact that it had gone substantially 
unused by any vehicles for over 30 years, since the time of it's creation. 
Boyer further argued that neither he nor any of his predecessors had ever 
abandoned, relinquished or otherwise forsaken the easement at issue, 
through either their words or their actions, and he maintained that the 
easement had actually been regularly used, despite the fact that no regular 
use of it was ever made by any motorized vehicles, because the foot traffic 
and bicycle traffic that had passed through the Dennis lot represented 
legitimate use of the easement for access purposes. Dennis did not argue that 
the easement had not been properly or legally created, nor did she assert that 
it had never been intended for vehicular use, she argued that the Storms had 
abandoned the easement by accepting her rejection of their use of it, and by 
agreeing never to use it, so the easement had ceased to exist before the 
Boyer lot was conveyed to Boyer, and he had therefore never acquired any 
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right to use any portion of her property. Dennis also argued alternatively, 
that even if Boyer did acquire the easement in controversy in 1982, the 
Winchesters had abandoned the easement by permanently blocking it, and 
by failing to ever use it for it's intended purpose, which was typical vehicular 
use, making any foot traffic or bicycle traffic that took place on the easement 
over the ensuing years irrelevant, and insufficient to bring the deceased 
easement back to life. The trial court agreed with Dennis on her second 
point, that the easement had been legally abandoned by the Winchesters, 
who had expressed their conclusive intent never to utilize the easement, by 
blocking it's use in a permanent manner with junked vehicles, holding that 
the subsequent use of the former easement area by the Winchester children 
and grandchildren was irrelevant, because such use did not represent proper 
or valid use of the easement area for it's intended purpose, so the easement 
no longer existed.         

     The Court's staunch protection of easements of all forms is once again 
superbly displayed in this case, which presented a scenario in which several 
elements marginally tending toward or hinting at abandonment were in 
evidence, yet from the stern perspective of the Court, nothing satisfying the 
high standard of clear and convincing evidence of an intention to 
permanently sacrifice and forsake a valuable land right was to be found. Its 
important to realize that if the Storms, as Boyer's predecessors and grantors, 
had abandoned the easement in question, resulting in its legal termination, 
Boyer could never have acquired it, even if it was described in his deed, 
because the Storms had no authority to either recreate or reinstate any 
easement located upon the land of Dennis, by means of any conveyance to 
Boyer, since no one can ever create an easement upon land owned by 
another party, so negating the possibility that the Storms had abandoned the 
easement was crucial to Boyer's success. The trial court had rejected the 
suggestion that the Storms had abandoned the easement by acquiescing to 
the request from Dennis that they refrain from crossing her property, 
presumably out of exceptional neighborliness on the part of the Storms, so 
the Court had no need to address that matter, and the Storms evidently did 
not appear as witnesses, making the assertion that they had intended to 
abandon the easement an impossible one for Dennis to affirmatively prove, 
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thus the conduct of the Storms was not a factor on appeal. Dennis was 
apparently quite confident that she could prevail based upon the acts of the 
Winchesters alone, but critically she had never taken any steps herself to 
make the use of the easement running through her lot physically impossible, 
so she could not claim that her own actions had extinguished the easement 
by adverse or prescriptive means, therefore she had effectively removed her 
own intentions from the legal equation, forcing her to rely solely upon the 
acts and intentions of the easement holders themselves, which put her in a 
very vulnerable position. As noted in reviewing previous cases herein, 
extinguishment and abandonment are separate and distinct legal concepts, 
extinguishment requires action that can be characterized as a demonstration 
of hostile intent on the part of the servient party, while abandonment 
conversely requires either words or actions by the dominant party, 
demonstrating that party's intention to deliberately relinquish the land rights 
in question. The Winchesters could legally abandon the easement at issue as 
tenants, the Court acknowledged in addressing their specific actions, if in so 
doing they were in fact acting on behalf of Boyer as the actual land owner, 
manifesting an intention on his part to abandon his easement, yet Boyer 
himself never personally took any steps, neither words nor actions, to 
abandon the easement at issue, nor did he ever agree never to make use of it, 
so in the view taken by the Court, Dennis could not prove that the acts of the 
Winchesters represented Boyer's intent. Moreover, the Court recognized, the 
acts of the Winchesters themselves were not conclusively indicative of 
permanent abandonment even on their own part, much less on behalf of 
Boyer as their landlord, so citing several of the cases that we have 
previously reviewed, and quoting in part from a prominent Iowa decision on 
easement abandonment, the Court elected to take the position that literally 
all of the travel through the easement area had represented ongoing reliance 
upon it's existence: 

“Dennis was not in agreement with Storms use of the easement 
... Storms discontinued all use of the easement ... from 1982 
until 2006 neither Boyer nor the Winchesters used the easement 
... Winchesters impeded the use of the easement ... However ... 
Failure to take advantage of a servitude ... is seldom ... 
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abandonment ... There must be an affirmative act of 
abandonment ... Mere non-use ... is insufficient ... a substituted 
access may serve as evidence of abandonment ... however the 
mere use of a new right-of-way will not extinguish the old ... 
Those claiming abandonment carry the burden of showing ... an 
intent to abandon ... the acts of the Winchesters ... did not 
reflect an intent to abandon the easement ... Winchesters closed, 
and at one point even bolted, the gate to the access easement. 
This conduct, however, did not reflect an intent to abandon ... 
the gate was shut to stop a neighbor's constant vehicular use of 
the private easement ... these actions reflected an intent to 
protect ... and to limit use of the private easement ... junk cars 
and wood piles partially or temporarily blocked it's entrance. 
This encroachment and storage of items ... was not, however, 
dispositive evidence of abandonment ... mere neglect of the 
condition of a way is not enough in addition to non-use to show 
abandonment ... storage of these items did not clearly and 
convincingly evince the intent to permanently abandon the 
easement ... Winchester (one of their children) ... used the 
easement daily on his bicycle, to get to and from high school. 
He also used the easement to deliver papers ... Winchester (one 
of their grandchildren) ... used the easement for ingress and 
egress to catch the Headstart bus ... and used the easement 
regularly to deliver newspapers and occasionally to pick up the 
family's mail ... these uses cannot be discounted ... The 
easement grant did not limit ingress and egress to vehicular 
traffic for adults ... bicycles, handcarts and foot travel must also 
be given consideration ... the trial court erred ... Those 
uncontested uses did not reflect ... intent to abandon the 
easement." 

     The very same physical acts carried out by the Winchesters that had 
been relied upon by Dennis as signaling disregard for the access easement, 
were characterized by the Court, quite to the contrary, as protection of the 
Boyer lot, the junk pile being portrayed by the Court as a valid means of 
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barring illicit use of the easement by others, which had the effect of making 
the presence of the disputed easement a nuisance to the Winchesters 
themselves, as well as to Dennis. Even disregarding the use of the easement 
by children, it could not be deemed to have been abandoned, the Court 
realized, even if it had never been used by anyone at all, as long as there had 
never been any definite intention to permanently foreclose it to vehicular 
use, because an easement can persist indefinitely without ever being used, 
and abandonment through non-use can occur only where a given use was 
once made and then ceased, as we learned in reviewing the 1948 Pederson 
case. The Winchesters bolting of the gate was no evidence of abandonment, 
in the eyes of the Court, for several reasons, children ignored the bolting of 
the gate and continued to travel through the easement area, even when bolted 
the gate was still merely a part of a fence, and a fence does not represent a 
genuinely permanent blockage, only a structure such as a building typically 
constitutes a clearly permanent blockage, and lastly, the bolt had eventually 
been removed allowing the gate to function once again. The failure of both 
Boyer and the Winchesters to ever maintain the easement was no evidence 
of intent to abandon it either, also for numerous reasons, there was no 
evidence that the easement ever required any specific maintenance, there 
was no need or reason for anyone to maintain the easement until vehicular 
use of it was about to commence, and maintenance by an easement holder is 
discretionary, so only extreme neglect, that allows the easement to become 
permanently useless, can rise to the level of evidence of abandonment. 
Furthermore, the Court indicated, the historic use of various alternate routes 
by the successive easement holders was irrelevant and did not support the 
position of Dennis, because as the Court had pointed out in the Hofmeister 
case of 2003, easements are normally independent, so the validity of one 
easement is not typically dependent upon the existence or absence of either 
adjoining or nearby easements serving the same purpose. The Court 
therefore had no desire and no need to probe the nature or validity of any of 
the alternate access routes that had been used by Boyer or his predecessors, 
since necessity had never been expressly made the basis or the justification 
for the creation or existence of the easement over the Dennis lot. Holding 
that the foot travel and bicycle use of the easement in controversy was 
sufficient to prove that no abandonment of that servitude had ever been 
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intended, by any of the holders or users of that easement, the Court came to 
Boyer's rescue, reversing the lower court ruling, declaring that his long delay 
in making vehicular use of the easement strip had resulted in no damage to 
the rights of Dennis, and did not constitute valid grounds for the 
abandonment charge that had been set forth by her. The primary lesson to be 
learned here is obviously that even the most minimal and transient use of 
land can potentially represent a valid easement, and such use definitely can 
function to keep an existing easement alive, by demonstrating a lack of 
intent to abandon or relinquish it, on the part of the easement holder or 
holders. In addition, it's certainly worthy of note that neither fences nor vast 
amounts of junk or debris can ever represent a truly permanent blockage of 
an easement, because the only genuinely permanent blockage is one that 
intentionally commits the easement area, or some vital portion thereof, to an 
entirely different long term use, which directly conflicts with the use of the 
subject area as an easement.  

 

 

SWABY  v  NORTHERN HILLS REGIONAL RAILROAD 
AUTHORITY  (2009) 

     Our final case, quite appropriately, presents a scenario of sufficient 
complexity to challenge the knowledge and diligence of even a highly 
experienced land surveyor, specifically with respect to the analysis of the 
meaning of historic deeds and related documents, and their impact upon the 
title and ownership of land by numerous parties, which is necessary to 
properly define the true locations of their various boundaries. This case very 
clearly highlights the fact that the seemingly simplistic term "right-of-way" 
can in fact be highly problematic, since the serious legal implications of that 
phrase are very often misunderstood by both surveyors and other 
professionals dealing with land rights. The successful abandonment claim 
made here stands in direct contrast to the failed abandonment claim made in 
our previous case, the basis for that difference being that the prior case 
involved abandonment through alleged neglect and blockage, while here the 
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alleged abandonment is supported by an affirmative act manifesting the 
requisite intent. The outcome here once again emphasizes the fact that a 
deed is merely one form of evidence, which can in fact be worthless, if for 
example, it can be shown that the grantor had nothing to convey, illustrating 
the substantial danger and folly of complete reliance upon deeds as an 
indication of land ownership. This case provides one last powerful example 
of how important long bygone historic events can be to the outcome of 
contemporary conflicts, and also presents an outstanding example of the 
protection by the Court of the private land rights of the present day 
successors of the original settlers of the public domain, even well over a 
century after those original entrymen passed forever into history. In addition, 
here we also have an ideal illustration of the fact that the Court still relies 
primarily, just as it always has, upon the time honored equitable elements of 
common law to decide the most crucial issues that come before the Court for 
resolution. In this instance, the relevant concept of equity, which controls the 
Court's application of the various legal factors that are in play, proves to be 
the principle that no intention to retain unnecessary and useless land rights, 
for the mere purpose of possible subsequent conveyance, can be ascribed to 
any land owner, which forms a consideration that is always relevant, and 
potentially pivotal, in cases focusing upon the ownership of any area that 
was described as a right-of-way when it was created. Since the specific topic 
of railroad right-of-way has not been previously addressed herein, primarily 
because relatively few decisions of the Court have involved railroad right-
of-way issues, a brief review of some of the most recent prior railroad right-
of-way cases decided by the Court is provided directly below, in order to 
frame the context and historical perspective from which the Court 
approached the particular issues that were presented by the case we are 
about to review.   

     The 1986 case of Meyerink v Northwestern Public Service required 
the Court to determine whether a certain railroad right-of-way represented a 
strip of land, which had been created in fee, or a land right that had been 
created as an easement, merely crossing land which had subsequently come 
to be owned in fee by Meyerink and others. In that case, a railroad had 
acquired a right-of-way, by virtue of a series of deeds from several private 
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land owners circa 1900, but the railroad had gone bankrupt in 1980, placing 
the right-of-way under the jurisdiction of the South Dakota Railroad 
Authority, which had then agreed to allow Northwestern, a utility company, 
to utilize that strip, triggering the legal action launched by Meyerink and his 
adjoining land owners, to assert their claim to that strip and prevent 
Northwestern from making use of it. The historic deeds at issue were all 
entitled "Right-of-Way Deed", leading the land owners to argue that only an 
easement, which had been legally terminated by the extinction of the 
railroad, had ever existed upon their lands, but all of the deeds also indicated 
that "the premises are hereby conveyed", leading Northwestern to argue that 
all of the deeds had represented fee conveyances. While acknowledging that 
the term "right-of-way" is legally presumed to represent the creation of an 
easement, in full accord with the many prior rulings of the Court to that 
effect, the Court held that in this instance the language of the relevant deeds 
was sufficient to overcome that presumption, so each deed had in fact been a 
fee conveyance, therefore South Dakota owned the entire right-of-way in 
fee, and Northwestern could make use of it without providing any 
compensation to any of the land owners. In 2007 however, in Brown v 
Northern Hills Regional Railroad Authority, the Court produced a decision 
that effectively established a new precedent for the treatment of railroad 
right-of-way in South Dakota. In that case, the evidence and related 
circumstances were materially comparable to those of the Meyerink case, 
except the right-of-way in question had been created in 1890 upon the public 
domain, by virtue of a federal grant, and not through any deeds from any 
private land owners. Brown and his legal team very wisely directed the 
attention of the Court to the fact that the creation of such a right-of-way was 
therefore controlled by federal law, leading the Court to more deeply 
examine the true nature and legal status of all such right-of-way in that 
context. As a result, upon completing an extensive analysis of the matter, in 
which the Court strongly emphasized the absolutely controlling nature of 
federal patents, the Court agreed with Brown that the right-of-way at issue 
had represented merely an easement, which had ceased to exist upon the 
cessation of it's use, so he owned his land free of any right-of-way, and 
NHRRA held no rights whatsoever within the boundaries of his property. 
Quite notably, in so ruling, the Court took the highly unusual step of 
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expressly striking down one of it's own previous decisions, which had been 
issued in the 1992 case of Barney v Burlington Northern, very admirably 
conceding in effect that the outcome of that case had in fact been unjust, 
having failed to honor the land rights of Barney and his fellow land owners, 
who had gone down to defeat on that occasion, despite the presence of 
circumstances directly comparable to those successfully overcome by 
Brown. Then in 2008, in Tripp v F & K Assam Family, the Court further 
clarified and upheld the validity of the two very elementary correlated legal 
presumptions that are applicable to all disputes over conveyances involving 
any privately deeded right-of-way, reiterating that all conveyances are 
presumed to convey fee title, unless the contrary can be shown, while any 
conveyance of a right-of-way is typically presumed to represent an 
easement, unless the contrary can be shown. In that case, Assam was the 
owner of record of a certain right-of-way, which had originally been deeded 
to a railroad by a land owner in 1888, while Tripp claimed that a portion of 
the right-of-way was actually an abandoned easement which was part of his 
property, and Tripp also argued that he had acquired part, if not all, of the 
area in controversy by virtue of adverse possession. After confirming that 
the 1888 deed was evidently intended to convey at least a portion of the 
disputed right-of-way in fee, the Court opted to leave the outcome 
undecided, remanding the case to the lower court for further evidence, with 
the caveat that the conflict over the meaning of the relevant deeds could very 
well be rendered moot, should the adverse possession claim set forth by 
Tripp ultimately prove to be valid. 

1875 - The General Railroad Right-of Way Act was passed by the 
United States Congress, granting a right-of-way 200 feet in width, 
centered upon the surveyed route of each eligible rail line, in support 
of all such railroads to be built henceforward upon any lands 
comprising a part of the public domain. 

1890 - The Fremont, Elkhorn and Missouri Valley Railroad (FEMV) 
decided to construct a rail line running from Whitewood to 
Deadwood. Portions of the selected route were located on the public 
domain, while other portions passed through lands that had already 
been patented into private ownership, so to supplement it's land rights 
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on the public domain under the 1875 Act, FEMV acquired land rights 
from numerous private parties, to create a complete right-of-way for 
this line, and the railroad grade was presumably built in the intended 
location, crossing an unspecified number of private properties. The 
plans showing the location of this line were properly approved and 
recorded, and it was put into service.  

1903 - The interests of FEMV were acquired by another railroad 
operator, Chicago and Northwestern (CNW) which then took over and 
continued the operation of this rail line. Over the ensuing decades, 
various portions of the public land traversed by the railroad were 
acquired by private parties, subject to the existing railroad right-of-
way, or in some cases being bounded by the existing railroad right-of-
way.  

1970 - Following several decades of steadily diminishing use of this 
particular route, CNW filed an application for the abandonment of this 
rail line with the Interstate Commerce Commission (ICC) as required 
by law, notifying the ICC of the intent of CNW to cease all use of this 
route. This application was approved by the ICC and CNW removed 
all of the tracks running between Whitewood and Deadwood, leaving 
the right-of-way entirely vacant and unused.    

1972 - CNW quitclaimed an unspecified portion of this abandoned 
right-of-way, apparently covering an extensive area, possibly several 
miles in length, to South Dakota, and the Department of 
Transportation evidently assumed jurisdiction over that area, although 
there is no indication that the DOT ever made any actual use of any 
portion of this right-of-way.  

1985 - The South Dakota DOT quitclaimed an unspecified portion of 
the abandoned right-of-way, presumably most of the area that had 
been quitclaimed in 1972, to the Department of Game, Fish and Parks 
(GFP). Whether or not GFP ever made any actual use of any portion 
of the former railroad right-of-way is unknown.  

2004 - GFP quitclaimed whatever portion of the right-of-way 
remained unused by GFP, presumably all of it, to Northern Hills 
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(NHRRA). NHRRA believed that it had acquired the strip of land that 
had formerly been occupied by the original railroad tracks in fee, and 
NHRRA apparently planned to put that strip back into service, 
presumably for a transportation oriented purpose or use of some 
unspecified type. To what extent the vacant portions of the right-of-
way that were located on, within or along the various private 
properties adjoining this route may have been utilized by the owners 
of those properties by this time is unknown, the location of the 
boundaries of this right-of-way were evidently reasonably clear and 
well known however, since no issues relating to the location of this 
right-of-way appear to have arisen.    

2005 to 2008 - During this period several of the owners of the lands 
that were either crossed or bounded by the abandoned right-of-way 
decided to mount a legal challenge to the claim of fee ownership of 
that strip that was being made by NHRRA. A group of 17 private land 
owners, including Swaby, banded together and filed an action against 
NHRRA, all of it's predecessors in interest, and all parties potentially 
holding or claiming any interest in the right-of-way itself, as an entity 
distinct from the surrounding lands, seeking a judicial determination 
of which parties had actually acquired fee ownership of each relevant 
portion of the former right-of-way, and to quiet title in each member 
of the group to their particular portions of it. How or when Swaby or 
any of the other private land owners had acquired their lands is 
unknown, and how their properties had been created, described or 
developed are all unknown as well, but all of them owned tracts of 
various sizes and shapes that had been carved out of the lands through 
which the original route of the railroad had passed. So all of their 
properties had been either legally burdened or bounded to some extent 
by the original FEMV right-of-way, when their respective tracts were 
created and conveyed over the previous 11 decades. 

     Swaby and the others in his group argued that each of them had 
acquired a particular portion of the land lying within the right-of-way 
corridor in fee, either by virtue of direct succession, from the previous 
owners of their properties, or by virtue of reversion, from CNW, as a 
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consequence of the abandonment of the right-of-way by CNW in 1970, so 
they had all become the fee owners of the right-of-way, in 1970 if not 
earlier, and NHRRA had acquired nothing by virtue of it's 2004 quitclaim 
deed. Swaby and each of his fellow owners of lands adjoining the former 
right-of-way further specifically argued that each relevant portion of that 
right-of-way had either been only an easement, which had been expressly 
terminated by abandonment and ceased to exist in 1970, or had been fee 
property owned by CNW, which had reverted to private ownership at that 
time, so none of the quitclaim deeds issued subsequent to 1970 had any legal 
effect, and the plaintiffs all owned their particular portions of the right-of-
way free and clear of any rights of others. NHRRA and it's co-defendants, 
which included South Dakota, Lawrence County and others, argued that the 
original railroad right-of-way had all been originally created and acquired in 
fee by FEMV, and none of it had ever been conveyed to any of the plaintiffs 
or their predecessors, nor had any of it ever reverted to them, so all of the 
conveyances leading up to the acquisition of the right-of-way by NHRRA 
had been legally effective, and NHRRA had acquired all of the relevant 
portions of the right-of-way in fee. NHRRA and the other defendants argued 
alternatively that even if the right-of-way had been created as an easement, it 
had never been legally abandoned, so the various defendants were all fee 
owners of various portions of the right-of-way, which still existed as a legal 
entity, either burdening or bordering the lands of all of the plaintiffs, 
therefore NHRRA had the right to utilize the right-of-way for it's own 
purposes, and the various plaintiffs had no right to prevent NHRRA from 
making use of that strip without providing any compensation to any of them. 
The trial court concluded on summary judgment that any relevant portions of 
the right-of-way that had been easements had been abandoned, and any 
portions of it that had been held in fee had reverted, because the right-of-
way had necessarily ceased to exist in any sense or form in 1970, with the 
demise of the physical rail line that controlled it's existence, so none of the 
defendants had ever acquired or held any interest in the right-of-way, 
quieting title to each relevant portion of it in each of the 17 plaintiffs, as 
requested by them.            

     This case confronted the Court with an unusually complex array of 
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circumstances, evidence and claims, but at the heart of the matter, the Court 
was quite cognizant, was the legal meaning and significance of the 
termination of rail service, accompanied by the demolition of the original 
rail line itself in 1970, which had marked the end of the time period during 
which there was any need or reason for the right-of-way in question to exist. 
Understanding the great importance of proper treatment of railroad right-of-
way, due to it's widespread presence, the Court chose to take this 
opportunity to establish a strong precedent to guide the future treatment of 
such controversies, in order to emphasize and clarify the significance of 
properly interpreting the language of deeds of various kinds creating a 
railroad right-of-way or conveying lands impacted by a railroad right-of-
way. As we have often observed in our review of easement and right-of-way 
cases of many kinds, the Court recognizes that any right-of-way or easement 
is created for a specific purpose or set of purposes, and therefore differs 
fundamentally in that regard from an outright fee simple conveyance of land, 
under which the land conveyed can generally be put to use by it's owner for 
virtually any purpose. Yet while fee ownership of land typically endures 
without regard to the manner in which the land is used, land can be acquired 
in fee in a manner that makes the ownership of it dependent upon a 
particular ongoing use or uses, and this introduces the concept of reversion 
of fee ownership, which is analogous to the reversion of a dedicated public 
street or alley that occurs upon it's vacation, and to the unburdening of land 
by the abandonment of any easement as well, since by each of these means, 
land rights associated with a defunct purpose or use are legally eliminated. 
The first task before the Court in this scenario then, given the fact that the 
relevant portions of the right-of-way at issue were created and acquired 
using deeds of varying kinds, and the fact that the several properties owned 
by the plaintiffs, all touching that right-of-way in some location, were also 
conveyed and acquired using a wide variety of descriptive language, was to 
segregate the claims into logical groups, based upon the nature of the 
relevant conveyances and acquisitions that had been made by the litigants. 
For purposes of legal analysis, and to expedite the proper resolution of all of 
the relevant land rights, the Court therefore very wisely organized the many 
claims set forth by the several plaintiffs into 4 distinct groups, each requiring 
or meriting separate treatment, which the Court defined as follows:   
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1) Claims involving those portions of the right-of-way that had been 
acquired by FEMV across public land, prior to 1890, under the 1875 Act, 
making all subsequent land patents in such areas subject to the existing 
right-of-way. The Court was fully aware of course that all of the private 
acquisitions in such areas were originally subject to the railroad right-of-
way, regardless of whether or not their deed language made any reference to 
it whatsoever, and all such tracts remained legally subject to that right-of-
way, until such time as it no longer existed. 

2) Claims involving deeds by which FEMV had acquired those portions 
of the right-of-way that originally crossed private land, in which FEMV had 
agreed in 1890 to include language of one kind or another indicating that 
reversion of the right-of-way to the private land owner, or his successors, 
was possible, in the event that the purpose for the existence of the right-of-
way should ever cease at some point in time. 

3) Claims involving quitclaim deeds by which FEMV had acquired 
portions of the right-of-way that crossed private land, in which the land 
owners in 1890 had either chosen not to insist, or simply neglected to insist, 
that FEMV include any language indicating that reversion of the right-of-
way to the private land owner, or his successors, was possible. 

4) Claims made by plaintiffs whose own deeds expressly excepted the 
right-of way out of the conveyances of their lands to them. According to a 
footnote provided by the Court, this group evidently included 3 of the 
plaintiffs whose properties were not penetrated by the right-of-way corridor, 
but instead had been described as being bounded by the right-of-way. The 
specific language of these description or exceptions was not provided by the 
Court, but these claims evidently involved areas in which different plaintiffs 
apparently owned lands that abutted upon opposite sides of a given portion 
of the right-of-way.     

Since the 1875 Act of Congress represented a formal federal reduction in 
the scope of the rights to be granted to railroads, in the view of the Court, 
ending the former practice of granting land for railroad purposes in fee, 

840



effectively replacing the practice of making fee grants with mere easement 
grants, from that date forward in time, all of the claims in the first group 
necessarily involved areas in which the railroad right-of-way represented 
only an easement. In dealing with the other 3 groups however, whether the 
right-of-way had been acquired in fee or as an easement was an open 
question, which would prove to be absolutely central to the outcome, 
bringing the details of the concept of fee reversion into play, and leading the 
Court to very methodically and diligently address the claims that fell into 
each of these categories in context, in that sequence:  

“(Group 1) the nature of land grants changed in 1872 ... 
condemning ... outright land grant subsidies to railroads ... 
Congress continued to encourage the expansion of the west by 
enacting the 1875 Act, which authorized right-of-way grants to 
railroads ... patents were issued subject to a railroad's right-of-
way ... whatever interest the United States retained ... through 
the 1875 Act was relinquished when land patents were issued ... 
FEMV acquired right-of-way under the 1875 Act ... NHRRA ... 
insists that ... it could not legally abandon the right-of-way, 
unless a specific Act of Congress would authorize such action 
... because a railroad cannot alienate it's property interest 
acquired by a congressional act ... We can find no authority to 
support NHRRA's assertion ... South Dakota has not previously 
addressed the issue of abandonment of a railroad right-of-way 
... courts that have ... have invoked common law abandonment 
principles ... Intent to abandon can be inferred ... when non-use 
destroys either the object for which the easement was 
established or the means of it's enjoyment, abandonment is 
established ... CNW removed it's railroad tracks ... 
abandonment was finalized ... CNW exhibited it's intent to 
abandon the right-of-way ... courts have consistently held that 
an attempt to convey or sell a right-of-way easement to others, 
to be used for other purposes, defeats the purpose of the 
easement and constitutes abandonment ... (Group 2) If the 
language of a deed leaves doubt on the intention of the parties, 
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we will consider all the attendant circumstances ... a fee simple 
estate subject to a condition subsequent provides the grantor, 
heirs and successors a power to terminate ... when a condition is 
broken ... In contrast, a fee simple determinable estate 
automatically expires ... our duty is to determine the intent of 
the parties ... Little importance is attached to the use of 
particular or formal words ... arbitrary distinctions smack too 
much of over-refined technicalities ... six deeds ... indicate that 
they ... granted, bargained, sold, conveyed and confirmed 
certain property to the grantee, the railroad ... Four are entitled 
Warranty Deed, one a Right-of-Way Deed, and one a Deed ... 
described in metes and bounds ... the precise location ... to be 
determined based on where the railroad is ... however, three 
deeds ... contain language ... specifically limiting the 
conveyance for railroad purposes ... The 1890 deeds ... without 
any provision ... limiting the use of the conveyed land ... convey 
subject to a condition subsequent ... the stated conditions have 
been breached ... CNW ceased service ... CNW's actions 
breached the condition ... when CNW removed all tracks ... The 
Marketable Title Act does not apply to ... conditions subsequent 
... plaintiffs have the power to terminate the estate ... the 1890 
deeds ... providing limiting language ... intended to convey fee 
simple determinable estates ... these deeds do more than impose 
conditions ... these deeds expressly limit and restrict the 
conveyance ... the triggering event ... occurred in 1970 ... CNW 
removed all it's tracks and facilities and did not again use the 
road ... the stated event in 1970 caused the automatic expiration 
of the estate ... the property vested in the ... successors ... 
(Group 3) Kroll and Clark executed quitclaim deeds to FEMV 
... The deeds grant, release, remise and quitclaim ... the right-of-
way ... the circuit court held that the deeds convey an easement 
... The Kroll and Clark deeds grant to the railroad a right-of-
way through, over and across a tract of land ... The right-of-way 
language and lack of certainty in the strips of land conveyed 
strongly suggests only a surface right ... these deeds conveyed 
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to the railroad an easement ... the railroad abandoned it's 
easement ... by removing the tracks ... (Group 4) Certain 
plaintiffs deeds specifically excluded the right-of-way ... which 
plaintiffs, if any, hold fee title to the right-of-way land excluded 
... is not clear from the record ... there may be issues between 
plaintiffs as to ownership ... Based on our review of the record, 
we cannot say who is the successor ... The issue is remanded for 
proper determination." 

     With regard to the first group of claims, the Court held that the 
complete cessation of all use of the right-of-way for it's intended purpose 
amounted to a genuinely permanent and undeniable expression of conclusive 
intent to abandon the easement that had been created by the authority of the 
1875 Act. Had CNW either never removed the tracks, or conveyed the right-
of-way directly to another railroad operator, the outcome may have been 
different, but in the eyes of the Court, the acts of CNW had effectively 
negated any possibility of perpetuating the purpose for which the right-of-
way had been created beyond 1970, legally terminating the easement at that 
time, before South Dakota attempted to acquire it. With respect to the 
second group of claims, the Court adopted the position that each of the 
relevant 1890 deeds had created a fee interest in FEMV, but only a 
conditional or determinable fee interest, depending upon the detailed 
language of each deed, all of which therefore remained perpetually subject 
to extinction, based upon subsequent events and physical conditions on the 
ground. After splitting this group into two parts for detailed analysis, the 
Court declared that in both instances, the fee ownership had been lost due to 
the same cessation of use that had terminated all of the easements forming 
the first group, showing that a breach of the conditions of a fee acquisition 
can be equivalent in effect to the abandonment of an easement. Turning to 
the third group of claims, the Court agreed that the two quitclaim deeds at 
issue had not conveyed any land in fee and represented only easements, in 
part due to the use of the phrase "right-of-way" in each of them, following 
the rule that a right-of-way is a mere right resting upon the land described, 
and does not consist of the land itself, importantly reaching this conclusion 
also in part due to the lack of a specific description of the right-of-way 
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location in either deed. The Court's decision on this point is especially 
relevant to land surveyors, because it suggests that where tracks are 
removed, leaving no physical centerline control, thus rendering the physical 
location of the right-of-way ambiguous, the Court may well be inclined to 
view such an act on the part of the railroad as an indication of a deliberate 
relinquishment of the right-of-way itself. Finally addressing the fourth group 
of claims, the Court decided that the lower court had erred in it's treatment 
of this group, not because NHRRA or any of the other defendants had any 
rights to the portions of the right-of-way implicated here, but because it was 
unclear to the Court, presumably due to an absence of certain relevant deeds, 
which plaintiff had the superior right to the contested portion or portions of 
the right-of-way. For that reason, the Court could not justify quieting title to 
these particular portions of the right-of-way in any individual plaintiff, since 
each of them had a legal right to a full adjudication of their respective 
claims, one against the other, so the Court reversed and remanded this issue 
to the lower court, while fully upholding the lower court ruling in all other 
respects, thereby utterly silencing all of the claims made by NHRRA and it's 
fellow defendants. The largest lesson to be taken from this result is that the 
legal status or nature of any given right-of-way, as either fee or easement, is 
determined by the totality of the intent embodied in it's documentation, 
supplemented by the subsequent use of the relevant area, not merely by the 
form or title of any deed, and typically not by any single word appearing in 
any deed. In addition, its noteworthy that abandonment of land rights, even 
including fee ownership itself, can result not only from neglect or 
obstruction, as discussed in several earlier cases, but also from acts on the 
part of any holder of land rights that "destroy the object of use", as the Court 
very astutely stated here. It should also be clear that the outcome here 
emphasizes the critical importance of properly understanding all of the 
potential ramifications of deed language, which is crucial when examining 
existing deeds, when making reference to existing documents in subsequent 
deeds, or on surveys or plats, and obviously when preparing new legal 
descriptions, survey reports or other narratives. As a most fitting conclusion 
to our course of study, here yet again we have seen a vivid demonstration of 
the supreme principle, mandating that intent must always be fully and 
objectively ascertained, from all of the evidence available to the professional 
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land surveyor, in order to arrive at a correct and legally supportable result, 
mindful that once it has been properly determined, intent will inevitably 
control over either words or numbers that would tend to indicate anything to 
the contrary.  

 

 

TOPICAL INDEX OF ALL SOUTH DAKOTA CASES 
REFERENCED 

(Page references are to only the initial or principal location,                    
cases may be referenced in multiple locations) 

ABANDONMENT 

Aasland v The County of Yankton 280 NW2d 666 (1979)...........................535 

Bernardy v Colonial & US Mortgage 98 NW 166 (1904)...........................125 

Boyer v Dennis 742 NW2d 518 (2007)........................................................822 

Brown v Northern Hills Reg. Railroad Auth. 732 NW2d 732 (2007).........834 

City of Belle Fourche v Dittman 325 NW2d 309 (1982)............................609 

Cleveland v Tinaglia 582 NW2d 720 (1998)..............................................558 

Costain v Turner County 36 NW2d 382 (1949)..........................................409 

Cuka v State 122 NW2d 83 (1963)..............................................................473 

Dailey v Ryan 21 NW2d 61 (1945).............................................................386 

Ford v Ford 124 NW 1108 (1910)..............................................................175 

Forest Home Cem. Assn. v Dardanella Fin. 329 NW2d 885 (1983)..........592 

Fuller v Middaugh 77 NW2d 841 (1956)....................................................456 

Grand Crossing Land & Imp. v City of Mobridge 165 NW 988 (1917).....300 

Graves v Dennis 691 NW2d 315 (2004).....................................................784 

Haley v City of Rapid City 269 NW2d 398 (1978).....................................559 

Henle v Bodin 222 NW 492 (1928).............................................................299 

Hofmeister v Sparks 660 NW2d 637 (2003)................................................773 

845



Howe v Shepard 227 NW 839 (1929)..........................................................315 

In the Matter of Mackrill's Addition 179 NW2d 268 (1970).......................512 

Kougl v Curry 44 NW2d 114 (1950)...........................................................416 

Lowe v East Sioux Falls Quarry 126 NW 609 (1910).................................157 

Matters v Custer County 538 NW2d 533 (1995).........................................774 

Meyerink v Northwestern Public Service 391 NW2d 180 (1986)...............833 

Miller v Southard 162 NW 146 (1917)........................................................279 

Murphy v Dafoe (Murphy III) 99 NW 86 (1904).........................................133 

Pederson v Canton Twp. 34 NW2d 172 (1948)...........................................402 

Phillis v Gross (Phillis I) 143 NW 373 (1913)............................................395 

Phillis v Gross (Phillis II) 164 NW 971 (1917)...........................................395 

Salmon v Bradshaw 173 NW2d 281 (1969)................................................505 

Shippy v Hollopeter 304 NW2d 118 (1981)................................................593 

Sioux City Boat Club v Mulhall 117 NW2d 92 (1962)................................463 

Steele v Pfeifer 310 NW2d 782 (1981)........................................................601 

Swaby v Northern Hills Reg. Railroad Auth. 769 NW2d 798 (2009)..........832 

Taylor v Pennington County 204 NW2d 395 (1973)...................................519 

Thormodsgard v Wayne Twp. 310 NW2d 157 (1981).................................535 

Tibbitts v Anthem Holdings Corp. 694 NW2d 41 (2005)............................124 

Tinaglia v Ittzes 257 NW2d 724 (1977)......................................................549 

Tripp v F & K Assam Family 755 NW2d 106 (2008).................................835 

Whitford v Dodson 181 NW 962 (1921).....................................................396 

 

ACQUIESCENCE 

Broadhurst v American Colloid 177 NW2d 261 (1970)..............................463 

Brown v Board of Pennington County 422 NW2d 440 (1988)....................661 

Bryant v Butte County 457 NW2d 467 (1990).............................................669 

City of Deadwood v Summit 607 NW2d 22 (2000).....................................731 

City of Deadwood v Whittaker (Whittaker I) 81 NW 908 (1900).................99 

846



Crawford v Carter (Crawford I) 37 NW2d 241 (1949)..............................440 

Crawford v Carter (Crawford II) 52 NW2d 302 (1952).............................440 

Dailey v Ryan 21 NW2d 61 (1945).............................................................386 

Farr v Semmler 123 NW 835 (1909)...........................................................165 

Feight v Hansen (Hansen II) 131 NW2d 64 (1964)....................................479 

First Church of Christ, Scientist v Revell 2 NW2d 674 (1942)...................369 

Graff v Budgett (Graff I) 299 NW 72 (1941)...............................................378 

Graff v Budgett (Graff II) 10 NW2d 764 (1943).........................................378 

Graves v Dennis 691 NW2d 315 (2004).....................................................784 

Haley v City of Rapid City 269 NW2d 398 (1978).....................................559 

Howe v Shepard 227 NW 839 (1929).........................................................315 

Kapp v Hansen (Hansen I) 111 NW2d 333 (1961).....................................479 

Kenny v McKenzie (Kenny I) 120 NW 781 (1909)......................................159 

Kenny v McKenzie (Kenny II) 127 NW 597 (1910).....................................159 

Kreider v Yarosh 217 NW 640 (1928).........................................................290 

Larson v Chicago, Minn. & St. Paul Railway 103 NW 35 (1905)..............107 

Lehman v Smith 168 NW 857 (1918)..........................................................247 

Lewis v Moorhead 522 NW2d 1 (1994)......................................................677 

Lien v Beard 478 NW2d 578 (1991)...........................................................678 

Osberg v Murphy 221 NW2d 4 (1974)........................................................255 

Rotenberger v Burghduff (Rotenberger I) 727 NW2d 291 (2007)..............803 

Rotenberger v Burghduff (Rotenberger II) 729 NW2d 175 (2007).............803 

Sioux City Boat Club v Mulhall 117 NW2d 92 (1962)................................463 

Stannus v Heiserman 38 NW2d 130 (1949)................................................425 

Sullivan v Groves 172 NW 926 (1919)........................................................264 

Umberger v State 248 NW2d 395 (1976)....................................................534 

Whittaker v City of Deadwood (Whittaker II) 81 NW 910 (1900)................99 

Wood v Bapp 169 NW 518 (1918)...............................................................254 

Yankton County v Klemisch 76 NW 312 (1898)............................................91 

847



 

ADVERSE POSSESSION 

Andree v Andree 291 NW2d 788 (1980).....................................................584 

Bartels v Anaconda 304 NW2d 108 (1981).................................................592 

Broadhurst v American Colloid 177 NW2d 261 (1970)..............................463 

Bryant v Butte County 457 NW2d 467 (1990).............................................669 

Burleigh v Hecht 117 NW 367 (1908) (Overruled).....................................159 

City of Deadwood v Summit 607 NW2d 22 (2000).....................................731 

Cochrane v McCoy (McCoy II) 179 NW 210 (1920)..................................316 

Cuka v Jamesville Hutterian Mutual Society 294 NW2d 419 (1980).........583 

Dailey v Ryan 21 NW2d 61 (1945).............................................................386 

Durkee v Van Well 654 NW2d 807 (2002)..................................................739 

Feight v Hansen (Hansen II) 131 NW2d 64 (1964)....................................479 

Forest Home Cem. Assn. v Dardanella Fin. 329 NW2d 885 (1983)..........592 

Gale v Shillock (Gale I) 30 NW 138 (1886).................................................71 

Gale v Shillock (Gale II) 29 NW 661 (1886)................................................71 

Houts v Bartle (Houts II) 85 NW 591 (1901)..............................................134 

Houts v Hoyne (Houts I) 84 NW 773 (1900)...............................................134 

Houts v Olson (Houts III) 85 NW 1015 (1901)...........................................134 

Howe v Shepard 227 NW 839 (1929).........................................................315 

Ingalls v Gunderson 157 NW 1055 (1916).................................................237 

Johnson v Biegelmeier 409 NW2d 379 (1987)...........................................626 

Judd v Meoska 82 NW2d 283 (1957)..........................................................455 

Jutting v Hendrix 606 NW2d 140 (2000)....................................................730 

Kapp v Hansen (Hansen I) 111 NW2d 333 (1961).....................................479 

Kougl v Curry 44 NW2d 114 (1950)...........................................................416 

Labore v Forbes 238 NW 124 (1931).........................................................331 

Lehman v Smith 168 NW 857 (1918)..........................................................247 

Lewis v Aslesen 635 NW2d 744 (2001)......................................................731 

848



Lewis v Moorhead 522 NW2d 1 (1994)......................................................677 

Lien v Beard 478 NW2d 578 (1991)...........................................................678 

Lusk v City of Yankton 168 NW 375 (1918)................................................246 

Meadows v Osterkamp (Meadows I) 83 NW 624 (1900).............................73 

Meadows v Osterkamp (Meadows II) 103 NW 643 (1905)..........................73 

Murphy v Dafoe (Murphy III) 99 NW 86 (1904).........................................133 

Murphy v Nelson (Murphy IV) 102 NW 691 (1905)....................................140 

Murphy v Pierce (Murphy II) 95 NW 925 (1903).......................................140 

Murphy v Redecker (Murphy I) 94 NW 697 (1903)....................................139 

Parker v Vinson 77 NW 1023 (1899)..........................................................133 

Peterson v Beck 537 NW2d 375 (1995)......................................................687 

Schultz v Dew 564 NW2d 320 (1997).........................................................712 

Seymour v Cleveland 68 NW 171 (1896).....................................................65 

Sioux City Boat Club v Mulhall 117 NW2d 92 (1962)................................463 

Sullivan v Groves 172 NW 926 (1919)........................................................264 

Taylor v Edgerton 173 NW 444 (1919).......................................................271 

Taylor v Tripp 330 NW2d 542 (1983).........................................................617 

Theisen v Qualley 175 NW 556 (1919).......................................................272 

Tripp v F & K Assam Family 755 NW2d 106 (2008).................................835 

Waldner v Blachnik 274 NW 837 (1937)....................................................362 

Walker v Sorenson 265 NW 589 (1936)......................................................346 

Wallace v Dunton 139 NW 345 (1913).......................................................315 

Welch v McCoy (McCoy I) 167 NW 159 (1918).........................................316 

Wood v Bapp 169 NW 518 (1918)..............................................................254 

Wood v Conrad (Wood I) 50 NW 95 (1891)................................................66 

Wood v Conrad (Wood II) 50 NW 903 (1892).............................................66 

 

 

 

849



 

CITY STREETS & ALLEYS 

Atlas Lumber v Quirk 135 NW 172 (1912).................................................229 

Bergin v Bistodeau 645 NW2d 252 (2002).................................................747 

City of Belle Fourche v Dittman 325 NW2d 309 (1982).............................609 

City of Deadwood v Whittaker (Whittaker I) 81 NW 908 (1900).................99 

City of Sioux Falls v Hone Family Trust 554 NW2d 825 (1996)................722 

City of Watertown v Troeh 125 NW 501 (1910)..........................................150 

Dolan v Hudson 156 NW2d 78 (1968)........................................................497 

Edmunds v Plianos 51 NW2d 701 (1952)...................................................424 

Evans v City of Brookings 170 NW 133 (1918)..........................................280 

First Church of Christ, Scientist v Revell 2 NW2d 674 (1942)..................369 

Graff v Budgett (Graff I) 299 NW 72 (1941)..............................................378 

Graff v Budgett (Graff II) 10 NW2d 764 (1943).........................................378 

Haley v City of Rapid City 269 NW2d 398 (1978).....................................559 

Henle v Bodin 222 NW 492 (1928).............................................................299 

Herrick v Gregory 190 NW 881 (1922)......................................................273 

Holida v Chicago & Northwestern Trans. 398 NW2d 742 (1986).............652 

In the Matter of Mackrill's Addition 179 NW2d 268 (1970)......................512 

Kirby v Citizens Tel. Co. of Sioux Falls 97 NW 3 (1903)...........................106 

Larson v Chicago, Minn. & St. Paul Railway 103 NW 35 (1905)..............107 

Lowe v East Sioux Falls Quarry 126 NW 609 (1910)................................157 

Mason v City of Sioux Falls (Mason I) 51 NW 770 (1892)..........................17 

Mason v City of Sioux Falls (Mason II) 51 NW 774 (1892).........................17 

Millard v City of Sioux Falls 589 NW2d 217 (1999)..................................722 

Miller v Southard 162 NW 146 (1917).......................................................279 

Mulder v Tague 186 NW2d 884 (1971)......................................................550 

Pluimer v City of Belle Fourche 549 NW2d 202 (1996)............................703 

Roche Realty & Inv. v Highlands 135 NW 684 (1912)..............................158 

850



Selway Homeowners Association v Cummings 657 NW2d 307 (2003)......765 

Sweatman v Bathrick 95 NW 422 (1903)....................................................116 

Sweatman v City of Deadwood 69 NW 582 (1896)......................................18 

Tan Corporation v Johnson 555 NW2d 613 (1996)....................................662 

Thieman v Bohman 645 NW2d 260 (2002).................................................748 

Whittaker v City of Deadwood (Whittaker II) 81 NW 910 (1900)................99 

Wildwood Assn. v Harley F. Taylor Corp. 668 NW2d 296 (2003).............766 

 

COUNTY & TOWNSHIP ROADS 

Aasland v The County of Yankton 280 NW2d 666 (1979)..........................535 

Brown v Board of Pennington County 422 NW2d 440 (1988)...................661 

Bryant v Butte County 457 NW2d 467 (1990)............................................669 

Christianson v Daneville Twp. 246 NW 101 (1932)...................................299 

Cleveland v Tinaglia 582 NW2d 720 (1998)..............................................558 

Costain v Turner County 36 NW2d 382 (1949)..........................................409 

Dolan v Hudson 156 NW2d 78 (1968)........................................................497 

Douville v Christensen 641 NW2d 651 (2002)............................................723 

Dowdle v Cornue (Dowdle I) 68 NW 194 (1896).........................................64 

Dowdle v Cornue (Dowdle II) 70 NW 633 (1897)........................................64 

Duxbury v McCook County 205 NW 242 (1925)..........................................98 

Gustafson v Gem Twp. 235 NW 712 (1931)................................................324 

Hoekman v Iowa Civil Twp. 132 NW 1004 (1911).....................................184 

Johnson v Marion Twp. 642 NW2d 183 (2002)..........................................325 

Keen v Board of Supervisors of Fairview Twp. 67 NW 623 (1896).............19 

Kohlmorgan v Roswell Twp. 169 NW 229 (1918)......................................290 

Kreider v Yarosh 217 NW 640 (1928)........................................................290 

Larson v Edison Twp. (Larson I) 169 NW 523 (1918)...............................291 

Larson v Edison Twp. (Larson II) 180 NW 64 (1920)................................291 

Lawrence v Ewert 114 NW 709 (1908)......................................................107 

851



Lawson v Viola Twp. 210 NW 979 (1926)..................................................291 

Lowe v East Sioux Falls Quarry 126 NW 609 (1910)................................157 

Matters v Custer County 538 NW2d 533 (1995)........................................774 

McGray v Monarch Elevator 91 NW 457 (1902).......................................108 

Millard v City of Sioux Falls 589 NW2d 217 (1999)..................................722 

Miller v Scholten 273 NW2d 757 (1979).....................................................610 

Pederson v Canton Twp. 34 NW2d 172 (1948)...........................................402 

Reis v Miller 550 NW2d 78 (1996)..............................................................696 

Riverside Twp. v Newton 75 NW 899 (1898)................................................98 

Roche Realty & Inv. v Highlands 135 NW 684 (1912)...............................158 

Sample v Harter 156 NW 1016 (1916)........................................................228 

Selway Homeowners Association v Cummings 657 NW2d 307 (2003)......765 

Serry v Custer County 193 NW 143 (1923)................................................281 

Smith v Albrecht (Smith I) 361 NW2d 626 (1985)......................................652 

Smith v Pennington County 48 NW 309 (1891)...........................................17 

Smith v Sponheim (Smith II) 399 NW2d 899 (1987)...................................652 

Stannus v Heiserman 38 NW2d 130 (1949)................................................425 

State v Peters 334 NW2d 217 (1983)..........................................................696 

State v Tracy 539 NW2d 327 (1995)...........................................................695 

Taylor v Pennington County 204 NW2d 395 (1973)...................................519 

Thormodsgard v Wayne Twp. 310 NW2d 157 (1981).................................535 

Tibbitts v Anthem Holdings Corp. 694 NW2d 41 (2005)............................124 

Tinaglia v Ittzes 257 NW2d 724 (1977)......................................................549 

Umberger v State 248 NW2d 395 (1976)....................................................534 

Van Antwerp v Dell Rapids Twp. (Van Antwerp I) 53 NW 82 (1892)..........26 

Van Antwerp v Dell Rapids Twp. (Van Antwerp II) 59 NW 209 (1894)......26 

Vander Heide v Boke Ranch 736 NW2d 824 (2007)...................................812 

Webster v White 66 NW 1145 (1896)...........................................................58 

Wells v Pennington County 48 NW 305 (1891)...........................................11 

852



Wildwood Assn. v Harley F. Taylor Corp. 668 NW2d 296 (2003).............766 

Yankton County v Klemisch 76 NW 312 (1898)...........................................91 

 

DEDICATION 

Atlas Lumber v Quirk 135 NW 172 (1912).................................................229 

Bergin v Bistodeau 645 NW2d 252 (2002).................................................747 

Brown v Board of Pennington County 422 NW2d 440 (1988)....................661 

City of Belle Fourche v Dittman 325 NW2d 309 (1982).............................609 

City of Deadwood v Whittaker (Whittaker I) 81 NW 908 (1900).................99 

City of Watertown v Troeh 125 NW 501 (1910).........................................150 

Cleveland v Tinaglia 582 NW2d 720 (1998)..............................................558 

Edmunds v Plianos 51 NW2d 701 (1952)...................................................424 

Evans v City of Brookings 170 NW 133 (1918)..........................................280 

First Church of Christ, Scientist v Revell 2 NW2d 674 (1942)..................369 

Grand Crossing Land & Imp. v City of Mobridge 165 NW 988 (1917).....300 

Gustafson v Gem Twp. 235 NW 712 (1931)...............................................324 

Haley v City of Rapid City 269 NW2d 398 (1978).....................................559 

Henle v Bodin 222 NW 492 (1928).............................................................299 

Herrick v Gregory 190 NW 881 (1922)......................................................273 

Hofmeister v Sparks 660 NW2d 637 (2003)...............................................773 

Holida v Chicago & Northwestern Trans. 398 NW2d 742 (1986).............652 

In the Matter of Mackrill's Addition 179 NW2d 268 (1970).......................512 

Keen v Board of Supervisors of Fairview Twp. 67 NW 623 (1896).............19 

Kirby v Citizens Tel. Co. of Sioux Falls 97 NW 3 (1903)...........................106 

Larson v Chicago, Minn. & St. Paul Railway 103 NW 35 (1905)..............107 

Mason v City of Sioux Falls (Mason I) 51 NW 770 (1892)..........................17 

Mason v City of Sioux Falls (Mason II) 51 NW 774 (1892).........................17 

Miller v Scholten 273 NW2d 757 (1979).....................................................610 

Miller v Southard 162 NW 146 (1917)........................................................279 

853



Piechowski v Case 255 NW2d 72 (1977)....................................................542 

Pluimer v City of Belle Fourche 549 NW2d 202 (1996).............................703 

Roche Realty & Inv. v Highlands 135 NW 684 (1912)...............................158 

Selway Homeowners Association v Cummings 657 NW2d 307 (2003)......765 

Serry v Custer County 193 NW 143 (1923)................................................281 

Smith v Albrecht (Smith I) 361 NW2d 626 (1985)......................................652 

Smith v Pennington County 48 NW 309 (1891)...........................................17 

Smith v Sponheim (Smith II) 399 NW2d 899 (1987)...................................652 

Stannus v Heiserman 38 NW2d 130 (1949)................................................425 

Sweatman v Bathrick 95 NW 422 (1903)....................................................116 

Sweatman v City of Deadwood 69 NW 582 (1896)......................................18 

Thieman v Bohman 645 NW2d 260 (2002).................................................748 

Tinaglia v Ittzes 257 NW2d 724 (1977)......................................................549 

Tonsager v Laqua 753 NW2d 394 (2008)...................................................610 

Wells v Pennington County 48 NW 305 (1891)............................................11 

Whittaker v City of Deadwood (Whittaker II) 81 NW 910 (1900)................99 

Wildwood Assn. v Harley F. Taylor Corp. 668 NW2d 296 (2003).............766 

 

DEED VALIDITY 

Aamot v Eneboe 352 NW2d 647 (1984)......................................................636 

Ahl v Arnio 388 NW2d 532 (1986)..............................................................637 

Andree v Andree 291 NW2d 788 (1980).....................................................584 

Benson v Benson 257 NW 460 (1934).........................................................339 

Bernardy v Colonial & US Mortgage 98 NW 166 (1904)...........................125 

Betts v Letcher 46 NW 193 (1890)................................................................72 

Bliss v Waterbury 131 NW 731 (1911).......................................................174 

Butte County v Gaver 49 NW2d 466 (1951)...............................................441 

Caldwell v Pierson 159 NW 124 (1916).....................................................235 

Cole v Custer Co. Ag. Min. & Stock Assn. 52 NW 1086 (1892)..................40 

854



DRD Enterprises v Flickema 791 NW2d 180 (2010)..................................520 

Ernster v Christianson 123 NW 711 (1909)................................................432 

Evans v Doolittle 153 NW 762 (1915)........................................................212 

Evenson v Webster (Evenson I) 53 NW 747 (1892).....................................33 

Evenson v Webster (Evenson II) 58 NW 669 (1894)....................................33 

Ford v Ford 124 NW 1108 (1910)..............................................................175 

Fuller v Middaugh 77 NW2d 841 (1956)....................................................456 

Gale v Shillock (Gale I) 30 NW 138 (1886).................................................71 

Gale v Shillock (Gale II) 29 NW 661 (1886)................................................71 

Grigsby v Larson (Grigsby I) 124 NW 856 (1910).....................................131 

Grigsby v Verch (Grigsby II) 146 NW 1075 (1914)....................................131 

Hingtgen v Thackery (Thackery II) 121 NW 839 (1909)............................340 

Hohn v Bidwell 130 NW 837 (1911)...........................................................132 

Hollenbeck v Prior 40 NW 347 (1888).........................................................39 

Howe v Shepard 227 NW 839 (1929)..........................................................315 

Johnson v Olberg 143 NW 292 (1913)........................................................183 

Judd v Meoska 82 NW2d 283 (1957)..........................................................455 

Korte v O'Neill 148 NW 12 (1914)..............................................................205 

Lund v Thackery (Thackery I) 99 NW 856 (1904).......................................340 

McKenna v Whittaker 69 NW 587 (1896).....................................................39 

Moran v Thomas 104 NW 212 (1905).........................................................340 

Murphy v Dafoe (Murphy III) 99 NW 86 (1904).........................................133 

Myers v Eich 720 NW2d 76 (2006).............................................................132 

Nelson v Gregory County 323 NW2d 139 (1982).......................................628 

Northwest Realty v Jacobs 273 NW2d 141 (1978).....................................567 

Phillis v Gross (Phillis I) 143 NW 373 (1913)............................................395 

Phillis v Gross (Phillis II) 164 NW 971 (1917)...........................................395 

Rasmussen v Reedy 84 NW 205 (1900)........................................................89 

Reichelt v Perry 91 NW 459 (1902)............................................................159 

855



Sioux City Boat Club v Mulhall 117 NW2d 92 (1962)................................463 

Skoglund v Staab (Staab II) 269 NW2d 401 (1978)....................................528 

Skoglund v Staab (Staab III) 312 NW2d 29 (1981).....................................528 

Smith v Cleaver 126 NW 589 (1910)...........................................................175 

Staab v Cameron (Staab IV) 351 NW2d 463 (1984)...................................528 

Staab v Skoglund (Staab I) 234 NW2d 45 (1975).......................................528 

Stearns v McHugh 151 NW 888 (1915)......................................................212 

Stokes v Allen 89 NW 1023 (1902)...............................................................82 

Stotts v Swallow 12 NW2d 808 (1944)........................................................456 

Swaby v Northern Hills Reg. Railroad Auth. 769 NW2d 798 (2009).........832 

Sweatman v Bathrick 95 NW 422 (1903)....................................................116 

Turner v Hand County 77 NW 1589 (1898).................................................82 

Umberger v State 248 NW2d 395 (1976)....................................................534 

Van Abel v Wemmering 146 NW 697 (1914)..............................................205 

Van Cise v Carter 68 NW 539 (1896)..........................................................81 

Wampol v Kountz 85 NW 595 (1901)...........................................................90 

Whitford v Dodson 181 NW 962 (1921)......................................................396 

Wilson v Grigsby (Grigsby III) 147 NW 992 (1914)...................................131 

Wilson v McWilliams 91 NW 453 (1902)....................................................125 

Wood v Conrad (Wood I) 50 NW 95 (1891)................................................66 

Wood v Conrad (Wood II) 50 NW 903 (1892).............................................66 

 

EASEMENTS 

Atlas Lumber v Quirk 135 NW 172 (1912).................................................229 

Bergin v Bistodeau 645 NW2d 252 (2002).................................................747 

Block v Drake 681 NW2d 460 (2004).........................................................812 

Boyer v Dennis 742 NW2d 518 (2007).......................................................822 

Brown v Board of Pennington County 422 NW2d 440 (1988)...................661 

Brown v Hanson (Brown I) 743 NW2d 677 (2007)....................................823 

856



Brown v Hanson (Brown II) 798 NW2d 422 (2011)...................................823 

Brown v Northern Hills Reg. Railroad Auth. 732 NW2d 732 (2007).........834 

Bryant v Butte County 457 NW2d 467 (1990).............................................669 

Burkhart v Lillehaug 664 NW2d 41 (2003).................................................784 

Canyon Lake Park v Loftus Dental 700 NW2d 729 (2005).........................687 

City of Deadwood v Whittaker (Whittaker I) 81 NW 908 (1900).................99 

City of Sioux Falls v Hone Family Trust 554 NW2d 825 (1996)................722 

Cleveland v Tinaglia 582 NW2d 720 (1998)...............................................558 

Costain v Turner County 36 NW2d 382 (1949)..........................................409 

Cuka v State 122 NW2d 83 (1963)..............................................................473 

DeHaven v Hall 753 NW2d 429 (2008)......................................................795 

Dolan v Hudson 156 NW2d 78 (1968)........................................................497 

Douville v Christensen 641 NW2d 651 (2002)............................................723 

DRD Enterprises v Flickema 791 NW2d 180 (2010)..................................520 

Duxbury v McCook County 205 NW 242 (1925).........................................98 

Edmunds v Plianos 51 NW2d 701 (1952)...................................................424 

Evans v City of Brookings 170 NW 133 (1918)..........................................280 

First Church of Christ, Scientist v Revell 2 NW2d 674 (1942)...................369 

Graff v Budgett (Graff I) 299 NW 72 (1941)...............................................378 

Graff v Budgett (Graff II) 10 NW2d 764 (1943).........................................378 

Grand Crossing Land & Imp. v City of Mobridge 165 NW 988 (1917).....300 

Graves v Dennis 691 NW2d 315 (2004).....................................................784 

Gustafson v Gem Twp. 235 NW 712 (1931)...............................................324 

Hammerquist v Warburton 458 NW2d 773 (1990).....................................645 

Henle v Bodin 222 NW 492 (1928).............................................................299 

Herrick v Gregory 190 NW 881 (1922)......................................................273 

Hofmeister v Sparks 660 NW2d 637 (2003)................................................773 

Holida v Chicago & Northwestern Trans. 398 NW2d 742 (1986)..............652 

Homes Development v Simmons 70 NW2d 527 (1955)...............................448 

857



Johnson v Marion Twp. 642 NW2d 183 (2002)..........................................325 

Johnson v Radle 747 NW2d 644 (2008)......................................................601 

Keen v Board of Supervisors of Fairview Twp. 67 NW 623 (1896).............19 

Kokesh v Running 652 NW2d 790 (2002)...................................................756 

Kougl v Curry 44 NW2d 114 (1950)...........................................................416 

Lawrence v Ewert 114 NW 709 (1908).......................................................107 

Mason v City of Sioux Falls (Mason I) 51 NW 770 (1892).........................17 

Mason v City of Sioux Falls (Mason II) 51 NW 774 (1892)........................17 

Matters v Custer County 538 NW2d 533 (1995)........................................774 

Miiller v County of Davison 452 NW2d 119 (1990)...................................594 

Millard v City of Sioux Falls 589 NW2d 217 (1999)..................................722 

Miller v Southard 162 NW 146 (1917)........................................................279 

Mulder v Tague 186 NW2d 884 (1971).......................................................550 

Northwest Realty v Jacobs 273 NW2d 141 (1978)......................................567 

Oppold v Erickson 267 NW2d 570 (1978)..................................................593 

Pederson v Canton Twp. 34 NW2d 172 (1948)...........................................402 

Peterson v Beck 537 NW2d 375 (1995).......................................................687 

Picardi v Zimmiond (Picardi I) 689 NW2d 886 (2004)..............................794 

Picardi v Zimmiond (Picardi II) 693 NW2d 656 (2005).............................794 

Piechowski v Case 255 NW2d 72 (1977)....................................................542 

Pluimer v City of Belle Fourche 549 NW2d 202 (1996).............................703 

Reis v Miller 550 NW2d 78 (1996)..............................................................696 

Riverside Twp. v Newton 75 NW 899 (1898)................................................98 

Roche Realty & Inv. v Highlands 135 NW 684 (1912)...............................158 

Rotenberger v Burghduff (Rotenberger I) 727 NW2d 291 (2007)..............803 

Rotenberger v Burghduff (Rotenberger II) 729 NW2d 175 (2007).............803 

Salmon v Bradshaw 173 NW2d 281 (1969)................................................505 

Sample v Harter 156 NW 1016 (1916)........................................................228 

Selway Homeowners Association v Cummings 657 NW2d 307 (2003)......765 

858



Serry v Custer County 193 NW 143 (1923).................................................281 

Shippy v Hollopeter 304 NW2d 118 (1981)................................................593 

Smith v Albrecht (Smith I) 361 NW2d 626 (1985)......................................652 

Smith v Pennington County 48 NW 309 (1891)...........................................17 

Smith v Sponheim (Smith II) 399 NW2d 899 (1987)...................................652 

Stanga v Husman 694 NW2d 716 (2005)....................................................785 

State v Peters 334 NW2d 217 (1983)..........................................................696 

State v Tracy 539 NW2d 327 (1995)...........................................................695 

Steele v Pfeifer 310 NW2d 782 (1981)........................................................601 

Swaby v Northern Hills Reg. Railroad Auth. 769 NW2d 798 (2009)..........832 

Sweatman v Bathrick 95 NW 422 (1903)....................................................116 

Sweatman v City of Deadwood 69 NW 582 (1896)......................................18 

Tan Corporation v Johnson 555 NW2d 613 (1996)....................................662 

Taylor v Pennington County 204 NW2d 395 (1973)...................................519 

Thompson v Andrews 165 NW 9 (1917)......................................................417 

Thormodsgard v Wayne Twp. 310 NW2d 157 (1981).................................535 

Tibbitts v Anthem Holdings Corp. 694 NW2d 41 (2005)............................124 

Tinaglia v Ittzes 257 NW2d 724 (1977)......................................................549 

Tonsager v Laqua 753 NW2d 394 (2008)...................................................610 

Townsend v Yankton Super 8 Motel 371 NW2d 162 (1985).......................644 

Umberger v State 248 NW2d 395 (1976)....................................................534 

Vander Heide v Boke Ranch 736 NW2d 824 (2007)...................................812 

Venner v Olson 168 NW 740 (1918)...........................................................417 

Vivian Scott Trust v Parker 687 NW2d 731 (2004)....................................757 

Wells v Pennington County 48 NW 305 (1891)...........................................11 

Whittaker v City of Deadwood (Whittaker II) 81 NW 910 (1900)...............99 

Wiege v Knock 293 NW2d 146 (1980)........................................................575 

Wildwood Assn. v Harley F. Taylor Corp. 668 NW2d 296 (2003).............766 

Yankton County v Klemisch 76 NW 312 (1898)...........................................91 

859



 

ESTOPPEL 

Aamot v Eneboe 352 NW2d 647 (1984)......................................................636 

Bliss v Waterbury 131 NW 731 (1911)........................................................174 

Brown v Board of Pennington County 422 NW2d 440 (1988)....................661 

Burleigh v Hecht 117 NW 367 (1908) (Overruled).....................................159 

Canyon Lake Park v Loftus Dental 700 NW2d 729 (2005).........................687 

City of Deadwood v Summit 607 NW2d 22 (2000).....................................731 

City of Deadwood v Whittaker (Whittaker I) 81 NW 908 (1900).................99 

Cleveland v Tinaglia 582 NW2d 720 (1998)...............................................558 

Costain v Turner County 36 NW2d 382 (1949)..........................................409 

Crawford v Carter (Crawford I) 37 NW2d 241 (1949)..............................440 

Crawford v Carter (Crawford II) 52 NW2d 302 (1952).............................440 

Durkee v Van Well 654 NW2d 807 (2002)..................................................739 

Duxbury v McCook County 205 NW 242 (1925)..........................................98 

Evenson v Webster (Evenson I) 53 NW 747 (1892)......................................33 

Evenson v Webster (Evenson II) 58 NW 669 (1894)....................................33 

Farr v Semmler 123 NW 835 (1909)...........................................................165 

Federal Land Bank of Omaha v Matson 5 NW2d 314 (1942)....................308 

First Church of Christ, Scientist v Revell 2 NW2d 674 (1942)...................369 

Ford v Ford 124 NW 1108 (1910)..............................................................175 

Grigsby v Larson (Grigsby I) 124 NW 856 (1910).....................................131 

Grigsby v Verch (Grigsby II) 146 NW 1075 (1914)...................................131 

Haley v City of Rapid City 269 NW2d 398 (1978).....................................559 

Jacobson v Gulbransen 623 NW2d 84 (2001)............................................738 

Kelly v Gram 38 NW2d 460 (1949)............................................................440 

Kenny v McKenzie (Kenny I) 120 NW 781 (1909)......................................159 

Kenny v McKenzie (Kenny II) 127 NW 597 (1910).....................................159 

Larson v Chicago, Minn. & St. Paul Railway 103 NW 35 (1905)..............107 

860



Lehman v Smith 168 NW 857 (1918)..........................................................247 

Murphy v Dafoe (Murphy III) 99 NW 86 (1904)........................................133 

Rogers v Standard Life Insurance 222 NW 667 (1928)..............................307 

Selway Homeowners Association v Cummings 657 NW2d 307 (2003)......765 

Sweatman v City of Deadwood 69 NW 582 (1896)......................................18 

Taylor v Tripp 330 NW2d 542 (1983).........................................................617 

Tinaglia v Ittzes 257 NW2d 724 (1977)......................................................549 

Vander Heide v Boke Ranch 736 NW2d 824 (2007)...................................812 

Wampol v Kountz 85 NW 595 (1901)...........................................................90 

Whittaker v City of Deadwood (Whittaker II) 81 NW 910 (1900)................99 

Wilson v Grigsby (Grigsby III) 147 NW 992 (1914)...................................131 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS 

Aasland v The County of Yankton 280 NW2d 666 (1979)..........................535 

Ahl v Arnio 388 NW2d 532 (1986).............................................................637 

Andal v Osthus 52 NW2d 96 (1952)...........................................................432 

Block v Drake 681 NW2d 460 (2004).........................................................812 

Bunkers v Guernsey (Bunkers I) 153 NW 378 (1915)................................433 

Bunkers v Guernsey (Bunkers II) 160 NW 732 (1916)...............................433 

Bunkers v Guernsey (Bunkers III) 170 NW 632 (1919)..............................433 

Butte County v Gaver 49 NW2d 466 (1951)...............................................441 

City of Watertown v Troeh 125 NW 501 (1910).........................................150 

Cleveland v Tinaglia 582 NW2d 720 (1998)..............................................558 

Cole v Custer Co. Ag. Min. & Stock Assn. 52 NW 1086 (1892)..................40 

DRD Enterprises v Flickema 791 NW2d 180 (2010)..................................520 

DuPratt v Black Hills Land & Abstract 140 NW2d 386 (1966).................489 

Duxbury v McCook County 205 NW 242 (1925).........................................98 

Edmunds v Plianos 51 NW2d 701 (1952)...................................................424 

Ernster v Christianson 123 NW 711 (1909)...............................................432 

861



Evans v Doolittle 153 NW 762 (1915)........................................................212 

Ford v Ford 124 NW 1108 (1910)..............................................................175 

Graff v Budgett (Graff I) 299 NW 72 (1941)..............................................378 

Graff v Budgett (Graff II) 10 NW2d 764 (1943).........................................378 

Habeck v Sampson (Habeck I) 202 NW2d 868 (1972)...............................527 

Habeck v Sampson (Habeck II) 221 NW2d 483 (1974)..............................527 

Herrick v Gregory 190 NW 881 (1922)......................................................273 

Holida v Chicago & Northwestern Trans. 398 NW2d 742 (1986).............652 

Hollenbeck v Prior 40 NW 347 (1888).........................................................39 

In the Matter of the Estate of Rosenbaum 624 NW2d 821 (2001)..............480 

Jacobson v Gulbransen 623 NW2d 84 (2001)............................................738 

Johnson v Radle 747 NW2d 644 (2008)......................................................601 

Korte v O'Neill 148 NW 12 (1914)..............................................................205 

Laird-Norton v Hopkins 60 NW 857 (1894).................................................75 

MacVeagh v Burns 48 NW 835 (1891).........................................................75 

Matters v Custer County 538 NW2d 533 (1995).........................................774 

McBride v McBride 207 NW 74 (1926)......................................................495 

Meyerink v Northwestern Public Service 391 NW2d 180 (1986)...............833 

Moran v Thomas 104 NW 212 (1905).........................................................340 

Nelson v Gregory County 323 NW2d 139 (1982).......................................628 

Nicolaus v Deming 139 NW2d 875 (1966).................................................488 

Northstream Inv. v 1804 Co. St. (Northstream I) 697 NW2d 762 (2005)...740 

Northstream Inv. v 1804 Co. St. (Northstream II) 739 NW2d 44 (2007)....740 

Northwest Realty v Jacobs 273 NW2d 141 (1978)......................................567 

Novotny v Danforth 68 NW 749 (1896)........................................................74 

Picardi v Zimmiond (Picardi I) 689 NW2d 886 (2004)..............................794 

Picardi v Zimmiond (Picardi II) 693 NW2d 656 (2005).............................794 

Salmon v Bradshaw 173 NW2d 281 (1969)................................................505 

Schlecht v Hinrich 210 NW 192 (1926)......................................................496 

862



Smith v Johnson (Smith I) 138 NW 18 (1912)............................................433 

Smith v Johnson (Smith II) 153 NW 376 (1915).........................................433 

Stearns v McHugh 151 NW 888 (1915)......................................................212 

Steele v Pfeifer 310 NW2d 782 (1981)........................................................601 

Stenson v Elfmann (Stenson I) 128 NW 588 (1910)....................................175 

Stenson v Elfmann (Stenson II) 135 NW 694 (1912)...................................175 

Stokes v Allen 89 NW 1023 (1902)...............................................................82 

Swaby v Northern Hills Reg. Railroad Auth. 769 NW2d 798 (2009)..........832 

Sweatman v Bathrick 95 NW 422 (1903)....................................................116 

Taylor v Pennington County 204 NW2d 395 (1973)...................................519 

Thomas v Johnson 29 NW2d 490 (1947)....................................................395 

Tibbitts v Anthem Holdings Corp. 694 NW2d 41 (2005)............................124 

Tossini v Donahoe 117 NW 148 (1908)......................................................495 

Townsend v Yankton Super 8 Motel 371 NW2d 162 (1985).......................644 

Tripp v F & K Assam Family 755 NW2d 106 (2008).................................835 

Turner v Hand County 77 NW 1589 (1898).................................................82 

Umberger v State 248 NW2d 395 (1976)....................................................534 

Van Abel v Wemmering 146 NW 697 (1914)..............................................205 

Van Cise v Carter 68 NW 539 (1896)...........................................................81 

Vander Heide v Boke Ranch 736 NW2d 824 (2007)...................................812 

Wiege v Knock 293 NW2d 146 (1980)........................................................575 

Yankton County v Klemisch 76 NW 312 (1898)...........................................91 

 

NOTICE 

Aasland v The County of Yankton 280 NW2d 666 (1979)...........................535 

Benson v Benson 257 NW 460 (1934).........................................................339 

Bergin v Bistodeau 645 NW2d 252 (2002)..................................................747 

Bernardy v Colonial & US Mortgage 98 NW 166 (1904)...........................125 

Betts v Letcher 46 NW 193 (1890)................................................................72 

863



Bliss v Waterbury 131 NW 731 (1911)........................................................174 

Brown v Board of Pennington County 422 NW2d 440 (1988)....................661 

Burkhart v Lillehaug 664 NW2d 41 (2003)................................................784 

Butte County v Gaver 49 NW2d 466 (1951)...............................................441 

Caldwell v Pierson 159 NW 124 (1916).....................................................235 

City of Deadwood v Whittaker (Whittaker I) 81 NW 908 (1900).................99 

City of Watertown v Troeh 125 NW 501 (1910).........................................150 

Crawford v Carter (Crawford I) 37 NW2d 241 (1949)..............................440 

Crawford v Carter (Crawford II) 52 NW2d 302 (1952).............................440 

Cuka v Jamesville Hutterian Mutual Society 294 NW2d 419 (1980).........583 

Dolan v Hudson 156 NW2d 78 (1968)........................................................497 

DRD Enterprises v Flickema 791 NW2d 180 (2010)..................................520 

Edmunds v Plianos 51 NW2d 701 (1952)...................................................424 

First Church of Christ, Scientist v Revell 2 NW2d 674 (1942)...................369 

Fullerton Lumber (Fullerton I) v Tinker 115 NW 91 (1908)......................175 

Fullerton Lumber (Fullerton II) v Tinker 118 NW 700 (1908)...................175 

Gale v Shillock (Gale I) 30 NW 138 (1886).................................................71 

Gale v Shillock (Gale II) 29 NW 661 (1886)................................................71 

Haley v City of Rapid City 269 NW2d 398 (1978)......................................559 

Hammerquist v Warburton 458 NW2d 773 (1990).....................................645 

Herrick v Gregory 190 NW 881 (1922)......................................................273 

Hingtgen v Thackery (Thackery II) 121 NW 839 (1909)............................340 

Homes Development v Simmons 70 NW2d 527 (1955)..............................448 

Howe v Shepard 227 NW 839 (1929).........................................................315 

Huffman v Cooley 134 NW 49 (1912)........................................................183 

Johnson v Olberg 143 NW 292 (1913).......................................................183 

Johnson v Radle 747 NW2d 644 (2008).....................................................601 

Jutting v Hendrix 606 NW2d 140 (2000)...................................................730 

Kokesh v Running 652 NW2d 790 (2002)..................................................756 

864



Kougl v Curry 44 NW2d 114 (1950)...........................................................416 

Labore v Forbes 238 NW 124 (1931).........................................................331 

Lewis v Moorhead 522 NW2d 1 (1994)......................................................677 

Lunstra v Century 21 442 NW2d 448 (1989)..............................................497 

Lusk v City of Yankton 168 NW 375 (1918)................................................246 

McBride v McBride 207 NW 74 (1926)......................................................495 

Murphy v Dafoe (Murphy III) 99 NW 86 (1904)........................................133 

Oppold v Erickson 267 NW2d 570 (1978)..................................................593 

Peterson v Beck 537 NW2d 375 (1995)......................................................687 

Phillis v Gross (Phillis I) 143 NW 373 (1913)............................................395 

Phillis v Gross (Phillis II) 164 NW 971 (1917)...........................................395 

Picardi v Zimmiond (Picardi I) 689 NW2d 886 (2004)..............................794 

Picardi v Zimmiond (Picardi II) 693 NW2d 656 (2005).............................794 

Roberts v Holliday 74 NW 1034 (1898).......................................................83 

Rogers v Standard Life Insurance 222 NW 667 (1928)..............................307 

Sample v Harter 156 NW 1016 (1916)........................................................228 

Schultz v Dew 564 NW2d 320 (1997)..........................................................712 

Schwartz v Morgan 776 NW2d 827 (2009).................................................498 

Serry v Custer County 193 NW 143 (1923).................................................281 

Seymour v Cleveland 68 NW 171 (1896)......................................................65 

Shippy v Hollopeter 304 NW2d 118 (1981)................................................593 

Smith v Pennington County 48 NW 309 (1891)............................................17 

Steele v Pfeifer 310 NW2d 782 (1981)........................................................601 

Sweatman v City of Deadwood 69 NW 582 (1896)......................................18 

Tan Corporation v Johnson 555 NW2d 613 (1996)....................................662 

Taylor v Edgerton 173 NW 444 (1919).......................................................271 

Taylor v Pennington County 204 NW2d 395 (1973)...................................519 

Taylor v Tripp 330 NW2d 542 (1983).........................................................617 

Thomas v Johnson 29 NW2d 490 (1947)....................................................395 

865



Townsend v Yankton Super 8 Motel 371 NW2d 162 (1985).......................644 

Vander Heide v Boke Ranch 736 NW2d 824 (2007)...................................812 

Wells v Pennington County 48 NW 305 (1891)............................................11 

Whitford v Dodson 181 NW 962 (1921)......................................................396 

Whittaker v City of Deadwood (Whittaker II) 81 NW 910 (1900)................99 

Wiege v Knock 293 NW2d 146 (1980)........................................................575 

 

RIPARIAN RIGHTS 

Allard v Curran 168 NW 761 (1918)..........................................................256 

Anderson v Ray 156 NW 591 (1916)..........................................................220 

Cuka v Jamesville Hutterian Mutual Society 294 NW2d 419 (1980).........583 

Dailey v Ryan 21 NW2d 61 (1945).............................................................386 

Erickson v Horlyk 205 NW 613 (1925).......................................................257 

Feight v Hansen (Hansen II) 131 NW2d 64 (1964)....................................479 

Flisrand v Madson 152 NW 796 (1915)......................................................213 

Hillebrand v Knapp 274 NW 821 (1937)....................................................355 

In the Matter of Beaver Lake 466 NW2d 163 (1991)..................................356 

In the Matter of the Estate of Rosenbaum 624 NW2d 821 (2001)..............480 

Kapp v Hansen (Hansen I) 111 NW2d 333 (1961).....................................479 

Karterud v Karterud 195 NW 972 (1923)...................................................282 

Maw v Bruneau 156 NW 792 (1916)..........................................................227 

Olson v Huntamer (Olson I) 61 NW 479 (1894)..........................................50 

Olson v Huntamer (Olson II) 66 NW 313 (1896).........................................50 

Parks v Cooper 676 NW2d 823 (2004).......................................................387 

Parsons v City of Sioux Falls 272 NW 288 (1937).....................................356 

Sample v Harter 156 NW 1016 (1916).......................................................228 

Sioux City Boat Club v Mulhall 117 NW2d 92 (1962)...............................463 

South Dakota Wildlife Fed. v Water Man. Board 382 NW2d 26 (1986)....356 

State v Deisch 162 NW 365 (1917).............................................................257 

866



Venner v Olson 168 NW 740 (1918)...........................................................417 

Waldner v Blachnik 274 NW 837 (1937)....................................................362 

Walker v Sorenson 265 NW 589 (1936).....................................................346 

 

STATUTE OF FRAUDS 

Aamot v Eneboe 352 NW2d 647 (1984)......................................................636 

Butte County v Gaver 49 NW2d 466 (1951)...............................................441 

Crawford v Carter (Crawford I) 37 NW2d 241 (1949)..............................440 

Crawford v Carter (Crawford II) 52 NW2d 302 (1952).............................440 

Drake v Sample 279 NW2d 685 (1979)......................................................528 

DRD Enterprises v Flickema 791 NW2d 180 (2010).................................520 

Durkee v Van Well 654 NW2d 807 (2002).................................................739 

Federal Land Bank of Omaha v Matson 5 NW2d 314 (1942)....................308 

Fideler v Norton 30 NW 128 (1886)...........................................................141 

Habeck v Sampson (Habeck I) 202 NW2d 868 (1972)...............................527 

Habeck v Sampson (Habeck II) 221 NW2d 483 (1974)..............................527 

Jacobson v Gulbransen 623 NW2d 84 (2001)............................................738 

Kelly v Gram 38 NW2d 460 (1949)............................................................440 

Korte v O'Neill 148 NW 12 (1914).............................................................205 

Lewis v Moorhead 522 NW2d 1 (1994)......................................................677 

Lothrop v Marble 81 NW 885 (1900)..........................................................142 

Miller v Southard 162 NW 146 (1917)........................................................279 

Northstream Inv. v 1804 Co. St. (Northstream I) 697 NW2d 762 (2005)...740 

Northstream Inv. v 1804 Co. St. (Northstream II) 739 NW2d 44 (2007)....740 

Phelan v Neary 117 NW 142 (1908)...........................................................148 

Picardi v Zimmiond (Picardi I) 689 NW2d 886 (2004)..............................794 

Picardi v Zimmiond (Picardi II) 693 NW2d 656 (2005).............................794 

Rogers v Standard Life Insurance 222 NW 667 (1928)..............................307 

Skoglund v Staab (Staab II) 269 NW2d 401 (1978)....................................528 

867



Skoglund v Staab (Staab III) 312 NW2d 29 (1981).....................................528 

Staab v Cameron (Staab IV) 351 NW2d 463 (1984)...................................528 

Staab v Skoglund (Staab I) 234 NW2d 45 (1975).......................................528 

Steensland v Noel 134 NW 207 (1912).......................................................307 

Stenson v Elfmann (Stenson I) 128 NW 588 (1910)....................................175 

Stenson v Elfmann (Stenson II) 135 NW 694 (1912)..................................175 

Stewart v Tomlinson 112 NW 849 (1907)...................................................141 

Townsend v Kennedy 60 NW 164 (1894)....................................................147 

Vander Heide v Boke Ranch 736 NW2d 824 (2007)...................................812 

Wiggins v Shewmake 374 NW2d 111 (1985)..............................................637 

Wilson v McWilliams 91 NW 453 (1902)...................................................125 

 

SURVEY EVIDENCE 

Andal v Osthus 52 NW2d 96 (1952)............................................................432 

Arneson v Spawn 49 NW 1066 (1891)..........................................................20 

Block v Howell 346 NW2d 441 (1984)........................................................627 

Bowman v McGilvray 66 NW 1149 (1896)...................................................65 

Byrne v McKeachie (Byrne I) 137 NW 343 (1912).....................................204 

Byrne v McKeachie (Byrne II) 149 NW 552 (1914)....................................204 

Christianson v Daneville Twp. 246 NW 101 (1932)...................................299 

Coulter v Gudehus 139 NW 330 (1913)......................................................197 

Cuka v Jamesville Hutterian Mutual Society 294 NW2d 419 (1980).........583 

Dailey v Ryan 21 NW2d 61 (1945).............................................................386 

Dowdle v Cornue (Dowdle I) 68 NW 194 (1896)........................................64 

Dowdle v Cornue (Dowdle II) 70 NW 633 (1897).......................................64 

Ernster v Christianson 123 NW 711 (1909)...............................................432 

Feight v Hansen (Hansen II) 131 NW2d 64 (1964)...................................479 

Hanson v Red Rock Township (Hanson I) 57 NW 11 (1893)......................49 

Hanson v Red Rock Township (Hanson II) 63 NW 156 (1895)..................49 

868



Hoekman v Iowa Civil Twp. 132 NW 1004 (1911).....................................184 

Ingalls v Gunderson 157 NW 1055 (1916).................................................237 

Iverson v Johnson 239 NW 757 (1931).......................................................298 

Jensen v Weyrens 474 NW2d 261 (1991)....................................................678 

Johnson v Biegelmeier 409 NW2d 379 (1987)............................................626 

Jutting v Hendrix 606 NW2d 140 (2000)....................................................730 

Karterud v Karterud 195 NW 972 (1923)...................................................282 

Kohlmorgan v Roswell Twp. 169 NW 229 (1918).......................................290 

Kreider v Yarosh 217 NW 640 (1928).........................................................290 

Labore v Forbes 238 NW 124 (1931)..........................................................331 

Larson v Edison Twp. (Larson I) 169 NW 523 (1918)................................291 

Larson v Edison Twp. (Larson II) 180 NW 64 (1920)................................291 

Lawson v Viola Twp. 210 NW 979 (1926)..................................................291 

Lee v Dwyer 107 NW 674 (1906)................................................................115 

Lehman v Smith 168 NW 857 (1918)..........................................................247 

Lewis v Moorhead 522 NW2d 1 (1994)......................................................677 

Mason v Braught 146 NW 687 (1914)........................................................204 

McGray v Monarch Elevator 91 NW 457 (1902).......................................108 

Mills v Lehmann 133 NW 807 (1911).........................................................191 

Olander v Jacobson 66 NW 1149 (1896).....................................................65 

Phillips v Hink 114 NW 699 (1908)............................................................168 

Randall v Burk Twp. (Randall I) 57 NW 4 (1893).......................................40 

Randall v Burk Twp. (Randall II) 70 NW 837 (1897)..................................40 

Randall v Burk Twp. (Randall III) 75 NW 276 (1898).................................40 

Schwartz v Morgan 776 NW2d 827 (2009).................................................498 

Smith v Johnson (Smith I) 138 NW 18 (1912).............................................433 

Smith v Johnson (Smith II) 153 NW 376 (1915)..........................................433 

Sullivan v Groves 172 NW 926 (1919)........................................................264 

Taylor v Pennington County 204 NW2d 395 (1973)...................................519 

869



Taylor v Tripp 330 NW2d 542 (1983).........................................................617 

Tinaglia v Ittzes 257 NW2d 724 (1977)......................................................549 

Titus v Chapman 687 NW2d 918 (2004).....................................................628 

Township of Blooming Valley v Bronson 135 NW 678 (1912)...................185 

Unzelmann v Shelton 103 NW 646 (1905)..................................................114 

Van Antwerp v Dell Rapids Twp. (Van Antwerp I) 53 NW 82 (1892).........26 

Van Antwerp v Dell Rapids Twp. (Van Antwerp II) 59 NW 209 (1894)......26 

Waldner v Blachnik 274 NW 837 (1937)....................................................362 

Webster v White 66 NW 1145 (1896)...........................................................58 

Wentzel v Claussen 127 NW 621 (1910).....................................................167 

Wood v Bapp 169 NW 518 (1918)..............................................................254 

 

VACATION 

Bergin v Bistodeau 645 NW2d 252 (2002)..................................................747 

City of Belle Fourche v Dittman 325 NW2d 309 (1982).............................609 

City of Sioux Falls v Hone Family Trust 554 NW2d 825 (1996)................722 

Costain v Turner County 36 NW2d 382 (1949)..........................................409 

Cuka v State 122 NW2d 83 (1963)..............................................................473 

Douville v Christensen 641 NW2d 651 (2002)............................................723 

Hofmeister v Sparks 660 NW2d 637 (2003)................................................773 

Holida v Chicago & Northwestern Trans. 398 NW2d 742 (1986)..............652 

In the Matter of Mackrill's Addition 179 NW2d 268 (1970).......................512 

Keen v Board of Supervisors of Fairview Twp. 67 NW 623 (1896).............19 

Lowe v East Sioux Falls Quarry 126 NW 609 (1910).................................157 

Matters v Custer County 538 NW2d 533 (1995).........................................774 

Millard v City of Sioux Falls 589 NW2d 217 (1999)..................................722 

Pederson v Canton Twp. 34 NW2d 172 (1948)...........................................402 

Selway Homeowners Association v Cummings 657 NW2d 307 (2003)......765 

Swaby v Northern Hills Reg. Railroad Auth. 769 NW2d 798 (2009).........832 

870



Sweatman v Bathrick 95 NW 422 (1903)....................................................116 

Taylor v Pennington County 204 NW2d 395 (1973)...................................519 

Thormodsgard v Wayne Twp. 310 NW2d 157 (1981).................................535 

Tibbitts v Anthem Holdings Corp. 694 NW2d 41 (2005)............................124 

Umberger v State 248 NW2d 395 (1976)....................................................534 

Wildwood Assn. v Harley F. Taylor Corp. 668 NW2d 296 (2003).............766 
 

ALPHABETICAL INDEX OF ALL SOUTH DAKOTA                          
CASES  REFERENCED                                                   

(Page references are to only the initial or principal location, cases may be 
referenced in multiple locations) 

A 

Aamot v Eneboe 352 NW2d 647 (1984)......................................................636 

Aasland v The County of Yankton 280 NW2d 666 (1979)...........................535 

Ahl v Arnio 388 NW2d 532 (1986)..............................................................637 

Allard v Curran 168 NW 761 (1918)..........................................................256 

Andal v Osthus 52 NW2d 96 (1952)............................................................432 

Anderson v Ray 156 NW 591 (1916)...........................................................220 

Andree v Andree 291 NW2d 788 (1980).....................................................584 

Arneson v Spawn 49 NW 1066 (1891)..........................................................20 

Atlas Lumber v Quirk 135 NW 172 (1912).................................................229 

 

B 

Barney v Burlington Northern RR 490 NW2d 726 (1992) (Overruled)......835 

Bartels v Anaconda 304 NW2d 108 (1981).................................................592 

Benson v Benson 257 NW 460 (1934).........................................................339 

Bergin v Bistodeau 645 NW2d 252 (2002)..................................................747 

Bernardy v Colonial & US Mortgage 98 NW 166 (1904)...........................125 

Betts v Letcher 46 NW 193 (1890)................................................................72 

871



Bliss v Waterbury 131 NW 731 (1911).......................................................174 

Block v Drake 681 NW2d 460 (2004).........................................................812 

Block v Howell 346 NW2d 441 (1984)........................................................627 

Bowman v McGilvray 66 NW 1149 (1896)...................................................65 

Boyer v Dennis 742 NW2d 518 (2007)........................................................822 

Broadhurst v American Colloid 177 NW2d 261 (1970)..............................463 

Brown v Board of Pennington County 422 NW2d 440 (1988)....................661 

Brown v Hanson (Brown I) 743 NW2d 677 (2007).....................................823 

Brown v Hanson (Brown II) 798 NW2d 422 (2011)...................................823 

Brown v Northern Hills Reg. Railroad Auth. 732 NW2d 732 (2007).........834 

Bryant v Butte County 457 NW2d 467 (1990)............................................669 

Bunkers v Guernsey (Bunkers I) 153 NW 378 (1915)................................433 

Bunkers v Guernsey (Bunkers II) 160 NW 732 (1916)...............................433 

Bunkers v Guernsey (Bunkers III) 170 NW 632 (1919).............................433 

Burkhart v Lillehaug 664 NW2d 41 (2003)...............................................784 

Burleigh v Hecht 117 NW 367 (1908) (Overruled)...................................159 

Butte County v Gaver 49 NW2d 466 (1951)..............................................441 

Byrne v McKeachie (Byrne I) 137 NW 343 (1912)...................................204 

Byrne v McKeachie (Byrne II) 149 NW 552 (1914)..................................204 

 

C 

Caldwell v Pierson 159 NW 124 (1916)......................................................235 

Canyon Lake Park v Loftus Dental 700 NW2d 729 (2005).........................687 

Christianson v Daneville Twp. 246 NW 101 (1932)...................................299 

City of Belle Fourche v Dittman 325 NW2d 309 (1982).............................609 

City of Deadwood v Summit 607 NW2d 22 (2000).....................................731 

City of Deadwood v Whittaker (Whittaker I) 81 NW 908 (1900).................99 

City of Sioux Falls v Hone Family Trust 554 NW2d 825 (1996)................722 

City of Watertown v Troeh 125 NW 501 (1910).........................................150 

872



Cleveland v Tinaglia 582 NW2d 720 (1998)...............................................558 

Cochrane v McCoy (McCoy II) 179 NW 210 (1920)..................................316 

Cole v Custer Co. Ag. Min. & Stock Assn. 52 NW 1086 (1892)...................40 

Costain v Turner County 36 NW2d 382 (1949)..........................................409 

Coulter v Gudehus 139 NW 330 (1913)......................................................197 

Crawford v Carter (Crawford I) 37 NW2d 241 (1949)..............................440 

Crawford v Carter (Crawford II) 52 NW2d 302 (1952).............................440 

Cuka v Jamesville Hutterian Mutual Society 294 NW2d 419 (1980).........583 

Cuka v State 122 NW2d 83 (1963).............................................................473 

 

D 

Dailey v Ryan 21 NW2d 61 (1945).............................................................386 

DeHaven v Hall 753 NW2d 429 (2008)......................................................795 

Dolan v Hudson 156 NW2d 78 (1968)........................................................497 

Douville v Christensen 641 NW2d 651 (2002)...........................................723 

Dowdle v Cornue (Dowdle I) 68 NW 194 (1896)........................................64 

Dowdle v Cornue (Dowdle II) 70 NW 633 (1897).......................................64 

Drake v Sample 279 NW2d 685 (1979)......................................................528 

DRD Enterprises v Flickema 791 NW2d 180 (2010).................................520 

DuPratt v Black Hills Land & Abstract 140 NW2d 386 (1966).................489 

Durkee v Van Well 654 NW2d 807 (2002).................................................739 

Duxbury v McCook County 205 NW 242 (1925).........................................98 

 

E 

Edmunds v Plianos 51 NW2d 701 (1952)...................................................424 

Erickson v Horlyk 205 NW 613 (1925).......................................................257 

Ernster v Christianson 123 NW 711 (1909)...............................................432 

Evans v City of Brookings 170 NW 133 (1918)..........................................280 

Evans v Doolittle 153 NW 762 (1915)........................................................212 

873



Evenson v Webster (Evenson I) 53 NW 747 (1892)......................................33 

Evenson v Webster (Evenson II) 58 NW 669 (1894).....................................33 

 

F 

Farr v Semmler 123 NW 835 (1909)...........................................................165 

Federal Land Bank of Omaha v Matson 5 NW2d 314 (1942)....................308 

Feight v Hansen (Hansen II) 131 NW2d 64 (1964)....................................479 

Fideler v Norton 30 NW 128 (1886)...........................................................141 

First Church of Christ, Scientist v Revell 2 NW2d 674 (1942)..................369 

Flisrand v Madson 152 NW 796 (1915).....................................................213 

Ford v Ford 124 NW 1108 (1910)..............................................................175 

Forest Home Cem. Assn. v Dardanella Fin. 329 NW2d 885 (1983)..........592 

Fuller v Middaugh 77 NW2d 841 (1956)....................................................456 

Fullerton Lumber (Fullerton I) v Tinker 115 NW 91 (1908)......................175 

Fullerton Lumber (Fullerton II) v Tinker 118 NW 700 (1908)...................175 

 

G 

Gale v Shillock (Gale I) 30 NW 138 (1886)..................................................71 

Gale v Shillock (Gale II) 29 NW 661 (1886).................................................71 

Graff v Budgett (Graff I) 299 NW 72 (1941)...............................................378 

Graff v Budgett (Graff II) 10 NW2d 764 (1943).........................................378 

Grand Crossing Land & Imp. v City of Mobridge 165 NW 988 (1917).....300 

Graves v Dennis 691 NW2d 315 (2004).....................................................784 

Grigsby v Larson (Grigsby I) 124 NW 856 (1910).....................................131 

Grigsby v Verch (Grigsby II) 146 NW 1075 (1914)...................................131 

Gustafson v Gem Twp. 235 NW 712 (1931)...............................................324 

 

 

 

874



H 

Habeck v Sampson (Habeck I) 202 NW2d 868 (1972)................................527 

Habeck v Sampson (Habeck II) 221 NW2d 483 (1974)..............................527 

Haley v City of Rapid City 269 NW2d 398 (1978)......................................559 

Hammerquist v Warburton 458 NW2d 773 (1990).....................................645 

Hanson v Red Rock Township (Hanson I) 57 NW 11 (1893).......................49 

Hanson v Red Rock Township (Hanson II) 63 NW 156 (1895)....................49 

Henle v Bodin 222 NW 492 (1928).............................................................299 

Herrick v Gregory 190 NW 881 (1922)......................................................273 

Hillebrand v Knapp 274 NW 821 (1937)....................................................355 

Hingtgen v Thackery (Thackery II) 121 NW 839 (1909)............................340 

Hoekman v Iowa Civil Twp. 132 NW 1004 (1911).....................................184 

Hofmeister v Sparks 660 NW2d 637 (2003)...............................................773 

Hohn v Bidwell 130 NW 837 (1911)...........................................................132 

Holida v Chicago & Northwestern Trans. 398 NW2d 742 (1986).............652 

Hollenbeck v Prior 40 NW 347 (1888).........................................................39 

Homes Development v Simmons 70 NW2d 527 (1955)...............................448 

Houts v Bartle (Houts II) 85 NW 591 (1901)..............................................134 

Houts v Hoyne (Houts I) 84 NW 773 (1900)...............................................134 

Houts v Olson (Houts III) 85 NW 1015 (1901)...........................................134 

Howe v Shepard 227 NW 839 (1929)..........................................................315 

Huffman v Cooley 134 NW 49 (1912).........................................................183 

 

I 

In the Matter of Beaver Lake 466 NW2d 163 (1991)..................................356 

In the Matter of Mackrill's Addition 179 NW2d 268 (1970).......................512 

In the Matter of the Estate of Rosenbaum 624 NW2d 821 (2001)..............480 

Ingalls v Gunderson 157 NW 1055 (1916).................................................237 

Iverson v Johnson 239 NW 757 (1931)......................................................298 

875



 

J 

Jacobson v Gulbransen 623 NW2d 84 (2001)............................................738 

Jensen v Weyrens 474 NW2d 261 (1991)....................................................678 

Johnson v Biegelmeier 409 NW2d 379 (1987)............................................626 

Johnson v Marion Twp. 642 NW2d 183 (2002)..........................................325 

Johnson v Olberg 143 NW 292 (1913)........................................................183 

Johnson v Radle 747 NW2d 644 (2008)......................................................601 

Judd v Meoska 82 NW2d 283 (1957)..........................................................455 

Jutting v Hendrix 606 NW2d 140 (2000)....................................................730 

 

K 

Kapp v Hansen (Hansen I) 111 NW2d 333 (1961).....................................479 

Karterud v Karterud 195 NW 972 (1923)...................................................282 

Keen v Board of Supervisors of Fairview Twp. 67 NW 623 (1896).............19 

Kelly v Gram 38 NW2d 460 (1949).............................................................440 

Kenny v McKenzie (Kenny I) 120 NW 781 (1909)......................................159 

Kenny v McKenzie (Kenny II) 127 NW 597 (1910).....................................159 

Kirby v Citizens Tel. Co. of Sioux Falls 97 NW 3 (1903)...........................106 

Kohlmorgan v Roswell Twp. 169 NW 229 (1918).......................................290 

Kokesh v Running 652 NW2d 790 (2002)...................................................756 

Korte v O'Neill 148 NW 12 (1914)..............................................................205 

Kougl v Curry 44 NW2d 114 (1950)...........................................................416 

Kreider v Yarosh 217 NW 640 (1928)........................................................290 

 

L 

Labore v Forbes 238 NW 124 (1931)..........................................................331 

Laird-Norton v Hopkins 60 NW 857 (1894).................................................75 

Larson v Chicago, Minn. & St. Paul Railway 103 NW 35 (1905)..............107 

876



Larson v Edison Twp. (Larson I) 169 NW 523 (1918)...............................291 

Larson v Edison Twp. (Larson II) 180 NW 64 (1920)................................291 

Lawrence v Ewert 114 NW 709 (1908).......................................................107 

Lawson v Viola Twp. 210 NW 979 (1926)..................................................291 

Lee v Dwyer 107 NW 674 (1906)................................................................115 

Lehman v Smith 168 NW 857 (1918)..........................................................247 

Lewis v Aslesen 635 NW2d 744 (2001)......................................................731 

Lewis v Moorhead 522 NW2d 1 (1994)......................................................677 

Lien v Beard 478 NW2d 578 (1991)...........................................................678 

Lothrop v Marble 81 NW 885 (1900).........................................................142 

Lowe v East Sioux Falls Quarry 126 NW 609 (1910)................................157 

Lund v Thackery (Thackery I) 99 NW 856 (1904)......................................340 

Lunstra v Century 21 442 NW2d 448 (1989).............................................497 

Lusk v City of Yankton 168 NW 375 (1918)...............................................246 

 

M 

MacVeagh v Burns 48 NW 835 (1891).........................................................75 

Mason v Braught 146 NW 687 (1914)........................................................204 

Mason v City of Sioux Falls (Mason I) 51 NW 770 (1892)..........................17 

Mason v City of Sioux Falls (Mason II) 51 NW 774 (1892).........................17 

Matters v Custer County 538 NW2d 533 (1995).........................................774 

Maw v Bruneau 156 NW 792 (1916)...........................................................227 

McBride v McBride 207 NW 74 (1926).......................................................495 

McGray v Monarch Elevator 91 NW 457 (1902)........................................108 

McKenna v Whittaker 69 NW 587 (1896)....................................................39 

Meadows v Osterkamp (Meadows I) 83 NW 624 (1900).............................73 

Meadows v Osterkamp (Meadows II) 103 NW 643 (1905)..........................73 

Meyerink v Northwestern Public Service 391 NW2d 180 (1986)...............833 

Miiller v County of Davison 452 NW2d 119 (1990)...................................594 

877



Millard v City of Sioux Falls 589 NW2d 217 (1999)..................................722 

Miller v Scholten 273 NW2d 757 (1979)....................................................610 

Miller v Southard 162 NW 146 (1917).......................................................279 

Mills v Lehmann 133 NW 807 (1911).........................................................191 

Moran v Thomas 104 NW 212 (1905).........................................................340 

Mulder v Tague 186 NW2d 884 (1971).......................................................550 

Murphy v Dafoe (Murphy III) 99 NW 86 (1904).........................................133 

Murphy v Nelson (Murphy IV) 102 NW 691 (1905)....................................140 

Murphy v Pierce (Murphy II) 95 NW 925 (1903).......................................140 

Murphy v Redecker (Murphy I) 94 NW 697 (1903)....................................139 

Myers v Eich 720 NW2d 76 (2006).............................................................132 

 

N 

Nelson v Gregory County 323 NW2d 139 (1982).......................................628 

Nicolaus v Deming 139 NW2d 875 (1966).................................................488 

Northstream Inv. v 1804 Co. St. (Northstream I) 697 NW2d 762 (2005)..740 

Northstream Inv. v 1804 Co. St. (Northstream II) 739 NW2d 44 (2007)...740 

Northwest Realty v Jacobs 273 NW2d 141 (1978).....................................567 

Novotny v Danforth 68 NW 749 (1896).......................................................74 

 

O 

Olander v Jacobson 66 NW 1149 (1896).....................................................65 

Olson v Huntamer (Olson I) 61 NW 479 (1894)..........................................50 

Olson v Huntamer (Olson II) 66 NW 313 (1896).........................................50 

Oppold v Erickson 267 NW2d 570 (1978)..................................................593 

Osberg v Murphy 221 NW2d 4 (1974)........................................................255 

 

 

 

878



P 

Parker v Vinson 77 NW 1023 (1899)..........................................................133 

Parks v Cooper 676 NW2d 823 (2004).......................................................387 

Parsons v City of Sioux Falls 272 NW 288 (1937).....................................356 

Pederson v Canton Twp. 34 NW2d 172 (1948)..........................................402 

Peterson v Beck 537 NW2d 375 (1995)......................................................687 

Phelan v Neary 117 NW 142 (1908)...........................................................148 

Phillips v Hink 114 NW 699 (1908)............................................................168 

Phillis v Gross (Phillis I) 143 NW 373 (1913)............................................395 

Phillis v Gross (Phillis II) 164 NW 971 (1917)...........................................395 

Picardi v Zimmiond (Picardi I) 689 NW2d 886 (2004)..............................794 

Picardi v Zimmiond (Picardi II) 693 NW2d 656 (2005).............................794 

Piechowski v Case 255 NW2d 72 (1977)....................................................542 

Pluimer v City of Belle Fourche 549 NW2d 202 (1996).............................703 

 

R 

Randall v Burk Twp. (Randall I) 57 NW 4 (1893).......................................40 

Randall v Burk Twp. (Randall II) 70 NW 837 (1897)..................................40 

Randall v Burk Twp. (Randall III) 75 NW 276 (1898).................................40 

Rasmussen v Reedy 84 NW 205 (1900)........................................................89 

Reichelt v Perry 91 NW 459 (1902)............................................................159 

Reis v Miller 550 NW2d 78 (1996).............................................................696 

Riverside Twp. v Newton 75 NW 899 (1898)...............................................98 

Roberts v Holliday 74 NW 1034 (1898).......................................................83 

Roche Realty & Inv. v Highlands 135 NW 684 (1912)...............................158 

Rogers v Standard Life Insurance 222 NW 667 (1928)..............................307 

Rotenberger v Burghduff (Rotenberger I) 727 NW2d 291 (2007)..............803 

Rotenberger v Burghduff (Rotenberger II) 729 NW2d 175 (2007).............803 

 

879



 

S 

Salmon v Bradshaw 173 NW2d 281 (1969)................................................505 

Sample v Harter 156 NW 1016 (1916).......................................................228 

Schlecht v Hinrich 210 NW 192 (1926)......................................................496 

Schultz v Dew 564 NW2d 320 (1997).........................................................712 

Schwartz v Morgan 776 NW2d 827 (2009).................................................498 

Selway Homeowners Association v Cummings 657 NW2d 307 (2003)......765 

Serry v Custer County 193 NW 143 (1923).................................................281 

Seymour v Cleveland 68 NW 171 (1896).....................................................65 

Shippy v Hollopeter 304 NW2d 118 (1981)................................................593 

Sioux City Boat Club v Mulhall 117 NW2d 92 (1962)................................463 

Skoglund v Staab (Staab II) 269 NW2d 401 (1978)....................................528 

Skoglund v Staab (Staab III) 312 NW2d 29 (1981)....................................528 

Smith v Albrecht (Smith I) 361 NW2d 626 (1985)......................................652 

Smith v Cleaver 126 NW 589 (1910)...........................................................175 

Smith v Johnson (Smith I) 138 NW 18 (1912).............................................433 

Smith v Johnson (Smith II) 153 NW 376 (1915)..........................................433 

Smith v Pennington County 48 NW 309 (1891)............................................17 

Smith v Sponheim (Smith II) 399 NW2d 899 (1987)...................................652 

South Dakota Wildlife Fed. v Water Man. Board 382 NW2d 26 (1986).....356 

Staab v Cameron (Staab IV) 351 NW2d 463 (1984)...................................528 

Staab v Skoglund (Staab I) 234 NW2d 45 (1975).......................................528 

Stanga v Husman 694 NW2d 716 (2005)....................................................785 

Stannus v Heiserman 38 NW2d 130 (1949)................................................425 

State v Deisch 162 NW 365 (1917).............................................................257 

State v Peters 334 NW2d 217 (1983)..........................................................696 

State v Tracy 539 NW2d 327 (1995)...........................................................695 

Stearns v McHugh 151 NW 888 (1915)......................................................212 

880



Steele v Pfeifer 310 NW2d 782 (1981)........................................................601 

Steensland v Noel 134 NW 207 (1912).......................................................307 

Stenson v Elfmann (Stenson I) 128 NW 588 (1910)...................................175 

Stenson v Elfmann (Stenson II) 135 NW 694 (1912)..................................175 

Stewart v Tomlinson 112 NW 849 (1907)...................................................141 

Stokes v Allen 89 NW 1023 (1902)...............................................................82 

Stotts v Swallow 12 NW2d 808 (1944)........................................................456 

Sullivan v Groves 172 NW 926 (1919)........................................................264 

Swaby v Northern Hills Reg. Railroad Auth. 769 NW2d 798 (2009)..........832 

Sweatman v Bathrick 95 NW 422 (1903)....................................................116 

Sweatman v City of Deadwood 69 NW 582 (1896)......................................18 

 

T 

Tan Corporation v Johnson 555 NW2d 613 (1996)....................................662 

Taylor v Edgerton 173 NW 444 (1919).......................................................271 

Taylor v Pennington County 204 NW2d 395 (1973)...................................519 

Taylor v Tripp 330 NW2d 542 (1983).........................................................617 

Theisen v Qualley 175 NW 556 (1919).......................................................272 

Thieman v Bohman 645 NW2d 260 (2002).................................................748 

Thomas v Johnson 29 NW2d 490 (1947)....................................................395 

Thompson v Andrews 165 NW 9 (1917)......................................................417 

Thormodsgard v Wayne Twp. 310 NW2d 157 (1981).................................535 

Tibbitts v Anthem Holdings Corp. 694 NW2d 41 (2005)............................124 

Tinaglia v Ittzes 257 NW2d 724 (1977)......................................................549 

Titus v Chapman 687 NW2d 918 (2004).....................................................628 

Tonsager v Laqua 753 NW2d 394 (2008)...................................................610 

Tossini v Donahoe 117 NW 148 (1908)......................................................495 

Townsend v Kennedy 60 NW 164 (1894)....................................................147 

Townsend v Yankton Super 8 Motel 371 NW2d 162 (1985).......................644 

881



Township of Blooming Valley v Bronson 135 NW 678 (1912)...................185 

Tripp v F & K Assam Family 755 NW2d 106 (2008).................................835 

Turner v Hand County 77 NW 1589 (1898).................................................82 

Tyler v Haggart 102 NW 682 (1905)..........................................................113 

 

U 

Umberger v State 248 NW2d 395 (1976)....................................................534 

Unzelmann v Shelton 103 NW 646 (1905)..................................................114 

 

V 

Van Abel v Wemmering 146 NW 697 (1914)..............................................205 

Van Antwerp v Dell Rapids Twp. (Van Antwerp I) 53 NW 82 (1892).........26 

Van Antwerp v Dell Rapids Twp. (Van Antwerp II) 59 NW 209 (1894)......26 

Van Cise v Carter 68 NW 539 (1896)..........................................................81 

Vander Heide v Boke Ranch 736 NW2d 824 (2007)...................................812 

Venner v Olson 168 NW 740 (1918)...........................................................417 

Vivian Scott Trust v Parker 687 NW2d 731 (2004)....................................757 

 

W 

Waldner v Blachnik 274 NW 837 (1937)....................................................362 

Walker v Sorenson 265 NW 589 (1936)......................................................346 

Wallace v Dunton 139 NW 345 (1913).......................................................315 

Wampol v Kountz 85 NW 595 (1901)...........................................................90 

Webster v White 66 NW 1145 (1896)...........................................................58 

Welch v McCoy (McCoy I) 167 NW 159 (1918).........................................316 

Wells v Pennington County 48 NW 305 (1891)............................................11 

Wentzel v Claussen 127 NW 621 (1910).....................................................167 

Wentzel v Huebner 104 NW2d 695 (1960).................................................550 

Whitford v Dodson 181 NW 962 (1921).....................................................396 

882



Whittaker v City of Deadwood (Whittaker II) 81 NW 910 (1900)................99 

Wiege v Knock 293 NW2d 146 (1980)........................................................575 

Wiggins v Shewmake 374 NW2d 111 (1985)..............................................637 

Wildwood Assn. v Harley F. Taylor Corp. 668 NW2d 296 (2003)............766 

Wilson v Grigsby (Grigsby III) 147 NW 992 (1914)..................................131 

Wilson v McWilliams 91 NW 453 (1902)...................................................125 

Wood v Bapp 169 NW 518 (1918)..............................................................254 

Wood v Conrad (Wood I) 50 NW 95 (1891)................................................66 

Wood v Conrad (Wood II) 50 NW 903 (1892).............................................66 

 

Y 

Yankton County v Klemisch 76 NW 312 (1898)...........................................91 
 

883




